Public Document Pack

A Meeting of the EXECUTIVE will be held at the Civic
Offices, Shute End, Wokingham on THURSDAY 18
FEBRUARY 2016 AT 7.00 PM

Andy Couldrick
Chief Executive
Published on 10 February 2016

This meeting will be filmed for inclusion on the Council’s
website.
Please note that other people may film, record, tweet or blog
from this meeting. The use of these images or recordings is
not under the Council’s control.

Our Vision
A great place to live, an even better place to do business

Our Priorities

Improve educational attainment and focus on every child
achieving their potential
Invest in regenerating towns and villages, support social
and economic prosperity, whilst encouraging business
growth
Ensure strong sustainable communities that are vibrant and
supported by well designed development
Tackle traffic congestion in specific areas of the Borough
Improve the customer experience when accessing Council
services
The Underpinning Principles

Offer excellent value for your Council Tax
Provide affordable homes
Look after the vulnerable
Improve health, wellbeing and quality of life
Maintain and improve the waste collection, recycling and
fuel efficiency
Deliver quality in all that we do

MEMBERSHIP OF THE EXECUTIVE
Keith Baker
Julian McGhee-Sumner
Charlotte Haitham Taylor
Pauline Jorgensen
John Kaiser
Philip Mirfin
Anthony Pollock
Angus Ross

ITEM
NO.

WARD

Leader of the Council
Deputy Leader and Health and Wellbeing
Children's Services
Resident Services
Planning and Highways
Regeneration and Communities
Economic Development and Finance
Environment

SUBJECT

90.

APOLOGIES
To receive any apologies for absence

91.

MINUTES OF PREVIOUS MEETING
To confirm the Minutes of the Meeting held on 28
January 2016.

92.

DECLARATION OF INTEREST
To receive any declarations of interest

93.

PUBLIC QUESTION TIME
To answer any public questions
A period of 30 minutes will be allowed for members of
the public to ask questions submitted under notice.
The Council welcomes questions from members of the
public about the work of the Executive
Subject to meeting certain timescales, questions can
relate to general issues concerned with the work of the
Council or an item which is on the Agenda for this
meeting. For full details of the procedure for
submitting questions please contact the Democratic
Services Section on the numbers given below or go to
www.wokingham.gov.uk/publicquestions

93.1

None Specific

Peter Humphreys has asked the Executive Member for
Regeneration and Communities the following question:
Question
There have been a number of high profile planning
disasters involving major projects in the Town,
including:
 Wellington house now demolished which was
part of a scheme to build a large civic centre
complex that was abandoned;

PAGE
NO.

7 - 24








The proposed IDR including a roundabout
surrounding the 16th Century Tudor House also
abandoned due to public opposition;
Having to spend £30m to build social housing to
replace the shoddy damp ridden properties the
Council built in Eustace Crescent and then
subsequently demolished (that word again) as
they were insanitary;
A supermarket built on a greenfield site but later
abandoned and left vacant for many years due
to its poor location;
Poor architecture at either end of Peach Street,
allowed by the Planning Committee, but now
demolished/about to be demolished;
Hundreds, maybe thousands, recently planted
trees about to be uprooted due to lack of joined
up thinking in respect of the routes of the NDR
and so on.

Would you please list what lessons the Council has
learnt from these expensive failures and what
guarantees can you give that such disasters won’t be
repeated with the schemes currently in the pipeline?
93.2

Wescott

Gerald de la Pascua has asked the Executive Member
for Regeneration and Communities the following
question:
Question
WBC Executive decided last week it is better to relocate the tennis courts in Elms Field at a cost of
£320k than to refurbish the existing facility. The report
presented at that meeting did not say how much this
second option would cost, what is the figure?

93.3

None Specific

Mike O'Riley has asked the Executive Member for
Regeneration and Communities the following question:
Question
With the slowdown in the global economy, the
increasing debt ratio in the UK economy and the risk of
a more gloomy economic outlook what plans are WBC
making with respect to regeneration funding to
significantly reduce council and ratepayer exposure to
speculative commercial property developments.

94.

MEMBER QUESTION TIME
To answer any member questions
A period of 20 minutes will be allowed for Members to
ask questions submitted under Notice

Any questions not dealt with within the allotted time will
be dealt with in a written reply
Matters for Consideration
95.

None Specific

HOUSING REVENUE ACCOUNT BUDGET 2016/19

25 - 36

96.

None Specific

CAPITAL PROGRAMME AND STRATEGY 2016/19

37 - 50

97.

None Specific

TREASURY MANAGEMENT STRATEGY 2016/19

51 - 96

98.

None Specific

MEDIUM TERM FINANCIAL PLAN 2016/19 REVENUE BUDGET SUBMISSION 2016/17

97 - 102

99.

None Specific

TREASURY MANAGEMENT MID-YEAR REPORT
2015/16

103 - 134

100.

None Specific

SCHOOL ADMISSION ARRANGEMENTS 2017/2018

135 - 242

101.

Charvil

PROPOSED COMMUNITY ASSET TRANSFER LEASE OF EAST PARK FARM DRIVE LEISURE
FACILITY TO CHARVIL PARISH COUNCIL

243 - 252

102.

Norreys

ACQUISITION OF PROPERTY (28 MYLNE SQUARE)

253 - 266

103.

Finchampstead
South

ACQUISITION OF PROPERTY (20 BILLING
AVENUE)

267 - 280

104.

None Specific

COUNCIL OWNED COMPANIES' BUSINESS

281 - 356

105.

None Specific

OPTALIS CONTRACT

357 - 444

EXCLUSION OF THE PUBLIC
The Executive may exclude the public in order to discuss the Part 2 sheets above
and to do so it must pass a resolution in the following terms:
That under Section 100A(4) of the Local Government Act 1972, the public be
excluded from the meeting for the following items of business on the grounds that
they involve the likely disclosure of exempt information as defined in Paragraph 3
of Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the Act (as amended) as appropriate.
A decision sheet will be available for inspection at the Council’s offices (in Democratic
Services and the General Office) and on the web site no later than two working days after
the meeting.
CONTACT OFFICER
Anne Hunter
Tel
Email
Postal Address

Service Manager, Democratic Services
0118 974 6051
anne.hunter@wokingham.gov.uk
Civic Offices, Shute End, Wokingham, RG40 1BN

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 91.
MINUTES OF A MEETING OF
THE EXECUTIVE
HELD ON 28 JANUARY 2016 FROM 7.30 PM TO 8.50 PM
Committee Members Present
Councillors: Keith Baker (Chairman), Julian McGhee-Sumner, Charlotte Haitham Taylor,
Pauline Jorgensen, John Kaiser, Philip Mirfin, Anthony Pollock and Angus Ross
Other Councillors Present
Mark Ashwell
Parry Batth
Prue Bray
UllaKarin Clark
Lindsay Ferris
Guy Grandison
Norman Jorgensen
David Lee
Ken Miall
Ian Pittock
Bob Pitts
Malcolm Richards
84.
APOLOGIES
There were no apologies for absence received.
85.
MINUTES OF PREVIOUS MEETING
The Minutes of the meeting of the Committee held on 26 November 2016 were confirmed
as a correct record and signed by the Chairman.
86.
DECLARATION OF INTEREST
Councillor Pauline Jorgensen declared a personal interest in Item 89.1, Council Owned
Companies Business, by virtue of the fact that her husband was a paid Non-Executive
Director of WBC Holdings Ltd. Councillor Jorgensen remained in the meeting during
discussions and voted on the matter.
Councillor Anthony Pollock declared a personal interest in Item 89.1, Council Owned
Companies Business, by virtue of the fact that he was an unpaid Non-Executive Director of
Optalis. Councillor Pollock remained in the meeting during discussions and voted on the
matter.
87.
PUBLIC QUESTION TIME
In accordance with the agreed procedure the Chairman invited members of the public to
submit questions to the appropriate Members.
87.1

Ribina Shahin asked the Executive Member for Children's Services the
following question:

Question
Why is there a complete lack of a unit or local college course for those with profound
special needs leaving secondary school?

7

Answer
Before I answer your question I would like to formally apologise that the quote that was put
into the paper was misinformed and incorrect. So hopefully you will accept my apology. I
didn’t realise at the time that you hadn’t met with the Chief Executive of the Council.
Thank you for raising this question because it brings to light the complex situation in which
there appears to be a shift in the approach undertaken by colleges to the running of those
courses for learners with Additional Needs ranging from Moderate to Severe and Complex.
This in part relates to the funding formula that colleges operate within where payment is
related to course success and retention. In such cases courses that do not attract or retain
enough learners to become financially viable are cut. Numbers from Addington over the
past three years have varied: in 2013 it was 2; in 2014, 2 and in 2015, 0. This has been
the situation last academic year in terms of courses offered through Berkshire College of
Agriculture.
In relation to courses offered for students with more complex needs such provision was
established at Ravenswood, in Wokingham as part of the Reading College offer. This was
established in partnership with Addington Special School and was designed to meet the
needs of our most dependent young people with profound and multiple learning difficulties;
often compounded by additional health and sensory needs. This provision was established
for six students at Ravenswood building as it was fully accessible and met the appropriate
requirements for teaching with space for 1-2-1 personal care facilities. Unfortunately, the
Ravenswood site is leased by the college from Norwood-Ravenswood who have recently
served notice to this arrangement thereby forcing the closure. Reading College’s main
campus is not able to provide similar accommodation that is required.
In 2016, it is anticipated that three Addington students need to transfer to the relocated
Reading College provision that was based at Ravenswood (of whom two are Wokingham
residents). Attempts have been made to identify suitable premises but with no success to
date. The search is ongoing and is being taken further forward through both Wokingham
Borough Council and our regional partners. Knowledge about the needs of primary age
pupils currently at Addington indicates that the capacity that was provided at Ravenswood
will be required, if not exceeded, in the medium to longer term.
In the meantime alternative providers have been sourced such as Newbury College in an
effort to ensure opportunities are available to such students.
The availability of further education provision for students with Special Educational Needs
is being addressed by the local authority through the EFA Post 16 Area Review from
January –April 2016, and I believe you have had a conversation this morning about this,
and directly through the Disability Strategy which is currently in draft form.
Supplementary Question
I am sure the Council are very clear and aware with regards to the rules, guidance and
content of the Care Act. The Care Act refers to prevention, wellbeing and working with
people who use the services when making decisions about care and support. Therefore
how will the Council ensure they communicate fully with carers, like myself, to gain a
balanced and more realistic point of view and not only consider the opinions of healthcare
and other professionals?

8

Supplementary Answer
It is a very valid question and we do consider the Care Act of course. With the draft
strategy that is being put together at the moment we will be seeking your views as to how
we can go forward and also the post-16 area review is absolutely key that we listen to
parents and all of your views about we can best address these needs. One part of the
papers was about saying actually transport is a key element of getting our students to the
colleges that already exist and fundamentally for children with additional needs and
Special Educational Needs it is a key factor.
So I take on board your comments and I hope that you will be able to take part in the
Disability Strategy that is currently in draft form and we look forward to inviting you to take
part.
87.2

Paul Gallagher asked the Executive Member for Environment the following
question:

Question
This question relates to the recent increase in parking fees at Dinton Pastures/California
Country Park. Whilst the Council's need to increase income is accepted, the 55% increase
in the concessionary annual parking permit fee seems excessive both by reference to
other increases and the general rate of inflation. In his recent Press Release related to
this, the Exec Member for the Environment said "In terms of the car park increases, we
have looked at country parks elsewhere and believe our recommended prices are broadly
in line with them and would still represent amazing value for money". This was repeated in
an email response to me when he said "I can assure you that we benchmarked our prices
against a number of other country parks". I asked the Member for a copy of the relevant
benchmark data but did not receive it. I have, however, received it in response to a general
request to the Council. Can the Member please comment on why he believes that the
increase to £112.50 for an annual concessionary season ticket is justified by the
benchmark data which shows four comparators all of which are considerably cheaper than
not only the proposed rate from January 2016 rate but also the existing 2015 rate? The
comparator rates shown in the benchmark data are: Itchen Valley - £28.50, Danbury CP £45, Great Notley £45 and Hadley Park - £45.
Answer
Clearly behind all this my main aim is to ensure you and all the residents can continue to
enjoy our valuable Country Parks with their many diverse attractions.
We do carry out benchmarking with a number of Country Park providers across the
country. The benchmarking is informative and gives context to our decision making, but it
does not restrict us in terms of making decisions for our own local context. A number of the
benchmarked organisations, for example, offer their particular Country Park service on a
subsidised basis. We are clear that our Country Parks must be self-financing totally so as
not to compete with the provision of our statutory services in this ongoing time of reducing
Government Grants.
As part of this and to this end, we took the view that a season ticket should offer value for
money for frequent visitors but that it should be a fair price compared with other visitors.
We also introduced a half year rate. At peak rate a person wishing to park regularly and
visit for 1 hour only will only take 100 visits to repay the ticket price, which is just less than
twice a week over the whole year. Once the visitor spends more than one hour on site the
number of visits to repay drops considerably, for two hours the number drops to about 50.

9

Season tickets still offer good value for money and will contribute significantly to the cost of
the provision of the Borough’s Country Parks and Nature Reserves and we can continue
fully to support these local gems.
Supplementary Question
Do I understand you correctly then, Angus, that whereas the impression given in e-mails to
me, and in the press release, was that the new price was comparable to elsewhere in fact
you are saying that there are other factors that were taken into account?
Supplementary Answer
What I am saying is that I did some research myself after your e-mails with some of those
sites and it is very clear if you look at their overall revenue budgets that they are
supporting the country parks which as I said in my reply unfortunately is something we just
cannot afford to do. So we have had to find a framework that makes the country parks
self-sustaining and the main one for this, obviously, is the car park charges. We don’t
charge for anything else once you get in the country parks.
87.3

Clive Jones asked the Executive Member for Planning and Highways the
following question:

Question
Liberal Democrats worked with the former Managing Director of Reading Buses to get the
number 19 Bus to the Royal Berkshire Hospital. Does Cllr Kaiser think this service has
been a success?
Answer
The No 19 bus service provides an important link for residents of Woodley and Earley to
access education, employment and leisure facilities in their own areas and into Reading.
Various iterations of the service have been running with different service numbers and a
link to Reading hospital was established in 2000 – some time before the former managing
director of Reading buses started.
A large number of people and groups have met with the former managing director of
Reading Buses in the period before changes to the route were made in 2014. For
example Councillor David Chopping and Councillor Guy Grandison met him five times in
2013. The Maiden Erlegh Residents’ Association also held meetings as did Earley Town
Council. At the time of the consultation about possible changes the Earley Conservative
Team delivered nearly 20,000 copies of five different leaflets encouraging residents to
have their say in the consultation and explaining the proposals.
In 2014 the route was varied in order that the bus could manage to run on time. The
changes were implemented on the basis of passenger numbers and the need to keep the
service operating as efficiently as possible. Subsequently we have received a number of
queries raising a concern about the changes.
Much of the route is still subsidised by Wokingham Borough Council, at a cost of £72,000
a year. The cost of journeys starting in Earley by those using free bus passes is also met
by Wokingham Borough Council and in 2013 the subsidy to Reading Buses for journeys
starting in Wokingham Borough amounted to £320,000.

10

A consultation has just been undertaken on this service to ensure it does meet the needs
of the residents and I am awaiting for the analysis of the results by Officers and once I
have those I will be happy to share those with local Members.
Supplementary Question
Many residents consider that the No 19 bus is really successful. The new Managing
Director of Reading Buses tells me that it is a financially viable route. Residents would like
the service to be half hourly and to be extended into the evening. What can you do to
make that happen?
[Note: Following the meeting Clive Jones clarified that the new Managing Director of
Reading Buses had actually said that the No 19 bus was only viable when the subsidy
from the Council was included. Without the subsidy it would not be viable.]
Supplementary Answer
As I say we are waiting for the consultation to come back and once we have seen the
results of that I will speak to the new managing director of Reading Buses and we will
decide what we are going to do then. If the consultation is positive we will try to improve
the level of service.
87.4

Keith Malvern asked the Executive Member for Planning and Highways the
following question:

Question
Recognising in 89.2 of the Agenda (Revenue Monitoring 2015/16) that there has been
overachieved car park income of £75k and the report from the RAC in the Bracknell News
Weekender that Wokingham Borough Council made a surplus of £793k in 2014/15, how
much more money does he want from us with his proposed car parking charges in the
evening and Sunday?
Answer
The proposal to introduce evening and Sunday charges is estimated to raise £150,000 a
year.
We have, for many years, charged for car parks during the day and generally this is
something that is not disputed. People’s travel and habits have changed and it would be
remiss of us not to reflect this in how we run the Borough’s assets; in this case car parks.
I understand that the additional cost to users is an anathema to some but we have to be
pragmatic in the utilisation of our assets and a £1 charge needs to be seen in light of the
overall spend that most people will incur on their trip.
Inevitably some people will choose to go elsewhere but we expect the level of resistance
to be very low. We will monitor the impact on an annual basis to determine what effect, if
any, the charges will have on car park use.
Most importantly though all of the revenue generated by car parks is invested in highways
and transport and without this additional income stream there would be less money to
spend on the roads that badly need it.

11

Supplementary question
By way of a supplementary I would like to do two things. One is to say to you that £150k
next year is about £1 per person – now here is my £1 for you to give to Graham Ebers to
see what he can come up with to try and resist this unnecessary change.
In your response as well you referred to an e-mail that Matt Davey had sent which he also
sent to me so it has a familiar ring to it. I didn’t like the tone very much but I want to read
you just the other bit.
(At this point Councillor Kaiser clarified that he had not referred to an e-mail in his answer).
At the beginning of that e-mail from Matt Davey, who is Head of Highways and Transport,
he refers as before to a certain amount of benchmarking being done but he does go on to
say that the benchmarking was not to determine whether to charge or not as this principle,
meaning the principle of evening and Sunday charging, has already been established.
Now as far as I understand it we are in a middle of a consultation about something that
has not appeared anywhere else before eg evening and Sunday charging. Therefore can
you tell me where the principle of evening and Sunday charging has been established;
otherwise we are wasting our time with this consultation?
Supplementary answer
The consultation goes out to everybody for their opinion but as a Council we need to utilise
our assets the best we possibly can and I would say to you do you believe that our roads
are not in a state that they need repairing?
The Leader of Council made the following comment:
The decision has not been made we will review the responses from the consultation and
then on the basis of that a decision will be made as part of the overall Council budget
setting.
88.
MEMBER QUESTION TIME
In accordance with the agreed procedure the Chairman invited Members to submit
questions to the appropriate Members.
88.1

Prue Bray asked the Executive Member for Children's Services the following
question:
Question
Last July Councillors voted to support a motion that I proposed on the subject of school
funding, which said:
“Government per pupil funding for Wokingham primary and secondary schools is
the lowest in the country. This Council will actively lobby local MPs the Secretary of
State for Education and the Department of Education until the level of funding for
our schools is improved.”
Can you please tell me what you have done so far to lobby for more funding for our
schools?
Answer
The funding position for our schools is a matter of deep personal importance to me. You
will remember our most recent presentations and conversations on this topic on the past

12

week, at the Primary Schools Association Meeting, and as we maintain our focus on this
issue.
We have made representations to the Department for Education setting out the poor
settlement for our schools and the consequences of this lack of funding in terms of the
additional pressures on our schools, our leaders and our teachers.
I have engaged our local MPs and been pleased with the support received. In particular, I
would like to thank John Redwood and Teresa May for their unfailing challenge on our
behalf. John Redwood has, I think, gone above and beyond in every way. He spoke on
this on the cross party debate recently highlighting, in particular, the costs of setting up
new schools which is a huge problem and later on we have got a paper on our Primary
School Strategy. He has presented our Councillor petition to the House of Commons and
he blogs regularly on his website. Also we have done lots of work internally as well
through our Director of Children’s Services, Andy Couldrick and also Pauline has been
petitioning on our behalf as well. So it has been a relentless back and forth to central
Government and we will continue to do this.
The funding situation at present remains unchanged as you know. However I welcome the
announcement that we had before Christmas to consult on the funding review of schools
nationally. We will be actively taking part in this consultation and making representations
on behalf of our children, young people and our schools but as I said in the Primary
Schools Association meeting I do not want to hold my breathe because we already are the
lowest funded authority in the whole of the country and they may just look at us in central
Government and say “if they can do it perhaps everyone else can do it to”.
Supplementary question
You referred to last week’s meeting and obviously I have been lobbying from our side but
there is no change yet despite everything that has happened. There is a prospect of a
change when they change the funding formula; although like you I am not holding my
breath. Do you believe that the Council has enough resources to be able to support the
maintained schools that are looking at possibly setting deficit budgets for this year?
Supplementary answer
This year, which has been unusual through the designated schools grant, we have looked
at how schools can maintain themselves through this difficult period. We have drawn up a
five year financial plan and it looks like some schools will go into deficit budget so then
they will come back out of it and they will be more sustainable at the end of the five years.
Some of them, as you will have seen from going to that meeting, are looking potentially at
the academy route, not very many at this point, but that may allow them to become more
sustainable. There are other routes: looking at federation; looking at shared services; and
lots of other things that can help them to be more sustainable. But I think that there are
some things that we have offered help with and will continue to do that. We have been
drawing up a paper, which again I talked about at the Primary Schools Association, about
how we can help as a Council and will continue to do that. I also thank my colleague, Ian
Pittock, who attends the Schools’ Forum, for how much work he has done.

13

88.2

Ken Miall asked the Executive Member for Children's Services the following
question:

Question
At our last allocation of new school children to primary schools in Earley, we had a number
of upset parents that felt they had been unfairly treated.
Can you give us assurance that the methods we are using to calculate the intake of
children are significantly robust enough to project the correct numbers in the future and
can we be sure that the expertise to do this would not be lost when we have staff
turnover?
Answer
Throughout this process, those Earley parents who were not successful in getting a local
school place last September have been forefront in my concern and I have been regularly
seeking assurance that parents were well engaged in finding solutions. I would also like to
thank all of the Councillors in Earley for their commitment and hard work that they have
been doing in order to help those parents.
Our papers set out a plan this evening which we believe is well evidenced and drawing
from a range of different data sources. Pages 113 and 114 of the agenda show the
different evidence bases that we are using now in order to do that. This builds on our
Primary Strategy of three years ago which well established need and delivered the
required school places that were needed. In particular our approach now reflects the
specific context of our well established communities such as Earley and their demographic
changes. This sets the new standard for our school place planning. This is not about
individual staff but a consistent Council wide approach and a protocol going forward.
88.3

Guy Grandison asked the Executive Member for Resident Services the
following question:

Question
I read with interest your proposed consultation on the Library offer. While I was at the
University of Reading self-service was introduced at the Library and it greatly increased
usage. Do you foresee this increasing usage at our libraries?
Answer
As the population of Wokingham Borough continues to grow all of the proposals contained
in the Library Offer are aimed at increasing both the capacity and the usage of our Library
Service. It is good to hear that you have experience of self-service increasing the
availability of the library when people need it in the University and I look forward to you
contributing to the consultation when it comes out.
We have seen in recent years the national picture in Wokingham libraries quite a contrast
to the more general picture outside Wokingham. Our libraries are bucking the trend of
usage because of some of the innovations that we have brought forward. We have had
small increases in usage each year of about 0.5% and we have also had a 2% increase in
registered active users that are actually using the service. That on the backdrop of
national usage; which is actually declining at 2%.
So we are very passionate about our libraries and we would like to hear a lot of ideas from
residents on how we might improve the service and we know that in order to continue to

14

deliver a successful library service we need to continue to explore new ways of extending
it, improving it, and making it more accessible to people.
So it is good to hear your comments and I hope you will put something into the
consultation.
Supplementary Question
Yes I will be submitting a response to the consultation, of course. Throughout reading the
consultation I have actually reached out to library districts in the United States and one of
the areas in the documents that came with the Executive pack was around investing in
technology and also income generation. One of the things they have done in the United
States, the specific library district I spoke to, they have actually invested in a 3D printer
and it has brought in such income to the library district that they are currently investigating
getting more in by community backed projects in order to get more around libraries in the
whole district. So would you support investing in technology to bring in income?
Supplementary Answer
Yes we have invested in a lot of ancillary ways of generating income because as you know
we are the lowest funded authority in the country so we don’t have money to throw around
the place. For example in the libraries we have introduced cafes. In Woodley library we
have recently introduced a small meeting room that local residents can rent for having
business meetings. We have refurbished all the IT kit in the libraries; we have introduced
wi-fi; and are continuing to look at other related technical innovation that means that we
can actually increase the income of the libraries as well. So we will take that idea back
and add it to the pile of other ideas. All ideas for generating income that are related to
libraries, rather than tap dancing, are very welcome.
88.4

David Lee asked the Executive Member for Regeneration and Communities
the following question:

Question
Regarding Item 89.9: A number of residents are concerned that this development will not
yield a developer contribution in the form of Affordable Houses to the Borough due to the
viability of the scheme. Would the Executive Member please explain why this is and
confirm whether or not the financial viability of this scheme will be examined by an
independent expert?
Answer
As you know this Council is committed to the provision of affordable housing within
Wokingham and has been investing significantly in providing new affordable homes across
the Borough; such as the £12m new development at Phoenix Avenue, which is providing
62 units of affordable housing and other such schemes that are coming forward.
I am here though tonight representing the Council in their role as a developer and can only
comment from this perspective.
In our role as developer we are treated by the Council in the same manner as any private
developer would be and undergo the same rigorous review and assessment as other
major development schemes across the Borough which will be part of the consideration of
the Planning Committee.

15

Wokingham desperately needs regenerating, with a need for a better mix and variety of
shops and better leisure facilities. It also needs far better quality public spaces which can
be used to help differentiate Wokingham; with things like bigger markets and community
events.
All of this is being paid for and delivered as part of the regeneration project.
Over and above the £5m we will be paying towards infrastructure improvements through
CIL, SANG and replacement of the tennis courts. We are also investing millions in
elements which don’t necessarily contribute monetarily towards the scheme but give so
much back to the local community. This is an investment at a scale far above that which a
normal developer would ever consider as part of a private scheme.
That’s things like millions being spent to move the existing road so that: the open space
can be connected to the pedestrianised spaces; adding resilience to the local road
network; creating new public spaces for events and socialising; improving the park;
installing services such as water and power to help improve local events; and creating a
bigger and better play area.
We are convinced our proposals offer the right balance of development for the site and for
the town centre in order to deliver a viable and successful regeneration for Wokingham
which will support residents and attract people to the town for years to come.
Supplementary question
I think there are a lot of concerns about the whole viability side and while I don’t think it is
appropriate that the viability study is made public I think the conclusions of the
Independent Examiner should be, and I believe they will be in the Officer’s report. The
Town Council, which is very involved with this would appreciate, I think, if they could have
a copy of the conclusion when it is available so they can alleviate any fears that residents
may have?
Supplementary Answer provided by Keith Baker
Yes, basically we will make sure that you have got a copy of that.
To clarify the significance of the answer from us relating to being a developer. The
Executive does not govern any of the decisions of the Planning Committee which is an
independent and quasi-judicial body which will consider every aspect of the application
independently of this Executive and on its merits.
88.5

UllaKarin Clark asked the Executive Member for Environment the following
question:

Question
Regarding Item 89.9: Residents have been concerned about the loss of trees in Elms Field
and the loss of the children’s Play Ground. Can the Executive Member responsible please
let us know what the position regarding this will be and future planting?
Answer
Just as the Chairman has said I am here tonight representing the Council in their role as
developer and can only comment from this perspective.
A bigger and better children’s play area, not a loss, is at the heart of the new proposals.

16

Although the existing play area attracts local children and families the offer is limited. New
local playgrounds such as the one at Dinton Pastures, and at the Finchampstead Baptist
Centre in Gorse Ride, have shown what can be achieved with improved modern
equipment and design.
We believe the play area at Elms Field could become just as great a space and, should we
secure planning consent this spring, will be working with local families and children on
creating exciting designs for the new space; which is about 40% bigger than the area
currently used for play equipment in the existing park.
On trees we have worked carefully with professional arboriculturalists and other interested
parties throughout the process to identify the best solution for retaining as many of the
trees as possible and this can be seen within the new designs which include the retention
of many of the best specimen trees such as the willow to the south, the large elm in the
centre of the play area and two of the best trees next to Virgin Active. We are also
retaining the existing avenue of trees which currently line either side of Elms Road and,
with the shift of the road to the far side of the park, will now be located within the open
space. Also the old hedge along Wellington Road will be almost entirely retained.
The majority of the trees that are being removed are of relatively poor quality or have a
limited life span. We have included proposals for replacement planting of semi mature
trees across the scheme to mitigate those we are losing, concentrating our proposals on
improved quality and biodiversity to support local wildlife and use of native species.
A large number of trees seen as being ‘within the park’ actually sit outside of the park
boundaries and we have worked carefully on the designs to ensure they are not impacted
on and proper mitigation practices, such as root boundary distances, have been taken into
account in the proposals. In this we have been helped by the District Veteran Tree
Association whose input has been invaluable as it was when we worked to find sites
across the Borough for 60 commemorative oak trees planted for the Queen’s Diamond
Jubilee.
We will continue to consult and work to provide the best possible tree and landscape
environment in Elms Field.
Supplementary question
In respect of the playground could you please confirm that locally interested groups will
also be involved?
Supplementary answer
Yes as I said we are planning that children and families will be involved in getting to the
detail of it and we will bring forward ideas that have worked in other places but there will
still be choices. You may recall that when we replace some of the equipment in some of
the play areas in Norreys ward we did just that and it was very successful and people’s
ideas did change the plans that we had.
89.
COUNCIL OWNED COMPANIES
(Councillors Pauline Jorgensen and Anthony Pollock declared personal interests in this
item)
The Executive considered a report relating to an update on the operational position of the
companies for the period to 31 December 2015, the budget monitoring position for the

17

month ending 30 November 2015 and the Wokingham Housing Limited Business Plan for
2015.
The Leader of Council highlighted a number of areas from the report including that Optalis
had been successful in acquiring new business. With regard to WHL Councillor Baker
informed Members that the developers were now on site at Phoenix Avenue and that the
tendering process for Fosters was reaching completion.
Councillor Haitham Taylor congratulated Anju Bhatti for winning the Social Worker of the
Year Lifetime Achievement Award. Councillor Haitham Taylor also highlighted that the
turnover rate of Optalis was at an all-time low at 18% and queried what was being done to
reduce this figure further and if Optalis had a retention policy? Councillor McGheeSumner responded that Optalis work very hard at retaining staff and the new Managing
Director was intending to meet with staff regularly to understand their issues. It was also
noted that Optalis was one of the best payers in the locality.
Councillor Pollock, in his role as non-Executive director of Optalis, went through the
process that had been followed to aid recruitment and stated that the turnover rates last
year were close to 40% so to get down to 18% and recruit 105 people was a very good
achievement.
Councillor Jorgensen highlighted the complements that the Council was receiving from
other local authorities; including the fact that Optalis had been approached with a view to
running an extra care service in Oxfordshire and was also providing consultancy to other
councils. She felt it was great credit to Optalis that other councils were buying their
expertise which had the added benefit of helping assist with the cost for Wokingham
residents. The Leader asked that Councillor Pollock convey the Executive’s
congratulations to the Managing Director and her team.
RESOLVED that:
1)
the budget monitoring position for the month ending 30 November 2015 be noted;
2)

the operational update for the period to 31 December 2015 be noted.

90.
REVENUE MONITORING 2015/16 - END OF DECEMBER 2015
The Executive considered a report setting out the position as at the end of December 2015
and the forecast outturn position of the General Fund, Housing Revenue Account, Schools
Block and the Council’s investment portfolio.
The Executive Member for Economic Development and Finance advised the meeting that
the projected outturn was just under £400k. He highlighted a number of areas that had
contributed to this figure including the fact that in Children’s Services, a £200k
Government grant had unexpectedly ended after last year’s budget had been set, and
there was an increase in placements of nearly £500k. Councillor Pollock asked Executive
Members to consider ways the overspend could be reduced by the end of the financial
year.
Councillor Pollock was also pleased to advise Members that reserves were projected at
around £10m which would be particularly important in the difficult funding environment that
the Council currently found itself in.

18

RESOLVED: That the forecast outturn position of the revenue budget and the level of
forecast balances in respect of the General Fund, Housing Revenue Account, Schools
Block and the Authority’s investment portfolio be noted.
91.
CAPITAL MONITORING 2015/16 - END OF DECEMBER 2015
The Executive considered a report setting out the position of the Capital budget as at the
end of December 2015 and requesting the allocation of S106 monies to various projects
as listed in the agenda.
The Executive Member for Economic Development and Finance was pleased to report that
the Capital Programme was essentially on budget for this year however there would be
elements of schemes which would require some money being carried forward to the next
financial year. Councillor Pollock highlighted the capital expenditure monitoring sheet,
attached at Appendix A to the report, and the release of s106 developer contributions for
Wheatfield Primary School and Wokingham Medical Centre projects as outlined in
Appendix B.
RESOLVED that:
1)
the Capital Monitoring report for the third quarter of 2015/16, as set out in Appendix
A to the report, be noted;
2)

the allocation of S106 to projects as listed in Appendix B to the report be approved.

92.
CHIEF FINANCE OFFICER'S REPORT
The Executive considered a report from the Chief Finance Officer setting out issues and
risks to be considered when setting the council tax for 2016/17 and agreeing the Council’s
Medium Term Financial Plan (MTFP).
The Executive Member for Economic Development and Finance went through the report
and explained that the funding settlement for 2016/17 had been particularly harsh on a
large number of local authorities, including Wokingham. Councillor Pollock drew
Members’ attention to the ‘Analysis of Spending Power Changes’ section of the report and
explained that the £13m Government grant, that had been expected to be withdrawn over
the life of this Parliament, would now be withdrawn in the next two years with a small
amount in year 3.
Councillor Pollock went on to say that the Council had now moved into a “negative
Government grant” which would be taken away from business rates. This would mean that
of the £63m, currently raised through business rates, by 2020 the Council would only keep
around £6m of this amount. He also highlighted the changes to the New Homes Bonus
and the implications of this change.
The Executive Member for Children’s Services drew Members’ attention to the fact that the
Education Services Grant would reduce in 2016/17 and cease entirely over the spending
review period; which would equate to a loss in grant income of over £1.5m over the next
four years. The Council did however still need to provide a large number of services to its
schools and the loss of this money would have an impact on the provision of these
services.
The Leader of Council advised that the poor settlement had brought the six Berkshire
unitary authorities together to physically go and lobby the Minister. In addition John
Redwood had been lobbying the Secretary of State on Wokingham’s behalf.

19

RESOLVED: That the Chief Finance Officer’s (CFO) report be noted and the issues
contained within, including the local government finance settlement and the sections on
key risks, be considered when setting the council tax for 2016/17 and agreeing the
Council’s Medium Term Financial Plan (MTFP).
93.
PRIMARY SCHOOL PLANNING STRATEGY
The Executive considered a report including a proposed Primary School Planning Strategy
which sets out the need for new primary school places over the period 2016 to 2018 to
ensure that there are sufficient school places to meet this need.
The Executive Member for Children’s Services advised the meeting that last year there
had been some areas where it had been difficult to meet the demand for school places eg
Earley which had seen an unprecedented change in house occupation patterns.
Therefore through the Strategy it was planned over the coming years to provide: up to 315
places in Earley; 315 places in Woodley; and up to 210 places in the South West. This
would be achieved by the expansion of existing schools and new school place provision
provided by the addition of seven new schools. It was noted that a school at Montague
Park was due to open in September 2016, and one at Matthews Green was anticipated to
be open in 2018. Further schools would be built in South Wokingham, Spencer’s Wood,
Shinfield West and two in the Arborfield SDL.
Councillor Haitham Taylor thanked the Earley Parents Group and those Members involved
in helping to formulate the Strategy and highlighted that consultation had taken place with
parents, residents, schools and other stakeholders. Members noted that the Strategy had
also taken account of highways constraints and restrictions of school sites.
Councillor Jorgensen commented that she welcomed the provision of extra school places,
especially in Earley, as she felt it was really important that local parents are able to send
their children to local schools. In addition to the benefits for parents and children it would
also reduce traffic congestion. Councillor Jorgensen also wanted to ensure that the
Council would continue to crack down on fraudulent school admissions and robustly fine
people. Councillor Haitham Taylor responded that the School Admission Arrangements
report, which was due to be discussed at the next Executive, included more robust
wording around applications from parents who owned/lived at two properties.
RESOLVED: That the Primary School Planning Strategy, as attached to the report, be
approved.
94.
PRIMARY STRATEGY IMPLEMENTATION PLAN PHASE 1
The Executive considered a report setting out Phase 1 of the Primary Strategy
Implementation Plan which would ensure that there were sufficient school places to
discharge the Council’s duties under the Education Act 1996.
The Executive Member for Children’s Services explained that the report provided further
detail on the expansion of selected schools in the areas of Woodley, Earley and the south
west and set out how many places would be required, how they would be delivered and
what the indicative costs could be. The report also highlighted the fact that it was better to
increase school places in a school that had a small planned admission number as this
could improve its viability.

20

It was noted that capital works had also been considered as part of the Implementation
Plan as it was very important that such works did not impinge on teaching and learning.
Councillor Haitham Taylor highlighted those schools which were proposed for expansion
and which had been chosen for various reasons including those where traffic and parking
issues could be minimised and also because they were schools that provided good quality
education and were popular with parents.
Councillor Pollock asked if reassurance could be given around the Shinfield proposal and
whether Ryeish Green had sufficient space and also if the physical works would be
completed on time? Councillor Haitham Taylor responded that there were currently two
different options available. The first option was to use of the former 6th form block which
was not currently big enough to accommodate one form of entry but with some temporary
accommodation alongside it would be sufficient prior to moving on to the new school site
when it became available. The second option was working with Oakbank Secondary
School, which was on the existing site, as they school had some spare accommodation
which subject to negotiations might be available instead of the 6th form block.
Councillor Pollock also highlighted the many traffic and access issues arising from the
proposal and wanted to ensure that these would be addressed. Councillor Haitham Taylor
confirmed that the provider of the school would need to put forward a travel plan which
would require Council agreement.
RESOLVED that:
1)
the selection of the school sites as listed in the report, to meet primary school
sufficiency for 2016/2017, be approved;
2)

the commissioning of work to carry out the detailed feasibility, and subject to
approval of final capital bids and business cases, to deliver the necessary works be
authorised.

95.
COUNCIL PLAN 2014-17 - UPDATE
The Executive considered a report outlining the progress that had been made towards
achieving the key actions of the Council’s service delivery as set out in the Council Plan
2014-2017.
The Leader of Council reminded Members that in 2014 the Council Plan was approved
which encompassed the vision, priorities and the principles and the report being
considered at this meeting was the first update of the Plan.
Councillor Ross felt that taking account of current financial difficulties the document was
actually a success story as the Council was still managing to develop the Borough,
including increasing housing, and provide new facilities.
RESOLVED: That the update of the Council Plan be approved.
96.
MODEL FOR COMMUNITY ASSET TRANSFER
The Executive considered a proposed model for Community Asset Transfers which was
intended to deliver a more effective use of community assets in the future and in particular
avoid arrangements that do not generate an optimal position for the Council.
The Executive Member for Regeneration and Communities thanked Councillor Mark
Ashwell for the work he had undertaken over the last year to develop the proposed model.

21

In the past there had been problems transferring assets from the Borough to either town or
parish councils or community groups and by using this model it should be possible to
speed up the process.
It was noted that in order to enable leases of 14-30 years to be delegated to the Director of
Finances and Resources in consultation with specified Members a change to the Council’s
Constitution would be required..
RESOLVED That:
1)
the aim to transfer assets identified through Area Reviews to Towns, Parishes or
Community organisations through a Model for Community Asset Transfer to be
approved by the Task and Finish Group and presented to Executive in March 2016
be approved;
2)

it be recommended to Full Council, via the Constitution Review Working Group, that
a change be made to the Constitution whereby following consultation with Services
and Ward Members, approval for Community Asset Transfers under leases of 14 30 years be delegated to the Director of Finances and Resources in consultation
with the Executive Member for Regeneration and Communities, the Executive
Member of the current service and Local Ward Members;

3)

it be noted that the use of these delegated powers is to be based on the overall
financial benefit to the Council and to enable the best community use of property
assets. In cases where it appears that a proposal is not in the Council’s best
financial interest and/or the capital value of an individual asset exceeds £250,000,
then they will be referred to Executive for approval.

97.

ELMS FIELD DEVELOPMENT - PAYMENT OF INFRASTRUCTURE
CONTRIBUTIONS
The Executive considered a report setting out the proposed approach to securing financial
contributions from the Elms Field development scheme to contribute towards off-site
scheme mitigation measures.
The Executive Member for Regeneration and Communities informed the meeting that the
report was seeking agreement to pay the community infrastructure levy in order to help
fund infrastructure projects which contribute towards the mitigation of the impact of the
Elms Field development.
RESOLVED: That the payment of monies from the Elms Field redevelopment scheme to
the Local Planning Authority, in accordance with the values and timing of payments set out
in the report, be agreed.
98.

REQUEST FOR THE TEMPORARY CLOSURE OF FOOTPATH 4 REMENHAM
(PART)
The Executive considered a report relating to a request from the organisers of the Henley
Festival of Music and the Arts for the closure of Footpath No. 4 Remenham during the
building and dismantling of the Festival stage.
Members were advised that work undertaken by the Working Group had taken away some
of the objections to the request, which was received on an annual basis, and that legally
the matter did not have to be brought to the Executive but because of the nature of
objections received previously it had been decided that it should be discussed at a public

22

meeting. The Leader of Council asked that consideration be given to revisiting this
decision.
RESOLVED That:
1)
the making of an Order for the closure of Footpath Remenham No 4, for a closure of
an 80m section of the footpath for the set up and de rig of the Festival stage from
Monday 4 July to Wednesday 6 July 2016 inclusive and from Monday 11 July to
Tuesday 12 July 2016 inclusive be approved;
2)

within the closure a 488m section for evening performances from Wednesday 6 July
to Sunday 10 July 2016 inclusive, be included under Section 16A of the Road
Traffic Regulation Act 1984, subject to the receipt of the requisite consent of the
Secretary of State for Transport.

99.
LIBRARY OFFER - CONSULTATION
The Executive considered a report setting out a proposed Library Offer which establishes
a purpose and direction of travel for the library service and a preferred delivery model for
that Offer which establishes a new hub and spoke model for library services.
The Executive Member for Resident Services advised Members that the Council’s libraries
were bucking the national trend with a 0.5% increase in visits which was in contrast to a
2% decline nationally; and a 2% increase in active users which now amounted to 24,000
with 594,000 books issued in the past year. In addition more e-books were being issued
and more events were taking place which covered amongst others children’s reading, craft
and poetry. Councillor Jorgensen paid tribute to the staff that ran the libraries for their
innovative ideas to expand services which were very popular and contributed to the
increased usage.
It was noted that the intention was to carry out an eight week consultation with residents
on both the Library Offer and the delivery model, including options for increasing the
accessibility and usage of the libraries further. Councillor Jorgensen highlighted a number
of these options which including technological innovations to increase opening hours
without actually increasing the costs of running the libraries and stated that she would be
very interested in receiving ideas from residents and users about what would make them
use the library more.
Following a query by the Leader of Council about issues that could arise with self-service
libraries it was confirmed that this model was used extensively in Scandinavia and several
local authorities in the UK eg Trafford, Peterborough and Brighton had also used this
model and found it to be successful.
RESOLVED that:
1)
residents be consulted on the proposed Library Offer which sets out what residents
can expect and enjoy from the Wokingham Borough Council Library Service;
2)

residents be consulted on the proposed Delivery Model, including implementing the
capability for some self-service (phase 1) and unstaffed opening (phase 2) within
the Wokingham Borough Council Library Service.

23

100. RISK MANAGEMENT POLICIES AND GUIDANCE
The Executive considered a report, as recommended by the Audit Committee, setting out
a proposed Enterprise Risk Management (ERM) Policy and supporting guidance which
would provide the framework for sustaining effective management of risk at the Council.
Members were advised that the proposed Policy included a couple of minor changes to
ensure that the document meets best practice standards eg clarifying the roles and
responsibilities for Members and Officers in managing risk.
RESOLVED that:
1)
the Enterprise Risk Management Policy be approved; and
2)

the Enterprise Risk Management Guidance be approved.

101. OPTALIS CONTRACT
This item was deferred to a future meeting.

24

Agenda Item 95.
TITLE

Housing Revenue Account Budget 2016/17

FOR CONSIDERATION BY

The Executive on 18 February 2016

WARD

None specific

STRATEGIC DIRECTOR

Stuart Rowbotham, Strategic Director Health and
Wellbeing

LEAD MEMBER

John Kaiser, Executive Member for Planning and
Highways

OUTCOME / BENEFITS TO THE COMMUNITY
Sound finances and value for money in providing housing services for council tenants.
RECOMMENDATION
That the Executive approve and recommend to Council :
1)
The Housing Revenue Account Budget;
2)

Council house dwelling rents be reduced by 1% effective from 1 April 2016 in line
with the Welfare Reform and Work Bill 2015, (subject to confirmation of the
statutory starting date);

3)

Garage rents be increased by 1.1% effective from 1 April 2016 in line with
Council fees and charges;

4)

It be noted that a review of the Shared Equity Rents in 2011 had determined that
rents had been kept artificially low in previous years and not increased in line with
the terms of the leases. Therefore rents for shared equity properties have been
gradually increased above inflation for four years to bring the rents in line by 1
April 2016. The increase for 2016/17 and future years will be based on RPI, and
is estimated to be approximately 1% in 2016/17;

5)

Tenant Service Charges are set in line with estimated costs;

6)

The Housing Major Repairs (capital) programme for 2016/17 as set out in
Appendix C.

SUMMARY OF REPORT
The proposed Housing Revenue Account budget for 2016/17 is set out for consideration
and recommendation to Council. An indication of the budget for 2017/18 and 2018/19 is
provided for information. Proposed 2016/17 rent levels for council housing and councilowned garages are also set out for recommendation to Council. The budget takes
account of forecast economic changes and movements in interest rates using relevant
available information from various sources, including the Council’s treasury advisors.

25

Background
HOUSING REVENUE ACCOUNT 2016/17
Housing Ring Fence
1.
The Housing Revenue Account (HRA) is a ring-fenced fund. This means that the
HRA must be self-financing and expenditure must be paid for by Council tenants
through rent and service charges. HRA expenditure cannot be funded by council tax
and similarly HRA income should not be used to pay for general fund services.
Rent Restructuring, Convergence, Housing Self Financing and the 2016/17 Rental
Reduction
2.
For the next four years, commencing in 2016/17 the Government are introducing
a compulsory 1% reduction in Social and Affordable rents. There is no discretion in
making this change and it applies to all council tenants. The 1% reduction is expected to
be implemented in April 2016 (the starting date is subject to confirmation) and will be
followed by a further 1% cumulative reduction from 1 April each year for the three years
to 2019/20. The rent restructuring and convergence initiative to create a fair rental
system for social rents can therefore no longer be implemented, although the Council
will continue increasing rents when tenancies change (however, the 1% annual rent
reduction will be applied); the real reduction in income compared to the 30 year model
figures which included rent convergence will therefore be more than 1%.
3. There will be further legislative changes which will have an impact on revenue
and/or capital budgets. These are subject to confirmation and clarification, and include :
”Pay to Stay” , which is the requirement for households with annual income over £30k to
pay market based rent; also the proposal that high value properties should be sold
when tenancies end, and the proceeds reinvested in further housing.
4. At 28 March 2012 the self-financing system was introduced for the HRA. The selffinancing system allocated a debt of £96.5m to the Council, and a loan portfolio of thirty
one loans was created to ensure the best interest rates were achieved for the HRA at
an average of 2.55% as opposed to the forecast average headline rate of 4.2%. As part
of the change to the self-financing system, the Council has prepared a 30-year business
plan for the HRA. The allocated debt is based on an up-to-date valuation of the council’s
housing stock and a 30 year notional business plan of income and expenditure. The
HRA will incur an annual interest charge and principal debt repayment over the first
twenty three years of the plan. The first loan, for a sum of £2.7m, was repaid in March
2014. Two further loans totalling £5.226m are repayable by 31 March 2018, and
budget provision is included under the HRA principal repayments line in Appendix D for
these loans.
5. The council’s 30 year business plan has been updated to reflect known changes
including the rent policy issues highlighted above. The business plan includes the
following:a. Based on a valuation of £102m the HRA now has a capital financing
requirement of £90.4m as at March 2017, thus giving borrowing headroom
of £11.6m.
b. The Council set its HRA Authorised Debt Limit at £102m and the HRA
Operational Boundary for Borrowing as £100m as set out in the Treasury

26

Management Strategy.
c. The HRA Capital Programme for 2016/17 will be £6.5m, followed by £5m
in 2017/18 and £5m in 2018/19. Note: We are waiting for the detail of the
levy on the “Pay to Stay” and the disposal of high value voids which may
impact on the level of programme which can be delivered.
d. The relevant proportion of future retained Right to Buy receipts will be
used within the HRA for investment in the stock.
e. Rental income will be based on government requirements for a 1%
reduction in April 2016, followed by a further 1% cumulative reduction from
1 April each year for the three further years to 2019/20.
Garage Rents
6.
It is proposed to increase garage rents by 1.1% for 2016/17 in line with the
council wide increase to fees and charges.
Shared Equity Rents
7.
Shared Equity rents are paid monthly in advance. Annual increases in shared
equity rents were thought to be limited to a rate equivalent to RPI on the month before
the lease commenced however review of these properties during the development of
the 30-year business plan for the self financing system has determined that the annual
increase should have been based on the increase in RPI since the leases were signed.
Therefore the rents had not been increased in previous years in line with the
expectations in the lease agreement resulting in current rents being significantly lower
than market values for social rents. Shared Equity rents have been increased above
inflation over a period of four years to 2015/16 to increase the rents and bring them in
line with the terms of the leases. From 2016/17 onwards rents will then be increased
annually for inflation.
2016/17 Budget Assumptions & Risks
8.
The 2016/17 budget includes expenditure of £2.6m for repairs and maintenance
and a contribution of £2m revenue contribution to capital to help fund a significantly
increased capital investment programme compared with previous years.
Housing Major Repairs (Capital Programme)
9. The council is required to fund major repairs from the rental income. The intention
over the 30 year business plan is to generate additional resource to help the council
meet the decent homes standard and also to invest further in the redevelopment and
regeneration of the council’s housing stock.
The breakdown of the funding of the £6.5m capital expenditure in 2016/17 is:
1) Revenue contributions £2m,
2) Major Repairs Reserve £3.2m
3) A brought forward balance of £1.3m from HRA reserves.
The proposed Housing Capital Programme, funded through revenue contributions to
capital, depreciation and the Major Repairs Reserve, is shown at Appendix C.

27

Consultation
10. The draft budget submission has been considered by Health & Wellbeing
Leadership Team on the 10th December 2015, the Tenants & Landlord Improvement
Panel which met on 17th December 2015 and the Affordable Housing Implementation
Group on 18th January 2016.
Analysis of Issues
The Housing Revenue Account budget for 2016/17 is shown at Appendix D. The budget
has been drawn up on a self-financing basis and reflects:




Interest charge of £3m, depreciation of £3.2m and revenue contributions
to capital of £2m as determined by the Council’s 30-year business plan
under the new self- financing system.
Management and repairs costs have reduced from £5.2m to £4.9m
following a review in 2015/16 and capitalisation of certain salary costs..
The projected HRA balance (see Appendix A) at 31 March 2016 will be
£3.4m. Reserves at 31 March 2017 are estimated to be £2.6m.

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS OF THE RECOMMENDATION
The Council faces severe financial challenges over the coming years as a result
of the austerity measures implemented by the Government and subsequent
reductions to public sector funding. It is estimated that Wokingham Borough
Council will be required to make budget reductions in excess of £20m over the
next three years and all Executive decisions should be made in this context.
How much will it
Cost/ (Save)
Current Financial
Year (Year 1)
Next Financial Year
(Year 2)
Following Financial
Year (Year 3)

See attached
reports
See attached
reports
See attached
reports

Is there sufficient
funding – if not
quantify the Shortfall
Yes

Revenue or
Capital?
Revenue & capital

Yes

Revenue & capital

Yes

Revenue & capital

Other financial information relevant to the Recommendation/Decision
None
Cross-Council Implications
None
List of Background Papers
Housing Revenue Account working papers
Contact Stephen McGrail
Telephone No 0118 974 6560
Date 5 February 2016

Service Resources
Email
Stephen.mcgrail@wokingham.gov.uk
Version No. 1

28

APPENDIX A

Reserve

Policy

Housing
Revenue
Account

Local Government and Housing
Act 1989 section 76 (3) forbids a
year end deficit on the HRA




Estimated Level

Balance is determined by
level of risk associated
with the budget
Minimum 5% of gross
spend

29

Current recommended minimum
level of reserves is:
£0.9m - minimum level

Benefits


Provides general
contingency for
unavoidable and
unseen expenditure
or fall in income



Stability for longer
term planning and for
meeting the decent
homes standards

Opportunity Costs


March 16 £3.4m
March 17

£2.6m

March 18

£1.9m

March 19

£1m


Interest on balances
helps to reduce
costs.



Could be used
to fund HRA
capital
expenditure to
help meet
decent homes
standard which
would result in
loss of interest.
Could be used
to fund
development
opportunities
within the HRA



Could be used
to fund debt
repayment.



Could be used
to fund HRA
expenditure
which would
result in loss of
interest.

This page is intentionally left blank

APPENDIX B
PROPOSED RENT 2016/17 – Sample Rents, Service Charges & Fees
Address

Date
Built

Bed-sit Flat, Longs Way

1959

Weekly
Rent
2014/15
£ 72.69

Weekly
%
Rent
Increase/
2015/16
Decrease
£
78.40
7.9%

Weekly
Rent
2016/17
£ 77.62

%
Increase/
Decrease
-1.0%

Bed-sit Bungalow, Finch Road

1954

£

81.91

£

87.73

7.1%

£ 86.85

-1.0%

1 Bed Flat, Cobham House

1964

£

92.63 £

94.67

2.2%

£ 93.72

-1.0%

1 Bed Bungalow, Firs Close

1974

£

88.16

£

90.42

2.6%

£ 89.52

-1.0%

2 Bed Flat, Field End

1984

£ 107.73

£

110.52

2.6%

£ 109.41

-1.0%

2 Bed Maisonette, Clements Close

1977

£ 102.31

£

104.37

2.0%

£ 103.33

-1.0%

2 Bed Bungalow, Emblen Crescent

1951

£ 100.10

£

106.21

6.1%

£ 105.15

-1.0%

2 Bed House, Mole Road

<1945

£ 117.57

£

120.94

2.9%

£ 119.73

-1.0%

3 Bed Maisonette, Patten Ash Drive

1965

£ 119.67

£

121.82

1.8%

£ 120.60

-1.0%

3 Bed Bungalow, Harman Court

1969

£ 126.62

£

129.89

2.6%

£ 128.59

-1.0%

3 Bed House, Hurst Road

<1945

£ 131.89

£

135.30

2.6%

£ 133.95

-1.0%

4 Bed Maisonette, Patten Ash Drive

1969

£ 130.98

£

133.60

2.0%

£ 132.26

-1.0%

4 Bed House, Chestnut Crescent

1969

£ 134.87

£

138.84

2.9%

£ 137.45

-1.0%

5 Bed House, Bayley Court

1969

£ 140.99

£

143.83

2.0%

£ 142.39

-1.0%

Note: It should be noted that construction of the dwellings does vary between traditional, non-traditional, PRC (prereinforced concrete) and timber framed homes.
Service Charge per property per week 2016/17*

Communal Area Address

Electricity

Arnett Avenue
Ashridge Road
Barker Court
Budges Road
Chatsworth Avenue
Chestnut Crescent
Cheviot Drive
Chiltern Drive
Cobham House
Ditchfield Lane
Dowding Court
Field End
Finch Road
Frensham Green
Halpin House
Hunters Court
Kingsbridge Cottages
Loddon View
Martineau Lane
Middlefields Court
Norreys Avenue
Ormonde Road

£1.50
£1.69
£0.00
£0.95
£0.00
£0.87
£0.76
£0.49
£0.94
£0.90
£0.00
£0.00
£0.00
£0.00
£8.61
£0.51
£0.00
£0.00
£0.00
£0.00
£0.00
£0.44
Page 1 of 2

31

Grounds
Cleaning
Maintenance

£0.31
£0.39
£2.10
£0.17
£0.04
£0.02
£1.56
£1.56
£0.82
£0.22
£1.68
£1.39
£0.05
£0.17
£0.80
£2.24
£1.29
£1.51
£0.29
£0.29
£0.00
£0.09

£4.87
£0.00
£0.00
£0.00
£0.00
£0.00
£2.34
£0.00
£4.01
£1.62
£0.00
£0.00
£0.00
£0.00
£0.00
£3.00
£5.00
£0.00
£0.00
£0.00
£1.92
£0.00

APPENDIX B
Patten Ash Drive
Pennfields
Queen Victoria House
Recreation Road
Roycroft Lane
Stephanie Chase Court
Toutley Road

£1.74
£0.23
£0.67
£0.78
£0.00
£0.27
£1.10

£0.10
£0.13
£0.84
£3.08
£2.09
£1.12
£2.34

£0.00
£0.00
£2.31
£5.10
£0.00
£0.00
£0.00

* The service charge may include any, or all of the following: Grounds Maintenance, Cleaning, and Electricity where applicable. There may be
small differences between properties within the same road reflecting different service charge requirements e.g. communal areas.

Sheltered Accommodation Address

Service Charge per property per week 2016/17*

Arnett Avenue
Dickens Court
Glebe Gardens
Harman Court
Meachen Court
Palmer Court
Polehampton Court
Sale Gardens
Spring Gardens
Treacher Court
Cockayne Court

£2.00
£34.01
£16.52
£25.62
£37.90
£38.14
£30.89
£20.79
£38.39
£18.81
£29.28

* The service charge may include any of the following Grounds Maintenance, Cleaner, Cleaning, Communal Water, Water, Communal Electric,
Electric, Communal Gas, Gas, Warden, Scheme Telephone, Alarm Phones, Window Cleaning, Common Room Cooker & Refrigerator, Heating
Plant & Equipment, Lift Servicing, Ventilation System, Fire Fighting Equipment, Sewerage Pumps, Warden Call System/Entry
Phones/Emergency Lighting, Forest Care, Malibu Bath, CCTV, Business Rates, where applicable.

Sheltered Accommodation Guest Charges

Guest Charge Per Night 2016/17
£8.20
£8.20
£8.20
£8.20
£8.20
£8.20
£8.20
£8.20

Dickens Court
Cockayne Court
Harman Court
Meachen Court
Palmer Court
Polehampton Court
Sale Garden Cottages
Spring Gardens

Weekly Rent 2016/17

Garages

£7.65
£10.90 (Includes VAT @ 20.0%)

Council Tenants (Non vatable)
Non Tenants (vatable)

Per Annum 2016/17

Leaseholder Charges

£10.00
£90.00

Ground Rent
Management

Page 2 of 2

32

HOUSING REVENUE ACCOUNT CAPITAL BUDGET 2016/17

APPENDIX C

2016/17
£'000
Budget
EXPENDITURE
Estate Improvements
Capitalised Staffing Costs
Adaptations for the Disabled
Voids
Planned & Cyclical Works
Improvements & Projects including Decent Homes
Total Expenditure
FUNDED BY
Major Repairs Reserve
Other Receipts/Grants
Revenue Contributions
Total Capital Funding
Balances at Year End

33

2017/18
£'000
Budget

2018/19
£'000
Budget

25
300
140
530
2,100
3,452
6,547

25
300
144
530
2,100
1,901
5,000

25
250
147
530
2,000
2,048
5,000

(3,239)
(1,301)
(2,007)
(6,547)

(3,305)
0
(1,695)
(5,000)

(3,383)
0
(1,617)
(5,000)

0

0

0

This page is intentionally left blank

HOUSING REVENUE ACCOUNT BUDGET 2016/17

APPENDIX D

2015/16
£'000
Budget
INCOME
Rents
Dwelling Rents
Garage Rents
Commercial Rents
Total Rents

2016/17
£'000
Budget

2017/18
£'000
Budget

2018/19
£'000
Budget

(14,993)
(204)
(5)
(15,202)

(14,937)
(217)
(5)
(15,159)

(14,788)
(219)
(5)
(15,012)

(14,640)
(222)
(5)
(14,866)

(365)
(49)
(80)
(6)
(15,702)

(452)
(58)
(43)
(28)
(15,740)

(464)
(58)
(44)
(28)
(15,605)

(475)
(58)
(44)
(29)
(15,472)

2,768
2,525
655
197
3,313
3,412
2,838
912
16,620

2,589
2,347
666
174
3,239
2,007
2,956
2,564
16,541

2,615
2,371
672
182
3,305
1,695
2,912
2,564
16,316

2,644
2,395
679
191
3,383
1,617
2,885
2,564
16,358

Net Expenditure / (Income)

918

801

711

886

REVENUE ACCOUNT
Balance at Beginning of Year
Forecast Outturn for Year
Balance at End of Year

(4,110)
663
(3,447)

(3,447)
801
(2,646)

(2,646)
711
(1,935)

(1,935)
886
(1,049)

Fees & Charges
Service Charges
Leasehold Charges
Other Charges for Services & Facilities
Interest on Balances
Total Income
EXPENDITURE
Housing Repairs
General Management
Sheltered Accommodation
Other Special Expenses
Depreciation
Revenue Contribution to Capital
Capital Finance Interest Charge
HRA Principal Repayments
Total Expenditure

35

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 96.
TITLE

Capital Programme and Strategy 2016/19

FOR CONSIDERATION BY

The Executive on 18 February 2016

WARD

None specific

DIRECTOR

Graham Ebers, Director of Finance and Resources

LEAD MEMBER

Anthony Pollock, Executive Member for Economic
Development and Finance

OUTCOME / BENEFITS TO THE COMMUNITY
Effective and safe use of our resources to deliver service improvements and service
continuity through capital investments.
RECOMMENDATION
Executive is asked to:
1)
recommend to Council the approval of the Capital Programme and Strategy
2016/19;
2)

approve the allocation of the remaining un-ringfenced Large Scale Sites Grant
from the HCA towards the delivery of 15/16 strategic Development Locations
(SDLs); to contribute to the generation in 2015/16 of a capital reserve of £2m.
This will be used to fund 2016/17 programme.

3)

to approve the schemes which are listed in Appendix C. These are funded by
developer contributions (s106) and Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) to the
extent of £12m and that this funding can be increased if further developer
contributions become available. The total budget for these schemes is £38m in
the 2016/19 Capital Programme.

SUMMARY OF REPORT
As part of the budget planning process, this report will review the programme of Capital
schemes to be carried out in the three year period from 2016/2017 to 2018/2019 and is
based on the bids that have been received from the services and current estimated
carry forwards.

37

Background
The bids and current estimated carry forwards were evaluated using a process which
sought to allocate scarce capital resources in line with the Council's Vision, Priorities
and Underpinning Principles.
Based on these evaluations the attached capital programme has been created.
Members are presented with the proposed capital budget submission 2016/19 for
recommendation to Council (Appendix A). This includes a summary of capital resources
to fund the attached programme (Appendix B).
Analysis of Issues
The capital programme expenditure is summarised below:
•
2016/17 - £140.7m (including estimated 15/16 carry forward of £56.0m)
•
2017/18 - £99.2m
•
2018/19 - £92.8m
The total value of the programme over the three years is £332.7m
The capital programme shows a large increase in expenditure This is in order to meet
the investment ambitions of the council.
The table below summarises the funding position over the next three years:

Total Wokingham Borough Council Capital
Programme

2016/17

2017/18

2018/19

£'000

£'000

£'000

140,677

99,239

92,847

(140,717)

(89,885)

(75,941)

In Year Surplus ( ) / Deficit(+)

(40)

9,354

16,906

Cumulative Surplus ( ) / Deficit(+)

(40)

9,314

26,220

Available Funding

The shortfall for 2017/18 and 2018/19 will be bridged through a combination of
maximising resources, prioritising and modifying schemes.

38

The capital programme (including estimated carry forward from 15/16) is summarised
below:
Year 1
2016/17

Year 2
2017/18

Year 3
2018/19

£'000

£'000

£'000

Service Unit
Chief Executive

25,286

24,654

18,952

Children's Services

37,529

20,765

11,654

Environment

32,659

28,448

36,322

Finance & Resources

11,103

6,742

7,469

Health & Wellbeing

34,100

18,630

18,450

140,677

99,239

92,847

Total

Capital resources of £308m to fund the capital programme are summarised below:
New Schemes

Year 1 2016/17

Year 2
2017/18

Year 3
2018/19

£'000

£'000

£'000

Section 106/ Community
infrastructure levy

(21,563)

(17,581)

(21,026)

Grants & Contributions

(15,709)

(19,343)

(13,093)

Borrowing

(43,775)

(52,811)

(37,872)

(3,650)

(150)

(3,950)

(84,697)

(89,885)

(75,941)

Reserves & Capital
Receipts
Total

Estimated Cfwd 15/16

Year 1
2016/17

Year 2
2017/18

Year 3
2018/19

£'000

£'000

£'000

Section 106/ Community
infrastructure levy

(12,425)

Grants & Contributions

(11,705)

Borrowing

(30,477)

Reserves & Capital Receipts
Total

(Surplus)/Deficit

39

(1,413)

(56,020)

0

0

Year 1
2016/17

Year 2
2017/18

Year 3
2018/19

£'000

£'000

£'000

(40)

9,314

26,220

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS OF THE RECOMMENDATION
The Council faces severe financial challenges over the coming years as a result
of the austerity measures implemented by the Government and subsequent
reductions to public sector funding. It is estimated that Wokingham Borough
Council will be required to make budget reductions in excess of £20m over the
next three years and all Executive decisions should be made in this context.
How much will it
Cost/ (Save)
Current Financial
Year (Year 1)
Next Financial Year
(Year 2)
Following Financial
Year (Year 3)

Revenue or
Capital?

£140.7m in16/17

Is there sufficient
funding – if not
quantify the Shortfall
Yes

£99.2m in 17/18

No - £9.3m*

Capital

£92.8m in 18/19

No - £16.9m*

Capital

Capital

Other financial information relevant to the Recommendation/Decision
*The shortfall for 2016/17 and 2017/18 will be bridged through a combination of
maximising resources, prioritising and modifying schemes.
Cross-Council Implications
Budgets and strategies are clearly monitored and do not impact on other Council
services and priorities
List of Background Papers
Appendix A – Capital programme 2016/2019
Appendix B – Capital resources 2016/2019
Appendix C - S106 & CIL funded Schemes 2016/2017
Contact Martin Jones
Telephone No 0118 9746877
Date 4th February 2016

Service Finance & Resources
Email martin.jones@wokingham.gov.uk
Version No. 3

40

Appendix A

Capital Programme 2016/17
CAPITAL SERVICE BUDGETS

Service Development Capital
Programme
Year 1
Year 2
Year 3
2016/17 2017/18 2018/19
£'000
£'000
£'000

Statutory Capital Programme
Year 1
2016/17
£'000

Year 2
2017/18
£'000

Year 3
2018/19
£'000

Total
Year 1
2016/17
£'000

Year 2
2017/18
£'000

Year 3
2018/19
£'000

Chief Executive
Strategic acquisition sites
Strategic purchase of sites in relation to town centre regeneration

0

0

0

0

3,000

0

0

3,000

0

Town centre development including Peach Place and Carnival Pool area
The schemes will support existing and new businesses, increase employment, secure ongoing investment into
the town centre (including surrounding areas) and improve the quality of the open space within the town centre

0

0

0

10,703

21,654

18,952

10,703

21,654

18,952

Total New Budget

0

0

0

10,703

24,654

18,952

10,703

24,654

18,952

0

0

0

14,583

0

0

14,583

0

0

Total Carried forward from 2015/16

0

0

0

14,583

0

0

14,583

0

0

Total Chief Executive

0

0

0

25,286

24,654

18,952

25,286

24,654

18,952

2,715

5,612

9,500

0

0

0

2,715

5,612

9,500

18,402

11,146

372

0

0

0

18,402

11,146

372

75

75

75

0

0

0

75

75

75

0

0

0

20

20

20

20

20

20

50

50

50

0

0

0

50

50

50

150

150

150

0

0

0

150

150

150

412

412

412

0

0

0

412

412

412

650

700

700

0

0

0

650

700

700

0

0

0

1,000

0

0

1,000

0

0

225

2,600

375

0

0

0

225

2,600

375

950

0

0

0

0

0

950

0

0

23,629

20,745

11,634

1,020

20

20

24,649

20,765

11,654

Town centre development including Peach Place and Carnival Pool area

41

Children's Services

Basic needs primary - additional places
Extension/new build projects to provide additional places throughout the Borough to meet need
Basic needs secondary - additional places
Extension/new build projects to provide additional places throughout the Borough to meet need
Enhancing provision for children and young people with disabilities
Adaptations to properties to enable disabled children to be cared for in their home/respite care environment
ICT equipment for children in care
To purchase/replace equipment that is provided to children in care in line with our children in care pledge
Schools access
To improve school facilities to enable full integration of pupils and adults with disabilities
School kitchens
To improve various school meals kitchens throughout the Borough including delivery of the universal free school
meal programme
Schools led enhancement
Specific government grant to carry out capital works, controlled by schools
Schools urgent maintenance
Urgent capital planned improvements and suitability issues
Secondary improvement programme
To improve standards of learning inSecondary provision
Special education needs
Capital investment required to reconfigure Primary and Secondary special education needs provision to best
meet needs
Young person supported accommodation - new build
To increase the range of accommodation options to deliver our corporate parenting responsibility and helping to
support young people towards independence

Total New Budget

Page 1 of 6

Appendix A

Capital Programme 2016/17

Basic needs primary - additional places
Basic needs secondary - additional places
Children, young people, families - other
School kitchens
Schools access
Schools led enhancement
Schools urgent maintenance
Secondary improvement programme
Special education needs

3,571
3,982
0
0
75
565
49
1,933
2,580

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

0
0
125
0
0
0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

3,571
3,982
125
0
75
565
49
1,933
2,580

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

Total carried foward from 2015/16

12,755

0

0

125

0

0

12,880

0

0

Total Children's Services

36,384

20,745

11,634

1,145

20

20

37,529

20,765

11,654

0

0

0

870

500

10,800

870

500

10,800

670

500

500

0

0

0

670

500

500

0

0

0

250

1,500

1,500

250

1,500

1,500

0

0

0

135

0

0

135

0

0

0

0

0

800

900

1,400

800

900

1,400

0

0

0

620

600

2,050

620

600

2,050

0

0

0

50

1,000

1,000

50

1,000

1,000

200

200

200

0

0

0

200

200

200

0

1,000

2,000

0

0

0

0

1,000

2,000

2,400

2,400

2,400

0

0

0

2,400

2,400

2,400

0

0

0

100

100

100

100

100

100

300

400

400

0

0

0

300

400

400

0

0

0

0

2,000

2,000

0

2,000

2,000

Environment

42

Arborfield cross relief road
Design and implementation of the new road
Bridge strengthening
To maintain Wokingham Borough Council’s bridges in such condition that they remain safe for highway users
and available for use by traffic permitted to use them
Car park entry/exit barriers - feasibility
To investigate the feasibility and determine the cost benefits of installing entry/exit barriers and associated
payment systems in off street car parks
Civil parking enforcement
The council taking on the responsibility of enforcing on-street parking restrictions
Country park capital investment programme
Investment in the Borough's country parks
Full northern relief road (Wokingham)
Design and implementation of the new road
Greenways
A network of quiet commuting and leisure routes for pedestrians and cyclists
Highway drainage schemes
To arrest the overall degradation of the highway drainage network which suffers from 'silting up', breakages, tree
root damage, inadequate size and increased loading
Highway infrastructure flood alleviation schemes
To raise the level of various roads on the highway network to reduce the need for their closure during times of
flooding
Highways carriageways structural maintenance
Resurfacing of carriageways to improve highway safety
Highways footway structural maintenance programme
Resurfacing of footways to improve their condition and increase surface water run-off thereby improving
pedestrian safety
Integrated transport schemes
Providing facilities to ensure that the public are safe on the Borough's roads
Land acquisition for major road schemes
Opportunity to purchase land for strategic purposes

Page 2 of 6

Appendix A

Capital Programme 2016/17
Environment continued
LED streetlight replacement programme
Investment in new street lighting equipment that will reduce the council's energy bill, improve street lighting quality
and lower the risk of column failure
London Road landfill reparation
To support the monitoring and any resultant work on the London Road Landfill Site
New allotments/enhancements
To provide new allotment facilities and/or enhancement of facilities at existing allotment in the Borough.
Nine Mile Ride extension
To progress the design of the new road to detailed design and construction, and to include all feasibility work up
to and including planning application submission
Park and ride schemes
Investment in park and ride schemes across the Borough
Provision and Installation of air quality monitoring equipment
To provide air quality management areas (AQMA) with a greater level of detailed monitoring to ensure full data
capture

1,825

270

0

0

0

1,825

1,825

270

60

60

60

0

0

0

60

60

60

0

0

0

0

138

0

0

138

0

0

0

0

750

3,000

0

750

3,000

0

0

0

0

50

700

0

50

700

0

10

10

0

0

0

0

10

10

0

Public rights of way network
Investment in all public rights of way and other non-motorised routes to support the needs of all types of users

0

0

0

0

25

125

0

25

125

Public transport network
Investment in an integrated and inclusive public transport network that provides a convenient, acceptable, reliable
and affordable alternative to car travel

0

0

0

65

0

992

65

0

992

Ryeish Green sports hub
Enhancement and additional facilities at the site

0

0

0

2,000

0

0

2,000

0

0

1,950

0

0

0

0

0

1,950

0

0

0

0

0

750

50

750

750

50

750

0

0

0

6,159

4,286

5,621

6,159

4,286

5,621

0

0

0

1,150

2,270

1,000

1,150

2,270

1,000

35

10

5

0

0

0

35

10

5

0

0

0

0

100

500

0

100

500

0

0

0

25

475

0

25

475

0

40

40

40

0

0

0

40

40

40

20

20

20

0

0

0

20

20

20

0

0

0

122

0

0

122

0

0

43

1,825

Safe route to Arborfield school
To progress the design and construction, and to include all feasibility work
Safety/crash barriers
Improving safety/crash barriers on the highway to reduce the risk of injury to road users
Shinfield eastern relief road
To progress the design of the new road to detailed design and construction, and to include all feasibility work up
to and including planning application submission
South Wokingham distributor road
Design and implementation of the new road
Southlake dam crest reparation
To mitigate the risk of a breach to the dam
Sports provision across the borough - (excludes Bulmershe leisure centre)
Investment in the Borough's sport provision
Station link Road phase 2
The continuation of the station link road scheme
Street lighting column structural testing
Annual testing to determine rate of deterioration of column structural stability
Strengthening approach embankments to bridges
To repair major damage caused by deterioration, vehicle impact and where appropriate to meet the changing
demands of users
Super fast broadband
Provision of 100% coverage of 25mb broadband for Berkshire by 2017. The scheme is in partnership with the
other Berkshire unitary councils

Page 3 of 6

Appendix A

Capital Programme 2016/17

44
Page 4 of 6

Appendix A

Capital Programme 2016/17
Finance & Resources
Affordable housing future schemes
Commercial portfolio - improvement to industrial units
To ensure commercial properties are suitable for letting
Customer programme
To provide online booking facilities to residents and to integrate with line of business systems
IT hardware replacement
To replace unreliable/out of warranty components
Laptop refresh
Refresh the councils laptop estate on a 4 year life cycle
Property maintenance and compliance
The ongoing maintenance of the operational property estate to retain the function and value of the asset, while
ensuring compliance with legislative and regulatory requirements e.g. asbestos and legionella
Repayment of forward funded schemes loans
Allocation of developers contributions to completed schemes which were forward funded
Support services energy reduction schemes
Investment in energy reduction schemes through various mechanisms e.g. lighting, insulation and
improvements; which is envisaged to deliver demonstrable energy bill savings

45

Technology futures programme 2016/17
Continue the implementation of new technologies to support the efficient functioning of the council
Web resource - customer programme, self service and web improvement
This project is to continue to redesign and improve the website, supporting improvements to residents and
customers on line particularly around self service

Total New Budget

0

0

0

8,193

5,842

4,557

8,193

5,842

4,557

0

0

0

40

150

150

40

150

150

0

0

0

270

0

0

270

0

0

0

0

0

100

100

0

100

100

0

0

0

0

350

0

0

350

0

0

170

350

350

0

0

0

170

350

350

0

0

0

0

0

2,112

0

0

2,112

0

0

0

0

300

300

0

300

300

0

0

0

105

0

0

105

0

0

0

0

0

77

0

0

77

0

0

170

350

350

9,135

6,392

7,119

9,305

6,742

7,469

Finance - other

90

0

90

Property - other

32

0

32

543

0

543

1,133

0

1,133

Strategic assets - other
Strategic capital reserve

Total carried foward from 2015/16

1,798

0

0

0

0

0

1,798

0

0

Total Finance & Resources

1,968

350

350

9,135

6,392

7,119

11,103

6,742

7,469

Page 5 of 6

Appendix A

Capital Programme 2016/17
Health & Wellbeing
Bulmershe swimming pool/leisure centre
New build of leisure facilities in the Woodley area
Renovation of Bulmershe leisure centre - including additional health and fitness gym
Renovation of Bulmershe leisure centre (including additional health and fitness gym) *subject to bid above*
Connected care
Integration of health and social care ICT systems
Day services for adults with physical disability
Feasibility into the provision of day services for adults with physical disability
HRA - Tape Lane
Year 2 of redevelopment of the site with new properties for the HRA housing stock
Investment in the council’s housing stock (Inc. adaptations/estate improvements)
Investment programme to provide council housing stock which meets the government’s decent homes standard
Investment in Wokingham Housing Loan
Mandatory disabled facility grants
Mandatory means tested grants for adapting the homes of people with disabilities to enable them to live
independently at home
Online carers self screening form
Online self assessment tool kit

46

Temporary accommodation
Second year of a scheme to provide additional council owned temporary accommodation for the homeless and
those in housing crisis

Total New Budget

Mandatory disabled facility grants
Strategic commissioning - Health & Wellbeing
Supported living accommodation
Temporary accommodation
Tenant services housing repairs & adaptions for disabled
Wokingham Housing

0

0

0

0

6,000

4,700

0

6,000

4,700

0

0

0

0

1,000

1,000

0

1,000

1,000

0

100

100

0

0

0

0

100

100

50

0

1,320

0

0

0

50

0

1,320

0

0

0

1,500

0

0

1,500

0

0

5,050

5,000

5,000

0

0

0

5,050

5,000

5,000

0

0

0

6,810

6,200

6,000

6,810

6,200

6,000

330

330

330

0

0

0

330

330

330

15

0

0

0

0

0

15

0

0

250

0

0

0

0

0

250

0

0

5,695

5,430

6,750

8,310

13,200

11,700

14,005

18,630

18,450

177

0

0

0

0

0

177

0

0

300

0

0

0

0

0

300

0

0

1,215

0

0

0

0

0

1,215

0

0

500

0

0

0

0

0

500

0

0

1,971

0

0

0

0

0

1,971

0

0

15,932

0

0

0

0

0

15,932

0

0

Total carried foward from 2015/16

20,095

0

0

0

0

0

20,095

0

0

Total Health & Wellbeing

25,790

5,430

6,750

8,310

13,200

11,700

34,100

18,630

18,450

Total council services

78,655

33,329

24,968

62,022

65,910

67,879

140,676

99,239

92,847

Note: The deficit in years 2017/18 and 2018/19 will be addressed through a combination of maximising
resources, prioritising and modifying schemes

Page 6 of 6

Appendix B

Estimated Capital Resources Statement 2016/17
ESTIMATED CAPITAL RESOURCES STATEMENT

Ring Fenced Funding
2016/17
£'000

Proposed Capital Programme - excluding carried forwards.

Note

2017/18
£'000

Non - Ring fenced Funding

2018/19
£'000

2016/17
£'000

2017/18
£'000

Total

2018/19
£'000

2016/17
£'000

2017/18
£'000

2018/19
£'000

69,488

70,593

63,017

15,169

28,646

29,830

84,657

99,239

92,847

224

224

224

0

0

0

224

224

224

Affordable housing commuted sums (off-site)

8,193

5,842

4,557

0

0

0

8,193

5,842

4,557

Attributable debt on sales

1,250

0

0

0

0

0

1,250

0

0

0

0

0

2,182

7,226

1,200

2,182

7,226

1,200

20,138

16,802

13,000

0

0

0

20,138

16,802

13,000

0

0

0

3,150

3,300

3,400

3,150

3,300

3,400

6,810

6,200

6,000

0

0

0

6,810

6,200

6,000

10,703

24,684

15,202

0

0

0

10,703

24,684

15,202

0

0

0

2,295

2,295

2,295

2,295

2,295

2,295

Adult personal social services grant

Basic need grant
Borrowing (forward funding)
Borrowing (standard allocation)
Borrowing (Wokingham Housing)
Borrowing (Wokingham town centre regeneration)
Capital maintenance grant
1

0

0

0

150

150

150

150

150

150

Capital receipts - Peach Place redevelopment

2

0

0

3,800

0

0

0

0

0

3,800

47

Capital receipts (non Wokingham town centre regeneration)
Corporate revenue contribution to capital

0

0

0

750

750

750

750

750

750

Developers contributions (community infrastructure levy)

0

171

1,110

1,172

2,135

1,917

1,172

2,306

3,027

12,197

9,433

13,442

0

0

0

12,197

9,433

13,442

412

412

412

0

0

0

412

412

412

Disabled facilities grant

0

0

0

341

341

341

341

341

341

Local transport plan direct grant

0

0

0

735

735

735

735

735

735

Local transport plan direct grant - capital maintance grant

0

0

0

2,434

2,360

2,136

2,434

2,360

2,136

5,050

5,000

5,000

0

0

0

5,050

5,000

5,000

0

0

0

2,000

0

0

2,000

0

0

Developers contributions (section 106)
Devolved formula capital

3

Major repairs reserve
Reserves
Right to buy receipts

1

Street lighting loan
Super fast broadband
Town Centre improvements

Total Capital Reserves

1,500

0

0

0

0

0

1,500

0

0

1,825

1,825

270

0

0

0

1,825

1,825

270

37

0

0

0

0

0

37

0

0

1,149

0

0

0

0

0

1,149

0

0

69,488

70,593

63,017

15,209

19,292

12,924

84,697

89,885

75,941

In Year Surplus (-) / Deficit(+)

(40)

Cumulative Surplus (-) / Deficit(+)

(40)

9,354
9,313

16,906
26,220

Page 1 of 2

Appendix B

Estimated Capital Resources Statement 2016/17
ESTIMATED CAPITAL RESOURCES STATEMENT

Ring Fenced Funding
2016/17
£'000

Estimated Capital Budgets carried forward from 15/16

2017/18
£'000

Non - Ring fenced Funding

2018/19
£'000

2016/17
£'000

2017/18
£'000

Total

2018/19
£'000

2016/17
£'000

2017/18
£'000

2018/19
£'000

Note

Section 106/community infrastructure levy

12,425

0

0

0

0

0

12,425

0

0

Grants and Contributions

11,705

0

0

0

0

0

11,705

0

0

Borrowing

30,477

0

0

0

0

0

30,477

0

0

Reserves and capital receipts

1,413

0

0

0

0

0

1,413

0

0

56,020

0

0

0

0

0

56,019

0

0

2016/17
£'000

2017/18
£'000

2018/19
£'000

Note
Proposed capital programme (excluding carried forwards)

84,657

Estimated capital budgets carried forwards from 15/16

Total Capital Programme
Ring fenced funding

92,847

56,020

0

0

140,677

99,239

92,847

125,508

70,593

63,017

15,209

19,292

12,924

Total Funding

140,717

89,885

75,941

In Year Surplus ( ) / Deficit(+)

(40)

Cumulative Surplus ( ) / Deficit(+)

(40)

9,313

26,220

2,030

40

0

150

150

3,950

(2,140)

(190)

(3,950)

40

0

0

48

Non - ring fenced funding

99,239

9,354

16,906

Movement on Capital Reserves
Opening balance (including capital grants)
Estimate of capital receipts from sale of assets

2

Capital reserves/receipts used to fund capital programme

Closing Balance
Notes

**All grants for 16-17 onwards are estimates and could change**
Note 1. All Capital receipts listed may not materialise
Note 2. Capital receipts in 2018/19 relate to Wokingham town centre first phase of housing sales
Note 3. Schools have discretion on how they can spend devolved capital
The deficits in 17/18 and 18/19 will be addressed in future years' service planning and budget setting process. This will include a combination of seeking additional capital resources, re-profiling schemes
across years and curtailing them where necessary

Page 2 of 2

Capital schemes for 15-16 to be part/fully funded by
Developers Contributions (S106) and/or Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL)

Appendix C

The table below are schemes which have been identified to be part/fully funded by Developers contributions
(S106) and/or Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL).
The executive are asked to note the allocation of Section 106/CIL funding up to the value of the budget of
each scheme.
Budget
2016-17

Children's Services

£'000

Basic Needs Primary - Additional Places
Basic Needs Secondary - Additional Places
Special Education Needs

Children's Services
Children's Services
Children's Services

2,715
18,402
225

Environment
Ryeish Green Sports Hub
Super Fast Broadband
station link road phase 2
Winnersh Relief Road Phase 2
Traffic Signal Upgrade Programme
Wokingham Borough Cycle Network
Public Transport Network
Shinfield Eastern Relief Road - General
Nine Mile Ride Extension - General
Arborfield Cross Relief Road - General
Full Northern Relief Road (Wokingham) - General
South Wokingham Distributor Road
Town Centre Improvements
Country Park Capital Investment Programme - General

Environment
Environment
Environment
Environment
Environment
Environment
Environment
Environment
Environment
Environment
Environment
Environment
Environment
Environment

Total Budget

49

2,000
122
25
750
250
1,000
65
6,159
750
870
620
1,150
2,500
800

38,403

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 97.
TITLE

Treasury Management Strategy 2016/17

FOR CONSIDERATION BY

The Executive on 18 February 2016

WARD

None specific

DIRECTOR

Graham Ebers, Director of Finance and Resources

LEAD MEMBER

Anthony Pollock, Executive Member for Economic
Development and Finance

OUTCOME / BENEFITS TO THE COMMUNITY
Effective and safe use of our resources to deliver service improvements and service
continuity through capital investments.
RECOMMENDATION
The Executive is asked to recommend to the Council for approval the following:
1)
the Capital Prudential indicators, 2016/17- 2018/19;
2)

the Borrowing Strategy 2016/17;

3)

the Annual Investment Strategy 2016/17;

4)

the Treasury Indicators: limits to borrowing activity 2016/17;

5)

flexible use of Capital Receipts; and

6)

note a review of counterparties and the consideration of risk versus return is
being reviewed and will be reported back to executive to in the year for
consideration.

SUMMARY OF REPORT
The Council is required to operate a balanced budget, which broadly means that cash
raised during the year will meet cash expenditure. Part of the treasury management
operation is to ensure that this cash flow is adequately planned, with cash being
available, when it is needed. Surplus monies are invested in low risk counterparties or
instruments commensurate with the Council's risk appetite, providing adequate liquidity
and security initially before considering investment return.
The second main function of the treasury management service is the funding of the
Council's capital programme. These capital plans provide a guide to the borrowing need
of the Council, essentially the longer term cash flow planning to ensure that the Council
can meet its capital spending obligations. This management of longer term cash may
involve arranging long or short term loans, or using longer term cash flow surpluses. On
occasion any previously borrowed funds (Debt) may be restructured to meet Council risk
or cost objectives.

51

Background
This report sets out the statutory statements that Council are required to approve before
the start of the financial year, relating to treasury operations.
These include:  The capital plans (including prudential indicators). These show how the council
will stay within its prudential indicators for the period of the strategy.
 A minimum revenue provision (MRP) policy. This represents the principal
element of outstanding loans which must be charged to revenue each year.
 The treasury management strategy. This comprises the key guidelines by which
the council both borrows and lends money.
 An investment strategy (the parameters on how investments are to be
managed).This sets out how the council will decide how and where to invest
surplus funds.
 Flexible use of capital receipts strategy – As part of the Local government
settlement 2016/17 the use of capita receipts on revenue items was relaxed for
saving generated projects. This will contain a schedule of any the revenue
projects which meet the criteria and capital receipts funding is available.
The report gives an overview of the UK and world economic outlook including a detailed
forecast on interest rates.
Analysis of Issues
It still being assessed whether external borrowing in 2016-17 will need to be increased
or the council will take the opportunity to use internal funds to fund the capital
programme (Internal Borrowing).
The capital expenditure for 2016/17 is estimated at £140.7m. This includes an
estimated carry forward from 2015/16 of £56.0m
The capital programme shows a large increase in expenditure This is in order to meet
the investment ambitions of the council.

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS OF THE RECOMMENDATION
The Council faces severe financial challenges over the coming years as a result
of the austerity measures implemented by the Government and subsequent
reductions to public sector funding. It is estimated that Wokingham Borough
Council will be required to make budget reductions in excess of £20m over the
next three years and all Executive decisions should be made in this context.
How much will it
Cost/ (Save)
Current Financial
Year (Year 1)

£140.7m
Expenditure
£0.4m Return on
Investments

Is there sufficient
funding – if not
quantify the Shortfall
Yes

52

Revenue or
Capital?
Capital and
Revenue

Next Financial Year
(Year 2)

To be determined
through the
Medium term
financial plan

Capital and
Revenue

Following Financial
Year (Year 3)
Other financial information relevant to the Recommendation/Decision
None
Cross-Council Implications
Budgets and strategies are clearly monitored and do not impact on other Council
services and priorities
List of Background Papers
Appendix A Treasury management strategy report 2016/17
Contact Martin Jones
Telephone No 0118 9746877
Date 4 February 2016

Service Finance & Resources
Email martin.jones@wokingham.gov.uk
Version No. 2

53

This page is intentionally left blank

Appendix A

WOKINGHAM BOROUGH COUNCIL

TREASURY MANAGEMENT
STRATEGY REPORT 2016/17

55

1|Page

Appendix A
WOKINGHAM BOROUGH COUNCIL
TREASURY MANAGEMENT STRATEGY REPORT 2016/17
INDEX
1
1.1
1.2
1.3
1.4
1.5

INTRODUCTION
Background
Reporting requirements
Treasury Management Strategy for 2016/17
Training
Treasury management advisors

3
3
3
4
4
4

2
2.1
2.2
2.3
2.4
2.5
2.6
2.7
2.8

THE CAPITAL PRUDENTIAL INDICATORS 2016/17 – 2018/19
Capital expenditure
The Council’s borrowing need (the Capital Financing Requirement)
Minimum revenue provision (MRP) policy statement
Affordability prudential indicators
Ratio of financing costs to net revenue stream
Incremental impact of capital investment decisions on council tax
Housing Revenue account (HRA) ratios
Flexible use of capital receipts strategy

5
5
6
7
7
8
8
8
9

3
3.1
3.2
3.3
3.4
3.5
3.6
3.7

BORROWING
Current portfolio position
Treasury Indicators: limits to borrowing activity
Prospects for interest rates
Borrowing strategy
Policy on borrowing in advance of need
Debt rescheduling
Municipal Bond Agency

11
12
12
14
15
17
17
18

4
4.1
4.2
4.3
4.4
4.5
4.6
4.7
4.8

ANNUAL INVESTMENT STRATEGY
Investment policy
Creditworthiness policy
Time and monetary limits applying to investments
Country limits
Investment strategy
Investment risk benchmarking
End of year investment report
External fund managers (if applicable)

18
19
20
22
23
23
24
24
24

5

APPENDICES

25

5.1
5.2

Interest Rate Forecasts 2015 - 2019
Treasury Management Practice (TMP1) – Credit and Counterparty Risk
Management
The treasury management role of the section 151 officer
Capita Asset Services forward view
Credit ratings equivalencies
Glossary of terms (this explains the key technical phrases in the
document)

5.3
5.4
5.5
5.5

56

2|Page

Appendix A

1 Introduction
1.1 Background
The Council is required to operate a balanced budget, which broadly means that
cash raised during the year will meet cash expenditure. Part of the treasury
management operation is to ensure that this cash flow is adequately planned, with
cash being available when it is needed. Surplus monies are invested in low risk
counterparties or instruments appropriate with the Council’s low risk appetite,
providing adequate liquidity initially before considering investment return.
The second main function of the treasury management service is the funding of the
Council’s capital plans. These capital plans provide a guide to the borrowing need of
the Council, essentially the longer term cash flow planning to ensure that the Council
can meet its capital spending obligations. This management of longer term cash
may involve arranging long or short term loans, or using longer term cash flow
surpluses. On occasion any debt previously borrowed may be restructured to meet
Council risk or cost objectives.
1.2 Reporting requirements
The Council is required to receive and approve three main reports each year, which
incorporate a variety of policies, estimates and actuals. These are the Treasury
Management Strategy (this report), the mid-year Treasury Management report and
finally the Annual Treasury report:
Treasury management strategy:
The first and most important report covers:
 The Treasury management strategy -How the investments and borrowings
are to be organised including Treasury indicators
 An investment strategy -The criteria on how investments are to be
managed and the limitations
 The capital plans (including Prudential Indicators)
 A minimum revenue provision (MRP) policy -How outstanding borrowing in
respect of capital expenditure is repaid by charges to revenue over time
Mid-year Treasury management report
This Report updates members with the progress of the capital position, amending
prudential indicators as necessary, and confirming whether the Treasury strategy is
meeting the strategy or whether any policies require revision.
Annual Treasury report
This report provides details of a selection of actual Prudential and Treasury
indicators and actual Treasury operations compared with the estimates within the
strategy.

57

3|Page

Appendix A
Scrutiny
The above reports are required to be adequately scrutinised before being
recommended to the Council. This role is undertaken by the Audit Committee.
1.3 Treasury Management Strategy for 2016/17
The strategy for 2016/17 covers two main areas:
Capital issues
 the capital plans and the Prudential Indicators
 The minimum revenue provision (MRP) policy
Treasury management issues
 the current treasury position
 treasury indicators which limit the Treasury risk and activities of the Council
 the borrowing strategy
 policy on borrowing in advance of need
 debt rescheduling
 the investment strategy
 creditworthiness policy
 policy on use of external service providers
The above elements cover the requirements of the Local Government Act 2003, the
CIPFA Prudential Code, Department for Communities and Local Government
(DCLG) MRP guidance, the CIPFA Treasury Management Code and CLG
investment guidance
1.4 Training
The CIPFA code requires the responsible officer to ensure that members with
responsibility for treasury management receive adequate training in treasury
management. This especially applies to members responsible for scrutiny. Training
will be arranged in the financial year 2016-17 for members. The training needs of the
Treasury management officers are regularly reviewed.
1.5 Treasury management advisors
The Council uses Capita Asset Services, Treasury Solutions as its external treasury
management advisors.
The Council recognises that responsibility for treasury management decisions
remains with the organisation at all times and will ensure that undue reliance is not
placed upon our external service providers.
It also recognises that there is value in employing external providers of treasury
management services in order to acquire access to specialist skills and resources.
The Council will ensure that the terms of their appointment and the methods by

58

4|Page

Appendix A
which their value will be assessed are properly agreed and documented, and
subjected to regular review.
2 The capital Prudential Indicators 2016/17-2018/19
The Council’s capital expenditure plans are the key driver of the Treasury
management activity. The output from the capital expenditure plans is reflected in
the prudential indicators, which are designed to assist member’s overview and
understanding of capital expenditure plans.
2.1 Capital expenditure
This prudential indicator is a summary of the Council’s capital expenditure plans,
both of these agreed previously, and those forming part the budget cycle.
2014/15

2015/16
Forecast
Outturn
£'000

2016/17

2017/18

2018/19

Budget
£'000

Budget
£'000

Budget
£'000

4,045
10,724
18,658
1,968
6,531

3,816
17,115
12,572
3,410
6,134

25,286
37,529
32,659
11,103
29,050

24,654
20,765
28,448
6,742
13,630

18,952
11,654
36,322
7,469
13,450

41,926

43,047

135,627

94,239

87,847

3,409

5,281

5,050

5,000

5,000

45,335

48,328

140,677*

99,239

92,847

Actual
£'000
Chief Executive
Children's Services
Environment
Finance & Resources
Health & Wellbeing

Sub-total
Housing Revenue Account

Total

*Note: The budget for 2016/17 includes £56m of carry forwards from 2015/16
Other long term liabilities: The above financing need excludes other long term
liabilities, such as PFI and leasing arrangements.
The table on the next page below summarises how the capital plans are being
financed by capital or revenue resources. Any shortfall of resources results in
borrowing need.

59

5|Page

Appendix A

Funding Source
General Fund
Developer contribution (S106 & CIL)
Grants & Contributions (Note 1)
Reserves & Capital Receipts
Borrowing need for the year (Note 2)
Housing Revenue Account (HRA)
Major repairs reserve
Grants & Contributions
Borrowing need for the year (Note 2
Grand Total

2014/15
Actual
£'000

2015/16
Estimated
£'000

2016/17
Budget
£'000

2017/18
Budget
£'000

2018/19
Budget
£'000

3,188
25,569
2,614
10,556

7,135
19,062
2,163
14,687

33,988
25,300
1,780
73,103

17,581
7,046
7,447
52,811

21,026
3,888
8,155
37,872

3,409
0

0
5,281
0

2,703
3,844
0

4,860
140
0

3,455
1,545
0

45,336

48,328

140,717

89,885

75,941

9,354

16,906

(Surplus)/Deficit

0

0

(40)

Note 1 Capital grants in 15/16 and 16/17 include carry forwards from previous allocations. 17/18 and
18/19 allocation assumes no Carry forwards.
Note 2. This is planned borrowing either internal or external.

2.2 The Council’s borrowing need (the Capital Financing Requirement)
The second prudential indicator is the Council’s Capital Financing Requirement
(CFR). The CFR is simply the total historic outstanding capital expenditure which
has not yet been paid for from either revenue or capital resources. It is essentially a
measure of the Council’s underlying borrowing need. Any capital expenditure above,
which has not immediately been paid for, will increase the CFR.
The CFR does not necessarily increase indefinitely, as the minimum revenue
provision (MRP) is a statutory annual revenue charge which broadly reduces the
borrowing need in line with each asset’s life.
The CFR includes any other long term liabilities (e.g. PFI schemes, finance leases).
Whilst these increase the CFR, and therefore the Council’s borrowing requirement,
these types of scheme include a borrowing facility and so the Council is not required
to separately borrow for these schemes. The Council currently has £8.9m of such
schemes within the CFR.
The Council is asked to approve the CFR projections below:
Capital Financing Requirement
(CFR)

2014/15
Actual
£'000

2015/16
Estimated
£'000

2016/17
Budget
£'000

2017/18
Budget
£'000

2018/19
Budget
£'000

CFR (Non HRA)
101,948

113,397

182,886

232,011

265,902

CFR (HRA)
Total

93,876

93,876

90,400

88,650

85,552

195,824

207,273

273,286

320,661

351,454

60

6|Page

Appendix A

Movement in CFR represented by
Net financing need for year*
less Minimum revenue provision (MRP)
less repayment of HRA
principal
In year movement

2014/15
Actual
£'000

2015/16
Estimated
£'000

2016/17
Budget
£'000

2017/18
Budget
£'000

2018/19
Budget
£'000

10,556
(3,271)

14,687
(3,239)

73,103**
(3,613)

52,811
(3,686)

37,872
(3,981)

0

0

(3,476)

(1,750)

(3,098)

7,285

11,448

66,013

47,375

30,793

*Note: This includes internal borrowing.
**Note: The budget of £73m consists of:
£23.5m Town centre regeneration
£14.5m Wokingham Housing Ltd
£23.0m Forward funding borrowing
£10.3m General borrowing (including Carry forwards)
£1.8m Led Street Lighting borrowing
2.3. Minimum revenue provision (MRP) policy statement
The Council is required to pay off an element of the accumulated General Fund
capital spend each year (the CFR) through a revenue charge (the minimum revenue
provision - MRP), and it is also allowed to undertake additional voluntary payments
(voluntary revenue provision - VRP).
Department for Communities and Local Government (DCLG) regulations have been
issued which require the full Council to approve a MRP Statement in advance of
each financial year. A variety of options are provided to councils, so long as there is
a prudent provision. The Council is recommended to approve the following MRP
Statement:
For capital expenditure incurred before 1 April 2008, the MRP policy will be:
•
MRP will be based on the CFR (option 2);
These options provide for an approximate 4% reduction in the borrowing need (CFR)
each year.
From 1 April 2008 for all borrowing (including PFI and finance leases) the MRP
policy will be
•
MRP will be based on the estimated life of the assets, in accordance with the
regulations (this option must be applied for any expenditure capitalised under a
Capitalisation Direction)
This option provides for a reduction in the borrowing need over approximately the
asset’s life. There is no requirement on the HRA to make a minimum revenue
provision but there is a requirement for a charge for depreciation to be made
(although there are transitional arrangements in place).
Repayments included in annual PFI or finance leases are applied as MRP.
2.4 Affordability prudential indicators
The previous sections cover the overall capital and control of borrowing prudential
indicators, but within this framework prudential indicators are required to assess the
affordability of the capital investment plans. These provide an indication of the

61

7|Page

Appendix A
impact of the capital investment plans on the Council’s overall finances. The Council
is asked to approve the following indicators:
2.5 Ratio of financing costs to net revenue stream
This indicator identifies the trend in the cost of capital (borrowing and other long term
obligation costs) against the income streams.
% Ratio of financing costs to
net revenue stream
Non - HRA (Percentage of financing
cost against Net Expenditure
HRA (percentage of financing cost
against gross income)

2014/15
Actual
£'000

2015/16
Estimated
£'000

2016/17
Budget
£'000

2017/18
Budget
£'000

2018/19
Budget
£'000

3.25%

3.45%

4.55%

5.39%

6.08%

18.21%

18.16%

18.74%

18.62%

18.60%

The estimates of financing costs include current commitments and the proposals in
this report.
2.6 Incremental impact of capital investment decisions on council tax
This indicator identifies the revenue costs of capital financing borrowing costs
associated with proposed changes to the three year capital programme
recommended in this report compared to the Council’s existing approved
commitments and current plans. The assumptions are based on the budget, but will
invariably include some estimates, such as the level of Government support, which
are not published over a three year period.
2014/15
Incremental impact of capital
investment decisions on council
tax
Council tax - band D

Actual £

2015/16

2016/17

2017/18

2018/19

Estimated
£

Budget
£

Budget
£

Budget
£

29

38

39

41

29

The increase is due to the increase in value of the capital programme
2.7 Housing Revenue Account (HRA) ratios

HRA
HRA Debt
Number of dwellings
Debt per dwellings

2014/15

2015/16

2016/17

2017/18

2018/19

Actual
£'000

Estimated
£'000

Budget
£'000

Budget
£'000

Budget
£'000

93,892
2,616

93,892
2,610

93,892
2,598

90,416
2,586

89,377
2,574

36

36

36

35

35

Assumed sales of 12 councils house per year in line with the last few years actual
sales

62

8|Page

Appendix A
2.8 Flexible use of Capital Receipts
As part of the Local Government Spending Review announced on the 17th December
2015, the Government has provided local authorities with the flexibility of utilising
Capital Receipts for qualifying expenditure. This is to enable authorities to fund
transformation and cost reduction programmes from capital receipts rather than
revenue expenditure.
The guidance recommends that a strategy should be prepared that includes
separate disclosure of the individual projects that will be funded or part funded
through capital receipts flexibility and that the strategy is approved by full council.
Qualifying expenditure
The Government has termed qualifying expenditure per the below. On the following
page there are some of the suggestions from Government, but these are not
exhaustive.
Qualifying expenditure is expenditure on any project that is designed to generate
ongoing revenue savings in the delivery of public services and/or transform service
delivery to reduce costs or to improve the quality of service delivery in future years.
Within this definition, it is for individual local authorities to decide whether or not a
project qualifies for the flexibility. Set up and implementation costs of any new
processes or arrangements can be counted as qualifying expenditure. The ongoing
revenue costs of the new processes or arrangements cannot be classified as
qualifying expenditure.
Requirements of the Strategy
As part of the Strategy, Government have set out that the following must be
included:





list each project that plans to make use of the capital receipts flexibility, that it
details the split of up front funding for each project between capital receipts and
other sources, and that on a project by project basis, a cost benefit analysis is
included to highlight the expected savings.
The Strategy should report the impact on the local authority’s Prudential
Indicators for the forthcoming year and subsequent years
From the 2017-18 Strategy and in each future year, the Strategy should contain
details on projects approved in previous years, including a commentary on
whether the planned savings or service transformation have been/are being
realised in line with the initial cost/benefit analysis

Timescales
The flexibilities for using capital receipts are due over the period April 2016 to March
2019.

63

9|Page

Appendix A
Key projects
For 2016/17 there are currently no programmes that have been identified for flexible
use of capital receipts. This will be reviewed during 2016/17 and if schemes are
identified which meet the criteria from the Department for Communities and Local
Government, these will be brought to the council for approval via the mid-year
treasury management report.
When project have been identified they would be included in the report in the
following format:
Project

Capital Receipts
funded / £m

Other sources /
£m

Expected Savings
/ £m

*

*Note currently there are no revenue schemes identified to be funded in this way.
Capital receipts expected in 2016-17

Capital receipts (Non Wokingham Town Centre Regeneration)

2016/17

2017/18

2018/19

£'000

£'000

£'000

150

150

150

Since capital receipts are only expected to be approx. £150k each year for the next
three years, it is projected that the number of projects that can be funded is very
limited.
Town centre receipts cannot be considered as part of this scheme as they are clearly
earmarked to fund further element of the town centre regeneration.
Suggested qualifying expenditure for flexible use of Capital receipts


Sharing back-office and administrative services with one or more other council or
public sector bodies



Investment in service reform feasibility work, e.g. setting up pilot schemes



Collaboration between local authorities and central government departments to
free up land for economic use



Funding the cost of service reconfiguration, restructuring or rationalisation (staff
or non-staff), where this leads to ongoing efficiency savings or service
transformation

64

10 | P a g e

Appendix A


Sharing ChiefExecutives, management teams or staffing structures



Driving a digital approach to the delivery of more efficient public services and how
the public interacts with constituent authorities where possible



Aggregating procurement on common goods and services where possible, either
as part of local arrangements or using Crown Commercial Services or regional
procurement hubs or Professional Buying Organisations



Improving systems and processes to tackle fraud and corruption in line with the
Local Government Fraud and Corruption Strategy – this could include an element
of staff training



Setting up commercial or alternative delivery models to deliver services more
efficiently and bring in revenue (for example, through selling services to others)



Integrating public facing services across two or more public sector bodies (for
example children’s social care, trading standards) to generate savings or to
transform service delivery.

3 BORROWING
The capital expenditure plans set out in Section 2.1 provide details of the service
activity of the Council. The treasury management function ensures that the Council’s
cash is managed in accordance with the relevant professional codes, so that
sufficient cash is available to meet this service activity. This will involve both the
organisation of the cash flow and, where capital plans require, the organisation of
appropriate borrowing facilities. The strategy covers the relevant treasury /
prudential indicators, the current and projected debt positions and the annual
investment strategy.

65

11 | P a g e

Appendix A
3.1 Current portfolio position
The Council’s treasury portfolio position at 31 March 2015, with forward projections
is summarised below. The table shows the actual external debt (the treasury
management operations), against the underlying capital borrowing need (the Capital
Financing Requirement - CFR), highlighting any over or under borrowing.

2014/15
Actual
£'000
As at 1st April
External debt
Expected change in debt (note 1)
Other long-term liabilities
(OTL)
Expected change in (OTL)
As at 31st March
Actual gross debt
The capital financing requirement
Under / (over) borrowing

2015/16
Estimated
£'000

2016/17
Budget
£'000

2017/18
Budget
£'000

2018/19
Budget
£'000

131,602
0

131,602
18,000

149,602
47,517

197,119
34,327

231,446
24,617

9,000

8,976

8,952

8,928

8,904

(254)

(24)

(24)

(24)

(24)

140,348
195824

158,554
207,273

206,047
273,286

240,350
320,661

264,943
351,454

55,476

48,719

67,239

80,311

86,512

Note 1: An £18m loan is anticipated to be taken out in March 2016 as part of the forward funding of
the new school in south west.

Within the prudential indicators there are a number of key indicators to ensure that
the Council operates its activities within well-defined limits. One of these is that the
Council needs to ensure that its gross debt does not, except in the short term,
exceed the total of the CFR in the preceding year plus the estimates of any
additional CFR for 2015/16 and the following two financial years. This allows some
flexibility for limited early borrowing for future years, but ensures that borrowing is not
undertaken for revenue purposes.
The Director of Finance and Resources reports that the Council complied with this
prudential indicator in the current year and does not envisage difficulties in staying
within this indicator over the next 3 years This view takes into account current
commitments, existing plans, and the proposals in this budget report.
3.2 Treasury Indicators: limits to borrowing activity
The operational boundary:
This is the limit beyond which external debt is not normally expected to exceed. In
most cases, this would be a similar figure to the CFR, but may be lower or higher
depending on the levels of actual debt.
14/15
Actual
£'000
Operational boundary
Debt
Other long term liabilities
Operational boundary limit

15/16
Estimated
£'000

16/17
Budget
£'000

17/18
Budget
£'000

18/19
Budget
£'000

131,602
9,000

149,602
8,976

216,000
10,000

252,000
10,000

278,000
10,000

140,602

158,578

226,000

262,000

288,000

The authorised limit for external debt:

66

12 | P a g e

Appendix A

A further key prudential indicator represents a control on the maximum level of
borrowing. This represents a limit beyond which external debt is prohibited, and this
limit needs to be set or revised by the full Council. It reflects the level of external
debt which, while not desired, could be afforded in the short term, but is not
sustainable in the longer term.
`
 This is the statutory limit determined under section 3 (1) of the Local Government
Act 2003. The Government retains an option to control either the total of all
councils’ plans, or those of a specific council, although this power has not yet
been exercised.
 The Council is asked to approve the following authorised limit:
2014/15
Actual
£'000
Authorised limit
Debt
Other long term liabilities
Authorised limit

2015/16
Estimated
£'000

2016/17
Budget
£'000

2017/18
Budget
£'000

2018/19
Budget
£'000

131,602
9,000

149,602
8,976

258,000
10,000

300,000
10,000

331,000
10,000

140,602

158,578

268,000

310,000 341,000

Separately, the Council is also limited to a maximum HRA CFR through the HRA
self-financing regime. This limit is currently:
The Table below demonstrates that the HRA CFR is reducing as the council repays
the debt it took out to achieve self-financing

HRA Debt limit
HRA Debt Cap
HRA CFR
HRA head room

2014/15
Actual
£'000

2015/16
Estimated
£'000

2016/17
Budget
£'000

2017/18
Budget
£'000

2018/19
Budget
£'000

102,000
93,876

102,000
93,876

102,000
90,400

102,000
88,650

102,000
85,552

8,124

8,124

11,600

13,350

16,448

67

13 | P a g e

Appendix A

390,000

A graph to show projections of CFR and
borrowing

340,000

£
,
0
0
0

290,000

Capital Financing
Requirement

Operational
Boundary

Authorised Limit
240,000

190,000
External Debt
140,000
2014/15
2015/16
External Debt

2016/17
2017/18
Authorised Limit

Operational Boundary

3.3

2018/19

Capital Financing Requirement

Prospects for interest rates

The Council has appointed Capita Asset Services as its treasury advisor and part of
their service is to assist the Council to formulate a view on interest rates.
The table demonstrates the current view:
Annual Average %

PWLB Borrowing Rates %

Bank Rate
%

(including certainty rate adjustment)
5 year

10 Year

50 year

Qtr. 4 2015/16
Qtr. 1 2016/17
Qtr. 2 2016/17
Qtr. 3 2016/17
Qtr. 4 2016/17
Qtr. 1 2017/18

0.50
0.50
0.75
0.75
1.00
1.00

2.3
2.4
2.6
2.7
2.8
2.8

2.9
3.0
3.1
3.2
3.3
3.4

3.5
3.6
3.7
3.8
3.9
4.0

Qtr. 2 2017/18
Qtr. 3 2017/18

1.25
1.50

2.9
3.0

3.5
3.6

4.0
4.1

68

14 | P a g e

Appendix A
The November Bank of England Inflation Report included a forecast for growth to
remain around 2.5 – 2.7% over the next three years, driven mainly by strong
consumer demand as the squeeze on the disposable incomes of consumers has
been reversed by a recovery in wage inflation at the same time that CPI inflation has
fallen to, or near to, zero since February 2015. Investment expenditure is also
expected to support growth. However, since the August Inflation report was issued,
most worldwide economic statistics have been weak and the November Inflation
Report flagged up particular concerns for the potential impact on the UK.
The Inflation Report was also notably subdued in respect of the forecasts for
inflation; this was expected to barely get back up to the 2% target within the 2-3 year
time horizon. The increase in the forecast for inflation at the three year horizon was
the biggest in a decade and at the two year horizon was the biggest since February
2013. However, the first round of falls in oil, gas and food prices over late 2014 and
also in the first half 2015, will fall out of the 12 month calculation of CPI during late
2015 / early 2016 but a second, more recent round of falls in fuel prices will now
delay a significant tick up in inflation from around zero: this is now expected to get
back to around 1% in the second half of 2016 and not get to near 2% until 2017,
though the forecasts in the Report itself were for an even slower rate of increase.
There is considerable uncertainty around how quickly pay and CPI inflation will rise
in the next few years and this makes it difficult to forecast when the MPC will decide
to make a start on increasing Bank Rate.
• Investment returns are likely to remain relatively low during 2016/17 and
beyond;
• Borrowing interest rates have been highly volatile during 2015 as alternating
bouts of good and bad news have promoted optimism, and then pessimism, in
financial markets. Gilt yields have continued to remain at historically very low
levels during 2015. The policy of avoiding new borrowing by running down
spare cash balances, has served well over the last few years. However, this
needs to be carefully reviewed to avoid incurring higher borrowing costs in later
times, when authorities will not be able to avoid new borrowing to finance new
capital expenditure and/or to refinance maturing debt;
• There will remain a cost of carry to any new borrowing which causes an
increase in investments as this will incur a revenue loss between borrowing
costs and investment returns.

3.4 Borrowing strategy
The Council is currently maintaining an under-borrowed position. This means that
the capital borrowing need (the Capital Financing Requirement), has not been fully
funded with loan debt as cash supporting the Council’s reserves, balances and cash
flow has been used as a temporary measure. This strategy is prudent as investment
returns are low and counterparty risk is relatively high.
The table on the next page illustrates the estimated internal borrowing of the Council
over the next three years.

69

15 | P a g e

Appendix A

Internal Borrowing

CFR (Year-end position) (A)
Less External borrowing
Less other long term liabilities
Internal borrowing (B)

2014/15

2015/16

2016/17

2017/18

2018/19

Actual
£'000

Estimated
£'000

Budget
£'000

Budget
£'000

Budget
£'000

195,824
(131,602)
(9,000)

207,273
(149,602)
(8,976)

273,286
(197,119)
(10,000)

320,661
(231,446)
(10,000)

351,454
(256,063)
(10,000)

55,222

48,695

66,167

79,215

85,392

% of internal borrowing to CFR (B % of A)
Movement

28%

23%

24%

25%

24%

9,772

(6,528)

17,473

13,048

6,177

Capita Asset Services (Wokingham Borough Council’s treasury advisors) suggests it
is prudent not to exceed an internal borrowing level of 25-30% of the CFR to
minimise the net debt interest exposure level. However, there is no fundamental
level of internal borrowing which can be prescribed for every organisation.
Treasury management limits on activity
There are three debt related treasury activity limits. The purpose of these are to
restrain the activity of the treasury function within certain limits, thereby managing
risk and reducing the impact of any adverse movement in interest rates. However, if
these are set to be too restrictive they will impair the opportunities to reduce costs /
improve performance. The indicators are:
• Upper limits on variable interest rate exposure. This identifies a maximum limit for
variable interest rates based upon the debt position net of investments:
• Upper limits on fixed interest rate exposure. This is similar to the previous
indicator and covers a maximum limit on fixed interest rates;
• Maturity structure of borrowing. These gross limits are set to reduce the Council’s
exposure to large fixed rate sums falling due for refinancing and are required for
upper and lower limits.
The Council is asked to approve the following treasury indicators and limits:
Interest Rate
Exposures

2015/16
Budget
£'000

2016/17 2017/18
Budget Budget
£'000
£'000

2018/19
Budget
£'000

Limits on fixed interest rates:
·

Debt only

212,000

268,000

310,000

341,000

·

Investments only

(80,000)

(80,000)

(80,000)

(80,000)

132,000 188,000 230,000

261,000

Total

Limits on variable interest rates
·

Debt only

·

Investments only

Total

40,000

40,000

40,000

40,000

(40,000)

(40,000)

(40,000)

(40,000)

0

0

0

0

70

16 | P a g e

Appendix A

Estimated Maturity structure of fixed
interest rate borrowing 2016/17
as at 31-03-2017
Under 12 months

6.45%

1 to 2 years

3.23%

3 to 5 years

6.45%

6 to 10 years

22.58%

11 years and above

61.29%

Estimated Maturity structure of
Variable interest rate borrowing
2016/17 as at 31-03-2017
Under 12 months
100.00%
1 to 2 years
0.00%
3 to 5 years
0.00%
6 to10 years

0.00%

11 years and above

0.00%

3.5 Policy on borrowing in advance of need
The Council will not borrow more than or in advance of its needs purely in order to
profit from the investment of the extra sums borrowed. Any decision to borrow in
advance will be within forward approved Capital Financing Requirement estimates,
and will be considered carefully to ensure that value for money can be demonstrated
and that the Council can ensure the security of such funds.
Risks associated with any borrowing in advance activity will be subject to prior
appraisal and subsequent reporting through the mid-year or annual reporting
mechanism.
3.6 Debt rescheduling
As short term borrowing rates will be considerably cheaper than longer term fixed
interest rates, there may be potential opportunities to generate savings by switching
from long term debt to short term debt. However, these savings will need to be
considered in the light of the current treasury position and the size of the cost of debt
repayment (premiums incurred).
The reasons for any rescheduling to take place will include:
• The generation of cash savings and / or discounted cash flow savings;
• helping to fulfil the treasury strategy;
• enhance the balance of the portfolio (amend the maturity profile and/or the balance
of volatility).

71

17 | P a g e

Appendix A
Consideration will also be given to identify if there is any residual potential for making
savings by running down investment balances to repay debt prematurely as short
term rates on investments are likely to be significantly lower than rates paid on
current debt.
All rescheduling will be reported to the Council, at the earliest meeting following its
action
3.7 Municipal Bond Agency
The Municipal Bond Agency, currently in the process of being set up, is intending to
offer loans at a competitive rate for loans to local authorities in the near future. It is
also hoped that the borrowing rates will be lower than those offered by the Public
Works Loan Board (PWLB). This Authority will consider making use of this new
source of borrowing as and when appropriate
4 ANNUAL INVESTMENT STRATEGIES
Introduction: changes to credit rating methodology
The main rating agencies (Fitch, Moody’s and Standard & Poor’s) have, through
much of the financial crisis, provided some institutions with a ratings “uplift” due to
implied levels of sovereign support. Commencing in 2015, in response to the
evolving regulatory regime, all three agencies have begun removing these “uplifts”
with the timing of the process determined by regulatory progress at the national
level. The process has been part of a wider reassessment of methodologies by each
of the rating agencies. In addition to the removal of implied support, new
methodologies are now taking into account additional factors, such as regulatory
capital levels. In some cases, these factors have “netted” each other off, to leave
underlying ratings either unchanged or little changed. A consequence of these new
methodologies is that they have also lowered the importance of the (Fitch) Support
and Viability ratings and have seen the (Moody’s) Financial Strength rating
withdrawn by the agency.
In keeping with the agencies’ new methodologies, the rating element of our own
credit assessment process now focuses solely on the Short and Long Term ratings
of an institution. While this is the same process that has always been used for
Standard & Poor’s, this has been a change in the use of Fitch and Moody’s ratings. It
is important to stress that the other key elements to our process, namely the
assessment of Rating Watch and Outlook information as well as the Credit Default
Swap (CDS) overlay have not been changed.
The evolving regulatory environment, in tandem with the rating agencies’ new
methodologies also means that sovereign ratings are now of lesser importance in the
assessment process. Where through the crisis, clients typically assigned the highest
sovereign rating to their criteria; the new regulatory environment is attempting to
break the link between sovereign support and domestic financial institutions. While
this authority understands the changes that have taken place, it will continue to
specify a minimum sovereign rating of AAA. This is in relation to the fact that the

72

18 | P a g e

Appendix A
underlying domestic and where appropriate, international, economic and wider
political and social background will still have a major influence on the ratings of a
financial institution.
It is important to stress that these rating agency changes do not reflect any changes
in the underlying status or credit quality of the institution. They are merely reflective
of a reassessment of rating agency methodologies in light of enacted and future
expected changes to the regulatory environment in which financial institutions
operate. While some banks have received lower credit ratings as a result of these
changes, this does not mean that they are suddenly less credit worthy than they
were formerly. Rather, in the majority of cases, this mainly reflects the fact that
implied sovereign government support has effectively been withdrawn from banks.
They are now expected to have sufficiently strong balance sheets to be able to
withstand foreseeable adverse financial circumstances without government support.
In fact, in many cases, the balance sheets of banks are now much more robust than
they were before the 2008 financial crisis when they had higher ratings than now.
However, this is not universally applicable, leaving some entities with modestly lower
ratings than they had through much of the “support” phase of the financial crisis.
4.1 Investment policy
The Council’s investment policy has regard to the DCLG’s Guidance on Local
Government Investments (“the Guidance”) and the revised CIPFA Treasury
Management in Public Services Code of Practice and Cross Sectoral Guidance
Notes (“the CIPFA TM Code”). The Council’s investment priorities will be security
first, liquidity second, and then return.
In accordance with the above guidance from the CLG and CIPFA, and in order to
minimise the risk to investments, the Council applies minimum acceptable credit
criteria in order to generate a list of highly creditworthy counterparties which also
enables diversification and thus avoidance of concentration risk.
Continuing regulatory changes in the banking sector are designed to see greater
stability, lower risk and the removal of expectations of Government financial support
should an institution fail. This withdrawal of implied sovereign support is anticipated
to have an effect on ratings applied to institutions. This will result in the key ratings
used to monitor counterparties being the Short Term and Long Term ratings only.
Viability, Financial Strength and Support Ratings previously applied will effectively
become redundant. This change does not reflect deterioration in the credit
environment but rather a change of method in response to regulatory changes.
As with previous practice, ratings will not be the sole determinant of the quality of an
institution and it is important to continually assess and monitor the financial sector on
both a micro and macro basis and in relation to the economic and political
environments in which institutions operate. The assessment will also take account of
information that reflects the opinion of the markets. To this end the Council will
engage with its advisors to maintain a monitor on market pricing such as “credit
default swaps” and overlay that information on top of the credit ratings.

73

19 | P a g e

Appendix A
Other information sources used will include the financial press, share price and other
such information pertaining to the banking sector in order to establish the most
robust scrutiny process on the suitability of potential investment counterparties.
The aim of the strategy is to generate a list of highly creditworthy counterparties
which will also enable diversification and thus avoidance of concentration risk.
The intention of the strategy is to provide security of investment and minimisation of
risk.
Investment instruments identified for use in the financial year are listed in appendix
5.2 under the ‘specified’ and ‘non-specified’ investments categories. Counterparty
limits will be as set through the Council’s treasury management practices.

4.2 Creditworthiness policy
The primary principle governing the Council’s investment criteria is the security of its
investments, although the yield or return on the investment is also a key
consideration. After this main principle, the Council will ensure that:
• It maintains a policy covering both the categories of investment types it will invest
in, criteria for choosing investment counterparties with adequate security, and
monitoring their security. This is set out in the specified and non-specified
investment sections ; and
• It has sufficient liquidity in its investments. For this purpose it will set out
procedures for determining the maximum periods for which funds may prudently
be committed. These procedures also apply to the Council’s prudential indicators
covering the maximum principal sums invested.
The Director of Finance and Resources will maintain a counterparty list in
compliance with the following criteria and will revise the criteria and submit them to
Council for approval as necessary. These criteria are separate to those which
determine which types of investment instrument are either specified or non-specified
as it provides an overall pool of counterparties considered high quality which the
Council may use, rather than defining what types of investment instruments are to be
used.
The minimum rating criteria uses the lowest common denominator method of
selecting counterparties and applying limits. This means that the application of the
Council’s minimum criteria will apply to the lowest available rating for any institution.
For instance, if an institution is rated by two agencies, one meets the Council’s
criteria, the other does not, and then the institution will fall outside the lending
criteria. Credit rating information is supplied by Capita Asset Services, our treasury
advisors, on all active counterparties that comply with the criteria below. Any
counterparty failing to meet the criteria would be omitted from the counterparty
(dealing) list. Any rating changes, rating watches (notification of a likely change),
rating outlooks (notification of a possible longer term change) are provided to officers
almost immediately after they occur and this information is considered before
dealing. For instance, a negative rating watch applying to a counterparty at the

74

20 | P a g e

Appendix A
minimum Council criteria will be suspended from use, with all others being reviewed
in light of market conditions. The criteria for providing a pool of high quality
investment counterparties (both specified and non-specified investments) is:
• Banks 1 - good credit quality – the Council will only use banks which:
i. are UK banks; and/or
ii. are non-UK and domiciled in a country which has a minimum sovereign long term
rating of AAA (in house team only)
iii and have, as a minimum, the following Fitch, Moody’s and Standard and Poors
credit ratings (where rated):
I. Short term – AA (Fitch), Aa2 (Moody’s), AA (Standard and Poors)
ii.Long term – AA (Fitch), Aa2 (Moody’s) , AA (Standard and Poors)
• Banks 2 – Part nationalised UK banks – . This bank can be included if it continues
to be part nationalised or they meet the ratings in Banks 1 above.
• Banks 3 – The Council’s own banker (Nat West) for transactional purposes if the
bank falls below the above criteria, although in this case balances will
be minimised in both monetary size and time.
• Building societies. The Council will only use Societies which are eligible to use the
Bank of England’s Credit Guarantee Scheme, subject to a minimum
asset size of £5bn and meeting a minimum credit rating of A- (where
rated).
• UK Government: including Money market funds – the Council and its Fund
Managers will use AAA rated funds. The Director of Finance and
Resources will keep under review the Money Market Funds used and
will amend as necessary.
• Gilts and the Debt Management Account Deposit Facility (DMADF)
• Local authorities, parish councils etc.
• Supranational institutions – multilateral investment organisations such as the World
Bank or European Investment Bank (sometimes used by the Fund
Managers)
• In the event of an emergency, to allow an unlimited amount to be invested in the
RBS Money Market Fund. This would be done in the event of an
extreme IT failure of the Council’s computer systems. This fund is an
AAA rated investment and would be a less risky option than leaving the
funds in the NatWest accounts.
• Group Limits – For each banking group the following limits will apply, dependent on
the rating of the Parent Bank
i.
ii.

AAA : £7m with a maximum average duration of 1 year
AA- :£5m with a maximum average duration of 6 months

75

21 | P a g e

Appendix A
Use of additional information other than credit ratings. Additional requirements under
the Code require the Council to supplement credit rating information. Whilst above
criteria relies primarily on the application of credit ratings to provide a pool of
appropriate counterparties for officers to use, additional operational market
information will be applied before making any specific investment decision from the
agreed pool of counterparties. This additional market information (for example
Credit Default Swaps, negative rating watches/outlooks) will be applied to compare
the relative security of differing investment counterparties.
4.3 Time and monetary limits applying to investments
The time and monetary limits for institutions on the Council’s counterparty list are as
follows (these will cover both specified and non-specified investments):
Fitch Long
term
Rating

Moody's

Standard
& Poors

Money

Time

Limit

Limit

Banks 1 higher quality

F1+/AAA

P-1Aaa

A1+/AAA

£5m

364 days

Banks 1 medium quality

F1+/AA-

P-1Aa3

A1+/AAA

£3m

364 days

£2m

6 Months

Building Societies
Debt Management Office
Account (DMADF)

-

-

-

£20m

3 Months

Guaranteed Organisations

-

-

-

£2m

3 Months

-

-

-

£5m

364 days

-

-

-

£3m

6 Months

Other Institution Limits
(other local authorities,
Money Market Funds, Gilts
and Supranational
investments)
Other named Banks
(those subject to HM
Treasury Credit Guarantee
Scheme)
Other named Banks
(those subject to HM
Treasury Credit Guarantee
Scheme)

76

22 | P a g e

Appendix A
4.4 Country limits
The Council has determined that it will only use approve counterparties from
countries with a minimum sovereign credit rating of AAA. The exception will be the
UK, which currently has an AA+ sovereign rating.
A Non UK counterparty will need to meet all above mentioned criteria in 4.2 & 4.3
and have a sovereign rating AAA as a minimum. Countries with a sovereign rating
of AAA (based on lowest available rating @ Jan 2016) are Australia, Canada,
Denmark, Germany, Luxembourg, Norway, Singapore, Sweden & Switzerland
4.5

Investment strategy
Investment returns expectations. The Bank Rate is forecast to remain
unchanged at 0.5% before starting to rise from quarter 4 of 2016. Bank Rate
forecasts for financial year ends (March) are:
• 2016/17 0.6%
• 2017/18 1.25%
• 2018/19 1.75%
There are downside risks to these forecasts (i.e. start of increases in Bank Rate
occurs later) if economic growth weakens. However, should the pace of growth
quicken, there could be an upside risk.
The suggested budgeted investment earnings rates for returns on investments
placed for periods up to 100 days during each financial year for the next eight
years are as follows:
2016/17 0.90%
2017/18 1.50%
2018/19 2.00%
2019/20 2.25%
2020/21 2.50%
2021/22 3.00%
2022/23 3.00%
Later years 3.00%

Investment treasury indicator and limit
This is the amount invested for greater than 364 days. These limits are set with
regard to the Council’s liquidity requirements and to reduce the need for early sale of
an investment, and are based on the availability of funds after each year-end.
The Council is asked to approve the treasury indicator and limit: Principal sums invested > 364
Days

2015/16
Estimated
£'000

In house
Fund managers

0
10,000

77

2016/17
Budget
£'000
0
10,000

2017/18
Budget
£'000
0
10,000

2018/19
Budget
£'000
0
10,000

23 | P a g e

Appendix A
Review of investment strategy
As part of continued improvement the treasury function will review the latest
information and tools that are available to ensure the strength of the council’s
investment strategy. The council has adapted a risk adverse approach to investment
following the collapse of Icelandic banks. This has resulted in a low level of
investment returns. In general the safer the investment the lower the interest rate
paid.
A review of the economic situation and the council approach to risk and returns is
being undertaken to enable executive to consider it counterparty parameters.

4.6 Investment risk benchmarking
These benchmarks are simple guides to maximum risk, so they may be breached on
occasion, depending on movements in interest rates and counterparty criteria. The
purpose of the benchmark is that officers will monitor the current and trend position
and amend the operational strategy to manage risk as conditions change. Any
breach of the benchmarks will be reported, with supporting reasons in the mid-year
or Annual Report.
Security - The Council’s maximum security risk benchmark for the current portfolio,
when compared to these historic default tables, is:
• 0.01% historic risk of default when compared to the whole portfolio.
Liquidity – in respect of this area the Council seeks to maintain:
• Bank overdraft - £0.5m
• Liquid short term deposits of at least £5m available with a week’s notice.
• Weighted average life benchmark is expected to be 0.25 years, with a maximum of
0.5 years.
Yield - local measures of yield benchmarks is:
• Investments – internal returns above the 7 day LIBID rate
4.7

End of year investment report

At the end of the financial year, the Council will report on its investment activity as
part of its Annual Treasury Report.
4.8

External fund managers

It is the Council’s policy to use external fund managers for part of its investment
portfolio. The fund managers will use both specified and non-specified investment
categories and are contractually committed to keep to the Council’s investment
strategy. The performance of each manager is reviewed at least quarterly by the
Director of Finance and Resources.

78

24 | P a g e

Appendix A
The table below shows a breakdown by fund managers and sums invested in them.

Investments with fund managers

Royal London Asset Management (Rlam)
Aberdeen Asset Management (Formally SWIP).

2014/15
@
31/03/15
Actual
£'000

2015/16
@
31/03/16
Estimated
£'000

11,867
9,546

11,936
9,612

5 Appendices
1. Interest rate forecasts
2. Treasury management practice – credit and counter party risk management
3. The treasury management role of the section 151 officer
4. Capita Asset Services Forward View
5. Credit ratings equivalencies chart
6. Glossary of Terms (This explains the key technical phrases in the document)

79

25 | P a g e

This page is intentionally left blank

Appendix 5.1
Interest RATE FORECASTS 2016-19

81

1|Page

This page is intentionally left blank

Appendix 5.2

Treasury Management Practice (TMP1) – Credit and Counterparty Risk
Management
SPECIFIED INVESTMENTS:
These investments are sterling investments of not more than one-year maturity, or those
which could be for a longer period but where the Council has the right to be repaid within
12 months if it wishes. These are low risk assets where the possibility of loss of principal
or investment income is very low. These would include sterling investments with:






The UK Government (such as the Debt Management Office, UK Treasury Bills or
a gilt with less than one year to maturity).
Supranational bonds with less than one year to maturity.
A local authority, parish council or community council.
Pooled investment vehicles (such as money market funds) that have been
awarded a high credit rating by a credit rating agency. This covers a money
market fund rated AAA by Standard and Poor’s, Moody’s or Fitch rating agencies
A body that has been awarded a high credit rating by a credit rating agency (such
as a bank or building society) this covers bodies with a minimum short term rating
of F1+ (or equivalent) as rated by Standard and Poor’s, Moody’s or Fitch rating
agencies.

NON-SPECIFIED INVESTMENTS:
Non-specified investments are any other type of investment (i.e. not defined as
specified above). The identification and rationale supporting the selection of these
other investments and the maximum limits to be applied are set out below. Non
specified investments would include any sterling investments with:
a.

b.

c.

Supranational Bonds greater than 1 year to maturity
(a) Multilateral development bank bonds - These are bonds defined as an
international financial institution having as one of its objects economic
development, either generally or in any region of the world (e.g. European
Investment Bank etc.).
(b) A financial institution that is guaranteed by the United Kingdom
Government (e.g. The Guaranteed Export Finance Company {GEFCO})
The security of interest and principal on maturity is on a par with the
Government and so very secure, and these bonds usually provide returns
above equivalent gilt edged securities. However the value of the bond
may rise or fall before maturity and losses may accrue if the bond is sold
before maturity.
Gilt edged securities with a maturity of greater than one year. These are
Government bonds and so provide the highest security of interest and the
repayment of principal on maturity. Similar to category (a) above, the
value of the bond may rise or fall before maturity and losses may accrue if
the bond is sold before maturity.
Building societies which are eligible to use the Bank of England’s Credit

83

1|Page

Appendix 5.2

d.

e.

f.

Guarantee Scheme, subject to a minimum asset size of £5billion and
meeting a minimum credit rating of A- (where rated). These investments
will be restricted to a maximum period of 6 months and £2m per
institution.
NatWest Bank for the provision of Banking Services. The Council is
limited to daylight exposure only (i.e. the flow of funds in and out during
the day), with a maximum limit of 1 working day.
A body which has been provided with a government issued guarantee for
wholesale deposits within specific timeframes. Where these guarantees
are in place and the government has a AAA sovereign long term rating
these institutions will be included within the Council’s criteria, temporarily
until such time as the ratings improve or the guarantees are withdrawn.
Monies will only be deposited within the timeframe of the guarantee. In
addition to this, a maximum limit of £2m with a maximum duration of 3
months is also set.
Eligible Institutions for the HM Treasury Credit Guarantee Scheme initially
announced on 13 October 2008, with the necessary ratings required.
These institutions have been subject to suitability checks before inclusion
and have access to HM Treasury liquidity if needed.

A variety of investment instruments will be used, subject to the credit quality of the
institution, and depending on the type of investment made it will fall into one of the above
categories.
The criteria, time limits and monetary limits applying to institutions or investment vehicles
are:
* Minimum
credit criteria /
colour band

Money
Limit

Max. maturity
period

DMADF – UK Government

N/A

£20M

3 months

UK Government gilts

UK sovereign
rating

£5m

1 year

UK Government Treasury
bills

UK sovereign
rating

£5m

1 year

Money market funds

AAA

£5m

Liquid

Local authorities

N/A

£5m

1 year

84

2|Page

Appendix 5.2

Term deposits with banks
and building societies

AA

£5m

Liquid

CDs or corporate bonds with
banks and building societies

AA

£5m

Liquid

Corporate bond funds

AA

£5m

3 Years

Accounting treatment of investments.
The accounting treatment may differ from the underlying cash transactions arising from
investment decisions made by this Council. To ensure that the Council is protected from
any adverse revenue impact, which may arise from these differences, we will review the
accounting implications of new transactions before they are undertaken
The monitoring of investment counterparties
The credit rating of counterparties will be monitored regularly. The Council receives
credit rating information (changes, rating watches and rating outlooks) from Sector as
and when ratings change, and counterparties are checked promptly. On occasion ratings
may be downgraded after an investment has already been made. The criteria used are
such that a minor downgrading should not affect the full receipt of the principal and
interest. Any counterparty failing to meet the criteria will be removed from the list
immediately by the Director of Finance, and if required new counterparties which meet
the criteria will be added to the list.
Use of external fund managers
It is the Council’s policy to use external fund managers for part of its investment portfolio.
The fund managers will use both specified and non-specified investment categories and
are contractually committed to keep to the Council’s investment strategy, which will be
defined in an updated Treasury Management Strategy post fund manager’s
appointment. The performance of each manager is reviewed at least quarterly by the
Director of Finance &Resources.

85

3|Page

This page is intentionally left blank

Appendix 5.3
The treasury management role of the section 151 officer
The S151 (responsible) officer


recommending clauses, treasury management policy/practices for approval, reviewing the
same regularly, and monitoring compliance;



submitting regular treasury management policy reports;



submitting budgets and budget variations;



receiving and reviewing management information reports;



reviewing the performance of the treasury management function;



ensuring the adequacy of treasury management resources and skills, and the effective
division of responsibilities within the treasury management function;



ensuring the adequacy of internal audit, and liaising with external audit;



recommending the appointment of external service providers.

87

1|P a g e

This page is intentionally left blank

Appendix 5.4
CAPITA ASSET SERVICES FORWARD VIEW
Economic forecasting remains difficult with so many external influences weighing on the UK.
Capita Asset Services undertook its last review of interest rate forecasts on 19 January 2016.
Our Bank Rate forecasts, (and also MPC decisions), will be liable to further amendment
depending on how economic data evolves over time. There is much volatility in rates and bond
yields as news ebbs and flows in negative or positive ways. This latest forecast includes a first
increase in Bank Rate in quarter 4 of 2016.
The overall trend in the longer term will be for gilt yields and PWLB rates to rise when economic
recovery is firmly established accompanied by rising inflation and consequent increases in Bank
Rate, and the eventual unwinding of QE. At some future point in time, an increase in investor
confidence in eventual world economic recovery is also likely to compound this effect as recovery
will encourage investors to switch from bonds to equities.
The overall balance of risks to economic recovery in the UK is currently to the downside, given
the number of potential headwinds that could be growing on both the international and UK scene.
Only time will tell just how long this current period of strong economic growth will last; it also
remains exposed to vulnerabilities in a number of key areas.
However, the overall balance of risks to our Bank Rate forecast is probably to the downside, i.e.
the first increase, and subsequent increases, may be delayed further if recovery in GDP growth,
and forecasts for inflation increases, are lower than currently expected. Market expectations in
January 2016, (based on short sterling), for the first Bank Rate increase are currently around
quarter 1 2017.
Downside risks to current forecasts for UK gilt yields and PWLB rates currently include:
•
Emerging country economies, currencies and corporates destabilised by falling
commodity prices and / or Fed. rate increases, causing a flight to safe havens.
•
Geopolitical risks in Eastern Europe, the Middle East and Asia, increasing safe haven
flows.
•

UK economic growth and increases in inflation are weaker than we currently anticipate.

•

Weak growth or recession in the UK’s main trading partners - the EU and US.

•

A resurgence of the Eurozone sovereign debt crisis.

•

Recapitalisation of European banks requiring more government financial support.

•
Monetary policy action failing to stimulate sustainable growth and combat the threat of
deflation in western economies, especially the Eurozone and Japan.
The potential for upside risks to current forecasts for UK gilt yields and PWLB rates, especially for
longer term PWLB rates include: •

Uncertainty around the risk of a UK exit from the EU.

•
The pace and timing of increases in the Fed. funds rate causing a fundamental
reassessment by investors of the relative risks of holding bonds as opposed to equities and
leading to a major flight from bonds to equities.

89

1|P a g e

Appendix 5.4
•
UK inflation returning to significantly higher levels than in the wider EU and US, causing
an increase in the inflation premium inherent to gilt yields.

90

2|P a g e

Appendix 5.5

91

This page is intentionally left blank

Appendix 5.6

Glossary of terms
Authorised Limit – Represents the limit beyond which borrowing is prohibited, and
needs to be set and revised by Members. It reflects the level of borrowing which,
while not desirable, could be afforded in the short term, but is not sustainable in the
longer term.
Boundary Limit – Is an estimate of the authorised limit but reflects an estimate of
the most likely, prudent, but not worst case scenario, without the additional
headroom included within the authorised limit to allow for example for unusual cash
movements.
Capitalisation direction – This permits local authorities to fund expenditure by
borrowing or capital receipts, which would under normal accounting rules, need to be
funded from revenue resources.
CFR - Capital Financing Requirement- reflects the Council’s underlying need to
borrow for a capital purpose. It shows the total estimated capital expenditure that
has not been resourced from capital or revenue sources. This requirement will
eventually be met by revenue resources through the Minimum Revenue Provision
mechanism.
CIPFA Prudential Code - is a professional code of practice to support local
authorities in taking capital investment decisions. Local authorities determine their
own programmes for capital investment in fixed assets that are central to the delivery
of quality local public services in accordance with the Prudential Code.
Consumer price index (CPI) - measures changes in the price level of a market
basket of consumer goods and services purchased by households.
Cost of carry - Costs incurred as a result of an investment position. These costs can
include financial costs, such as the interest costs on borrowing in advance of the
expenditure.
Department for Communities and Local Government (DCLG) - Is a ministerial
department, supported by 12 agencies and public bodies. They are working to move
decision-making power from central government to local councils. This helps put
communities in charge of planning, increases accountability and helps citizens to see
how their money is being spent.
ECB - European Central Bank.
FED - The Federal Reserve System (also known as the Federal Reserve, and
informally as the Fed) is the central banking system of the United States.
Fair value - Is defined as the amount for which an asset could be exchanged or a
liability settled, assuming that the transaction was negotiated between parties
knowledgeable about the market in which they are dealing and willing to buy/sell at

93

Appendix 5.6
an appropriate price, with no other motive in their negotiations other than to secure a
fair price
Financing Cost to Net Revenue Stream-The percentage of the revenue budget set
aside each year to service debt financing costs.
FLS - Funding for Lending Scheme (FLS) was launched by the Bank and HM
Treasury on 13 July 2012. The FLS is designed to incentivise banks and building
societies to boost their lending to the UK real economy.
Gilt - is a UK Government liability in sterling, issued by HM Treasury and listed on
the London Stock exchange.
Gross domestic product (GDP) - is the market value of all officially recognized final
goods and services produced within a country in a given period of time (usually the
fiscal year).
Local enterprise partnerships - Are partnerships between local authorities and
businesses. They decide what the priorities should be for investment in roads,
buildings and facilities in the area.
London Interbank Bid Rate - the rate at which banks will bid to take deposits in
Eurocurrency from each other. The deposits are for terms from overnight up to five
years.
MPC - Monetary Policy Committee Interest rates are set by the Bank's Monetary
Policy Committee. The MPC sets an interest rate it judges will enable the inflation
target to be achieved.
MRP - Minimum Revenue Provision- Is a provision the council has set a method of
revenue to repay loans arising from capital expenditure financed by Borrowing.
Private Finance Initiative (PFI) - This is funding public infrastructure projects with
private capital.
PWLB - Public Works Loan Board
- is a statutory body operating within the Debt Management Office, an Executive
Agency of HM Treasury.
PWLB certainty rate - A reduced interest rate from PWLB to principal local
authorities, which provided required information to government on their plans for
long-term borrowing and associated capital spending.
Quantitative easing (QE) -A government monetary policy occasionally used to
increase the money supply by buying government securities or other securities from
the market. Quantitative easing increases the money supply by flooding financial
institutions with capital, in an effort to promote increased lending and liquidity.

94

Appendix 5.6
Voluntary Revenue Provision (VRP) – This a discretionary provision to reduce the
unfinanced capital expenditure (Borrowing) by additional loan repayments.

95

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 98.
TITLE

Medium Term Financial Plan 2016/19 – Revenue
Budget Submission 2016/17

FOR CONSIDERATION BY

The Executive on 18 February 2016

WARD

None specific

STRATEGIC DIRECTOR

Graham Ebers, Director of Finance and Resources

LEAD MEMBER

Anthony Pollock, Executive Member for Economic
Development and Finance

OUTCOME/BENEFITS TO THE COMMUNITY
Sound Finances and Value for Money.
Service enhancement and maintaining services to the community through allocating
budgets to Council priorities.
RECOMMENDATION
That the Executive recommend to the Council that the Medium Term Financial Plan
(MTFP) 2016/19, including the budget submission for 2016/17, be approved.
SUMMARY OF REPORT
Members are presented with the Medium Term Financial Plan for 2016/19 including the
proposed revenue budget submission for 2016/17 for recommendation to Council. (Due
to the size of this document a copy has been circulated separately to all Members. A
copy can also be obtained from the Council’s website or on request from Democratic
Services).
Members are also requested to recommend the following key Revenue budget extract of
the MTFP to Council
 Summary of Budget Movements 2016/17 (Appendix A)

97

Background
The Medium Term Financial Plan (MTFP) 2016/17 will be presented to Council for
approval on 18 February 2016. Executive are asked to recommend the following key
Revenue budget extract of the MTFP to Council


Summary of Budget Movements 2016/17 (Appendix A)

The Local Government Act 2003 requires the Chief Finance Officer (Director of Finance
and Resources) to report to Members as part of the Budget Setting Process. The report
will highlight the key financial and service risks contained in the 2016/17 budget
proposals. This will be presented to Council on the 18 February 2016 as part of the
MTFP.
Analysis of Issues
The Chief Financial Officers report contains issues, risks and strategic considerations in
respect of Revenue and Capital.
Corporate Implications
The Medium Term Financial Plan covers both the revenue and capital budgets required
to deliver the priorities of the Council over the next three years.
The net revenue budget for 2016/17 is approximately £113m. The Council needs to set
a balanced budget in the context of this. The budget requirements for 2017/18 and
2018/19 are also shown in the plan as indicative figures only.
FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS OF THE RECOMMENDATION
How much will it
Cost/ (Save)
Current Financial
Year (Year 1)
Next Financial Year
(Year 2)
Following Financial
Year (Year 3)

Is there sufficient
funding – if not
quantify the Shortfall

Revenue or
Capital?

See MTFP

Other financial information relevant to the Recommendation/Decision
Included in MTFP
Cross-Council Implications
The budget affects all services
List of Background Papers
Medium Term Financial Plan 2016/17
Contact Stephen McGrail
Telephone No 0118 974 6560
Date 4 February 2016

Service Resources
Email
Stephen.McGrail@wokingham.gov.uk
Version No. 2

98

Appendix A

Summary of Budget Movements 2016/2017
2015/2016 Restructured Service Budget
(excluding Capital & Internal recharges)

Children's
Services
£'000

Chief Executive
£'000

Finance &
Resources
£'000

Environment
£'000

Health &
Wellbeing
£'000

Total
£'000

3,464

19,975

25,958

22,786

39,931

112,114

Exclusive one off revenue items in 2015/2016 (Special Items)
Inflation for non-pay activities
Pay award
Adjustments between services (e.g. budget reallocations inc.)

(1,126)
0
21
51

(50)
24
118
143

(750)
261
79
81

(1,350)
316
114
(413)

(835)
200
37
138

(4,111)
800
369
0

Total

(1,054)

234

(329)

(1,333)

(460)

(2,942)

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

285
149
85
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
519

0
0
0
15
10
39
21
15
10
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
110

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
670
50
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
720

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
800
100
200
200
230
290
120
495
2,435

285
149
85
15
10
39
21
15
10
670
50
800
100
200
200
230
290
120
495
3,784

43
800
0
0
0

0
0
109
30
43

0
0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0
0

43
800
109
30
43

Adjustments/Additions

Funding to Maintain / Improve Services

99

Additional residential and high cost complex placements
Adopt Berkshire Service previously funded by Grant
Reduction in continued health claim funding following lower level of receipts than originally estimated
Highway drainage increased maintenance costs due to additional network length
Highway structures (bridges) - revenue implications of increased capital scheme (major
Highways maintenance - carriageways and footways
Revenue implications of integrated transport capital scheme (to contain congestion, improve safety and
Traffic management associated with Henley Regatta
Winter service - increased maintenance costs due to additional network length
National Insurance increase due to changes in state pension
Permanent marketing & business development resource - funded through corresponding income target
Care Act - increased demand for services due to government changes
Homelessness
Learning disability - increase in complexity and cost
Mental Health - increase in complexity and cost
Older people - increase in complexity and cost
Older people domiciliary care - increase in complexity and cost
Physical disabilities - increase in complexity and cost
Transitional children - children entering adult social care
Total

Special Items 2016/2017
Management service efficiency target
Wokingham Town Centre upfront funding (repaid when income generating)
Children’s Social Worker Recruitment & Retention Strategy
Continuing health care resource to deliver savings
Implementation of Child Sexual Exploitation Programme

Appendix A

Summary of Budget Movements 2016/2017
Innovation programme
Reshaping of Children’s Services
Core Strategy
School crossing patrols – alternative delivery / funding model
Strategic Development Location posts
Encroachment Officer
Estimated resource requirement to deliver future savings
Forward Funding (infrastructure bridging loan)
Provision for business rates appeals
Adult social care contract
Capacity to deliver Continued Health Claims
Capacity to deliver value for money on high cost packages
Deprivation of Liberty Safeguarding pressures
Homelessness
Total

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
843

Children's
Services
£'000
100
24
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
306

(150)
(51)
(10)
(90)
(85)
(40)
(40)
(50)
(10)
(14)
(20)
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
(200)
(50)
(21)
(55)
(25)
(34)
(50)
(37)
(50)
0
0
0

Chief Executive
£'000

Environment
£'000

Finance &
Resources
£'000

Health &
Wellbeing
£'000

0
0
300
85
350
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
735

0
0
0
0
0
23
700
1,630
200
0
0
0
0
0
2,553

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
276
150
80
265
150
921

Total
£'000
100
24
300
85
350
23
700
1,630
200
276
150
80
265
150
5,358

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
(50)
(6)
(10)

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

(150)
(51)
(10)
(90)
(85)
(40)
(40)
(50)
(10)
(14)
(20)
(200)
(50)
(21)
(55)
(25)
(34)
(50)
(37)
(50)
(50)
(6)
(10)

Funded by the following Service Efficiencies

100

Council wide procurement savings
Energy agency (reselling/distribution)
Full implementation of Modern.Gov committee decision management system
Grow advertising & sponsorship income and grow traded services
Management service efficiency target
Monitoring officer work for Royal Borough of Windsor and Maidenhead
Re-organisation/restructuring - business improvement
Review insurance covers and alternatives
Shared internal audit - further process effeciencies
Staff efficiencies - political assistants
Trading income - shared service - audit & investigations
Contracts - efficiency savings
Early Intervention changes (to seek better unit costs within Adviza contract)
Early Years & Childcare (cease subsidised bursaries in line with Other Local Authorities)
Education Psychology Service (not recruiting to vacancy)
Education Welfare Service (not recruiting to vacancy / schools forum no longer funding)
Health contract changes (to seek better unit costs particularly focusing on therapeutic services)
Review & reshape span of control of management post
Schools ICT (Local Authority no longer provide service to be fully funded by schools)
Targeted Youth Service / Youth Offending Service (not recruiting to vacancy)
Balfour Beatty Living Places - saving from contract
Charging for highway structures approvals
Charging for requests to switch on /off traffic signals

Appendix A

Summary of Budget Movements 2016/2017

101

Country Parks - commercial activities income
Increased income target for Countryside Service
Introduce evening and Sunday car park charges, and Saturday charges at Shute End
Memorial Garden
Planning pre application fees - increase in charge
Reclassification of revenue and capital funding
Street lighting energy and maintenance saving
Street numbering and naming charges
WSP – savings from contract
Administrative efficiencies
Amalgamate reception areas
Bring together facilities management and procurement
Business rates - increased base
Centralisation of stationery budgets
Centralise finance system support
Deputyship – increase charging and higher client numbers
Grants to Town/Parishes phased out over 5 years
Implement shared service for operational property
Increase adverts in Borough News
Increased rent from commercial portfolio
Interest on balances
Investment strategy -fully risk assessed longer dated investments
Local Welfare Provision - (match to actual spend)
More robust records management processes to reduce archive costs
New ICT service model
Penalties for non compliance (Benefits)
Raise Citizenship Ceremony costs
Reduce revenue costs from buildings declared surplus following assets review
Registrars increased income - nationality checking
Re-provision of IT training
Re-shape community resilience Business Community
Review postage
Revised Council Tax Reduction Scheme
Schools finance support service fully funded by schools
Staff training
Benchmarking of Carers personal budgets in line with neighbouring authorities
Commission further block contracts to reduce rates
Domiciliary Care and opportunities from Better Care Fund
Electronic time recording for providers
Further review and application for Continued Health Claims

Children's
Services
£'000

Chief Executive
£'000
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

Environment
£'000
(2)
(50)
(137)
(5)
(10)
(95)
(42)
(10)
(50)
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

Finance &
Resources
£'000
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
(18)
(20)
(30)
(350)
(20)
(20)
(20)
(20)
(60)
(18)
(10)
(200)
(74)
(20)
(20)
(400)
(40)
(5)
(30)
(3)
(15)
(15)
(40)
(217)
(25)
(50)
0
0
0
0
0

Health &
Wellbeing
£'000
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
(53)
(50)
(50)
(50)
(600)

Total
£'000
(2)
(50)
(137)
(5)
(10)
(95)
(42)
(10)
(50)
(18)
(20)
(30)
(350)
(20)
(20)
(20)
(20)
(60)
(18)
(10)
(200)
(74)
(20)
(20)
(400)
(40)
(5)
(30)
(3)
(15)
(15)
(40)
(217)
(25)
(50)
(53)
(50)
(50)
(50)
(600)

Appendix A

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
(560)

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
(522)

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
(467)

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
(1,740)

Health &
Wellbeing
£'000
(30)
(15)
(3)
(5)
(15)
(60)
(95)
(70)
(24)
(12)
(30)
(50)
(20)
(5)
(20)
(30)
(208)
(5)
(100)
(200)
(57)
(50)
(1,907)

0
0

0
0

0
0

(218)
(218)

0
0

(218)
(218)

Service Budget 2016/2017
(excluding Capital & Internal recharges)

2,693

20,512

26,007

22,767

40,920

112,899

Internal Recharges & Depreciation Charges

1,744

12,901

14,450

(10,916)

3,402

21,581

Service Budget 2016/2017
(including Capital & Internal recharges)

4,437

33,413

40,457

11,852

44,322

134,480

Summary of Budget Movements 2016/2017

102

Income from 1 life for 50 week swimming lessons
Income generation - charging for support at sheltered accomodation
Increased physical activity provision for older adults
Increased sports facility hire
Means-tested access to all leisure interventions
Negotiation of drug and alcohol services contract
Negotiation of sexual health contract
Negotiation of smoking cessation contract price
Promote direct payments - payments cards
Promote use of direct payments through the use of pre-paid payment cards
Recommissioning supported living services via approved provider list
Review and redesign of non statutory services
Review of Carers sitting service following implementation of Care Act
Review of out of area sexual health payments
Review of policy for accepting bids against Disabled Facilities Grant
Review of project resources
Review of provision of home care services provided by Optalis
Review of training provision for public health staff
Review the provision of Supported Employment Service
Review value for money on high cost packages
Use of extra care facilities to aid rehabilitation
Use of internal resource to drive initiatives
Total

Children's
Services
£'000

Chief Executive
£'000

Finance &
Resources
£'000

Environment
£'000

Total
£'000
(30)
(15)
(3)
(5)
(15)
(60)
(95)
(70)
(24)
(12)
(30)
(50)
(20)
(5)
(20)
(30)
(208)
(5)
(100)
(200)
(57)
(50)
(5,196)

Council Tax Collection Fund adjustments
Collection fund income
Total

Agenda Item 99.
TITLE

Treasury Management Mid-Year Report 2015-16

FOR CONSIDERATION BY

The Executive on 18 February 2016

WARD

None specific

DIRECTOR

Graham Ebers, Director of Finance and Resources

LEAD MEMBER

Anthony Pollock, Executive Member for Economic
Development and Finance

OUTCOME / BENEFITS TO THE COMMUNITY
Effective and safe use of our resources to deliver service improvements and service
continuity through capital investments.
RECOMMENDATION
The Executive is asked to:
1)
note the mid-year Treasury Management report for 2015/16;
2)

note the actual 2015/16 prudential indicators within the report; and

3)

recommend the report to Council for approval.

SUMMARY OF REPORT
The Treasury Management Mid-Year Report 2015/16 is a requirement of the Prudential
Code and the Council’s reporting procedures. It covers the treasury activity during the
first half of 2015/16 and the actual Prudential Indicators for this period. All Prudential
indicators are being adhered to and external debt continues to be contained by using
internal balances in a way that minimises capital financing costs for the council’s
taxpayer’s.

103

Background
The report highlights the Council’s treasury position as at 30th September 2015, sets
out the treasury decisions taken so far during 2015/16 and shows that the Council has
complied with the strategy and the prudential indicators that were set prior to the
financial year.
The first six months of the financial year have continued with the challenging
investment environment of previous years, namely low investment returns and
continuing heightened levels of counterparty risk.
Analysis of Issues
In the first six months external debt did not increase as the council took the opportunity
to use internal funds and other sources to fund the capital programme. As at 30th
September 2015 the Non- Housing Revenue Account (HRA) external debt was £46.6m
and the HRA External Debt as at 30th September 2015 was £85.0m.
The budget for capital in 2015/16 is £107.5m. The profile of expenditure on this budget
has been spread over two years.
2015-16 - £65.8m
2016-17 - £41.7m
The anticipated expenditure as at 31st March 2015 is £53.4m.
The Director of Finance and Resources confirms that as at 30th September 2015 there
have been no breaches of the treasury strategy 2015-16.
List of Background Papers
The full Treasury Mid-Year report for 2015/16 is shown in Appendix A.
The Councils Prudential indicators are shown in Appendix B
The Councils Current Loan Portfolio Appendix C
The Councils Counter Party Limits at the 30th September 2015 are shown in Appendix D
The Councils Current Investments at the 30th September 2015 are shown in Appendix E
A Glossary of Terms is shown in Appendix F

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS OF THE RECOMMENDATION
The Council faces severe financial challenges over the coming years as a result
of the austerity measures implemented by the Government and subsequent
reductions to public sector funding. It is estimated that Wokingham Borough
Council will be required to make budget reductions in excess of £20m over the
next three years and all Executive decisions should be made in this context.
How much will it
Cost/ (Save)
Current Financial
Year (Year 1)

£53.4m Expenditure
£0.8m Return on
Investments

Is there sufficient
funding – if not
quantify the Shortfall
Yes

104

Revenue or
Capital?
Capital and
Revenue

Next Financial
Year (Year 2)

To be determined
through the Medium
term financial plan

Following
Financial Year
(Year 3)

N/A

Capital and
Revenue

Other financial information relevant to the Recommendation/Decision
None
Cross-Council Implications
None
List of Background Papers
None
Contact Martin Jones
Telephone No 0118 9746877
Date 8 February 2016

Service Finance & Resources
Email martin.jones@wokingham.gov.uk
Version No. 1

105

This page is intentionally left blank

Appendix A

WOKINGHAM BOROUGH COUNCIL

Treasury Management Strategy
Mid-year Review Report 2015/16

Page | 1

107

Appendix A

Contents
(1) Introduction and Background ................................................... 3
(2) Summary of Report ................................................................. 4
(3) Economic update ..................................................................... 4
(4) Treasury Management Strategy Statement update ................. 5
(5) The Council’s Capital Position (Prudential Indicator) ............... 6
(6) Investment Portfolio ................................................................11
(7) Borrowing 2015/16 .................................................................13
(8) Debt Rescheduling 2015/16 ...................................................13
Appendices
Prudential and Treasury indicators ............................... Appendix B
Loan Portfolio……………………………………………….Appendix C
Counterparty List .......................................................... Appendix D
Current Investments...................................................... Appendix E
Glossary of Terms .........................................................Appendix F

Page | 2

108

Appendix A

1) Introduction and Background
a) The Council operates a balanced budget, which broadly means cash raised
during the year will meet its cash expenditure. Part of the treasury management
operations ensure this cash flow is adequately planned, with surplus monies being
invested in low risk counterparties, providing adequate liquidity initially before
considering optimising investment return.
The second main function of the treasury management service is the funding of
the Council’s capital plans. These capital plans provide a guide to the borrowing
need of the Council, essentially the longer term cash flow planning to ensure the
Council can meet its capital spending operations. This management of longer
term cash may involve arranging long or short term loans, or using longer term
cash flow surpluses, and on occasion any debt previously borrowed may be
restructured to meet Council risk or cost objectives.
b) The Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy’s (CIPFA) Code of
Practice on Treasury Management has been adopted by Wokingham Borough
Council
The primary requirements of the Code are as follows:
1. Creation and maintenance of a Treasury Management Policy Statement which
sets out the policies and objectives of the Council’s treasury management
activities.
2. Creation and maintenance of Treasury Management Practices which set out
the manner in which the Council will seek to achieve those policies and objectives.
3. Receipt by the full council of an annual Treasury Management Strategy
Statement - including the Annual Investment Strategy and Minimum Revenue
Provision Policy - for the year ahead, a Mid-year Review Report and an Annual
Report covering activities of the previous year.
4. Delegation by the Council of responsibilities for implementing and monitoring
treasury management policies and practices and for the execution and
administration of treasury management decisions.
5. Delegation by the Council of the role of scrutiny of treasury management
strategy and policies to a specific named body. For this the Council’s delegated
body is the Audit Committee.

Page | 3

109

Appendix A
2) This report summarises the following:a. An economic update for the 2015/16 financial year to 30 September 2015;
b. A review of the Treasury Management Strategy Statement and Annual
Investment Strategy;
c. The Council’s capital expenditure (prudential indicators);
d. A review of the Council’s investment portfolio for 2015/16;
e. A review of the Council’s borrowing strategy for 2015/16;
f. A review of any debt rescheduling undertaken during 2015/16;
g. A review of compliance with Treasury and Prudential Limits for 2015/16.
3) Economic update
3.1 Economic performance to date and outlook
After strong growth in 2014 this has been varied in 2015. Quarter 1 was weak but
rebounded in quarter 2. The weak growth in Europe and emerging markets and
dampening effect of the Government’s continuing austerity programme is
expected to give weaker growth in Quarter 3.
In contrast the Bank of England August Inflation Report had included a forecast
for growth to remain around 2.4 – 2.8% over the next three years, driven mainly
by strong consumer demand as the squeeze on the disposable incomes of
consumers has been reversed by a recovery in wage inflation at the same time
that CPI inflation has fallen to, or near to, zero over the last quarter. Investment
expenditure is also expected to support growth. However, since the report was
issued, the Purchasing Manager’s Index, (PMI), for services on 5 October
indicated a further decline in the growth rate to only +0.3% in Q4, which is the
lowest rate since the end of 2012. In addition, worldwide economic statistics and
UK consumer and business confidence have distinctly weakened so it would
therefore not be a surprise if the next Inflation Report in November were to cut
those forecasts made in August.
The August Bank of England Inflation Report forecast was notably subdued in
respect of inflation which was forecast to barely get back up to the 2% target
within the 2-3 year time horizon. However, with the price of oil taking a fresh
downward direction and Iran expected to soon rejoin the world oil market after the
impending lifting of sanctions, there could be several more months of low inflation
still to come, especially as world commodity prices have generally been
depressed by the Chinese economic downturn.
There are therefore considerable risks around whether inflation will rise in the
near future as strongly as had previously been expected; this will make it more
difficult for the central banks of both the US and the UK to raise rates as soon as
was being forecast until recently, especially given the recent major concerns
Page | 4

110

Appendix A
around the slowdown in Chinese growth, the knock on impact on the earnings of
emerging countries from falling oil and commodity prices, and the volatility we
have seen in equity and bond markets in 2015 so far, which could potentially spill
over to impact the real economies rather than just financial markets.
3.2 Interest rate forecasts
Wokingham Borough Council’s treasury advisor, Capita Asset Services, has
provided the following forecast:

This latest forecast includes a first increase in Bank Rate in quarter 2 of 2016.
Given the anticipated rise in the interest rate the treasury function will review
WBC position on longer term external borrowing as opposed to a dependence
on internal funds.
4) Treasury Management Strategy Statement and Annual Investment Strategy
update
The Treasury Management Strategy Statement (TMSS) for 2015/16 was
approved by the Council on 19th of February 2015
•

Page | 5

There are no policy changes to the TMSS; the details in this report update
the position in the light of the updated economic position and budgetary
changes already approved.

111

Appendix A
5) The Council’s Capital Position (Prudential Indicators)
This part of the report is structured to update:
•
The Council’s capital expenditure plans;
•
How these plans are being financed;
•
The impact of the changes in the capital expenditure plans on the
prudential indicators and the underlying need to borrow; and
•
Compliance with the limits in place for borrowing activity.
5.1 The Council’s Capital Position (Prudential Indicators)
The Table below shows the revised estimates for capital expenditure and the
changes since the capital programme was agreed at the Budget.

Service

Budget As
2015/16
per Capital
Budget
Programme Movement
As per
@
the
30/09/2015
TMSS

Children's Services

27,474

30,748

3,274

Health and Wellbeing

15,710

23,381

7,671

Environment

16,995

19,787

2,792

9,490

5,282

(4,208)

Chief Executive

18,112

18,399

287

Subtotal (Non HRA)

87,781

97,599

9,818

Housing revenue Account
(HRA)

8,064

9,937

1,873

Subtotal (HRA)

8,064

9,937

1,873

95,845

107,536

11,691

Finance & Resources

Grand Total

The budget of £107.5m is an increase of £11.7m from the original budget agreed
in the TMSS. The movement is due to £0.5m of additional WBC resources
(section 106 etc.) and the actual 2014/15 carry forward being £11.2m higher than
estimated in TMSS.

Page | 6

112

Appendix A
5.2 Changes to the Financing of the Capital Programme
The table on the following page summarises how the above capital budget are
being financed by capital or revenue resources and the movement since the
TMSS was agreed. Any shortfall of resources results in a funding need.

Funding Source

HRA - major repairs reserve
Capital Grants &
Contributions
Capital Receipts/Reserves

2015/16
Budget
As per
the
TMSS
£'000

Budget As
per Capital
Programme
@
30/09/2015
£'000

4,220

4,220

3,844

4,749
968

Subtotal (HRA)

8,064

9,937

NON -HRA
Capital Receipts/Reserves
Section 106
Capital Grants &
Contributions
Community infrastructure
Levy
Subtotal (Non HRA)
Borrowing need for the year
*
Grand Total

2,837

4,743

21,547

23,920

24,587

28,171

0

0

48,971

56,835

38,810

40,764

95,845

107,536

* Net financing (borrowing) is funded by either external borrowing (PWLB
loans etc.) or internal borrowing (use of cash flow funds).
This is not an increase in cumulative borrowing; it is as a result of
expenditure movement between 2014/15 and 2015/16.

Page | 7

113

Appendix A
5.3.1 Changes to the Prudential Indicators for the Capital Financing
Requirement (CFR)
The following graphs and tables show the CFR, which is the underlying external
need to incur borrowing for a capital purpose up until 31st March 2016 as
estimated at 30th September 2015 compared to the Treasury Management
Strategy 2015/16 (TMSS).
250.0

Capital Financing Requirement 2014/15
205.2

200.0

150.0

£m

111.3
93.9

100.0

50.0

210.0

116.2
93.9

0.0
CFR – non housing

CFR – housing

Total CFR

2015/16 Budget as per the TMSS £210.0m
Forecast year-end position @ 30-09-15 £205.2m

5.3.2 Changes to the Prudential Indicators External Debt
The following graph shows the changes to external debt position 2015/16 up
until 31st March 2016 estimated at the 30th September 2015 compared to the
Treasury Management Strategy 2015/16 (TMSS).

Page | 8

114

Appendix A

160.0

Prudential Indicator – External Debt

149.6

140.0
120.0

£m

100.0

85.0

80.0

149.6

64.6

60.0
85.0

40.0
64.6
20.0
0.0
Non housing
2015/16 Budget as per the TMSS

5.4

(HRA) housing
£149.6m

Total debt

Forecast year-end position @ 30-09-14 £149.6m

Limits to Borrowing Activity
The first key control over the treasury activity is a prudential indicator to
ensure that over the medium term, net borrowing (borrowings less
investments) will only be for a capital purpose. Gross external borrowing
should not, except in the short term, exceed the total of CFR in the preceding
year plus the estimates of any additional CFR for 2015/16 and next two
financial years. This allows some flexibility for limited early borrowing for
future years. The Council has approved a policy for borrowing in advance of
need which will be adhered to if this proves prudent.

Prudential Indicator – External
Debt

External borrowing

2015/16
Budget
As per the
TMSS
£'000

Forecast
year-end
position
@ 30-09-15
£'000

149,602

149,602

9,000

9,000

Gross borrowing

158,602

158,602

CFR* (year-end position)

210,027

205,198

Plus other long term liabilities*

Does gross borrowing exceed CFR?

NO

NO

* Includes on balance sheet PFI schemes and finance leases etc.
The movement between TMSS and forecast end of year position is due to the delay
in progression of the Town Centre Regeneration scheme, this delay was to enable
enhancement from feedback and consultation.
Page | 9

115

Appendix A
The operational boundary. This is the limit beyond which external debt is not
normally expected to exceed. In most cases, this would be a similar figure to the
CFR, but may be lower or higher depending on the levels of actual debt.

Operational boundary
£'000

Debt

2015/16
As per the
TMSS
£'000*

External
borrowing
position
@ 30-09-15
£'000

Forecast
year-end
borrowing
@ 30-09-15
£'000

202,000

149,602

149,602

Other long term liabilities

10,000

9,000

9,000

Total

212,000

158,602

158,602

* Note: This is a boundary not the budget set in the accounts.
The authorised limit for external debt. A further key prudential indicator represents
a control on the maximum level of borrowing. This represents a limit beyond which
external debt is prohibited, and this limit needs to be set or revised by the full
Council. It reflects the level of external debt which, while not desirable, could be
afforded in the short term, but is not sustainable in the longer term.

Authorised limit £'000

Debt
Other long term liabilities
Total

2015/16
As per the
TMSS
£'000*

External
borrowing
position
@ 30-09-15
£'000

Forecast
year-end
borrowing
@ 30-09-15
£'000

210,000

149,602

149,602

12,000

9,000

9,000

222,000

158,602

158,602

* Note: This is a boundary not the budget set in the accounts.
Separately, the Council is also limited to a maximum HRA CFR through the HRA
self-financing regime. This limit is currently:

HRA Debt limit
HRA Headroom

2015/16
As per the
TMSS
£'000*

External
borrowing
position
@ 30-09-15
£'000

Forecast
year-end
borrowing
@ 30-09-15
£'000

102,000

93,892

93,892

102,000

93,892

93,892

* Note: This is a boundary not the budget set in the accounts.
The Director of Finance and Resources reports that no difficulties are envisaged for
the current or future years in complying with this prudential indicator.

Page | 10

116

Appendix A
6. Investment Portfolio 2015/16
In accordance with the Code, it is the Council’s priority to ensure security of
capital and liquidity, and to obtain an appropriate level of return which is
consistent with the Council’s risk appetite. As set out in Section 3, it is a very
difficult investment market in terms of earning the level of interest rates commonly
seen in previous decades as rates are very low and in line with the 0.5% Bank
Rate. Indeed, the introduction of the Funding for Lending scheme has reduced
market investment rates even further. The potential for a prolonging of the
Eurozone sovereign debt crisis, and its impact on banks, prompts a low risk and
short term strategy. Given this risk environment, investment returns are likely to
remain low.
The Council’s Level of investments as at 30 September 2015

Investment balances
excluding internal investments

70.0
60.0
50.0

66.3

44.8

£m

40.0
30.0
20.0
11.9
10.0

29.0

9.6

10.0
10.0

9.0

0.0
RLAM
SWIP
In House
Estimated Investments @ 31/03/2016 as per the TMSS

Total
£29.0m

2014/15 Actuals @ 30-09-15 £66.3m

As at 30th September the Investment balances are £37.3m higher than the
estimated 31st March balance. This is largely due to the following:
a) Grant/Receipts are received in advance of the anticipated expenditure.
b) The capital expenditure for 2014/15 was £11.2m lower than anticipated.
c) The delay in progressing the Town Centre Regeneration scheme
The levels of investments are expected to reduce by the 31st March 2016, as the
council expenditure plans are met. A full list of investments held as at 30th
September 2015 is shown in appendix C:
Page | 11

117

Appendix A
The Council’s investment return for 2015/16

2015/16
Budget
As per the
TMSS
£'000

2015/16
Actuals
@ 30-09-15
£'000

RLAM

10,000

11,887

SWIP

10,000

9,579

9,000

44,800

29,000

66,266

Investment balances
excluding internal
investments

In House*
Total

* In house includes the following:
HRA loan at a rate of 4.5%
Wokingham Housing Limited loans at a rate 6%
Age concern loan at 1.99%
The average of In house investments excluding the internal loan is 0.45%
The Director of Finance and Resources confirms that the approved limits within
the Annual Investment Strategy were not breached during the first six months of
2015/16.

Page | 12

118

Appendix A
7. Borrowing 2015/16
The Council’s capital financing requirement (CFR) forecast outturn 2015/16 as at
30th September is £205.2m. The CFR denotes the Council’s underlying need to
borrow for capital purposes. If the CFR is positive the Council may borrow from
the PWLB or the market (external borrowing).
The following table shows the Council has borrowings of £149.6m (external
borrowing and other long term liabilities) and has utilised £46.6m of cash flow
funds in lieu of borrowing (Internal Borrowing) This is a prudent and cost
effective approach in the current economic climate but will require ongoing
monitoring in the event that upside risk to gilt yields prevails.
2015/16
Budget
As per the
TMSS
£'000

2015/16
Forecast
year end
@ 30-09-15
£'000

210,196

205,198

(149,602)

(149,602)

Less Other long term liabilities

(9,000)

(9,000)

Internal Borrowing

51,594

46,596

% of internal borrowing to CFR

24.5%

22.7%

2014/15
@31/03/15

2015/16
Forecast
year end
@ 30-09-15
£'000

55,838

46,596

Internal borrowing

CFR (year-end position)
Less External Borrowing

Internal borrowing
Movement from 2014/15

(9,242)

As mentioned in section 3.2 the treasury function will review WBC position on
longer term external borrowing as opposed to a dependence on internal funds.
reflecting in part the expected rise in the Bank rate.
It is not anticipated that further borrowing will be required during this financial
year.
8. Debt Rescheduling 2015/16
No debt rescheduling was undertaken during the first six months of 2015/16 or is
proposed for the remainder of the financial year. There are forecast to be new
loans taken out to the value of £18m by 31st March 2016. This will be at a special
Page | 13

119

Appendix A
rate 40 bases point lower than the PWLB rate. (Local Enterprise Partnership
Agreement).

Page | 14

120

Prudential Indicators - Quarter 1-2 2015/16
Appendix B

Prudential and treasury indicators as at 30st September 2015
(Not previously reported Appendix A)
Upper limit -Debt Only

On fixed rate exposures
On variable rate exposures

Upper limit -Investments Only

2015/16
Budget

Quarter 1
(Apr-Jun)
Actual

Quarter 2
(Jul-Sep)
Actual

£’000

£’000

£’000

180,000

107,482

107,482

40,000

24,000

24,000

2015/16
Budget

Quarter 1
(Apr-Jun)
Actual

Quarter 2
(Jul-Sep)
Actual

£’000

£’000

£’000

On fixed rate exposures

(80,000)

(51,075)

(48,073)

On variable rate exposures

(40,000)

(12,363)

(18,178)

Prudential Indicators
General Fund

2015/16
Budget

Quarter 1
15/16
Year end
forecast

Quarter 2
15/16
Year end
forecast

£’000

£’000

£’000

Capital expenditure
Capital Financing Requirement
(CFR)
Annual change in CFR

87,781

64,476

39,868

116,320

123,915

111,322

13,525

18,728

9,374

In year borrowing requirement

69,736

59,331

46,738

Ratio of financing costs to net
revenue stream

4.5%

3.5%

3.5%

The percentage of the revenue budget set aside each year to service debt financing
costs.
This is calculated as follows: Financing cost Divide by Net revenue stream
As per budget 2015/16: £5,793 / £127,711 = 4.54%

121

Prudential Indicators - Quarter 1-2 2015/16
Appendix B

Prudential Indicators
HRA

2015/16
Budget

Quarter 1
15/16
Year end
forecast

Quarter 2
15/16
Year end
forecast

£’000

£’000

£’000

Capital expenditure
Capital Financing Requirement
(CFR)
Annual change in CFR

8,064

8,064

13,491

93,876

93,876

93,876

0

0

0

In year borrowing requirement

0

0

0

Ratio of financing costs to net
revenue stream

18.2%

18.0%

18.5%

The percentage of the revenue budget set aside each year to service debt financing
costs.
This is calculated as follows: Financing cost Divide by Total income received
As per budget 2015/16: £2,852 / £15702 = 18.16%

Incremental impact of capital
investment decisions:-

2015/16
Budget

Quarter 1
15/16
Year end
forecast

Quarter 2
15/16
Year end
forecast

£’000

£’000

£’000

a) Increase in council tax (band
change) per annum.

30.98

30.85

29.06

This is the incremental impact on council tax (D equivalent) of the recommended
capital investment plans and funding proposals.

122

Prudential Indicators - Quarter 1-2 2015/16
Appendix B

2015/16
Budget

Quarter 1
15/16
Year end
forecast

Quarter 2
15/16
Year end
forecast

%

%

%

Ave rate of interest on debt
(Longterm)
Non HRA

4.38%

4.38%

4.38%

HRA including GF internal
loan

2.87%

2.87%

2.87%

Total

3.35%

3.35%

3.35%

2015/16
Budget
£'000

Short term borrowing
limit

Quarter 1
15/16
Year end
forecast
£'000

Quarter 2
15/16
Year end
forecast
£'000

0

0

20,000

Internal Borrowing

CFR (year end position)

2015/16
Budget

Quarter 1
15/16
Year end
forecast

Quarter 2
15/16
Year end
forecast

£’000

£’000

£’000

210,196

217,791

205,198

(149,602)

(140,737)

(149,611)

Less Other long term liabilities

(10,000)

(10,000)

(10,000)

Internal Borrowing

50,594

67,054

45,587

(5,499)

16,460

(5,007)

24.07%

30.79%

22.22%

Less External Borrowing

Movement

% of internal borrowing to CFR

123

Prudential Indicators - Quarter 1-2 2015/16
Appendix B

201/15
Budget

Quarter 1
15/16
Year end
forecast

Quarter 2
15/16
Year end
forecast

£'000

£'000

£'000

Internal investments: (Principal)
HRA Internal loan from the General
fund
Age Concern

8,874

8,874

8,874

150

150

150

Wokingham Housing

1,000

200

115

10,024

9,224

9,139

2015/16
Budget

Quarter 1
15/16
Year end
forecast

Quarter 2
15/16
Year end
forecast

£’000

£’000

£’000

Total

Internal investments: Interest Received
HRA Internal loan from The General
fund

399

399

399

Wokingham Housing

0

41

41

Age Concern

0

3

3

399

444

444

124

Appendix C

General Fund Loan portfolio

Type of loan

Reference
no.

Counterparty

Start Date

Maturity Date

Principal
£'000

Interest
Rate

General Fund
loan - Maturity
loan - Maturity
loan - Maturity
loan - Maturity
loan - Maturity
loan - Maturity
LOBO loan Fixed
LOBO loan Fixed
LOBO loan Fixed
LOBO loan Fixed
LOBO loan Fixed
LOBO loan Fixed
Local
Enterprise
Board

485805
488876
491320
491456
491474
493309

PWLB
PWLB
PWLB
PWLB
PWLB
PWLB

16 July 2004
15 February 2006
26 April 2006
28 April 2006
24 May 2007

01 August 2022
01 February 2034
01 August 2051
30 September 2046
01 August 2052
31 March 2054

976
2,343
2,929
1,431
5,587
9,764

4.88%
4.95%
3.85%
4.35%
4.40%
4.60%

3b

Barclays

24 February 2007

24 February 2077

4,882

4.35%

2c

Barclays

11 January 2007

11 January 2077

4,882

4.60%

1c

KA Finaz AG

06 February 2006

06 February 2066

4,882

4.88%

4

Barclays

16 February 2006

16 February 2066

1,953

3.68%

5

Barclays

19 October 2006

19 October 2076

4,882

3.73%

6

Barclays

19 October 2006

19 October 2076

1,953

3.77%

03 January 2014

03 January 2016

120

0.00%

46,584

125

Appendix C

Housing Revenue Fund Loan portfolio
Type of loan

Reference
no.

Counterparty

Start Date

Maturity Date

Original
Principal
£000

Interest
Rate
%

Housing Revenue Account
(HRA)
Loan - Maturity
Loan - Maturity

485805

PWLB

01 August 2022

24

4.88%

488876

PWLB

16 July 2004

01 February 2034

57

4.95%

Loan - Maturity

491320

PWLB

15 February 2006

01 August 2051

71

3.85%

Loan - Maturity

491456

PWLB

26 April 2006

30 September 2046

35

4.35%

Loan - Maturity

491474

PWLB

28 April 2006

01 August 2052

135

4.40%

Loan - Maturity

493309

PWLB

24 May 2007

31 March 2054

236

4.60%

Loan - Maturity

501033

PWLB

28 March 2012

28 March 2018

1,750

1.50%

Loan - Maturity

501034

PWLB

28 March 2012

28 March 2021

3,482

2.21%

Loan - Maturity

501035

PWLB

28 March 2012

28 March 2032

8,516

3.30%

Loan - Maturity

501036

PWLB

28 March 2012

28 March 2020

1,988

1.99%

Loan - Maturity

501037

PWLB

28 March 2012

28 March 2031

7,231

3.26%

Loan - Maturity

501038

PWLB

28 March 2012

28 March 2022

4,199

2.40%

Loan - Maturity

501039

PWLB

28 March 2012

28 March 2029

6,378

3.15%

Loan - Maturity

501040

PWLB

28 March 2012

28 March 2027

5,415

3.01%

Loan - Maturity

501041

PWLB

28 March 2012

28 March 2017

3,476

1.24%

Loan - Maturity

501043

PWLB

28 March 2012

28 March 2033

9,276

3.34%

Loan - Maturity

501044

PWLB

28 March 2012

28 March 2034

1,000

3.37%

Loan - Maturity

501045

PWLB

28 March 2012

28 March 2025

3,744

2.82%

Loan - Maturity

501046

PWLB

28 March 2012

28 March 2028

5,981

3.08%

Loan - Maturity

501047

PWLB

28 March 2012

28 March 2030

6,789

3.21%

Loan - Maturity

501048

PWLB

28 March 2012

28 March 2026

3,971

2.92%

Loan - Maturity

501049

PWLB

28 March 2012

28 March 2024

4,116

2.70%

Loan - Maturity

501050

PWLB

28 March 2012

28 March 2023

3,484

2.56%

Loan - Maturity

501051

PWLB

28 March 2012

28 March 2019

3,098

1.76%

LOBO loan Fixed
LOBO loan Fixed
LOBO loan Fixed
LOBO loan Fixed
LOBO loan Fixed
LOBO loan Fixed

3b

Barclays

24 February 2007

24 February 2077

118

4.35%

2c

Barclays

11 January 2007

11 January 2077

118

4.60%

1c

KA Finaz AG

06 February 2006

06 February 2066

118

4.88%

4

Barclays

16 February 2006

16 February 2066

47

3.68%

5

Barclays

19 October 2006

19 October 2076

118

3.73%

6

Barclays

19 October 2006

19 October 2076

47

3.77%

85,018

Total

126

131,602

Appendix D

COUNTERPARTY LIMITS
31/03/2015
MAXIMUM OF £5m per Group (DMO- £20m)

Country

Fitch
Long
Term
Rating
*

Woking Borough Council

UK

AAA

5,000

12

5,000

0

Blackpool Borough Council

UK

AAA

5,000

12

3,000

2,000

Barnsley Borough Council

UK

AAA

5,000

12

3,000

2,000

London Borough of Enfield

UK

AAA

5,000

12

5,000

0

Wakefield Council

UK

AAA

5,000

12

3,000

2,000

Salford City Council

UK

AAA

5,000

12

2,000

3,000

Birmingham City Council

UK

AAA

5,000

12

5,000

0

Lancashire County Council

UK

AAA

5,000

12

5,000

0

West Lothian Council

UK

AAA

5,000

12

3,000

2,000

Newcastle City Council

UK

AAA

5,000

12

0

5,000

Leeds CC

UK

AAA

5,000

12

0

5,000

Debt Management Office (DMO)

UK

AAA

20,000

3

0

20,000

Fife Council

Uk

AAA

5,000

12

3,000

2,000

South Lanarkshire Council

UK

AAA

5,000

12

3,000

2,000

Eastleigh Borough Council

UK

AAA

5,000

12

3,000

2,000

Woking Borough Council
(forward)

UK

AAA

5,000

12

5,000

0

UK

AAA

5,000

12

3,000

2,000

Individual
Limit per
LCD
£'000

Max
Duration
Months

Current
Investment
£'000

Available
Balance
£'0000

Others

Dudley MC
Money Market Funds
Invesco Global MMF
(was AIM)

UK

AAA

5,000

36

0

5,000

Deutsche Bank
Sterling Fund (was
Henderson)

Ireland

AAA

5,000

36

0

5,000

Goldman Sachs

UK

AAA

5,000

36

0

5,000

Goldman Sachs Govt

UK

AAA

5,000

36

0

5,000

127

Appendix D
BANKING GROUPS
Lloyds Banking Group
Bank of Scotland

UK

A

3,000

6

0

3,000

Lloyds TSB
Group Limit
HSBC Group
HSBC Bank plc
INDIVIDUAL BANKS

UK

A

3,000
3,000

6

0

3,000
3,000

UK

AA-

3,000

6

0

3,000

Royal Bank of
Canada

Canada

AA

3,000

12

0

3,000

Toronto-Dominion
Bank

Canada

AA-

3,000

12

0

3,000

1000 Ontario,
Province of

Canada

AA-

3,000

12

0

3,000

Landwirtschaftliche
Rentenbank

Germany

AAA

5,000

12

0

5,000

Kfw

Germany

AAA

5,000

12

0

5,000

AAA

5,000

12

0

5,000

European
Investmkent Bank
Clearstream Banking

Luxembourg

AA

3,000

12

0

3,000

Development Bank of
Singapore

Singapore

AA-

3,000

12

0

3,000

Oversea Chinese
Banking Corp

Singapore

AA-

3,000

12

0

3,000

United Overseas
Bank LTD

Singapore

AA-

3,000

12

0

3,000

Barclays Bank
Close Brothers

UK
UK

A
A

3,000
3,000

6
6

0
0

3,000
3,000

Sumitomo Mitsui
Corperation Grp

UK

A-

3,000

6

0

3,000

Santander UK PLC

UK

A

3,000

6

0

3,000

Nationwide Building
Society

UK

A+

2,000

6

0

2,000

Coventry Building
Society

UK

A

2,000

6

0

2,000

Leeds Building
Society

UK

A-

2,000

6

0

2,000

Building Societies

128

Appendix D
Banks/Building Societies no longer meeting criteria
Cheshire Building
Society (to 31/03/09)

UK

0

0

0

Progressive BS (to
31/03/09)

UK

0

0

0

TOTAL INVESTMENTS
* GB = Government Backed
** Barclays Investment 3+ months - dealt before change in max duration

51,000

The figures in the table above are principal values only, the amounts in the body of
the report include accrued interest accounted for on the authority’s balance sheet at
year end.
Investments held by the external fund managers follow the criteria set out in the
treasury management strategy over counterparty selection.

129

This page is intentionally left blank

Appendix E

Investment portfolio
Current Investment's @ 30/09/15
Institution

Amount

Rate

Date
Deal
made

Maturity
Date

Trade
Date

Broker

Current lending
Salford CC
London Borough of
Enfield
London Borough of
Enfield
Lancashire CC

1,000,000

0.50%

08/09/2015

24/08/2016

08/09/2015

Tradition

2,000,000

0.50%

08/09/2015

18/08/2016

08/09/2015

Tradition

3,000,000

0.50%

11/08/2015

19/07/2016

11/08/2015

Tradition

5,000,000

0.53%

11/06/2015

09/06/2016

31/07/2015

Tradition

West Lothian Council

3,000,000

0.50%

01/06/2015

19/05/2016

01/06/2015

Tradition

Fife Council

2,000,000

0.45%

25/06/2015

29/03/2016

25/06/2015

Tradition

Dudley MBC

3,000,000

0.49%

15/04/2015

23/03/2016

15/04/2015

Tradition

Fife Council
Lincolnshire County
Council
Woking Borough Council

3,000,000

0.49%

17/04/2015

17/03/2016

17/04/2015

Tradition

3,000,000

0.40%

01/09/2015

01/03/2016

01/09/2015

Tradition

5,000,000

0.45%

08/04/2015

29/01/2016

08/04/2015

Tradition

Birmingham CC

3,000,000

0.45%

22/04/2015

22/01/2016

22/04/2015

Tradition

Monmouthshire Council

3,000,000

0.45%

16/04/2015

23/12/2015

16/04/2015

Tradition

Blackpool BC

3,000,000

0.40%

28/05/2015

30/11/2015

28/05/2015

Tradition

Total 39,000,000
Money Market Funds
Invesco

800,000

Variable

Call

Goldman sachs Govt

0

Variable

Call

Deutsche Global
(Henderson)

0

Variable

Call

5,000,000

Variable

Call

Goldman sachs

Total

5,800,000

Grand total 44,800,000

131

Appendix E

Forecast Interest 2015/16
Fund Managers @ 30/09/15
Royal London Asset Management
(Rlam)
Aberdeen Asset Management *

Quarter 1
15/16
Year end
forecast

Quarter 2
15/16
Year end
forecast

£’000

£’000

44

56

73

59

117

115

Note:* Aberdeen asset Management formerly known as Scottish Widows Investment Partnership
(SWIP).

Mkt Value Year end forcast @ 30/09/2015
Royal London Asset Management
(Rlam)
Aberdeen Asset Management *

132

Quarter 1
15/16
Year end
forecast

Quarter 2
15/16
Year end
forecast

£’000

£’000

11,853

11,874

9,548

9,548

21,401

21,422

Appendix F

Glossary of terms

Authorised Limit – Represents the limit beyond which borrowing is prohibited, and
needs to be set and revised by Members. It reflects the level of borrowing which,
while not desirable, could be afforded in the short term, but is not sustainable in the
longer term.
Boundary Limit – Is an estimate of the authorised limit but reflects an estimate of
the most likely, prudent, but not worst case scenario, without the additional
headroom included within the authorised limit to allow for example for unusual cash
movements.
CFR - Capital Financing Requirement- reflects the Council’s underlying need to
borrow for a capital purpose. It shows the total estimated capital expenditure that
has not been resourced from capital or revenue sources. This requirement will
eventually be met by revenue resources through the Minimum Revenue Provision
mechanism.
CIPFA Prudential Code - is a professional code of practice to support local
authorities in taking capital investment decisions. Local authorities determine their
own programmes for capital investment in fixed assets that are central to the delivery
of quality local public services in accordance with the Prudential Code.
Communities and Local Government (CLG) - Is a ministerial department,
supported by 12 agencies and public bodies. They are working to move decisionmaking power from central government to local councils. This helps put communities
in charge of planning, increases accountability and helps citizens to see how their
money is being spent.
Consumer price index (CPI) - measures changes in the price level of a market
basket of consumer goods and services purchased by households.
ECB - European Central Bank.
Fair value - Is defined as the amount for which an asset could be exchanged or a
liability settled, assuming that the transaction was negotiated between parties
knowledgeable about the market in which they are dealing and willing to buy/sell at
an appropriate price, with no other motive in their negotiations other than to secure a
fair price
FED - The Federal Reserve System (also known as the Federal Reserve, and
informally as the Fed) is the central banking system of the United States.
Financing Cost to Net Revenue Stream-The percentage of the revenue budget set
aside each year to service debt financing costs.

133

Appendix F
FLS - Funding for Lending Scheme (FLS) was launched by the Bank and HM
Treasury on 13 July 2012. The FLS is designed to incentivise banks and building
societies to boost their lending to the UK real economy.
Gilt - is a UK Government liability in sterling, issued by HM Treasury and listed on
the London Stock exchange.
Gross domestic product (GDP) - is the market value of all officially recognized final
goods and services produced within a country in a given period of time(usually the
fiscal year).
Local Authority Lender Option Borrower Option (LOBO) - The underlying loan
facility is typically very long-term - for example 40 to 60 years - and the interest rate
is fixed. However, in the LOBO facility the lender has the option to call on the
facilities at pre-determined future dates, such as every 5 years.
Local enterprise partnerships - Are partnerships between local authorities and
businesses. They decide what the priorities should be for investment in roads,
buildings and facilities in the area.
London Interbank Bid Rate - the rate at which banks will bid to take deposits in
Eurocurrency from each other. The deposits are for terms from overnight up to five
years.
MPC - Monetary Policy Committee Interest rates are set by the Bank's Monetary
Policy Committee. The MPC sets an interest rate it judges will enable the inflation
target to be achieved.
MRP - Minimum Revenue Provision- Is a provision the council has set-aside from
revenue to repay loans arising from capital expenditure financed by Borrowing.
Private Finance Initiative (PFI) - This is funding public infrastructure projects with
private capital.
PWLB - Public Works Loan Board - is a statutory body operating within the Debt
Management Office, an Executive Agency of HM Treasury.
PWLB certainty rate - A reduced interest rate from PWLB to principal local
authorities, which provided required information to government on their plans for
long-term borrowing and associated capital spending.
Quantitative easing (QE) -A government monetary policy occasionally used to
increase the money supply by buying government securities or other securities from
the market. Quantitative easing increases the money supply by flooding financial
institutions with capital, in an effort to promote increased lending and liquidity.
Voluntary Revenue Provision (VRP) – This a discretionary provision to reduce the
unfinanced capital expenditure (Borrowing) by additional loan repayments.

134

Agenda Item 100.
TITLE

School Admission Arrangements 2017/2018

FOR CONSIDERATION BY

The Executive on 18 February 2016

WARD

None specific

DIRECTOR

Judith Ramsden, Director of Children’s Services

LEAD MEMBER

Charlotte Haitham Taylor, Executive Member for
Children’s Services

OUTCOME / BENEFITS TO THE COMMUNITY
The school admission arrangements address the local authority’s statutory duty to
ensure that all school places for maintained schools and Academies (excluding special
schools) are allocated and offered in an open and fair way and comply with the School
Admissions Code and relevant regulations and legislation and support the council’s key
priorities.
The School Admissions Code (14) requires that in drawing up admission arrangements,
admission authorities must ensure that the practices and the criteria used to decide the
allocation of school places are fair, clear and objective. Parents should be able to look
at a set of arrangements and understand easily how places will be allocated.
RECOMMENDATION
That the Executive determines the 2017/2018 admission arrangements for community
and controlled schools and co-ordinated admission schemes as set out in the annexes
to this report.
SUMMARY OF REPORT
The main co-ordinated admission schemes apply to all state funded schools within the
Borough (including free schools and academies), and include the admission
arrangements for community and voluntary controlled schools. These schemes deal
with applications for entry to primary (F2 reception), junior (year 3) and secondary (year
7) schools. It also allows for co-ordination for middle schools within the primary scheme
and upper school entry specifically to year 9 and year 10 (e.g. university technology
colleges, The Forest School and selective schools) within the secondary scheme.
There is no longer a legal requirement to co-ordinate in-year admissions except to
community and voluntary controlled schools. The local authority has prepared an in-year
co-ordinated admissions scheme, which if adopted would apply to all community and
voluntary controlled schools; the participation of voluntary aided schools, free schools
and academies is subject to agreement by the individual trust/governing body.
Admission matters are reviewed and determined annually, subject to consultation unless
no changes are proposed.
A number of changes are proposed which required consultation and are detailed later in
this report.

135

Consultation on the proposed changes opened on December 7, 2015 and closed on
January 20, 2016. The consultation was available to view on the council’s website and
notified to neighbouring local authorities; The Dioceses of Oxford and Portsmouth; all
schools and early years settings with a request to notify parents of the consultation and
through the issuing of a press release and social media.
No responses to the consultation were received and therefore no changes will be
considered to the original proposed arrangements prior to determination.
The proposals contained in the report do not have any direct implications for the
Council’s capital or revenue budgets.

136

Background
Under the Education and Skills Act 2008 (as amended) and the statutory School
Admissions Code, admission authorities must consult annually on their admission
arrangements (or at least every seven years where no changes are proposed). The
Council is responsible for setting the admission arrangements for community and
voluntary controlled schools. Individual governing bodies are responsible for setting the
admission arrangements for the nine voluntary aided schools and nine academy/free
schools in the Borough. Wokingham consulted between December 7, 2015 and January
20, 2016. The local authority did not consult on any changes for 2016/17.
Local authorities must also agree co-ordinated schemes for school admissions in their
area. These provide that parents can apply to their home authority for admission to any
state-funded schools, including schools in other authorities, and receive a single offer of
a place. This applies to the main admission rounds for entry to primary; transfer from
infant to junior, and transfer from primary to secondary education. Applications are also
co-ordinated for middle and upper schools within the primary and secondary coordinated schemes. In addition the Council operates a co-ordinated scheme for in-year
applications for school places within its area. Whilst this scheme is no longer a
statutory requirement; clarification has been received from the Department for
Education that local authorities are required to co-ordinate for community and voluntary
controlled schools, and to those voluntary aided and academy/free schools which agree
to participate in the scheme. Currently all but one own admission authority schools in
the borough are included within the in-year co-ordinated scheme; the exception is
Earley St Peter’s CE Aided Primary School. This school is still required to notify the
local authority when an application is received and the outcome of that application.
The value of the in-year co-ordinated scheme is that it ensures that children who arrive
in the borough or whose parents wish to change school mid-year are swiftly allocated
school places, where possible in line with parental preference. Where a place cannot
be offered in line with parental preference, parents are notified of their statutory right to
appeal and allocated the most accessible school with places available. It further
ensures that multiple place offers are not held for one child, so maximising the potential
supply of places for all children. Without the in-year co-ordinated scheme alternative
arrangements would be required to monitor outcomes and to consider applications for
places at those schools where the Council administers admissions on behalf of the
school.
Admission arrangements for each school year must be decided by March 15 in the
previous year (one month earlier than in previous years due to the issuing of a revised
School Admissions Code on December 19, 2014. Therefore the 2017/2018
arrangements must be decided by March 15, 2016. Once decided, there is a statutory
duty to administer admissions strictly in accordance with the determined arrangements,
without variation except in prescribed circumstances to meet a change in school
organisation; a change in law, or to comply with a decision by the Office of the Schools
Adjudicator.
Determination of the co-ordinated admission schemes must be notified to the Secretary
of State for Education by March 15 in the previous year, failure to do so can mean that a
scheme is imposed on the local authority.
All determined admission arrangements for schools within its area must be sent to the

137

local authority to enable it to publish the details on its website and notify how objections
can be made by 15 March of the determination year.
Analysis of Issues
The changes proposed are:








Clarification to criterion B to make it clear that it applies to “families who have
exceptional medical or social needs as the grounds for their child’s admission to
a particular school”
Amendment to the residency requirements to meet criteria D and E
Amendment to the wording relating to Crown Servants following the issuing of
guidance by the Department for Education
Amendment to how we operate waiting lists and the requirement for parents to
confirm annually, at the end of each academic year, whether they wish their child
to remain on the waiting list for the following academic year
Proposal to increase the designated area of Nine Mile Ride Primary School to
include a small area of the borough identified as not currently included in the
designated area of any school
Proposal to prioritise two year olds attending school nurseries in the Foundation
Stage 1 (F1) admission policy.
Proposed timetable for co-ordinated schemes.

Clarification to oversubscription criterion B
It is proposed to clarify the wording of criterion B to make it clear that it applies to
“families who have exceptional medical or social needs as the grounds for their child’s
admission to a particular school”. Previously this referred to “children who have
exceptional medical or social needs as the grounds for their admission to a particular
school”. However note 2 suggested that we would consider evidence from an
independent professional aware of the case relating to the child, parent/carer or other
children living at the same address. As the criterion applies to families, it is proposed to
ensure that the wording is clear within the criterion.
Amendment to the residence requirements to meet oversubscription criteria D
and E
The residency requirements were the subject of an internal audit carried out in summer
2016 in response to parental concerns that school places may have been allocated
unfairly to children on the basis of misleading information provided by their parents
claiming to live within the designated area of schools for whom the local authority could
not allocate to every child within the designated area.
In response to the audit and to ensure that the wording is clear; this section has been
revisited and various minor amendments/additions are proposed namely:
The inclusion of the wording “An address will not be accepted where the child was
resident other than with a parent or carer unless this was part of a private fostering or
formal care arrangement.”
The inclusion of wording specifically related to circumstances where a family has more
than home. “Checks will be made to determine whether an address declared on the
application form is that of a second home with the main home being elsewhere. If there

138

are two or more homes, evidence will be required as to which is the main home showing
that the other property is either let out on a long term rental (6 months plus), that the
property is uninhabitable, or that the address is in the process of being sold and family
live permanently in the declared property. This evidence is required to prove where an
applicant was living at the time of making the application”.
Further clarification is proposed to the paragraph relating to moving to a house which is
within or nearer to the designated area of the preferred school to make it clear that this
is “after allocation”.
Clarification that applicants will be asked to declare that the address used is “expected
to be” their place of residence beyond the date of the pupil starting school. The audit
report suggested that parents in rental properties would have difficulty to state
categorically that the address would be their place of residence in September due to the
nature and timing of rentals. Furthermore, it is proposed to make clear that “in deciding
whether a place was allocated on the basis of a misleading or fraudulent application, an
admissions panel will consider any supporting evidence giving reasons why the move
as necessary prior to the child starting school”.
It is proposed to include under the list of further information that may be required “
the address where child benefit or other benefit (if applicable) is paid”.
Amendment to the wording relating to Crown Servants
The Department for Education issued guidance relating to Crown Servants. The
council’s policy has always included reference to Crown Servants within the section
relating to service families. Whilst Wokingham Borough Council has not had many
requests for admission as a returning Crown Servant; it is proposed to strengthen how
such applications will be considered as follows:
“Families of crown servants returning from overseas to live in the Wokingham borough
may apply for a place in advance of their move provided the application is accompanied
by an official letter confirming the posting to the UK and the expected relocation date.
Where a parent is unable to provide confirmation of a relocation address, an indication
of the area may be provided, narrowed down as far as possible, to which the family
intend to return. Preferences will be considered but applications will be considered
under criterion G (other children) until the parent is able to provide confirmation of the
new address such as proof of exchange of contracts or a signed rental agreement. If a
place cannot be offered at a preferred school; no alternative school will be offered until
confirmation of the relocation address within the borough is received but the right of
appeal will be advised.
It is the responsibility of parents to keep the school admissions team informed of any
changes to their planned address during the application process.
For information, the measuring point for service families with an assignment order to
move to the service accommodation has been expanded to state that “in the absence of
a new home postal address, the authority will use the former Hazebrouck Barracks (coordinates: Easting 476869 and Northing 166249) as the postal address to determine
distance to a preferred school.”

139

Clarification to waiting lists
An amendment is proposed to how we operate waiting lists and the requirement for
parents to confirm annually, at the end of each academic year, whether they wish their
child to remain on the waiting list for the following academic year in accordance with the
School Admissions Code.
Proposal to increase the designated area of Nine Mile Ride Primary School
Children’s Services seeks to ensure that all areas within the borough are included within
the designated area of at least one school to enable families to receive priority to that
school.
A small area has been identified which is not included within the designated area of any
school in the borough and it seeks to address this anomaly by its inclusion within the
designated area of Nine Mile Ride Primary School.
The area in question includes Spring Gardens at the bottom of Church Lane. We are
proposing to incorporate the area not covered by Finchampstead CE Aided Primary
School into the designated area of Nine Mile Ride and to redraw the line at this point to
follow the Devil’s Highway as a defined geographical feature.
As the northern section of the designated area of Finchampstead CE Aided Primary
School follows the Devil’s Highway, it is proposed to redraw the southern section of the
Nine Mile Ride to at least this line to incorporate land not included in the admission
arrangements of Finchampstead CE Aided Primary School.
No further changes to designated areas are proposed, therefore subject to the above,
designated areas agreed as part of the 2016/2017 admission arrangements will be
applied to 2017/2018.
Proposal to prioritise two year olds attending school nurseries in the Foundation
Stage 1 (F1) admission policy
The council previously agreed a specific criterion as part of the Foundation Stage 1 (F1)
admissions policy to prioritise two year olds admitted to school nurseries. It is
proposed, to ensure continuity in early years education, to remove that criterion and
clarify the policy as follows:
“Some nurseries or foundation stage units might admit children after they become two
years old if they are entitled to the free extended provision. Where there are more
applications than places available children who are entitled to the free extended
provision will be ranked according to the following oversubscription criteria detailed
under the heading “Allocation of places (oversubscription criteria)” above.
Where any criterion is oversubscribed, children will be ranked according to the straight
line distance that they live from the school with priority being given to children who live
closest to the school.
Once such children are placed on roll at a nursery, they will be automatically entitled to
take up a three year old place and the number of places for three year olds will reduce.”

140



Date changes to the co-ordinated schemes

The proposed timetable for the co-ordinated schemes is below and the proposed
arrangements have been changed to reflect it.
PROPOSED TIMETABLE CO-ORDINATED ADMISSION SCHEMES 2017/2018
Date
Action
July 9, 2016

State-funded schools to provide school information to enable
composite prospectus to be compiled

By September 11,
2016

Application packs for secondary transfer to be distributed via
primary schools and on request

By September 12,
2016

Composite prospectus published on council’s website

September 11,
2016

Online admissions open for applications for transfer to secondary
school

October 31, 2016*

National closing date for secondary transfer applications

November 26,
2016

Secondary transfer applications to be forwarded to Wokingham
Borough own admission authority schools for consideration

November 2016

Application packs to be posted for entry to primary to parents who
are either attending Wokingham borough early years’ settings or
who have registered with the school admissions team or who are
transferring to junior school to be distributed via infant schools or on
request,

November 12,
2016

Online admissions open for applications for entry to primary and
transfer to junior school

January 15, 2017*

National closing date for evidence to be provided to meet
Wokingham Borough Council criteria for those transferring to
secondary school; transferring to junior school; or starting school.

January 15, 2017

Ranked lists to be submitted to the local authority by own admission
authority schools for secondary transfer

February 10, 2017

Entry to primary and junior transfer applications to be forwarded to
Wokingham Borough own admission authority schools for
consideration

February 16, 2017

SEN Team to inform parents of pupils transferring to secondary
school or to junior school with statements of special education need
of their allocated school

By February 28,
2017

Appeals timetable published to website (own admission authority
schools will publish details on the school’s website)

March 1, 2017

National secondary offer day – letters posted by first class post

141

March 15, 2017

Secondary transfer:
Deadline for accepting the offer of a place
Late applications to be processed
Waiting list information available

March 15, 2017

Ranked lists to be submitted to the local authority by own admission
authority schools for the entry to primary and junior transfer

March 30, 2017

Closing date for notification of a secondary appeal to be heard
together

March 31, 2017

Final co-ordination with other local authorities for entry to primary
and junior school transfer

April 18, 2017
(next working day)

National offer day for primary applications for those starting school
and transfer to junior school offer day – letters posted by first class
post

May 3, 2017

Entry to primary and junior transfer:
Deadline for accepting the offer of a place
Late applications to be processed
Waiting list information available

May 18, 2017

Closing date for notification of an entry to primary or junior transfer
appeal to be heard together

End May/early
June 2017

Local authority to advise schools of final allocation details

May/June 2017

Secondary appeals to be heard in accordance with published
timetable

June/July 2017

Starting school and junior transfer appeals to be heard in
accordance with published timetable

* Dates may change to the next working day if the School Admissions Code is revised
permitting national closing dates to be adjusted if the date falls on a weekend.

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS OF THE RECOMMENDATION
The Council faces severe financial challenges over the coming years as a result
of the austerity measures implemented by the Government and subsequent
reductions to public sector funding. It is estimated that Wokingham Borough
Council will be required to make budget reductions in excess of £20m over the
next three years and all Executive decisions should be made in this context.
How much will it
Cost/ (Save)
Current Financial
Year (Year 1)
Next Financial Year
(Year 2)
Following Financial
Year (Year 3)

Is there sufficient
funding – if not
quantify the Shortfall

Revenue or
Capital?

None

n/a

None

n/a

None

n/a

142

Other financial information relevant to the Recommendation/Decision
The proposals contained in the report do not have any direct implications for the
Council’s capital or revenue budgets.
Cross-Council Implications
The School Admissions Code expects admission arrangements to promote sustainable
travel and equal access to educational opportunities, in providing a fair system of school
admissions that allows families to express school preferences and to access places at
local schools.
Robust and fair admission arrangements mitigate the risk of unforeseen additional
revenue and capital costs to the local authority and individual schools arising as a
consequence of successful admission appeals.

List of Background Papers
Proposed admission arrangements
School Admissions Code 2014 and School Admissions Appeals Codes (2012) and
associated School Admissions Regulations.
Service
Children’s Services
Email
alan.stubbersfield@wokingham.gov.uk
Version No. 2.0

Contact
Alan Stubbersfield
Telephone No 07963 785829
Date

22 January 2016

143

This page is intentionally left blank

APPENDIX A

Children’s Services

Draft Co-ordinated Schemes for Admission to
Primary and Secondary Schools
Incorporating Wokingham Borough Council’s
proposed Admission Policies for community and
voluntary controlled schools
For entry to schools in

2017/2018
CONTENTS
Page

Section A: Introduction (including scheme timetable)

2

Section B: Scheme for primary schools

5

Section C: Scheme for secondary schools

19

Section D: Scheme for new school inclusion in
co-ordinated schemes

29

Section E: Relevant area

31

Section F: Proposed change to the designated area of
Nine Mile Ride Primary School

145

A)

DRAFT CO-ORDINATED ARRANGEMENTS FOR SCHOOL ADMISSIONS
FOR ENTRY FROM SEPTEMBER 2017 TO AUGUST 2018
INTRODUCTION

1

Purpose of the c-ordinated schemes

All local authorities are required by law to draw up schemes for co-ordinating admission
arrangements in the normal admission rounds for all state-funded (excluding special
schools) primary and secondary schools, including academies (but not special schools)
in their area.
The purpose of a co-ordinated scheme is to ensure that every parent of a child who
applies for a school place does so through their home authority and has an opportunity
to state their preferred school(s). Parents will receive a single offer of a school place and
parents will receive this offer on the day specified in their home authority’s scheme. The
aim is also to ensure that parents are treated fairly and consistently regardless of the
status of the school for which they make an application. Information will be exchanged
with other authorities if an application is received from an applicant living in that authority
or where parents living in the Wokingham Borough express a preference for schools in
another authority. So far as possible, this will enable parents to be given a single offer
of a school place even where their preferred schools are located in more than one local
authority area.
When drawing up admissions arrangements, the council and other admissions
authorities must ensure that their admissions criteria are clear, fair and objective, for the
benefit of all children, including those with special educational needs, disabilities or in
public care.
2

Timetable for consultation and decision

The 2016/2017 co-ordinated schemes were formulated by the local authority, in
consultation with other admission authorities and the Schools Admissions Forum.
Statutory consultation lasted at least eight weeks and was completed by March 1 2015.
Wokingham Borough Council is suggesting some minor changes to its admission
arrangements and will consult from December 7, 2015 to January 20, 2016 which meets
the requirement prescribed in the School Admissions Code to consult for at least six
weeks between October 1, 2015 and January 31, 2016. Included in the consultation is
the co-ordinated scheme for state funded schools which include the proposed dates for
co-ordination.
The final admission arrangements will then be considered and determined by the
Council’s Executive at its meeting on February 18, 2016, and notified to the Secretary of
State by the statutory deadline of February 28, 2016.
The table below summarises this process:

December 2, 2015

October 1, 2015 to
January 31, 2016

Prior consideration by the School Admissions Forum of proposed
changes to the co-ordinated scheme and admission policy for
community and voluntary controlled schools.
If changes are proposed or at least every seven years; a minimum
six week consultation between 1 October and 31 January of the year
before those arrangements are to apply. Applicable to the council
as admission authority for community and voluntary controlled
schools, and the Governing Bodies of Academy, Aided and

146

Page 2 of 34

January 31, 2016
January 27, 2016
February 18, 2016
February 28, 2016

3

Foundation Schools
Statutory date by which consultation must be completed
Further consideration by the Admissions Forum of the proposed
changes together with the outcome of the consultation, if applicable
Admissions arrangements to be considered and determined by
Council’s Executive
Statutory deadline for co-ordinated schemes to be determined and
notified to the Secretary of State

Admission Numbers

Children’s Services carries out a Net Capacity Assessment of all maintained schools in
Wokingham Borough (excluding Academies unless commissioned to do so) to
determine the Indicated Admission Number for individual schools. Admission authorities
must have regard to this number when identifying published intakes within their
admission arrangements. Wokingham Borough publishes the admission number (either
the Indicated Admission Number or, where a different intake is agreed in consultation
with the school’s governing body, the resulting Planned Admission Number) for all
community and voluntary controlled schools. Together with the admission numbers
determined by governing bodies for voluntary aided, academy and foundation schools,
these are published in the Parent’s Guide’s to Admissions which forms the authority’s
composite prospectus. The admission numbers proposed to apply for entry from
September 2017 are set out within the Primary and Secondary Co-ordinated Schemes
(pages 18 and 29).
4

Timetable for Co-ordinated Admissions Schemes 2017/2018

PROPOSED TIMETABLE CO-ORDINATED ADMISSION SCHEMES 2017/2018
Date
Action
July 9, 2016

State-funded schools to provide school information to enable
composite prospectus to be compiled

By September 11,
2016

Application packs for secondary transfer to be distributed via
primary schools and on request

By September 12,
2016

Composite prospectus published on council’s website

September 11,
2016

Online admissions open for applications for transfer to secondary
school

October 31, 2016*

National closing date for secondary transfer applications

November 26,
2016

Secondary transfer applications to be forwarded to Wokingham
Borough own admission authority schools for consideration

November 2016

Application packs to be posted for entry to primary to parents who
are either attending Wokingham borough early years’ settings or
who have registered with the school admissions team or who are
transferring to junior school to be distributed via infant schools or on
request,

November 12,
2016

Online admissions open for applications for entry to primary and
transfer to junior school

147

Page 3 of 34

January 15, 2017*

National closing date for evidence to be provided to meet
Wokingham Borough Council criteria for those transferring to
secondary school; transferring to junior school; or starting school.

January 15, 2017

Ranked lists to be submitted to the local authority by own admission
authority schools for secondary transfer

February 10, 2017

Entry to primary and junior transfer applications to be forwarded to
Wokingham Borough own admission authority schools for
consideration

February 16, 2017

SEN Team to inform parents of pupils transferring to secondary
school or to junior school with statements of special education need
of their allocated school

By February 28,
2017

Appeals timetable published to website (own admission authority
schools will publish details on the school’s website)

March 1, 2017

National secondary offer day – letters posted by first class post

March 15, 2017

Secondary transfer:
Deadline for accepting the offer of a place
Late applications to be processed
Waiting list information available

March 15, 2017

Ranked lists to be submitted to the local authority by own admission
authority schools for the entry to primary and junior transfer

March 30, 2017

Closing date for notification of a secondary appeal to be heard
together

March 31, 2017

Final co-ordination with other local authorities for entry to primary
and junior school transfer

April 18, 2017
(next working day)

National offer day for primary applications for those starting school
and transfer to junior school offer day – letters posted by first class
post

May 3, 2017

Entry to primary and junior transfer:
Deadline for accepting the offer of a place
Late applications to be processed
Waiting list information available

May 18, 2017

Closing date for notification of an entry to primary or junior transfer
appeal to be heard together

End May/early
June 2017

Local authority to advise schools of final allocation details

May/June 2017

Secondary appeals to be heard in accordance with published
timetable

June/July 2017

Starting school and junior transfer appeals to be heard in
accordance with published timetable

148

Page 4 of 34

* Dates may change to the next working day if the School Admissions Code is revised
permitting national closing dates to be adjusted if the date falls on a weekend.

B)

CO-ORDINATED ARRANGEMENTS FOR PRIMARY ADMISSIONS

1

Overview of the scheme

The primary admission arrangements (including applications for Foundation 2 (F2)
reception and children transferring to year 3 in a junior school will operate on the basis
of the Government’s recommended model of an equal preference scheme. This
arrangement allows each preference to be considered individually, taking account of the
admissions criteria. Where a child can potentially be offered a place at more than one of
the preferred schools the single offer is for the school ranked highest by the parent.
Information may be exchanged with other authorities if an application is received from
an applicant living in that authority or where a Wokingham borough resident expressed a
preference for schools outside the borough. In all cases, parents applying to
Wokingham Borough council will receive the offer of a school place on the offer date
prescribed in the council’s timetable. If a place cannot be offered at any of the preferred
schools, a place will be offered at:
a) the designated area school (if there are places available) or
b) the most accessible school with places.
Children’s Services will create a pupil database of pupils (born 1 September 2012 to 31
August 2013) living in the Wokingham borough for the distribution of application forms,
comprised largely of information provided by requests for school application packs and
information provided from the Council’s early years’ provider records. Parents who live
in other local authority areas, but who wish to express a preference for a Wokingham
borough school, should contact their home authority for details on how to register for an
application pack from their authority.
Schools may take pupil details if a school visit takes place for their records but this is not
part of the application procedure. Parents can register their child’s details with the
school admissions team to receive an application pack, which will include a common
application form allowing parents to rank up to four schools in their order of preference.
This includes preferences for own admissions authority schools e.g. academies,
voluntary aided and foundation schools. Where reference is made in this scheme to
academies, this includes free schools.
Preferences may also be expressed for new academies where there is agreement by
the sponsor to do so; a proposed scheme is included in Appendix D.
Borough residents can also make applications online, via the Council’s website. These
will be treated in the same way as the paper version of the preference form, save for
variations reflecting that this is an electronic process. For example, online forms will be
submitted and processed by Children’s Services, and verification will where possible be
done by electronic means (for example, using other data held by the Council). Except
where stated otherwise, references to the common application form in this scheme
should be taken to refer to both the electronic and paper versions. Where more than
one application is received the LA will accept the application with the latest date.
Parents will be asked to express up to four preferences in ranked order and to give
reasons for these preferences if they wish to do so.

149

Page 5 of 34

Parents will complete the common application form and return it to Children’s Services
by the agreed deadline. Acknowledgement cards will be issued with the common
application form. Where a parent completes and returns this stamped and addressed,
they will receive postal confirmation of the receipt of their form. Children’s Services will
record receipt of the form and validate the application (checking proof of address by
reference to Council Tax records). For online applications, validation where possible
will also be electronic, for example by reference to other data held by the Council.
Children’s Services will forward all preferences for own admission authority schools
within the borough for consideration by their governing body or academy trust board, in
accordance with their admissions criteria. School admission authorities apply their
admission criteria and these schools will then forward their ranked lists to Children’s
Services within an agreed timescale.
Children’s Services will send other local authorities details of applications for their
schools in February 2017. Own admission authority schools apply their admission
criteria and send their own local authority a list indicating the order in which all children
applying have priority by reference to oversubscription criteria.
Children’s Services will draw up similar lists for the community schools in the area,
applying all preferences on an equal basis. Children’s Services will compare the lists for
all schools in the area. Where a child qualifies for one of the available places at more
than one school Children’s Services will provisionally allocate a place at the school
ranked highest by the parent in their application.
The lists will be adjusted for any other school for which a preference was expressed,
moving another child who was previously not eligible for a place up the list to the
provisional place that has been vacated.
By end-March Children’s Services will have received notifications from other local
authorities of places that can be offered by schools in their areas in response to
preferences expressed by one of their residents.
If a place at a preferred school cannot be offered by Children’s Services to cross-border
applicants, an alternative place will not be considered as the home local authority will be
making an offer.
If Wokingham local authority and another local authority can both offer places, the
authorities will determine the place to be allocated on the basis of the ranked
preferences. Children’s Services will send final lists of pupils to be allocated places to
schools in the area.
On April 18, 2017, Children’s Services will write to all parents resident in Wokingham
borough who completed an application form, informing them of their child’s allocated
school place. It will be stated if the offer is being made on behalf of a school that is its
own admission authority. If parents have applied online, the results may be viewed.
Where a preference cannot be offered, parents will be informed of the reason why and
offered the right to appeal the decision.
Those children not offered places at schools ranked higher than the school offered will
be placed on a waiting list for the relevant school(s).
Offers will be accompanied by an acceptance form. A facility to accept offers online will
be available. Parents will be advised that if they fail to accept an offer of a place by May
3, 2017, the offer will be withdrawn after one further written reminder being issued. This
part of the scheme is important in allowing early identification of spare places at

150

Page 6 of 34

oversubscribed schools, which can then be allocated to from waiting lists.
The scheme will not affect the duty of governors of academy, foundation and voluntary
aided schools to set and apply their own admission arrangements. Schemes are an
administrative process to make school admissions easier, more transparent and less
stressful for parents. They are not designed to require all admission authorities in an
area to operate the same oversubscription criteria and each local authority (or school
governing body where relevant) will determine their own criteria and consult upon them
accordingly.
Wokingham Borough Council’s scheme for primary co-ordination will reflect the
mandatory requirements of the School Admissions Code.
2

Nursery and Foundation One (F1) Admissions

Admissions to state-funded nursery schools and classes are not part of the co-ordinated
admissions scheme for primary schools, and are administered locally by the school
concerned.
Wokingham Borough Council has, as part of its admission arrangements for community
and voluntary controlled primary and infant schools schools, proposed a policy for
admission to F1 nursery classes or foundation stage units. Individual schools managing
such admissions locally are to do so in accordance with the model policy.
Admission to F1 nursery classes at state-funded schools, or other early years’ providers
at, or linked to particular schools, including co-located children’s centres, does not
guarantee or give any priority for admission to primary education at that school. An
application for F2 Reception must be made by completing the common application form.
3

Timing of entry to Primary Education

The local authority will offer all children a full time school place from the September
following their fourth birthday. For 2017/2018, applications will be considered for
children born between 1 September 2012 and 31 August 2013.
Parents may request that their child attends part-time until the child reaches compulsory
school age, the start of the first school term after their fifth birthday. Parents may defer
their child’s admission to the school until later in the school year or until the child
reaches compulsory school age in that school year. Where parents choose to defer
their child’s admission, or take up the place part-time but later wish to increase it to fulltime, before their child has reached statutory school age, this must be discussed with
the Headteacher to agree the effective date.
Where parents do not wish to take up the allocated place until the next school year, the
place will not be held. A fresh application would have to be made and there would be no
guarantee that a place would be available at the school.
Children are normally allocated to their chronological year group. Where a parent
considers that their summer-born child (with birthdays between1 April to 31 August) will
not be ready to start school in their chronological year group and would like their child to
work a year behind; each admissions authority would consider such requests in
accordance with their policy relating to admission outside the normal age group. (The
council’s is shown on page 8).

151

Page 7 of 34

4.
Applications for Academy, Foundation or Voluntary Aided Schools (own
admission authority schools)
The co-ordinated admissions scheme does not affect the duty of the governors of
academy, foundation or aided schools to set and apply their own admissions
arrangements. These schools continue to be able to operate their own admissions
criteria, which are required to be clear, fair and objective.
The Parent’s Guide for primary school admissions will include the agreed admissions
policies of all own admission authority schools within the Wokingham borough. Parents
will be provided with a single source of information setting out the admissions criteria for
all schools in the borough for which applications can be made under the scheme.
Own admission authority schools can, if they need to prepare an additional
supplementary form to be completed with the common application form if they require
further information in order for them to allocate places at their school against their own
admissions criteria. Own admission authority schools will make these additional forms
available to Children’s Services at a time agreed within the co-ordinated scheme and on
their websites.
It is the responsibility of the parent to ensure that any supplementary forms are
completed and returned to the school in accordance with its policy when expressing a
preference for an academy, aided or foundation school. The forms will be available on
the council’s and school websites or on request. The common application form must be
returned to Children Services.
The governing bodies or admissions committees of own admission authority schools will
need to meet within the timescales defined in the scheme in order to process the
applications they have received. If oversubscribed, Children’s Services will require the
governors to produce a brief statement which will explain to applicants (and future
appellants) how and why places have been allocated. Children’s Services will send this
statement out with all refusal letters.
Publicity / Information
Details of the agreed scheme for entry to primary education will be publicised in
advance and full details of the arrangements will be published in the Parent’s Guide to
Primary School Admissions. This guide will be published on the council’s website by
September 12, 2016. It is the responsibility of parents to ensure that they register their
child’s details with the school admissions team either on paper or online in order to
receive an application pack. The school admissions team will liaise with early years’
settings in publicising the admissions round.
The common application form is the sole application method for parents resident in the
Borough seeking a place in an infant/primary school. Applicants for own admission
authority schools will need to complete the common application form, but these schools
will be able to request additional documents to support applications in order to comply
with their admissions arrangements.
6

Detailed arrangements of the scheme

Admission outside normal age group
Children are normally allocated to their chronological year group. Requests from
parents for school places outside a normal age group will be considered carefully

152

Page 8 of 34

whether for gifted and talented pupils or for those who have experienced problems, e.g.
having missed education due to ill health, etc.
Each case will be considered on its own merits and circumstances and will only be
agreed by a panel of officers from Children’s Services where there is consensus
between the parents, schools concerned (both current and preferred) and any relevant
professionals asked for their opinion by the panel, that to do so would be in the pupil’s
interests. Parents will be informed of their statutory right to appeal. This right does not
apply if they are offered a place in another year group at the school.
Requests for summer born children to be admitted outside normal age group
Where a parent considers that their summer-born child (with birthdays between 1 April
to 31 August) will not be ready to start school in their chronological year group and
would like their child to work a year behind; each admissions authority would consider
such requests in accordance with their policy relating to admission outside the normal
age group.
In order that such requests (supported by evidence from relevant professionals) can be
fully considered, the parent will be asked to submit their request together with an
application for the normal age group by the deadline. This ensures that if the request is
refused, the child’s application for preferred schools will not be disadvantaged and the
request can be considered appropriately including the views of the preferred schools
either prior to the offer date or after. The parent will be informed of the implications of
making such a request.
If the request is agreed, their application for the normal age group may be withdrawn
before a place is offered. If their request is refused, the parent must decide whether to
accept the offer of a place for the normal age group, or to refuse it and make an in-year
application for admission to year one for the September following the child’s fifth
birthday. Where a parent’s request is agreed, they must make a new application as part
of the main admissions round the following year. Requests to continue working out of
normal age group would need to be made whenever the child moves schools.
An admissions panel will make decisions for community and voluntary controlled
schools based on the circumstances of each case and in the best interests of the child
concerned. (Where preferences are expressed for own admission authority schools, the
parent must submit information to each school for consideration.) Consideration will
include taking account of the parents’ views; information about the child’s academic,
social and emotional development; where relevant, the child’s medical history and the
views of a medical professional; whether they have previously been educated out of
their normal age group; and whether they may naturally have fallen into a lower age
group if it were not for being born prematurely. The views of the head teacher of the
school concerned and the child’s early years setting will also be taken into account.
When informing a parent of the decision on the year group to which the child should be
admitted, the parent will be notified of the reasons for the decision and where possible,
the decision will be made prior to the offer date for the child’s chronological year group.
Where it is agreed that a child will be admitted out of the normal age group and, as a
consequence of that decision, the child will be admitted to a relevant age group (i.e. the
age group to which pupils are normally admitted to the school) the local authority and
admission authority must process the application as part of the main admissions round
on the basis of their determined admission arrangements only, including the application
of oversubscription criteria where applicable.

153

Page 9 of 34

The parent has a statutory right to appeal against the refusal of a place at a school for
which they have applied. This right does not apply if they are offered a place at the
school but it is not in their preferred age group.
Pupils with a Statement of Special Educational Needs or an Education, Health and
Care (EHC) Plan
Admissions arrangements for pupils with a statement of special educational need or
EHC plan will continue to be managed by the Special Educational Needs Team.
Parents are invited to complete the common application form and where identified,
preferences will be shared with the Special Educational Needs Team.
Non Wokingham residents wishing to apply for WBC schools
These applicants must use the common application form for their home authority (the
authority to whom they pay council tax).
Wokingham residents wishing to apply for non-Wokingham schools
Conversely, application must be made to Wokingham Borough Council in accordance
with their timetable and application deadline.
Multiple offers
Multiple offers are eliminated under these arrangements but parents remain free to
make applications to the independent sector. There is one exception where a proposed
new academy is included in the scheme to enable parents to express a preference for
the school. The school will be removed for allocation and offer purposes from the
scheme where the Department for Education has not given final approval for the school
to open by a date to be agreed with the proposer but by the date specified. In such
cases, the applications for the proposed new school will be considered outside the
scheme in accordance with Appendix D.
Co-ordination will take place with other local authorities who will be asked to share
information on their residents who apply for schools in the Borough and conversely
Wokingham will share information on parents living in the Borough applying for schools
outside the Borough, in order to ensure where possible, that only one offer will be
issued.
Appeals
All applicants who were not allocated a preferred school will be informed of their right of
appeal. Appeals against the decision not to admit a child should be sent on the
appropriate appeal form within 20 school days from the date of the letter refusing a
place. Children’s Services will ensure that appeals are arranged for the Borough’s
community and voluntary controlled schools. The governing bodies of own admission
authority schools must determine their own appeal arrangements, although they may
choose to do so via the local authority. Applicants will be informed where the admission
of additional children would breach the infant class size limit.
The local authority will not consider any further application for admission, nor is there
any automatic right to a further appeal for admission within the same academic year
(September 1 to August 31) unless there is an exceptional situation resulting in a
significant change of circumstances relevant to the application.
Appeals are normally heard for the year group applied for, to start in that year group; if a

154

Page 10 of 34

parent wishes to appeal for the next year group (applicable after the May half-term prior
to a September start), a parent will be asked to submit a new application form for that
year group. The later application will supersede the previous application. Children’s
Services can then ensure that there are no new circumstances to take into consideration
prior to the issuing of a letter refusing the school place.
Waiting lists
Waiting lists will be maintained by the local authority for its schools where necessary for
children not offered a school place at a preferred school until the end of year 2 (infant
schools) or year 6 (primary schools) to fill places that may become available during the
school year. No account is taken of the length of time spent on a waiting list.
Positions on waiting lists may go up or down due to pupil withdrawals or new or revised
applications received; therefore waiting lists will be reviewed and revised:





Each time a child is added to, or removed from, the waiting list
When a child’s changed circumstances will affect their priority
When parents respond to periodic requests to see if they wish to remain on the
waiting list
At the end of a school year; should there be a change in the determined
oversubscription criteria

Children who are the subject of a direction by the local authority to admit or who are
allocated to a school in accordance with a Fair Access Protocol will take precedence
over those on a waiting list.
Parents will be asked to inform Children’s Services if they wish to remain on waiting lists
and will receive requests annually to notify if they wish their child’s name to remain on
the waiting list for the next academic year. Where no response is received by the
deadline, the child’s name will be removed from the waiting list. At all other times, it is
the responsibility of parents to ensure that the school admissions team is informed in
writing if they want their child’s name to be removed from the waiting list or if their
circumstances have changed from the original application.
When the normal round of admissions closes (August 31) for F2 Reception and transfer
to year 3 in a junior school, the waiting list will transfer to own admission authority
schools on 31 December 2017, unless the governing body indicates that they want the
local authority to hold their lists and there is agreement to this.
Waiting list information will be available in accordance with the published timeline.
Applications made after the closing date but before offer date
The closing date for applications for school places in the normal admission round will be
January 15, 2017. Children’s Services will, as far as possible, accept applications that
are received ‘late’ for a good reason, e.g. when a single parent has been ill for some
time, or a family has just moved into the area or is returning from abroad, provided they
are received before January 15, 2017. Changes to existing applications received after
January 15, 2017 will be considered as ‘late’ and considered after the allocation.
If no evidence is provided it will be reasonably assumed that an application could have
been made by the closing date and the application will not be processed until after the
offer date and main allocation of places.
These late applications will be processed by the date given in the scheme.

155

Page 11 of 34

Applications made after the offer date but before August 31, 2017
All late applications will be processed by the application of the admissions criteria where
necessary. Where possible a place will be offered at a preferred school with places
available. If this cannot be achieved a place will be allocated at the designated area
school (if there are places available) or the most accessible school to the home address
with vacancies if they live in the Wokingham borough. No offer will be made to those
children living in outside of the borough as it is the responsibility of the home authority to
provide a school place. Parents retain the right of appeal.
Change of preference
Parents who wish to amend their application before the closing date will be allowed to
do so as long as they put their request in writing to the school admissions team or
amend their online application by the closing date.
Parents who wish to amend their application after the closing date should put their
request in writing to the school admissions team. No consideration will be given to their
request until after the offer date.
It should be noted that if an alternative school place has been allocated by the local
authority as no parental preference received by the closing date could be met, that any
changes of preference can adversely affect access to assistance with school transport.
Admission to Junior Schools
These arrangements will be managed centrally by Children’s Services. Using existing
data, Children’s Services will pre-print application forms for all year 2 pupils, living in the
Wokingham borough, registered at Wokingham borough infant schools in October 2016.
These forms will be sent to parents via their infant school in November 2016 together
with information on schools, timeline and process map and information advising parents
where they can access the Parent’s Guide to transferring into year 3 of a junior school in
Wokingham borough on the website or request a hard copy. Forms will also be
available from Children’s Services for any other parents living in the Wokingham
borough of children in year 2 wishing to apply to transfer to borough junior schools
including those on year 2 waiting lists.
Consideration will only be given to any preference expressed for a primary school after
the May half-term 2017 in accordance with the in-year co-ordinated scheme.
Parents of children living outside the borough may apply for a Wokingham borough
school using the application provided by their home authority.
Parents will apply for a place at a junior school by the same deadline as for first
admission to infant and primary schools. Children’s Services will issue all offer and
refusal letters as detailed in the authority’s timetable. Parents will be offered the right of
appeal if necessary.
All other details relating to late applications; waiting lists, oversubscription criteria etc.
are as detailed in the infant/primary scheme.
Admission to middle schools in other local authorities
These arrangements will be managed centrally by Children’s Services. A separate
application will be available for parents wishing to apply for a place for a middle school

156

Page 12 of 34

in another local authority. Each local authority will accept applications in the same way
as it would for its own normal admissions round. Co-ordination will be held with the
maintaining local authority who will apply their co-ordinated scheme. The maintaining
local authority will inform Wokingham Borough Council if a place is to be offered in one
of its schools and Wokingham Borough Council will inform the parent of the outcome of
the application.
Oversubscription Criteria
Children with statements of special educational needs or an Education Health and Care
Plan that name a school in the statement or plan are required to be admitted to the
school that is named. The governing body does not have the right to refuse admission.
The following oversubscription criteria in order of priority will be applied when a
community or voluntary controlled school receives more preferences than places
available. All preferences will be treated on an equal basis.
A

‘Looked after children and children who were looked after, but ceased to be so
because they were adopted or became the subject of a child arrangements order
or special guardianship order’ (previously looked after children) (see note 1).

B

Families who have exceptional medical or social needs as the grounds for their
child’s admission to a particular school (see note 2).

C

For junior school applications to transfer to year 3; children who are attending the
infant school with close links with the junior school by the deadline for
applications.
Junior school
Linked infant school
Emmbrook Junior School
Emmbrook Infant School
Gorse Ride Junior School
Gorse Ride Infant School
Oaklands Junior School
Oaklands Infant School
Polehampton CE Junior School
Polehampton CE Infant School
Robert Piggott CE Junior School
Robert Piggott CE Infant School
St Pauls CE Junior School
Walter Infant School
Shinfield St Mary’s CE Aided Junior Shinfield Infant School
School*
Westende Junior School
Wescott Infant School
Willow Bank Junior School
Willow Bank Infant School
*Voluntary aided junior school included for completeness - the school’s
governing body’s admissions policy will apply.

D

Children whose permanent home address is inside the schools’ designated area
and who has a sibling at the school at the time of application; who is expected to
be attending the school when the child will enter the school. (See notes 3, 4 and
5)

E

Children whose permanent home address is inside the schools’ designated area.
(See note 3)

F

Children whose permanent home address is outside the schools’ designated
area and who has a sibling at the school at the time of application; who is
expected to be attending the school when the child will enter the school. (See
notes 4 and 5)

157

Page 13 of 34

G

Other children

Note 1
A “looked after child” is a child who is (a) in the care of a local authority, or (b)
being provided with accommodation by a local authority in the exercise of their
social services function (see definition in section 22(1) of the Children Act 1989).
A previously looked after child is a child who was looked after by a local authority
but ceased to be so because they were adopted, or became the subject of a
child arrangements order or special guardianship order. This includes children
who were adopted under the Adoption Act 1976 (see section 12 adoption orders)
and children who were adopted under the Adoption and Childrens Act 2002 (see
section 46 adoption orders). It also includes children who have been provided
with child arrangement orders (previously known as residence orders) under the
provisions of section 14 of the Children & Families Act 2014 which amends
section 8 of the Children Act 1989 and children with a special guardianship order
appointing one or more individuals to be a child’s special guardian under section
14A of the Children Act 1989.
Applications received under the Criterion A must be made by the person with
parental responsibility for the child (e.g. the child’s social worker, acting on behalf
of the local authority for a looked after child) and will need to be supported by the
following official documentation, as applicable:



confirmation by the home local authority that the child is looked after or
confirmation by the local authority that last looked after the child confirming
that the child was looked after immediately prior to the issuing of one of the
orders detailed above.

Note 2
When submitting applications under criterion B (exceptional medical or social
needs as grounds for a child’s admittance to a particular school), this must be
supported by written evidence from an independent professional aware of the
case relating to the child, parent/carer or other children living at the same
address (e.g. doctor, hospital consultant or psychologist for medical grounds or
registered social or care worker, housing officer, the police or probation officer
for social needs). This evidence must be specific to the school in question; it
must show why that school is the most suitable; what facilities will benefit the
child, and why no other school can offer the same support.
Your application cannot be considered if you do not declare that you are applying
under this criterion and you do not provide written independent professional
evidence. All supporting documentation must be received by 15 January 2017
for consideration prior to the main allocation of places. An admissions panel will
consider the supporting evidence provided and will advise the applicant of its
decision; the panel’s decision is final. Any evidence received by the school
admissions team after 15 January will not be taken into account in the main
allocation of places but will if agreed by panel; affect the applicant’s position on a
school’s waiting list after offer day.

It should be noted that all schools have the resources to work with special
educational needs and common childhood complaints such as asthma or
allergies.

158

Page 14 of 34

Note 3
The designated area for The Coombes CE Primary School has been revised to
include a second priority designated area (currently the single designated area
for Farley Hill Primary School). Applicants from the first priority designated area
and the shared area will be allocated places before those living in the second
priority designated area. The tiebreaker will be applied to each area to
determine who is allocated a place should there be more applicants than places
in either priority areas or the shared area.
Note 4
A sibling is a brother or sister (that is, another child of the same parents, whether
living at the same address or not), or a half-brother or half-sister, step-brother or
step-sister, or adopted or foster children living at the same address.
F1 siblings attending a school nursery or foundation stage unit cannot be
considered under this criterion.
It includes children who at the time of application have a sibling for whom the
offer of a place at the preferred school has been accepted, even if the sibling is
not yet attending.
In the case of linked infant and junior schools, the application will be treated as
meeting criteria D or F if the child’s sibling is expected to be at either of the two
schools at the time the child would enter the school. At the initial allocation,
when a parent is applying for a Reception place at an infant school that has both
a feeder and a sibling link to a junior school and that child has a sibling currently
attending Year 2 of the infant school but who will have left by the time the
younger child starts, the Reception applicant will be considered under the sibling
criterion as part of the initial allocation. This is because, due to the feeder link,
they will be expected to still have a sibling at the linked junior school at the time
of admission and the parent would have made an application expressing their
preference to do so.
Note 5
Occasionally a parent with more than one child can express a preference for
their designated area school(s) for the older child, but the local authority is
unable to meet this preference. The local authority will then allocate a place at a
lower ranked preferred school or the closest available school with places. In this
case, the parent may then prefer to send younger sibling(s) to the same school
as the older child attends. In such instances, the allocated school may be
regarded as if it were the designated area school for subsequent siblings and
would be treated as meeting criterion C (sibling resident inside the designated
area). Parents must notify the school admissions team at the time of application
that they consider this exception applies. Where there is an application for the
actual designated area school(s), designated area status would still be applied.
The authority has sought to make the above criteria as objective as possible. However
for category B and any other cases where judgement is needed as to which criteria the
application meets, a panel of at least two officers will consider the application and
supporting evidence. The panel’s decision and reasons will be recorded, for the
purposes of informing the parent and any subsequent appeal.

159

Page 15 of 34

Tie Breaker
Priority will be given within criterion C (linked infant and junior schools) to children living
within the designated area, then siblings, before applying the tie breaker below (For tie
breaker purposes within criterion C, designated area and siblings are defined as in
criteria E and F).
Priority will be given within any of the above oversubscription criteria to the applicant
whose permanent home address is nearest to the preferred school in terms of radial
(straight line) distance. Distances will be measured consistently and will be measured
as a straight line between the Local Land and Property Gazetteer (LLPG) address points
for the respective home address and school, using the Easting and Northing for each
address point. These are then used to calculate the distance, to three decimal points,
between the two address points using a ‘direct distance mathematical routine’ within the
Capita ONE system used by the council’s School Admissions Team into which the LLPG
address points are imported. This calculates the distance from the values created
through this process using Pythagoras’ Theorem by measuring the distance in metres
between the Easting and Northing for each end address point then multiplied by
0.000621317 to convert to miles. It should be noted that this calculation may not be
exactly the same as that created by a Geographical Information System (GIS) product
as the GIS product may build in a formula to allow for the curvature of the earth. This
curvature does not begin to affect distance values until the distance is least 10 miles.
In the unlikely event that two or more children live at the same distance (measured as
stated above) from school (including for example, flats within the same building) and
there are fewer places available, random allocation will be used to decide which child
will be allocated the remaining place(s). This will be by supervised drawing of lots,
carried out by at least two Children’s Services staff members.
Designated Area
The designated area for each community and voluntary controlled school is held
electronically and can be viewed through the council’s website. These electronic maps
have been adopted as the definitive descriptions of primary school designated areas for
the purposes of admission arrangements and oversubscription criteria.
Living in the designated area does not guarantee a school place, as there may be more
applications from parents living in the designated area than places available.
Residency Requirements
Home address
Applications are processed on the basis of the child’s single permanent home address
living with parent(s) or a carer/legal guardian at the closing date for applications. An
address will not be accepted where the child was resident other than with a parent or
carer unless this was part of a private fostering or formal care arrangement.
Checks will be made to determine whether an address declared on the application form
is that of a second home with the main home being elsewhere. If there are two or more
homes, evidence will be required as to which is the main home showing that the other
property is either let out on a long term rental (6 months plus), that the property is
uninhabitable, or that the address is in the process of being sold and the family live
permanently in the declared property. This evidence is required to prove where an
applicant was living at the time of making the application.

160

Page 16 of 34

Reference to council tax records will be made to determine a single address for
consideration of a place under criteria C or D. It is for the applicant to satisfy the local
authority that they live at the address stated.
After allocation, if an applicant moves from the property they have used in their
application to another property which is within or nearer to the designated area of the
preferred school; the address of the property they originally owned and declared on
application will be the address used for determining their designated area, unless this
house has been sold or rented out for 12 months prior to the closing date for
applications.
Applicants will be asked to declare that the address used is expected to be their place of
residence beyond the date of the pupil starting school. Applicants are required to advise
of any change of circumstance at any time prior to the child starting school. If you do
not declare such arrangements, or a different address is used on the application where
the child does not usually live; it will be considered that a false declaration has been
made and it may be decided to decline to offer a place at a particular school, or to
withdraw the offer of a place. In deciding whether a place was allocated on the basis of
a misleading or fraudulent application, an admissions panel will consider any supporting
evidence giving reasons why the move was necessary prior to the child starting school.
It is important to declare if there is to be a change of address prior to the child starting
school. If the applicant already own a property which is in the process of being sold, we
are able to accept the address of the new property only on submission of the
appropriate evidence in support e.g. exchange of contracts letter on both the new
property and, where possible, disposal of their current property. The deadline for
submission of evidence to support a move is January 15, 2017. If the move takes place
later or evidence is submitted later, the local authority will only be able to consider this
information after the initial allocation of places has taken place and treat the new
address for waiting list purposes.
A temporary address cannot be used to obtain a school place. Temporary addresses will
only be considered where evidence is provided of a genuine reason for the move e.g.
flooding or subsidence.
The local authority reserves its right to carry out further investigation and require
additional evidence and to reject applications or withdraw offers of places, if it believes it
has the grounds to do so. In such cases, the applicant will have recourse to putting their
application through the independent appeals process.
Split living arrangements
Where a family claims to be resident at more than one address, justification and
evidence of the family’s circumstances will be required e.g. formal residence order, child
arrangements order or legal separation documentation. The application must be
completed by the parent, at an address which is owned, leased or rented, where the
child lives for the majority of the school week. This is based on the number of school
nights a child spends at the home (Sunday night 1800hrs to Friday 0900hrs).
Where there is an equal split or there is any doubt about residence, the School
Admissions Team will assess and make a judgment about which address to use for the
purpose of the allocation of a school place where necessary requesting further
information e.g.



any legal documentation confirming residence
the pattern of the residence

161

Page 17 of 34







the period of time over which the current arrangement has been in place
confirmation from any previous school or early years setting of the contact
details and home address supplied to it by the parents
the address where child benefit or other benefit (if applicable) is paid
where the child is registered with the GP
any other evidence the parents may supply to verify the position

It is recommended that consensus is reached by both parents and child on the school
preferences to be expressed and it should be noted that only one offer letter will be sent
to the main applicant unless otherwise requested and agreed by both parents.
The information provided to determine the home address to be used will be considered
by an admissions panel of at least two officers and their decision is final.
Applicants from abroad
An application for a school place can be made from applicants applying for a school
place for their child from abroad, provided that they can provide evidence of their right of
abode. The address used will be the address where the child is living at the closing date
for applications unless evidence is provided that the family is returning to a property that
they own in the borough by January 15, 2017. Third party written evidence confirming
the details and timing of the relocation will be required. Adjustments will be made to any
waiting lists, if the family returns later, prior to the start of school. Further advice on the
documentation required can be obtained from the School Admissions Team.
Service Families
Families of UK service personnel who are not yet living in the area will be able to make
an application if it is accompanied by an assignment order declaring a relocation date
and intended address. In the absence of a new home postal address, the authority will
use the former Hazebrouck Barracks (co-ordinates: Easting 476869 and Northing
166249) as the postal address to determine distance to a preferred school. A letter from
the Commanding Officer or garrison headquarters will be required confirming the living
arrangements for families who are being housed at the army quarters at Arborfield but
are assigned to another base.
Returning Crown Servants
Families of crown servants returning from overseas to live in the Wokingham borough
may apply for a place in advance of their move provided the application is accompanied
by an official letter confirming the posting to the UK and the expected relocation date.
Where a parent is unable to provide confirmation of a relocation address, an indication
of the area may be provided, narrowed down as far as possible, to which the family
intend to return. Preferences will be considered but applications will be considered
under criterion G (other children) until the parent is able to provide confirmation of the
new address such as proof of exchange of contracts or a signed rental agreement. If a
place cannot be offered at a preferred school; no alternative school will be offered until
confirmation of the relocation address within the borough is received but the right of
appeal will be advised.
It is the responsibility of parents to keep the school admissions team informed of any
changes to their planned address during the application process.

162

Page 18 of 34

Multiple births or children with birth dates in the same academic year
Where the application of oversubscription criteria results in splitting twins or other
siblings from a multiple birth in the same school year; places will be offered even if this
will result in the school going above admission number.
Where the application of oversubscription criteria results in children with dates of birth in
the same school year in the same family, places will be offered even if this will result in
the school going above the admission number with one exception; where to do so will
result in the school breaching infant class size legislation at Key Stage 1 (e.g. class size
must not break 30 children to 1 qualified teacher). In this instance, the places will be
allocated by the drawing of lots carried out by at least two Children’s Services staff
members. In such instances, parents will be offered the place and will need to decide
whether they wish their children to be split or consider placement together at an
alternative school after allocation.
9

Applications after the normal admissions rounds (In-Year applications)

A separate scheme has been proposed to co-ordinate admissions outside of the normal
admissions rounds.

163

Page 19 of 34

10

Admission Numbers for 2016/2017

PRIMARY SCHOOLS

Aldryngton Primary School
All Saints CE Primary School (Aided)**
Bearwood Primary School
Beechwood Primary School
Charvil Piggott Primary School (part of The
Piggott School)**
Colleton Primary School, The
Coombes CE School, The
Crazies Hill CE Primary School
Earley St Peter’s CE Primary School (Aided)**
Emmbrook Infant School
Emmbrook Junior School
Evendons Primary School**
Farley Hill Primary School
Finchampstead CE Primary School (Aided)**
Floreat Montague Park Primary School*****
Gorse Ride Infant & Nursery School
Gorse Ride Junior School
Grazeley Parochial CE Primary School (Aided)**
Hatch Ride Primary School
Hawkedon Primary School
Hawthorns Primary School, The
Highwood Primary School
Hillside Primary School
Keep Hatch Primary School
Lamb’s Lane Primary School
Loddon Primary School, The
Nine Mile Ride Primary School
Oaklands Infant School
Oaklands Junior School
Polehampton CE Infant School
Polehampton CE Junior School
Radstock Primary School
Rivermead Primary School
Robert Piggott CE Infant School
Robert Piggott CE Junior School
Shinfield Infant & Nursery School
Shinfield St Mary’s CE Junior School (Aided)**
Sonning CE Primary School (Aided)***
South Lake Primary School
St Dominic Savio Catholic Primary School
(Aided)**
St Nicholas CE Primary School
St Paul’s CE Junior School
St Sebastian’s CE Primary School (Aided)**
St Teresa’s Catholic Primary School (Aided)**
Walter Infant School
Wescott Infant School
Westende Junior School
Wheatfield Primary School**
Whiteknights Primary School
Willow Bank Infant School
Willow Bank Junior School

PUBLISHED Admission No.
ADMISSION indicated by Net
NUMBER
Capacity
Assessment***
45
45
45
45
40
36
45
45
30****
-

164

60
75
15
70
60
64
50
30
17
60
60
64
30
30
90
60
30
60
60
30
60
50
60
62
60
60
60
60
45
49
90
63
30
60
60

37*
75
15
70
60
60
26
17
58
60
12
30
70*
61
30
60
60
34
60
50
60
60
52
60
60
53
40
40
60*
43
30
60
60

20
96
24
45
90
56
60
30
60
60
60

20
96
24
34
86
50
60
60
60
60

Page 20 of 34

Windmill Primary School**
Winnersh Primary School
Woodley CE Primary School

30
60
45

60
44

There is no longer a requirement to consult on an increase in admission numbers for
individual schools. This table may be amended when admission arrangements are
determined, including any school net capacity assessments reviewed during 2015-2016.
In some cases, there may be proposals associated with schemes for school expansion
which require separate statutory determination. These expansions are subject to
separate consultation in parallel with consultation on school admission arrangements. If
the school expansions are not approved prior to the determination of the local authority’s
admission arrangements; the original admission number as stated in this table will be
determined, but this may be varied at a later stage (as a permitted variation) to
implement the school expansion proposals, if approved. Admission numbers may also
be increased by the admission authority after determination where there is due to an
unforeseen major change in circumstances.
*These net capacities were carried out prior to the school expansions.
**Own admission authority schools included for completeness but admission numbers
will determined by the school’s governing body.
***Net capacity assessments are regularly reviewed with schools but include revised
numbers were agreed. Net capacity assessments are not included for academies, as
the number of places to be provided is determined by the Secretary of State in each
academy’s Funding Agreement.
****Charvil Piggott Primary School is part of The Piggott School (age range 4-18). The
admission number shown reflects the number in the primary phase of the school.
*****Floreat Montague Park Primary School is an Academy which is expected to open in
September 2016 included for completeness.

165

Page 21 of 34

C)

CO-ORDINATED ARRANGEMENTS FOR SECONDARY ADMISSIONS
FOR ENTRY FROM SEPTEMBER 2017 TO AUGUST 2018

1

Overview of the co-ordinated scheme

The secondary admission arrangements will operate on the basis of the Government’s
recommended model of an equal preference scheme. This arrangement allows each
preference to be considered individually, taking account of the admissions criteria.
Where a child can potentially be offered a place at more than one of the preferred
schools the single offer is for the school ranked highest by the parent. Information may
be exchanged with other authorities if an application is received from an applicant living
in that authority or where a Wokingham borough resident expressed a preference for
schools outside the borough. In all cases, parents applying to Wokingham Borough
Council will receive the offer of a school place on the offer date prescribed in the
Council’s timetable. If a place cannot be offered at any of the preferred schools, a place
will be offered at:
b) the designated area school (if there are places available) or
b) the most accessible school with places.
Common application forms and information will be distributed to Year 6 pupils via their
primary school, and documentation will be provided by the relevant local authority for
their home address. Borough residents can also request to receive an application pack
via the council’s website.
Borough residents can also make applications online, via the Council’s website. These
will be treated in the same way as the paper version of the preference form, save for
variations reflecting that this is an electronic process. For example, online forms will be
submitted and processed by Children’s Services, and verification will where possible be
done by electronic means (for example, using other data held by the Council). Except
where stated otherwise, references to the common application form in this scheme
should be taken to refer to both the electronic and paper versions. Where more than
one application is received the LA will accept the application with the latest date.
Parents will be asked to express up to four preferences in ranked order and to give
reasons for these preferences if they wish to do so.
Parents will complete the common application form and return it to Children’s Services
by the agreed deadline. Acknowledgement cards will be issued with the common
application form. Where a parent completes and returns this stamped and addressed,
they will receive postal confirmation of the receipt of their form. Children’s Services will
record receipt of the form and validate the application (checking proof of address by
reference to Council Tax records). For online applications, validation where possible
will also be electronic, for example by reference to other data held by the Council.
Children’s Services will forward all preferences for own admission authority schools
within the borough for allocation by their governing bodies, in accordance with their
admissions criteria. School admission authorities apply their admission criteria, including
any selection tests and these schools will then forward their ranked lists to Children’s
Services within an agreed timescale.
Children’s Services will send other local authorities details of applications for their
schools in November 2016. Own admission authority schools apply their admission
criteria, including any selection tests, and send their own local authority a list indicating
the order in which all children applying have priority by reference to oversubscription
criteria.

166

Page 22 of 34

Children’s Services will draw up similar lists for the community schools in the area,
applying all preferences on an equal basis. Children’s Services will compare the lists for
all schools in the area. Where a child qualifies for one of the available places at more
than one school Children’s Services will provisionally allocate a place at the school
ranked highest by the parent in their application.
The lists will be adjusted for any other school for which a preference was expressed,
moving another child who was previously not eligible for a place up the list to the
provisional place that has been vacated.
By mid-February Children’s Services will have received notifications from other local
authorities of places that can be offered by schools in their areas in response to
preferences expressed by one of their residents.
If a place at a preferred school cannot be offered by Children’s Services to cross-border
applicants, an alternative place will not be considered as the home local authority will be
making an offer.
If Wokingham local authority and another local authority can both offer places, the
authorities will determine the place to be allocated on the basis of the ranked
preferences. Children’s Services will send final lists of pupils to be allocated places to
schools in the area.
On March 1, 2017, Children’s Services will write to all parents resident in Wokingham
Borough who completed an application form, informing them of their child’s allocated
school place. It will be stated if the offer is being made on behalf of a school that is its
own admission authority. If parents have applied online, the results may be viewed.
Where a preference cannot be offered, parents will be informed of the reason why and
offered the right to appeal the decision.
Those children not offered places at schools ranked higher than the school offered will
be placed on a waiting list for the relevant school(s).
Offers will be accompanied by an acceptance form. A facility to accept offers online will
be available. Parents will be advised that if they fail to accept an offer of a place by
March 15, 2017, the offer will be withdrawn after one further written reminder being
issued. This part of the scheme is important in allowing early identification of spare
places at oversubscribed schools, which can then be allocated to from waiting lists.
The scheme will not affect the duty of governors of academy, foundation and voluntary
aided schools to set and apply their own admission arrangements. Schemes are an
administrative process to make school admissions easier, more transparent and less
stressful for parents. They are not designed to require all admission authorities in an
area to operate the same oversubscription criteria and each local authority (or school
governing body where relevant) will determine their own criteria and consult upon them
accordingly.
Wokingham Borough Council’s scheme for secondary co-ordination will reflect the
mandatory requirements of the School Admissions Code.
2
Detailed arrangements of the scheme
Admission outside the normal age group
Children are normally allocated to their chronological year group. Requests from
parents for school places outside a normal age group will be considered carefully

167

Page 23 of 34

whether for gifted and talented pupils or for those who have experienced problems, e.g.
having missed education due to ill health, etc.
Each case will be considered on its own merits and circumstances and will only be
agreed by a panel of officers from Children’s Services where there is consensus
between the parents, schools concerned (both current and preferred) and any relevant
professionals asked for their opinion by the panel, that to do so would be in the pupil’s
interests. Parents will be informed of their statutory right to appeal. This right does not
apply if they are offered a place in another year group at the school.
Pupils with a Statement of Special Educational Needs or an Education, Health
and Care (EHC) Plan
Admissions arrangements for pupils with a statement of special educational need or
EHC plan will continue to be managed by the Special Educational Needs Team.
Parents are invited to complete the common application form and where identified,
preferences will be shared with the Special Educational Needs Team.
Appeals
Parents may appeal for any school where their application has been unsuccessful. All
unsuccessful applicants will be informed of their right of appeal. Appeals against the
decision not to admit a child should be sent on the appropriate appeal form within 20
school days from the date of the letter refusing a place. Children’s Services will ensure
appeals are arranged for community schools in the Borough. Own admission authority
schools must determine appeal arrangements for their school.
The local authority will not consider any further application for admission, nor is there
any automatic right to a further appeal for admission within the same academic year
(September 1 to August 31) unless there is an exceptional situation resulting in a
significant change of circumstances relevant to the application.
Appeals are normally heard for the year group applied for, to start in that year group; if a
parent wishes to appeal for the next year group (applicable after the May half-term prior
to a September start), a parent will be asked to submit a new application form for that
year group. The later application will supersede the previous application. Children’s
Services can then ensure that there are no new circumstances to take into consideration
prior to the issuing of a letter refusing the school place.
Waiting lists
Waiting lists will be maintained by the local authority for all schools where necessary for
children not offered a school place at their preferred school until September 30 of year
10 to fill places that may become available during the school year. No account is taken
of the length of time spent on a waiting list.
Positions on waiting lists may go up or down due to pupil withdrawals or new or revised
applications received; therefore waiting lists will be reviewed and revised:

168

Page 24 of 34







Each time a child is added to, or removed from, the waiting list
When a child’s changed circumstances will affect their priority
When parents respond to periodic requests to see if they wish to remain on the
waiting list
At the end of a school year; should there be a change in the determined
oversubscription criteria
Children who are the subject of a direction by the local authority to admit or who
are allocated to a school in accordance with a Fair Access Protocol will take
precedence over those on a waiting list.

Parents will be asked to inform Children’s Services if they wish to remain on waiting lists
and will receive requests annually to notify if they wish their child’s name to remain on
the waiting list for the next academic year. Where no response is received by the
deadline, the child’s name will be removed from the waiting list. At all other times, it is
the responsibility of parents to ensure that the school admissions team is informed in
writing if they want their child’s name to be removed from the waiting list or if their
circumstances have changed from the original application.
If own admission authority schools have stated that they operate waiting lists in their
policies, the waiting list will transfer to the school on 31 December 2017, unless the
governing body indicates that they want the local authority to hold their lists and the local
authority agrees to this.
Waiting list information will be available in accordance with the published timeline.
Applications made after the closing date but before offer date
The closing date for applications for school places in the normal admission round will be
October 31, 2016 for secondary schools. Children’s Services will, as far as possible,
accept applications that are received ‘late’ for a good reason, e.g. when a single parent
has been ill for some time, or a family has just moved into the area or is returning from
abroad, provided they are received before January 15, 2017. Changes to existing
applications received after January 15, 2017 will be considered as ‘late’ and considered
after the allocation.
If no evidence is provided it will be reasonably assumed that an application could have
been made by the closing date and the application will not be processed until after the
offer date and main allocation of places.
These late applications will be processed by the date given in the scheme.
Applications made after the offer date but before August 31, 2017
All late applications will be processed by the application of the oversubscription criteria
where necessary. Where possible a place will be offered at a preferred school with
places available. If this cannot be achieved a place will be allocated at the designated
area or most accessible school to the home address with vacancies. Parents retain
their right of appeal.
Co-ordination with other local authorities will continue until August 31, 2017 in order to
eliminate multiple offers.

169

Page 25 of 34

Change of preference
Parents who wish to amend their application before the closing date will be allowed to
do so as long as they put their request in writing to the School Admissions Team or
amend their online application by the closing date.
Parents who wish to amend their application after the closing date should put their
request in writing to the School Admissions Team. No consideration will be given to
their request until after the offer date.
It should be noted that if an alternative school place has been allocated by the local
authority as no parental preference, received by the closing date, could be met, changes
of preference can adversely affect access to assistance with school transport.
Admission to upper schools (with an entry age after 11) e.g. year 9 or year 10
transfer
These arrangements will be managed centrally by Children’s Services. A separate
application will be available for parents wishing to apply for a place for schools which
have a separate admissions number in year 9 or year 10. Applications will be accepted
in the same way as it would for the normal admissions round. Co-ordination will be held
with other local authorities where preferences are expressed for schools in their area or
for preferences expressed for The Forest School, year 10. The maintaining local
authority will inform Wokingham Borough Council if a place is to be offered in one of its
schools and Wokingham Borough Council will do likewise if a place can be offered at
The Forest School. Wokingham Borough Council will inform its parents of the outcome
of their application.
Sixth Form Admissions
As with admissions at statutory school age, parental preference will be met where
possible. Admissions are managed by each school locally, but must comply with the
School Admissions Code. Wokingham Borough Council has proposed admissions
arrangements for community and voluntary controlled schools that include a model sixth
form admissions policy. Each school may modify that policy to set out course
requirements and criteria i.e. minimum entry qualifications, responsibility for which is
currently delegated to schools, together with any additional school-specific information.
Policies will be published in individual school prospectuses. Admission numbers are
published for sixth form admissions at community schools. The proposed model policy
is included as an annex to the co-ordinated scheme (annexe 3)
All applicants refused admission to school sixth forms are entitled to appeal to an
independent appeal panel.
Oversubscription Criteria (applicable to community secondary schools)
Children with statements of special educational needs or an Education, Health and Care
Plan that name a school in the statement or plan are required to be admitted to the
school that is named. The admissions authority does not have the right to refuse
admission.

170

Page 26 of 34

The following oversubscription criteria in order of priority have been agreed for
applications when a community secondary school (The Bulmershe, The Emmbrook or St
Crispin’s Schools) receives more preferences than places available. All preferences will
be treated on an equal basis.
A

‘Looked after children and children who were looked after, but ceased to be so
because they were adopted or became the subject of a child arrangements order
or special guardianship order’ (previously looked after children) (see note 1).

B

Families who have exceptional medical or social needs as the grounds for their
child’s admission to a particular school (see note 2)

C

Children whose permanent home address is inside the schools’ designated area
and who has a sibling at the school at the time of application; who is expected to
be attending the school when the child will enter the school (see notes 3 and 4)

D

Children whose permanent home address is inside the schools’ designated area

E

Children whose permanent home address is outside the schools’ designated
area and who has a sibling at the school at the time of application; who is
expected to be attending the school when the child will enter the school (see
notes 3 and 4)

F

Other children
Note 1
A “looked after child” is a child who is (a) in the care of a local authority, or (b)
being provided with accommodation by a local authority in the exercise of their
social services function (see definition in section 22(1) of the Children Act 1989).
A previously looked after child is a child who was looked after by a local authority
but ceased to be so because they were adopted, or became the subject of a
child arrangements order or special guardianship order. This includes children
who were adopted under the Adoption Act 1976 (see section 12 adoption orders)
and children who were adopted under the Adoption and Childrens Act 2002 (see
section 46 adoption orders). It also includes children who have been provided
with child arrangement orders (previously known as residence orders) under the
provisions of section 14 of the Children & Families Act 2014 which amends
section 8 of the Children Act 1989 and children with a special guardianship order
appointing one or more individuals to be a child’s special guardian under section
14A of the Children Act 1989.
Applications received under the Criterion A must be made by the person with
parental responsibility for the child (e.g. the child’s social worker, acting on behalf
of the local authority for a looked after child) and will need to be supported by the
following official documentation, as applicable:



confirmation by the home local authority that the child is looked after or
confirmation by the local authority that last looked after the child confirming
that the child was looked after immediately prior to the issuing of one of the
orders detailed above.

171

Page 27 of 34

Note 2
When submitting applications under criterion B (exceptional medical or social
needs as grounds for a child’s admittance to a particular school), this must be
supported by written evidence from an independent professional aware of the
case relating to the child, parent/carer or other children living at the same
address (e.g. doctor, hospital consultant or psychologist for medical grounds or
registered social or care worker, housing officer, the police or probation officer
for social needs). This evidence must be specific to the school in question; it
must show why that school is the most suitable; what facilities will benefit the
child, and why no other school can offer the same support.
Your application cannot be considered if you do not declare that you are applying
under this criterion and you do not provide written independent professional
evidence. All supporting documentation must be received by 15 January 2017
for consideration prior to the main allocation of places. An admissions panel will
consider the supporting evidence provided and will advise the applicant of its
decision; the panel’s decision is final. Any evidence received by the school
admissions team after 15 January will not be taken into account in the main
allocation of places but may if agreed by panel; affect the applicant’s position on
a school’s waiting list after offer day.

It should be noted that all schools have the resources to work with special
educational needs and common childhood complaints such as asthma or
allergies.
Note 3
A sibling is a brother or sister (that is, another child of the same parents, whether
living at the same address or not), or a half-brother or half-sister, step-brother or
step-sister, or adopted or foster children living at the same address.
It includes children who at the time of application have a sibling for whom the
offer of a place at the preferred school has been accepted, even if the sibling is
not yet attending.
Parents may indicate a sibling in year 11 at the school provided it is the intention
of the family that the child is due to continue their studies in the sixth form at the
school.
Note 4
Occasionally a parent with more than one child can express a preference for
their designated area school(s) for the older child, but the local authority is
unable to meet this preference. The local authority will then allocate a place at a
lower ranked preferred school or the closest available school with places. In this
case, the parent may then prefer to send younger sibling(s) to the same school
as the older child attends. In such instances, the allocated school may be
regarded as if it were the designated area school for subsequent siblings and
would be treated as meeting criterion C (sibling resident inside the designated
area). Parents must notify the school admissions team at the time of application
that they consider this exception applies. Where there is an application for the
actual designated area school(s), designated area status would still be applied.
The authority has sought to make the above criteria as objective as possible. However
for category B and any other cases where judgement is needed as to which criterion the

172

Page 28 of 34

application meets, a criterion the application meets, a panel of at least two officers will
consider the application and supporting evidence. The panel’s decision and reasons will
be recorded, for the purposes of informing the parent and any subsequent appeal.
Tie Breakers
Living in the designated area does not guarantee a school place as there may be more
applications from parents living in the designated area than places available. Where this
is the case, the relevant tiebreaker, as explained above, will be applied to decide which
of the applicants can be offered places, and waiting list order.
Priority will be given within any of the oversubscription criteria to the applicant whose
permanent home address is nearest to the preferred school in terms of radial distance.
Priority will be given within any of the above oversubscription criteria to the applicant
whose permanent home address is nearest to the preferred school in terms of radial
(straight line) distance. Distances will be measured consistently and will be measured
as a straight line between the Local Land and Property Gazetteer (LLPG) address points
for the respective home address and school, using the Easting and Northing for each
address point. These are then used to calculate the distance between the two address
points using a ‘direct distance mathematical routine’ within the Capita ONE system used
by the council’s School Admissions Team into which the LLPG address points are
imported. This calculates the distance from the values created through this process
using Pythagoras’ Theorem by measuring the distance in metres between the Easting
and Northing for each end address point then multiplied by 0.000621317 to convert to
miles. It should be noted that this calculation may not be exactly the same as that
created by a Geographical Information System (GIS) product as the GIS product may
build in a formula to allow for the curvature of the earth. This curvature does not begin to
affect distance values until the distance is least 10 miles.
In the unlikely event that two or more children live at the same distance or additional
distance (measured as stated above) from school (including, for example, flats within the
same building), and there are fewer places available, random allocation will be used to
decide which child will be allocated the remaining place(s). This will be by supervised
drawing of lots, carried out by at least two Children’s Services staff.
Designated Areas
The designated area for each school is now held electronically and can be viewed
through the Council’s website.
These electronic maps represent the definitive
descriptions of community secondary school designated areas for the purposes of
admission arrangements and oversubscription criteria.
Residency Requirements
Home address
Applications are processed on the basis of the child’s single permanent home address
living with parent(s) or a carer/legal guardian at the closing date for applications. An
address will not be accepted where the child was resident other than with a parent or
carer unless this was part of a private fostering or formal care arrangement.
Checks will be made to determine whether an address declared on the application form
is that of a second home with the main home being elsewhere. If there are two or more
homes, evidence will be required as to which is the main home showing that the other
property is either let out on a long term rental (6 months plus), that the property is

173

Page 29 of 34

uninhabitable, or that the address is in the process of being sold and the family live
permanently in the declared property. This evidence is required to prove where an
applicant was living at the time of making the application.
Reference to council tax records will be made to determine a single address for
consideration of a place under criteria C or D. It is for the applicant to satisfy the local
authority that they live at the address stated.
After allocation, if an applicant moves from the property they have used in their
application to another property which is within or nearer to the designated area of the
preferred school; the address of the property they originally owned and declared on
application will be the address used for determining their designated area, unless this
house has been sold or rented out for 12 months prior to the closing date for
applications.
Applicants will be asked to declare that the address used is expected to be their place of
residence beyond the date of the pupil starting school. Applicants are required to advise
of any change of circumstance at any time prior to the child starting school. If you do
not declare such arrangements, or a different address is used on the application where
the child does not usually live; it will be considered that a false declaration has been
made and it may be decided to decline to offer a place at a particular school, or to
withdraw the offer of a place. In deciding whether a place was allocated on the basis of
a misleading or fraudulent application, an admissions panel will consider any supporting
evidence giving reasons why the move was necessary prior to the child starting school.
It is important to declare if there is to be a change of address prior to the child starting
school. If the applicant already own a property which is in the process of being sold, we
are able to accept the address of the new property only on submission of the
appropriate evidence in support e.g. exchange of contracts letter on both the new
property and, where possible, disposal of their current property. The deadline for
submission of evidence to support a move is January 15, 2017. If the move takes place
later or evidence is submitted later, the local authority will only be able to consider this
information after the initial allocation of places has taken place and treat the new
address for waiting list purposes.
A temporary address cannot be used to obtain a school place. Temporary addresses will
only be considered where evidence is provided of a genuine reason for the move e.g.
flooding or subsidence.
The local authority reserves its right to carry out further investigation and require
additional evidence and to reject applications or withdraw offers of places, if it believes it
has the grounds to do so. In such cases, the applicant will have recourse to putting their
application through the independent appeals process.
Split living arrangements
Where a family claims to be resident at more than one address, justification and
evidence of the family’s circumstances will be required e.g. formal residence order, child
arrangements order or legal separation documentation. The application must be
completed by the parent, at an address which is owned, leased or rented, where the
child lives for the majority of the school week. This is based on the number of school
nights a child spends at the home (Sunday night 1800hrs to Friday 0900hrs).
Where there is an equal split or there is any doubt about residence, the School
Admissions Team will assess and make a judgment about which address to use for the

174

Page 30 of 34

purpose of the allocation of a school place where necessary requesting further
information e.g.








any legal documentation confirming residence
the pattern of the residence
the period of time over which the current arrangement has been in place
confirmation from any previous school or early years setting of the contact
details and home address supplied to it by the parents
the address where child benefit (if applicable) is paid
where the child is registered with the GP
any other evidence the parents may supply to verify the position

It is recommended that consensus is reached by both parents and child on the school
preferences to be expressed and it should be noted that only one offer letter will be sent
to the main applicant unless otherwise requested and agreed by both parents.
The information provided to determine the home address to be used will be considered
by an admissions panel of at least two officers and their decision is final.
Applicants from abroad
An application for a school place can be made from applicants applying for a school
place for their child from abroad, provided that they can provide evidence of their right of
abode. The address used will be the address where the child is living at the closing date
for applications unless evidence is provided that the family is returning to a property that
they own in the borough by January 15, 2017. Third party written evidence confirming
the details and timing of the relocation will be required. Adjustments will be made to any
waiting lists, if the family returns later, prior to the start of school. Further advice on the
documentation required can be obtained from the School Admissions Team.
Service Families
Families of UK service personnel who are not yet living in the area will be able to make
an application if it is accompanied by an assignment order declaring a relocation date
and intended address. In the absence of a new home postal address, the authority will
use the former Hazebrouck Barracks (co-ordinates: Easting 476869 and Northing
166249) as the postal address to determine distance to a preferred school. A letter from
the Commanding Officer or garrison headquarters will be required confirming the living
arrangements for families who are being housed at the army quarters at Arborfield but
are assigned to another base.
Returning Crown Servants
Families of crown servants returning from overseas to live in the Wokingham borough
may apply for a place in advance of their move provided the application is accompanied
by an official letter confirming the posting to the UK and the expected relocation date.
Where a parent is unable to provide confirmation of a relocation address, an indication
of the area may be provided, narrowed down as far as possible, to which the family
intend to return. Preferences will be considered but applications will be considered
under criterion G (other children) until the parent is able to provide confirmation of the
new address such as proof of exchange of contracts or a signed rental agreement. If a
place cannot be offered at a preferred school; no alternative school will be offered until
confirmation of the relocation address within the borough is received but the right of
appeal will be advised.

175

Page 31 of 34

It is the responsibility of parents to keep the school admissions team informed of any
changes to their planned address during the application process.
Multiple births or children with birth dates in the same academic year
Where the application of oversubscription criteria results in splitting twins, other siblings
from a multiple birth or siblings born in the same school year; places will be offered,
even if this will result in the school going above the admission number.
3

Applications after the normal admissions rounds (In-Year applications)

A separate scheme has been proposed to co-ordinate admissions outside of the normal
admissions rounds.
4

Admission numbers for 2017/2018
SECONDARY SCHOOLS

PUBLISHED
ADMISSION
NUMBER

Bohunt School Wokingham***
The Bulmershe
The Emmbrook
The Forest*
The Holt*
Maiden Erlegh*
Oakbank School*
The Piggott CE*
St Crispin’s
Waingels College*

180
240
210
200
210
278
112
203*
189
240

Admission No.
indicated by Net
Capacity
Assessment**
231
201
189
220

There is no longer a requirement to consult on an increase in admission numbers for
individual schools. This table may be amended when admission arrangements are
determined.
In some cases, there may be proposals associated with schemes for school expansion
which require separate statutory determination. These expansions are subject to
separate consultation in parallel with consultation on school admission arrangements. If
the school expansions are not approved prior to the determination of the local authority’s
admission arrangements; the original admission number as stated in this table will be
determined, but this may be varied at a later stage (as a permitted variation) to
implement the school expansion proposals, if approved. Admission numbers may also
be increased by the admission authority after determination where there is due to an
unforeseen major change in circumstances.
*Own admission authority schools included for completeness, this is subject to
determination by the individual school governing body / academy trust.
**Net capacity assessments are not included for academies, as the number of places to
be provided is determined by the Secretary of State in each academy’s Funding
Agreement.
***Proposed new school in Arborfield expected to open in September 2016 included for
completeness.

176

Page 32 of 34

D) SCHEME FOR NEW SCHOOL INCLUSION IN CO-ORDINATED SCHEMES
New schools may be included as part of the co-ordinated scheme where requested by
the sponsor and with the agreement of the local authority. Parents will have the
opportunity of applying for new schools as part of the co-ordinated admissions scheme
where initial approval is given by the Secretary of State for Education prior to the
production and publication of the Parent’s Guide (publication required by 12 September
in the year prior to entry).
Parents must apply to Wokingham Borough Council, by including the school(s) as a
preference on the application form as part of the co-ordinated admissions scheme. The
application must be returned, or submitted online, to Wokingham Borough Council by
the national closing dates: January 15, 2017 (primary) or October 31, 2016 (secondary).
Parents living in the Wokingham borough applying online will be able to select the
school(s) from the list of names. It will not be possible to select the school by the school
number as this is only issued after the signing of the Funding Agreement.
Parents applying for the school living outside the borough, will be able to do so outside
the co-ordinated admissions scheme by completing a Wokingham Borough Council
paper application and only listing the school as a preference. Preferences for other
state-funded (excluding special schools) Wokingham borough schools must be included
on the application form available from the home authority.
Applications will be forwarded to the sponsor for ranking purposes in line with the dates
within the scheme.
When final approval to open has been given by the Secretary of State for Education
made by the issuing of the Funding Agreement prior to March 24, 2017 (primary) or
January 29, 2017 (secondary); offers for the schools will be made by Wokingham
Borough Council on behalf of the academy trust board of each school on national offer
day and parents will be asked to confirm acceptance within 14 days.
If the Funding Agreement is not signed by the above date, the application for any
proposed school will then be considered outside the co-ordinated admissions scheme.
Preferences expressed for the proposed new schools will not impact on the application
to existing schools as part of the application process, other than by using a preference.
Parents will receive an offer of an existing established school on the national offer day,
taking into account the other school preferences listed on the application form, and
parents will be notified separately regarding their application for the proposed new
school(s) on the same date. As a result, parents may receive at least two school place
offers and parents will be asked to accept or decline the offer for the existing established
school place within 14 days. Letters will also be written by Wokingham Borough Council
on behalf of the schools to those parents who applied living outside the borough.
Two school place offers may be held until final approval has been given to open. The
school admissions team will notify parents holding a provisional place when a final offer
can be made and it is at that point that parents will be asked to confirm which school
place will be accepted; whether the child is to remain on any other preferred school
waiting lists or what alternative arrangements are being made for the child’s education.
If accepting a place at a new school, the original school allocation will be cancelled and
the waiting list will be used to allocate to the vacancy.
Parents living outside the borough will be notified when a final school place offer can be
made and if accepted, the local authority will then notify the home local authority of the
acceptance.

177

Page 33 of 34

If unsuccessful, parents will be notified of their right of appeal and given details on how
to do so.

E)

RELEVANT AREA

There is a statutory requirement for the local authority to set a ‘relevant area’ for
consultation on school admissions matters, and to review this every two years. The
relevant area may be either the local authority area, or may be a lesser or greater area,
provided that every part of the local authority’s area must be covered by one or more
such areas.
The local authority has previously decided that the relevant area should be co-terminus
with the Wokingham Borough boundary. This is in line with decisions taken by
neighbouring unitary authorities. This existing arrangement has worked well and cross
border issues have been addressed through reciprocal consultation and in some cases
by attending each other’s school admissions forums.
Consultation arrangements on the basis of the Relevant Area, taking account of
amendments to other legal requirements (introduced under the Education and Skills Act
2008), will be as follows:
Where Wokingham is the admissions authority, the authority will consult on its
admission arrangements with:








Wokingham School Admissions Forum (or alternative body if adopted)
All Wokingham Borough maintained community and voluntary controlled primary
and secondary schools
All own admission authorities schools within the Wokingham Borough
All neighbouring Local Education Authorities
Diocesan Authorities
Relevant parents
Other persons in the relevant area who in the opinion of the admission authority
have an interest in the proposed arrangements

In turn, where the governing body of a school in the borough is the admissions authority,
consultation on admissions arrangements should take place with:








The local authority
Wokingham School Admissions Forum (or alternative body if adopted)
All primary or secondary schools within the borough (except that primary schools
need not consult secondary schools)
Any other local authority whose area comes either within Wokingham’s relevant
area, or within 8 kilometres of the school if secondary, or 3.2 kilometres if
primary
Diocesan Authorities
Other persons in the relevant area who in the opinion of the admission authority
have an interest in the proposed arrangements
Relevant parents

178

Page 34 of 34

Primary School designated areas
Earley Neighbourhood
This map gives a guide to the
designated areas for Community
and Voluntary Controlled schools
in the Wokingham Borough that
use them in their over-subscription
criteria.

Aldryngton
Aldryngton
Aldryngton Primary
Primary
Primary
Primary
Aldryngton
Aldryngton
Aldryngton
Primary

If you require any further
information, please contact the
School Admissions team.

The
The
The Loddon
Loddon
Loddon Primary
Primary
Primary
Loddon
Primary
The
The
The
Loddon
Primary

179

Areas not identified may be
part of the designated area of
a Voluntary Aided school.
Voluntary Aided schools are
shown in blue for information
only - please refer to the policies
later in the guide.

Primary
Hawkedon
Hawkedon
Hawkedon Primary
Primary

Whiteknights
Whiteknights
Whiteknights Primary
Primary
Primary
Primary
Whiteknights
Whiteknights
Whiteknights
Primary

Hillside
Hillside
Hillside Primary
Primary
Primary
Primary
Hillside
Hillside
Hillside
Primary

© Crown copyright and database rights 2013 Ordnance Survey 100019592

Primary
Radstock
Radstock
Radstock Primary
Primary

This page is intentionally left blank

Primary School Designated Areas
Wokingham Town Neighbourhood
This map gives a guide to the
designated areas for Community
and Voluntary Controlled schools
in the Wokingham Borough that
use them in their over-subscription
criteria.
If you require any further
information, please contact the
School Admissions team.

Winnersh
Winnersh Primary
Primary
Primary
Winnersh
Primary
Winnersh
Winnersh
Primary

Wheatfield Primary
Primary
Wheatfield
Primary
Wheatfield
Primary
Wheatfield
Primary
Wheatfield

Emmbrook
Emmbrook Infant
Infant
Infant &
&
& Junior
Junior
Junior
Emmbrook
Infant
&
Junior
Emmbrook
Emmbrook
Infant
&
Junior

181

Areas not identified may be part of
the designated area of a Voluntary
Aided school or Academy. Voluntary
Aided schools or Academies are
shown in blue for information only please refer to the policies later in
the guide.

Bearwood
Bearwood Primary
Primary
Primary
Bearwood
Primary
Bearwood
Bearwood
Primary
Keephatch
Primary
Keephatch
Keephatch Primary
Primary
All
All Saints
Saints
Saints CE
CE
CE Aided
Aided
Aided Primary
Primary
Primary
All
Saints
CE
Aided
Primary
All
All
Saints
CE
Aided
Primary
The
The Hawthorns
Hawthorns
Hawthorns Primary
Primary
Primary
The
Hawthorns
Primary
The
The
Hawthorns
Primary
Walter
Infant
&
St
Paul's
CE
Junior
Walter Infant
Infant &
& St
St Paul's
Paul's CE
CE Junior
Junior
Walter
Infant
&
St
Paul's
CE
Junior
Walter
Walter
Infant
&
St
Paul's
CE
Junior
Windmill
Windmill
Windmill Primary
Primary
Primary
Wescott
Wescott Infant
Infant
Infant
Wescott
Infant
Wescott
Wescott
Infant

Westende
Westende Junior
Junior
Junior
Westende
Junior
Westende
Westende
Junior
St
St
St Teresas
Teresas
Teresas Catholic
Catholic
Catholic Primary
Primary
Primary

Evendons
Evendons Primary
Primary
Primary
Evendons
Primary
Evendons
Evendons
Primary

© Crown copyright and database rights 2013 Ordnance Survey 100019592

This page is intentionally left blank

Primary School Designated Areas

WOKINGHAM
BOROUGH COUNCIL

South West Neighbourhood
This map gives a guide to the
designated areas for Community
and Voluntary Controlled schools
in the Wokingham Borough that
use them in their over-subscription
criteria.
If you require any further
information, please contact the
School Admissions team.

183

1. Shared designated area
between Lambs Lane
Primary and Shinfield
Infant School.
2. Shared designated area
between Farley Hill and
The Coombes CE Primary.

3

3. Farley Hill Primary School
designated area and determined
area of 2nd priority for The
Coombes CE Primary School.
Areas not identified may be
part of the designated area of
a Voluntary Aided school.
Voluntary Aided schools are
shown in blue for information
only - please refer to the policies
later in the guide.

© Crown copyright and database rights 2013 Ordnance Survey 100019592

This page is intentionally left blank

Primary School Designated Areas
Woodley Neighbourhood
This map gives a guide to the
designated areas for Community
and Voluntary Controlled schools
in the Wokingham Borough that
use them in their over-subscription
criteria.
If you require any further
information, please contact the
School Admissions team.

2
Willow
Willow
Willow Bank
Bank
Bank Infant
Infant
Infant &
&
& Junior
Junior
Junior
Bank
Infant
&
Junior
Willow
Willow
Willow
Bank
Infant
&
Junior

185

1. Shared designated area
between Highwood and
Beechwood.

1
St
St
St Dominic
Dominic
Dominic Savio
Savio
Savio Catholic
Catholic
Catholic Primary
Primary
Primary
Dominic
Savio
Catholic
Primary
St
St
St
Dominic
Savio
Catholic
Primary
Woodley
Woodley
Woodley CE
CE
CE Primary
Primary
Primary
CE
Primary
Woodley
Woodley
Woodley
CE
Primary

2. Shared designated area between
Willow Bank Infant & Junior and a
Voluntary Aided School.
Beechwood
Beechwood
Beechwood Primary
Primary
Primary
Primary
Beechwood
Beechwood
Beechwood
Primary
Highwood
Highwood
Highwood Primary
Primary
Primary
Primary
Highwood
Highwood
Highwood
Primary

Areas not identified may be
part of the designated area of
a Voluntary Aided school.
Voluntary Aided schools are
shown in blue for information
only - please refer to the policies
later in the guide.

Rivermead
Rivermead
Rivermead Primary
Primary
Primary

South
South
South Lake
Lake
Lake Primary
Primary
Primary
Lake
Primary
South
South
South
Lake
Primary
Earley
Earley
Earley St
St
St Peter's
Peter's
Peter's CE
CE
CE Aided
Aided
Aided Primary
Primary
Primary
St
Peter's
CE
Aided
Primary
Earley
Earley
Earley
St
Peter's
CE
Aided
Primary

© Crown copyright and database rights 2013 Ordnance Survey 100019592

This page is intentionally left blank

Primary School Designated Areas
North Neighbourhood
This map gives a guide to the
designated areas for Community
and Voluntary Controlled schools
in the Wokingham Borough that
use them in their over-subscription
criteria.
If you require any further
information, please contact the
School Admissions team.
1. Shared designated area between
Polehampton CE Infant & Junior and
The Colleton Primary, a Voluntary Aided
school and an Academy.

Crazies
Hill
CE
Primary
Crazies
Crazies Hill
Hill CE
CE Primary
Primary

2. Designated area for Knowl Hill
Primary, Windsor and Maidenhead.
3. Shared designated area between
Polehampton CE Infant & Junior and
The Colleton Primary School.

2

No Window
Window
No

Robert
Robert Piggott
Piggott
Piggott CE
CE
CE Infant
Infant
Infant
Robert
Piggott
CE
Infant
Robert
Robert
Piggott
CE
Infant
Robert
Robert
Robert
Piggott
Piggott
CE
CE
Junior
Junior
Robert
Robert
Robert Piggott
Piggott
Piggott
Piggott CE
CE
CE
CE Junior
Junior
Junior
Junior

Dotted line indicates
Borough boundary

3
Polehampton
Polehampton CE
CE
CE Junior
Junior
Junior
Polehampton
CE
Junior
Polehampton
Polehampton
CE
Junior

1
Charvil
Piggott
Primary
Charvil
Charvil Piggott
Piggott Primary
Primary

Polehampton
CE
Infant
Polehampton
Polehampton CE
CE Infant
Infant

The
The
The
Colleton
Colleton
Primary
Primary
The
The
The Colleton
Colleton
Colleton
Colleton Primary
Primary
Primary
Primary

Sonning
Sonning CE
CE
CE Aided
Aided
Aided Primary
Primary
Primary
Sonning
CE
Aided
Primary
Sonning
Sonning
CE
Aided
Primary

St
Nicholas
CE
Primary
St
St Nicholas
Nicholas CE
CE Primary
Primary

Areas not identified may be part
of the designated area of a
Voluntary Aided school or Academy.
Voluntary Aided schools or Academies
are shown in blue for information
only - please refer to the policies
later in the guide.

187

© Crown copyright and database rights 2013 Ordnance Survey 100019592

This page is intentionally left blank

Wokingham secondary school
designated areas 2014/2015
This map gives a guide to the designated
areas for schools in the Wokingham
Borough that use them for their oversubscription criteria.

1. Shared designated area
between The Forest, The
Holt, The Emmbrook and
St. Crispin's.

If you require any further assistance,
please contact the School Admissions
Team.

2. Edgbarrow designated
area.
3. Shared designated area
between The Bulmershe
and Maiden Erlegh.

Academies are shown in blue.
They are their own admissions
authorities - please refer to the
policy shown later in the guide.
Map reflects Oakbank's site
and the designated area is
shown later in the guide.

The
The Piggott
Piggott School
School

Dotted line indicates
Borough boundary

4. Shared designated area
between The Piggott,
The Forest, The Holt,
The Emmbrook and
St Crispin's.

No Window

Waingels
Waingels College
College

4

The
The Bulmershe
Bulmershe School
School

Maiden
Maiden Erlegh
Erlegh School
School

3

The
The Forest
Forest School
School
The
The Emmbrook
Emmbrook School
School

1

The Holt
Holt School
School
The
St
St Crispin's
Crispin's School
School

Oakbank
Oakbank School
School

2

189
© Crown copyright and database rights 2013 Ordnance Survey 100019592

This page is intentionally left blank

SECTION F
Proposal No: RDA/2017/01

CONSULTATION ON PROPOSED
REALIGNMENT OF THE DESIGNATED
AREA OF NINE MILE RIDE PRIMARY
SCHOOL DESIGNATED AREA
SUBJECT TO BEING INCORPORATED INTO
CONSULTATION OF 2017/2018 ADMISSION
ARRANGEMENTS
PROPOSED EFFECTIVE DATE: 1 SEPTEMBER 2017

BRIEFING PAPER FOR GOVERNORS OF THE ABOVE
SCHOOLS, SCHOOL ADMISSIONS FORUM, AND
OTHER PARTIES IN THE RELEVANT AREA

Sue Riddick
School Admissions Lead Officer
Children’s Services
Version 1

191

Admission issues we are seeking to address Wokingham Borough Council seeks to ensure that all areas within the borough are
included within the designated area of at least one school to enable families to
receive priority to that school. It should be noted that the local authority cannot
guarantee that every child living in a school’s designated area will be offered a place
if expressed by a parent.
Wokingham Borough Council’s Children’s Services has identified that a small area is
not included within the designated area of any school in the borough and it seeks to
address this anomaly by its inclusion within the designated area of Nine Mile Ride
Primary School.
The area in question includes Spring Gardens at the bottom of Church Lane. We are
looking at incorporating the area not covered by Finchampstead CE Aided Primary
School into the designated area of Nine Mile Ride and to redraw the line at this point
to follow the Devil’s Highway as a defined geographical feature.
Proposed revision
It is proposed to include the area highlighted on the map which includes Spring
Gardens at the bottom of Church Lane into the designated area of Nine Mile Ride
Primary School.
The northern section of the designated area of Finchampstead CE Aided Primary
School follows the Devil’s Highway and it is proposed to redraw the southern section
of the Nine Mile Ride to at least this line to incorporate land not included in the
admission arrangements of Finchampstead CE Aided Primary School.
Our preference is to draw designated areas along rational boundaries (i.e.
topographical, political or transport features). We do not favour a minimal change
around existing property boundaries for the streets in question, as there are already
several examples of this pragmatic approach which over time undermine the overall
rationality of designated areas, and we will seek to avoid or remove in future reviews.
Therefore the proposed change meets this requirement.
This change will positively affect a small number of residences and so will not impact
significantly on the number of pupils at the schools.
Historically, Nine Mile Ride Primary School has admitted children within its
designated area together with a small number of children outside its designated area.
Therefore this proposed change is seen as a positive change to ensure that all
families have priority within the oversubscription criteria to at least one school.
Consultation – see the main Admissions Consultation document for details of how
and when to respond to this consultation. (Designated areas form part of the
admission arrangements, as oversubscription criteria). For details please contact
Sue Riddick (sue.riddick@wokingham.gov.uk or telephone 0118 974 6113), or view
the consultation: at www.wokingham.gov.uk/admissions.

192

Nine Mile Ride Current Designated Area

© Crown copyright and database rights 2013 Ordnance Survey 100019592

193

This page is intentionally left blank

Nine Mile Ride Proposed Designated Area

New
New areas
areas included
included

195

© Crown copyright and database rights 2013 Ordnance Survey 100019592

This page is intentionally left blank

Primary School Designated Areas
South East Neighbourhood - including
Nine Mile Ride Designated Area Extension 2017-18

This map gives a guide to the designated
areas for Communityand Voluntary Controlled
schools in the Wokingham Borough that
use them in their over-subscription criteria.

4

If you require any further information,
please contact the School Admissions
team.

Saint
Saint
Saint Sebastians
Sebastians
Sebastians C
C
C of
of
of E
E
E Primary
Primary
Primary
Sebastians
C
of
E
Primary
Saint
Saint
Saint
Sebastians
C
of
E
Primary

197

Hatch
Hatch
Hatch Ride
Ride
Ride Primary
Primary
Primary
Ride
Primary
Hatch
Hatch
Hatch
Ride
Primary

Areas not identified may be part of the
designated area of a Voluntary Aided
schoolor Academy. Voluntary Aided schools
are shown in blue and have been
included for information only - please
refer to the policies later in the guide.

Gorse
Gorse
Gorse Ride
Ride
Ride Infant
Infant
Infant &
&
& Junior
Junior
Junior
Ride
Infant
&
Junior
Gorse
Gorse
Gorse
Ride
Infant
&
Junior
Oaklands
Oaklands
Oaklands Infant
Infant
Infant &
&
& Junior
Junior
Junior
Infant
&
Junior
Oaklands
Oaklands
Oaklands
Infant
&
Junior

Nine
Nine
Nine Mile
Mile
Mile Ride
Ride
Ride Primary
Primary
Primary
Mile
Ride
Primary
Nine
Nine
Nine
Mile
Ride
Primary

2
1
Finchampstead
Finchampstead
Finchampstead
C
C
of
of
E
E
Aided
Aided
Primary
Primary
Finchampstead
Finchampstead
Finchampstead C
C
C
C of
of
of
of E
E
E
E Aided
Aided
Aided
Aided Primary
Primary
Primary
Primary

1

© Crown copyright and database rights 2013 Ordnance Survey 100019592

This page is intentionally left blank

APPENDIX B

DRAFT FOUNDATION
ONE (F1) ADMISSION
POLICY

FOR NURSERY SCHOOLS
AND NURSERY CLASSES
IN COMMUNITY AND
VOLUNTARY
CONTROLLED SCHOOLS
INCLUDING FOUNDATION
STAGE UNITS OR
PARTNERSHIP
FOUNDATION STAGE
UNITS

2017/2018

Proposed - part of the admission
arrangements for entry to nursery
schools
and
community
and
voluntary controlled schools in
2017/2018

1

199

F1 ADMISSIONS POLICY – 2017/2018

FOUNDATION ONE (F1) ADMISSION POLICY FOR
NURSERY SCHOOLS AND NURSERYCLASSES IN COMMUNITY AND
VOLUNTARY CONTROLLED SCHOOLS INCLUDING DESIGNATED
LINKED FOUNDATION STAGE UNITS OR PARTNERSHIP FOUNDATION
STAGE UNITS

General
All eligible three and four year olds are currently entitled to 570 hours of free
provision a year, over a minimum of 38 weeks of the year. This equates to 15 hours
free early learning and care per week, for 38 weeks per year during term time, across
a minimum of three days.
The entitlement must be offered within part of the National Framework for Delivery
and cannot be accessed in stand-alone blocks of less than 2½ hours or more than 10
hours in one day.
Parents may choose to take up as much or as little of this entitlement as they choose
using a maximum of two providers.
Parents using a provider who is open for less than the 38 weeks will forfeit the
remaining weeks as they cannot take these with another provider as part of the free
entitlement, although they can opt to pay for these as additional hours/weeks.
It is generally regarded as good early years’ practice that your child attends only one
setting for their free entitlement as this is believed to be in the best interests of a
child, and all settings should be able to offer the 15 hours. However we are aware,
that sometimes this is not possible due to individual circumstances.
Parents are under no obligation to take up extra hours or weeks, or additional
services over and above the free entitlement, which some providers may offer and for
which charges may be payable.
Applications should be made using the standard application form issued with this
policy.
If the child is born between:

1 September and 31 December
1 January and 31 March
1 April and 31 August

They are eligible for a free part-time
place in the term following their third
birthdays:
Spring term
Summer term
Autumn term

PROVISION AVAILABLE AT [insert name of nursery or FSU]

2

200

The maximum number of children that can be accommodated is [insert admission
number].
The admission number is split to provide [insert number] places in the morning [insert
times] and [insert number] places in the afternoon [insert times].
Alternative patterns of attendance available are [insert flexibility options if applicable].
Maintained sector settings will be able to offer different degrees of flexibility and
should customise this policy by inserting a summary here or providing separate
information to parents.
Admission Number
An admission number is set taking into consideration the staffing levels and physical
limitation of the space available at the early years setting. The admission number will
be set by the local authority as follows, and can only be varied by the local authority
and is published on an annual basis.
School
Bearwood Primary School
The Coombes CE Primary School
Gorse Ride Infant School
Highwood Primary School
Hillside Primary School
Loddon Primary School
Radstock Primary School
Shinfield Infant & Nursery School
South Lake Primary School
Walter Infant School
Ambleside Centre

F1 Admission
Number
52 part time places
52 part time places
52 part time places
52 part time places
52 part time places
72 part time places
60 part time places
52 part time places
104 part time places
52 part time places
156 part time places

F1 Age Range
3 – 5 years old
3 – 5 years old
3 – 5 years old
3 – 5 years old
3 – 5 years old
3 – 5 years old
3 – 5 years old
3 – 5 years old
3 – 5 years old
3 – 5 years old
3 – 5 years old

In the case of a Partnership FSU where necessary this will be carried out in
conjunction with Ofsted registration for private voluntary and independent providers.
Applications
Parents should apply direct to their chosen setting by:




31 May (or nearest working day) for admission in the following January –
notification first week of July
31 October (or nearest working day) for admission in the following April –
notification first week of December
28 February (or nearest working day) for admission in the following September –
notification first week of April (or nearest school day if it falls in spring holidays)

Places allocated will be offered in accordance with the published admissions criteria.
Parents should ensure that they read the admissions policy and complete the
standard application form for admission to F1.
These dates allow parents to give a term’s notice to other providers, if applicable.
Applications will be considered by a committee of the Governing Body, or this may be
delegated to the Headteacher plus at least one other member of staff nominated by

3

201

the Governing Body, or in the case of partnership foundation stage units by a
management body of the unit.
Parents may apply for between six and fifteen hours per week (taken as a minimum
of six hours taken over two days). Parents applying for less than 15 hours will be
given equal consideration as those applying for the full entitlement.
Following the allocation of a place, parents will be asked to provide the child’s birth
certificate or another form of identity, such as a passport. This is to verify the child’s
date of birth. This can be as part of either the acceptance or registration procedure.
Where the setting is oversubscribed, further information may be required to verify the
home address e.g. council tax or utility bill and child benefit payment arrangements (if
applicable) or medical card.
When families move to the designated area, documentary evidence of the move
must be provided e.g. rental agreement or exchange of contracts. Where a family
claims to be resident at more than one address, justification and evidence of a
family’s circumstances (e.g. legal separation) will be required.
Where sessions are being taken across the week, but a child spends part of the
week with parents at different addresses, the home address will be where the child
usually spends the majority of the school week (Sunday night 1800hrs to Friday
0900hrs) with a parent. Where sessions are being taken up on fewer than five days,
the same principle will be applied across the relevant days to identify which address
should be used for the purposes of the oversubscription criteria.
Parents will be asked to declare that the address used will be their place of residence
beyond the date of the child starting at the setting, the offer of a place may be
withdrawn if false or misleading information is given.
Allocation of places (oversubscription criteria)
The following criteria will be used to allocate the available places (see note 1) at
those maintained sector early years’ settings that receive more applications than can
be accommodated:
A

Looked after children and children who were looked after, but ceased to be so
because they were adopted or became subject to a child arrangements order
or special guardianship order’ (previously looked after children) (see note 2)

B

Children known by the local authority to have identified additional needs and
whose needs can be best met at the preferred setting – applications made
under this criterion would need to be supported by supporting evidence from
an appropriate professional e.g. medical practitioner

C

Children whose permanent home address is inside the designated area for
the linked school (or RG5 post code area for The Ambleside Centre) and who,
at the time of application, has a sibling who is expected to be at either the
linked school or the setting when the child will enter the setting (see notes 3
and 4)

D

Children whose permanent home address is in the designated area for the
linked school or in the RG5 post code area for The Ambleside Centre (see
note 4)

4

202

E

Children whose permanent home address is outside the designated area for
the linked school (or RG5 post code area for The Ambleside Centre) and who,
at the time of application, has a sibling who is expected to be at the linked
school or the setting when the child will enter the setting (see notes 3 and 4)

F

Any other children

Notes on the above oversubscription criteria:
Note 1
Available places are those places available having taking account of any two year
olds currently on the roll at the nursery/foundation stage unit and after existing
parents have indicated their preference against their entitlement for the following
term.
Note 2
A “looked after child” is a child who is (a) in the care of a local authority, or (b) being
provided with accommodation by a local authority in the exercise of their social
services function (see definition in section 22(1) of the Children Act 1989).
A previously looked after child is a child who was looked after by a local authority but
ceased to be so because they were adopted, or became the subject of a child
arrangement order or special guardianship order. This includes children who were
adopted under the Adoption Act 1976 (see section 12 adoption orders) and children
who were adopted under the Adoption and Childrens Act 2002 (see section 46
adoption orders). It also includes children who have been provided with child
arrangements orders (previously known as residence orders) under the provisions of
section 14 of the Children & Families Act 2014 which amends section 8 of the
Children Act 1989 and children with a special guardianship order appointing one or
more individuals to be a child’s special guardian under section 14A of the Children
Act 1989.
Applications received under the Criterion A must be made by the person with
parental responsibility for the child (e.g. the child’s social worker, acting on behalf of
the local authority for a looked after child) and will need to be supported by the
following official documentation, as applicable:



confirmation by the home local authority that the child is looked after or
confirmation by the local authority that last looked after the child
confirming that the child was looked after immediately prior to the issuing
of one of the orders detailed above.

Note 3
A sibling is a brother or sister (that is, another child of the same parents, whether
living at the same address or not), or a half-brother or half-sister, step-brother or
step-sister, or adopted or foster children living at the same address.
It includes children who at the time of application have a sibling for whom the offer of
a place at the preferred school has been accepted, even if the sibling is not yet
attending.

5

203

In the case of settings linked to primary or infant and junior schools, the application
will be treated as meeting criteria C and E if the child’s sibling will be at either of the
two linked schools at the time the child would enter the schools (this includes a linked
junior school)
Linked Settings and Schools (for the purposes of Criteria C to E – note 3)
Type of Setting
Infant / Primary linked
Junior linked school
school
Nursery/foundation class
Bearwood Primary
Nursery/foundation class
Coombes CE Primary (The)
Nursery/foundation class
Gorse Ride Infant
Gorse Ride Junior
Nursery/foundation class
Highwood Primary
Nursery/foundation class
Hillside Primary
Foundation Stage Unit
Loddon Primary
Nursery/foundation class
Radstock Primary
Nursery/foundation class
Shinfield Infant & Nursery
Shinfield St Mary’s CE
Aided Junior
Nursery/foundation class
South Lake Primary
Foundation Stage Unit
Walter Infant
St Paul’s CE Junior
Outside the scope of this policy and not included in the above table – Nursery/foundation provision at voluntary aided schools: St
Teresa’s Catholic Primary School, All Saints CE Aided Primary School and Earley St Peter’s CE Aided Primary School, for which
separate school admission policies will apply

Note 4
Occasionally a parent with more than one child can express a preference for their
designated area school(s) for the older child, but the local authority is unable to meet
this preference. The local authority will then allocate a place at a lower ranked
preferred school or the closest available school with places. In this case, the parent
may then prefer to send younger sibling(s) to the same school as the older child
attends. In such instances, the allocated school may be regarded as if it were the
designated area school for subsequent siblings and would be treated as meeting
criterion D (sibling resident within designated area). Parents must notify the nursery
or foundation stage unit at the time of application that they consider this exception
applies.
Tie Breaker
Priority will be given within any of the above oversubscription criteria to the applicant
whose permanent home address is nearest to the preferred linked school in terms of
radial distance. Distances will be measured consistently, using the local authority
computerised mapping system and the distance will be measured as a straight line
between the Local Land & Property Gazetteer address points for the respective
home address and linked school or for applications to The Ambleside Centre, the
centre’s address point will be used.
Places for two year olds
Some nurseries or foundation stage units might admit children after they become two
years old if they are entitled to the free extended provision. Where there are more
applications than places available children who are entitled to the free extended
provision will be ranked according to the following oversubscription criteria detailed
under the heading “Allocation of places (oversubscription criteria)” above.

6

204

Where any criterion is oversubscribed, children will be ranked according to the
straight line distance that they live from the school with priority being given to children
who live closest to the school.
Once such children are placed on roll at a nursery, they will be automatically entitled
to take up a three year old place and the number of places for three year olds will
reduce.
Waiting Lists
A waiting list will be held of unsuccessful applicants in case spaces become available
during the year. Waiting lists are constructed according to the oversubscription
criteria outlined above and based on radial distance within each criterion. Late or inyear applications will be added to the waiting list in accordance with oversubscription
criteria. No account is taken of the time spent on the waiting list. Parents will be
asked periodically whether they wish to remain on the list. The waiting list will be
retained until the end of F1.
Late Applications
If an application is received after the deadline and before the date parents are
notified of places, this will be considered ‘late’. Late applications will be considered
after the allocation of places and notified after the main allocation date, unless
exceptional circumstances apply, e.g. hospitalisation of a parent or a family has just
moved into the area. In such instances, evidence will be required.
Applications received after the normal admissions round
Applications received after the notification date will be considered as an ‘in-year’
application. Places will be offered if available or names added to the waiting list.
Multiple births or children with birth dates in the same academic year
Where the application of oversubscription criteria results in splitting children with
either the same birth dates or children born in the same academic year from the
same family; places will be offered even if this will result in the setting going above
the admission number.
Accepting or declining the offer of a place
Parents are required to accept or decline the allocated place using the form sent with
the allocation letter.
The form must be returned to the setting within two weeks from the date of the offer
letter. If a form is not received, there will be one further written reminder issued and
failure to respond to this may result in the place being withdrawn and, in the case of
oversubscribed settings, a place offered to the next on the waiting list.
Parents are requested to advise the maintained setting at any stage, if they are
not accepting the place for any reason.
Offers of entitlement hours

7

205

Parents will be invited to indicate, on application, how they wish their child to access
their free entitlement up to a maximum of fifteen hours. The setting will state how
they offer the free entitlement along with any flexibility potential for taking up this
offer, taking into account the national framework guidelines.
Charges
No charge will be made for admission, nor will any refundable deposit or
administration fees be charged to secure a place. Charges may be made for
additional childcare sessions over and above the full free entitlement, where parents
choose to purchase these. The rates which providers charge for these privately
funded hours should be in line with the rate at which free entitlement sessions are
funded.
Lunchtime or breakfast sessions may in addition include the cost of
providing a meal or alternatively parents providing a packed lunch.
Exceeding capacity and appeals against non-admission
In exceptional circumstance, the number of children admitted to the setting may
exceed the number of registered places. This is subject to Ofsted and / or Local
Authority approval and is usually where there are extreme reasons, e.g. medical.
Supporting evidence may be required.
Applicants may also request in writing that their unsuccessful application be reconsidered by a panel of at least three local authority officers. This should be sent to
the Service Manager - Early Years, Childcare & Play, at Children’s Services,
Wokingham Borough Council, Wescott Annexe, Wescott Road, Wokingham RG40
2ER, giving detailed reasons for the request. The purpose of the review is to ensure
that the correct procedure has been followed when making the decision.
Admission to the School
ATTENDANCE AT A NURSERY/FOUNDATION CLASS OR FOUNDATION STAGE
UNIT AT A LINKED SCHOOL DOES NOT GUARANTEE ADMISSION TO
FOUNDATION 2 (RECEPTION) AT THE SCHOOL
A separate application for admission to Foundation 2 (Reception) will have to be
made in accordance with the local authority co-ordinated admissions scheme. No
account is taken of whether a child has attended the nursery or not.

8

206

Glossary
Maintained Nursery
School
Nursery/Foundation
Class

Foundation Stage
Unit

Partnership
Foundation Stage
Unit
Early years setting
PVI

Published Admission
Number
Oversubscription
Designated Area
Application Deadline
Late Application
In-year Application
Waiting List

Home Address

Looked after
child/previously
looked after child

Defined by the Education Acts 1996 and 2002. A school which
is maintained by the local authority for pupils aged between
three and five, and which is not a special school.
Foundation 1 (F1) - class in any school comprising children
who have their fourth birthday during the school year and any
other children with whom it is appropriate to educate them.
This is usually the year before children attend a reception class
(Foundation 2 – F2).
Integrated provision provided by a maintained school which
takes part-time F1 (nursery) children allocated by the school as
well as part or full-time F2 (Reception) places allocated by local
authority and they will learn together as one unit. A child in F1
still receives a part-time free entitlement place of 15 hours.
Where a voluntary early year’s provider and a maintained
school work together to provide integrated provision as a
Foundation Stage Unit.
A generic term for providers of Early Years Foundation Stage
care and learning
Private, voluntary or independent provider of early years care
and learning e.g. day nursery, pre-school or independent
school
The number of places that the admission authority must offer in
each relevant age group of a setting for which it is admission
authority.
Where a setting has a higher number of applicants than the
setting’s published admission number each year
A geographical area, from which children may be given priority
for admission to a setting
Date by which applications must be received for initial
consideration for a place
Application received between the application deadline and the
date agreed for communication of offer of places
Application received after the date agreed for communication of
offer of places
A list of children held and maintained by the admission
authority when the setting has allocated all its places, on which
children are ranked in priority order against the published
oversubscription criteria
Where the child spends the majority of the whole school week
(Sunday night 1800hrs to Friday 0900hrs) including nights, or of
the relevant part of the school week.
A “looked after child” is a child who is (a) in the care of a local
authority, or (b) being provided with accommodation by a local
authority in the exercise of their social services function (see
definition in section 22(1) of the Children Act 1989).
A previously looked after child is a child who was looked after
by a local authority but ceased to be so because they were
adopted, or became the subject of a child arrangements order
or special guardianship order. This includes children who were
adopted under the Adoption Act 1976 (see section 12 adoption
orders) and children who were adopted under the Adoption and

9

207

Parent

Sibling

10

Childrens Act 2002 (see section 46 adoption orders). It also
includes children who have been provided with child
arrangement orders (previously known as residence orders)
under the provisions of section 14 of the Children & Families
Act 2014 which amends section 8 of the Children Act 1989 and
children with a special guardianship order appointing one or
more individuals to be a child’s special guardian under section
14A of the Children Act 1989.
A parent is defined as all natural parents. Any person who,
although not a natural parent, has parental responsibility (as
defined in the Children Act 1989) for a child or young person;
and any person who, although not a natural parent, has care of
a child or young person. Having care of a child or young person
means that a person with whom the child lives and who looks
after the child, irrespective of what their relationship is with the
child, is considered to be a parent in education law.
A sibling is a brother or sister (that is, another child of the same
parents, whether living at the same address or not), or a halfbrother or half-sister, step-brother or step-sister, adopted or
foster children living at the same address.

208

LOCAL AUTHORITY GUIDANCE ON FOUNDATION STAGE ONE (F1)
ADMISSION POLICY 2017/2018
FOR NURSERY CLASSES AND SCHOOLS AND DESIGNATED LINKED
FOUNDATION STAGE UNITS OR PARTNERSHIP FOUNDATION STAGE UNITS
IN COMMUNITY & VOLUNTARY CONTROLLED SCHOOLS OR CHILDREN’S
CENTRES
1.

Entitlement to early learning and care

All eligible three and four year olds are currently entitled to 570 hours of free
provision a year, over a minimum of 38 weeks of the year. This equates to15 hours
free early learning and care per week, for 38 weeks per year during term time, across
a minimum of three days.
The entitlement must be offered within part of the National Framework for Delivery
and cannot be accessed in stand-alone blocks of less than 2 hours or more than 10
hours in one day.
Parents may choose to take up as much or as little of this entitlement as they
choose. If the chosen setting does not offer the full entitlement of 38 weeks per year,
Wokingham Borough Council will not fund the extra weeks at an alternative setting.
Parents are under no obligation to take up extra hours or weeks, or additional
services over and above the free entitlement, which some providers may offer and for
which charges may be payable.
If the child is born between:

They are eligible for a free part-time
place in the term following their third
birthdays:
Spring term
Summer term
Autumn term

1 September and 31 December
1 January and 31 March
1 April and 31 August

If a parent applies for, and chooses to take up less than their child's entitlement they
must be made aware that it may not be possible to increase the pattern of
attendance during the term. On a termly basis, at the time of allocating places,
parents of children already on the roll and accessing less than the legal entitlement
will be given the opportunity to increase the number of hours their child attends.
These requests will be given priority over the waiting list. Parental requests to
change the pattern of attendance should be considered at the same time.
Unless in exceptional circumstances and in the interests of continuity of experience;
it is not recommended that children transfer to another setting for less than three
terms.
2.

Inclusion

Wokingham Borough Council has an inclusive education policy and children will not
be discriminated against as laid down by the School Standards & Framework Act
1998 as amended, Human Rights Act 1998, and Equality Act 2010. This includes
reasons such as developmental delay, e.g. a child’s self-help skills are delayed
affecting activities such as dressing, feeding or toilet training or additional needs such
as emotional or behavioural difficulties.

11

209

3.

Background

The responsibility for determining the admissions policy for community and voluntary
controlled maintained early years’ settings and linked foundation stage units is the
responsibility of the local authority.
The responsibility for determining the admissions policy for foundation and voluntary
aided maintained nursery classes and linked foundation stage units is the
responsibility of the school Governing Body.
The responsibility for determining the admissions policy for partnership foundation
stage units in community and voluntary controlled schools is the responsibility of the
local authority.
Admission arrangements will be published annually in accordance with the School
Admissions Code.
4.

Applying for first admission to school

Attendance at an early years’ setting linked to a community or voluntary controlled
school does not guarantee admission to Foundation 2 (F2) (Reception) or
continuation in the FSU at the school and no account is taken of the early year’s
provision attended.
A separate application for admission to F2 will have to be made in line with the local
authority co-ordinated admissions scheme.
5.

After allocation

Settings should ensure that checks are made of the birth certificates and home
address to verify that information provided by parents is not misleading or false.
6.

Consultation

The policy and guidance will be reviewed if changes are proposed and will be part of
any consultation on the admission arrangements for community and voluntary
controlled primary schools.
7.

Start dates

All children due to start in any particular term, should be given a common starting
date. Where there are large numbers of children due to start in the same term, they
may be phased over no more than two weeks and may be dependent on whether or
not reduced free entitlement hours are being taken up and how the full entitlement
over the 38 weeks will be achieved.
8.

Use of personal data

All personal information is covered by the Data Protection Act 1998 and will be held
by the early years setting/school and used for the purposes of admissions. The
information will be kept secure and strictly confidential and will not be used for any
other purpose.

12

210

The early year’s setting/school reserves the right to verify the information given on
the application form. Any offer of a place will be on the basis that the information
supplied is accurate and up to date.
Please note the information will not be disclosed to any other organisation without
parental consent other than other local authorities or government agencies. If you
require further information about how this data will be used, please contact the early
years setting.
Any place offered may be withdrawn if information provided is later proved to be false
or misleading.
The local authority uses information about children for whom it provides
services to carry out specific functions for which it is responsible .e.g. school
admissions. It also uses the information to derive statistics to inform decisions
e.g. (the funding of schools) or to assess the performance of schools and
agree targets for them. The statistics are used in such a way that individual
children
cannot
be
identified
from
them.

13

211

COMMON APPLICATION FORM FOR ALL
MAINTAINED EARLY YEARS SETTINGS

WOKINGHAM BOROUGH COUNCIL - CHILDREN’S SERVICES
APPLICATION FOR A FOUNDATION ONE (F1) PLACE
This form must be retained by the Setting and made available to the local authority on request.
Name of Setting:
Child’s name in full:………………………………………………………………………………………………………..
Child’s date of birth:……………………………………………………………………………………………………….
Child’s gender: MALE / FEMALE (please delete as appropriate)
Child’s permanent home address:……………………………………………………………………………………….
…………………………………..……………………………………………………………………………..……………
……………………………………………………..……………………Post Code……………………..……………….
Name of Parent/Carer: Title …………….Initials……………...Surname……………………………………………
Relationship to Child ………………………………....Home Telephone …………………………….……….………
Alternative Work or Mobile contact numbers ……………………………

……………………….………………

Email……………………………………………………………….
Your address if different to that of your child: ……………………………..………………………………………….
………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………
………………………………………………………………………. Post Code ……………………………………….
Is your child resident at more than one address?
If yes, what percentage of time does the child spend at the declared home address? ……%

YES / NO

Personal information contained in this form is subject to the Data Protection Act 1998 and will be used by the
Authority for the purpose of early years’ admissions. Data may be exchanged with other local authorities,
schools or governmental agencies where necessary as part of the admissions process.
To help us ensure your application is dealt with appropriately and efficiently please complete the following:
Does your child have a Statement of Special Educational Needs or an
Education Health and Care Plan?
If yes please enclose supporting documentation from a professional person e.g. Educational Psychologist

212

YES / NO

Is your child ‘looked after’ or previously looked after (in the care of) a Local Authority

YES / NO

If yes please enclose supporting documentation such as confirmation from the authority with parental
responsibility/adoption order/child arrangements order or special guardianship order

Does your child have any older siblings in the same family unit already attending and continuing to attend this
early year’s setting or linked school? If yes please give details:
Name(s)…………………………………………………………………………………………………………………
Date(s) of Birth………………………………………………………………………………………………………….
Setting/School ………………………………….………………………………………………………………………
Declaration:
I certify that the information I have given on this form is correct and that I am the person with parental
responsibility for the child named above. I agree that the information I provide may be shared as part of the
admissions process. I confirm that, to the best of my knowledge, the declared address will continue to be the
child’s residence beyond admission to the setting/school. I understand that any place offered may be
withdrawn if I give false or misleading information.
Signature of Parent/Carer………………………………………………………………..Date………………………
SETTING USE ONLY
Birth Certificate seen by:
Date:

INFORMATION FOR PARENTS
All eligible three and four year olds will be entitled to 15 hours free early education per week, for 38
weeks (term time) per year. In our school this is currently offered as 5 x 3 hour sessions per week. You
can choose from morning or afternoon places. The morning sessions run (enter times of operation for
individual provider here) The afternoon sessions run (enter times of operation for individual provider here
You may choose to take up fewer than five sessions/15 hours per week. The notes on the next page
explain your child’s entitlement in more detail.
Please tick the number of sessions you would like by ticking the appropriate boxes. Please note that if
your preferred sessions are full, you may be offered alternative sessions.
Preferred number of sessions up to a maximum of five
Monday
Tuesday
Wednesday

Thursday

Friday

I would like morning / afternoon sessions (please circle one)

Signed:__________________________________ (Parent/Carer)
Date:_________________
YOUR CHILD’S ENTITLEMENT TO FREE EARLY LEARNING AND CARE
All eligible three and four year olds are currently entitled to 15 hours free early learning and care per week, for
38 weeks per year.

213

By using a provider who is open for less than the 38 weeks are forfeiting the remaining weeks as they cannot
take these with another provider as part of the free entitlement, although they can opt to pay for these as
additional hours/weeks.
1. The entitlement is to the free hours and holds no monetary value. The setting attended by your child will
receive a subsidy to enable a free entitlement place to be available, if your child attends the setting for only
the free entitlement of 15 hours per week, you will not pay any fees or charges of any kind.
2. If, however, your child attends for longer than 15 hours per week, then you can be charged for the extra
hours of childcare or additional services.
3. If you take up extra childcare over and above your child’s free entitlement, you will only ever be charged for
the extra hours. You will not be asked to pay for the free entitlement within the fees and have this amount
‘refunded’ at a later date.
4. If your child attends for more than 38 weeks per year, the setting will charge for the extra weeks.
5. You are under no obligation to take up extra hours or weeks over and above your child’s free entitlement.
It is generally regarded as good early year’s practice that your child attends only one setting for their free
entitlement as this is believed to be in the best interests of a child, and all settings should be able to offer the
15 hours. However we are aware, that sometimes this is not possible due to individual circumstances. For
example, this could be when a parent has work or other commitments on certain days and therefore needs to
access full-time childcare on those days. If you need to access the entitlement at more than one setting,
please discuss with your intended providers and complete the section below which should be signed by you
and the Headteacher or Foundation Stage Co-ordinator, and forward a copy to:
Wokingham Early Years & Childcare Team
Children’s Services,
Wescott Annexe,
Wescott Road,
Wokingham
RG40 2ER.

I wish to access my free entitlement at more than one setting for the reasons given below (continue on a
separate sheet if necessary), and I have discussed this with the Headteacher/Foundation Stage Co-ordinator
and the other provider and they understand my reason for splitting my entitlement.
Reasons:
My child also takes up ____________(enter number) hours of the free entitlement at:
________________________________________________________________enter other provider name)

Parent/carer: ____________________________ Date: ______________________

Headteacher or Foundation Stage Co-ordinator: _____________________________

214

APPENDIX C
CO-ORDINATED ADMISSIONS SCHEMES 2017/2018

Proposed local co-ordinated in-year
admissions scheme for community and
voluntary controlled primary and secondary
schools and own admission authority schools
(where there is agreement to do so) in the
Wokingham Borough

2017/2018

215

1

Introduction
This is the proposed scheme for the local co-ordination of in-year admissions for the
2017/2018 academic year across the Wokingham Borough. Whilst there is no requirement
in the School Admissions Code to co-ordinate in-year applications, a local co-ordinated
scheme will be in operation for community and voluntary controlled schools for which the
local authority is the admissions authority and for own admission authority (e.g. Academy or
voluntary aided) schools where there is an agreement to do so.
Where own admission authority schools do not wish to be part of the Wokingham Borough
Council co-ordinated scheme, a single preference common application will be produced for
completion by parents for schools outside the scheme to enable parents to apply direct to
the preferred school and those schools will be required to notify the School Admissions
Team of both the application and its outcome, advising parents of their right of appeal
against any refusal of a place.
Own admission authority schools may currently be consulting on any changes to their
admission arrangements and all own admission authority schools will determine policies
indicating whether they require applications direct to the school or as part of the coordinated scheme via the local authority.
In-year admission arrangements
This scheme applies to applications for Wokingham Borough schools included in the
scheme. Parents who are moving to the Borough should provide documentary evidence of
a move to the borough e.g. exchange of contracts, signed rental agreement or posting order
in the case of service families or an official letter notifying relocation date for Crown
servants. It applies to the admission of a child to a relevant age group where it is submitted
on or after the first day of the school year of admission or for the admission of a child to an
age group other than a relevant age group.
For schools within the Wokingham Borough, a relevant age group means:




children transferring from primary to secondary school into year 7
children transferring from infant to junior school into year 3
children starting school in foundation two (F2) Reception

The scheme does not apply to:




admission to school sixth forms
admission to nursery or foundation stage units into foundation one (F1)
middle school or years 9 or 10 transfers

Responsibility for admission to school sixth forms or admission to nursery or foundation
stage units for foundation one (F1) has been delegated to community and voluntary
controlled schools, although a model policy will be provided by the council for community
and voluntary controlled schools’ use.
Applications for middle schools (with an entry age before 11) will be treated the same way
as primary school transfer. Applications for upper schools (years 9 or 10 - with an entry age
after 11) are to be treated the same way as the secondary transfer. Separate application
forms will be made available.

216

2

Timing of applications
Applications will be considered half-a-term in advance of the place being required. For
entry to school at the start of term or half-term, an application will need to be received by the
School Admissions Team, 15 school days in advance of the commencement date. Any
applications received in advance of this will be held on file until the appropriate time, with
the exception of Crown service, service families or look-after children.
It is our intention that all applications should be processed and the outcome of the
application made within 20 school days from receipt of the application. This is subject to
confirmation, if applying for an own admission authority school that a place can be offered,
whichever is the latter. Allocation or refusal letters will be sent by second class post.
Applications
Applications must be made using the Wokingham Borough application form to apply for
schools within the borough. The common application form is available on request or can be
downloaded at: www.wokingham.gov.uk/admissions. An online application facility is
available for parents to apply via the council’s website. An application form allowing a
single preference will be available for own admission authority schools outside the scheme.
Parents may express up to four preferences for schools within the scheme, listing those
preference in ranked order and giving their reasons for those preferences.
Where a place is available for a child at more than one school, Wokingham Borough
Council will offer a place at whichever of these schools is their highest preference.
The School Admissions Team will pass on applications and any supporting information
provided by the parent for any own admission authority schools within the scheme to their
governing bodies so that they can make a decision about the application. The governing
body should make decisions regarding applications within five school days of receipt. The
governing body will then inform the School Admissions Team who will advise the offer or
refusal on their behalf. There may be a delay during school holiday periods as the school
may not be contactable.
Where own admission authority schools within the scheme receive an application direct
from a parent, the school must forward to the School Admissions Team details of any
application made, together with any supporting information provided by the parent
(regardless of whether the parent making the application resides in that authority’s area)
together with the school’s decision to that application in order that the response is made on
the school’s behalf to the parent.
Each preference will be considered against the admissions authority’s oversubscription
criteria if necessary and, where more than a single school place could be offered, the place
will be offered for the highest ranked preference.
Where applications are refused, parents will be advised of their right of appeal. Where a
place has been refused by Wokingham Borough Council or for schools, who are their own
admissions authority within the Borough, reference must be made to the Council’s website
for details on how to appeal.
A place will be offered at an alternative school (the designated area school or most
accessible school with places available) where the parent can provide evidence of their
move to or within the Wokingham borough, and parents will be advised of their right of

217

3

appeal for their preferred school(s). No offer of an alternative school place will be made
where no change of address is made, unless requested to do so.
Out of Borough applications
Wokingham Borough Council will not accept applications from other local authorities where
their resident applies direct to them. Applications must be made direct to Wokingham
Borough Council on its in-year application form. Where further information is required to
support the application, liaison will take place direct with the parent. Wokingham Borough
Council will respond to the parent, in writing, the outcome of their application. If the place is
declined, the parent will be advised of their right of appeal.
Where parents are moving out of the borough; parents should apply direct to that local
authority or to the individual school concerned depending on the arrangements in place in
that area.
Additional information to support applications
Where an applicant is proposing to move to the Borough, evidence will be required to
support their application e.g. signed rental agreement or exchange of contracts, families of
service personnel or an official letter notifying relocation date for Crown servants, families
applying from abroad or from areas of the country other than England. Evidence may also
be required of the disposal of the previous property (particularly where the home address is
within 20 miles of the borough).
Additional information will be required for applicants applying from abroad to verify right of
abode (e.g. entry visa and passport details). It should be noted that a child moving from
overseas with a right to live in the UK with parents may attend a maintained school. This
does not apply where the stay is so short (e.g. less than six weeks) that it would not be
practical for the child to attend school (e.g. holidays or short visits).
Supporting evidence will be required to meet some oversubscription criteria, please see the
notes to each criterion for further information.
For own admission authority schools within the scheme, supplementary information forms
(SIFs) may be required to support an application. SIFs are available for download at:
www.wokingham.gov.uk/admissions or the school’s website. Alternatively, the forms are
available on request from the school. SIFs must be returned direct to the school concerned
and the application made to Wokingham Borough Council. It is the responsibility of parents
to determine whether a SIF is required to support an application and to complete and return
in accordance with the published arrangements of that admissions authority.
To determine and support applications made under Fair Access Protocol; the current school
may be requested to provide further information. Where requested, the school is asked to
advise the School Admissions Team within three school days of the request for information.
Receipts for/acknowledgements of applications
The School Admissions Team will acknowledge receipt of applications, provided parents
have completed and stamped the acknowledgement card. If you require any further
receipts for information provided, please attach a stamped addressed envelope to that
information.
An acknowledgement is automatically sent for applications made online and can be sent for
those who apply via email.

218

4

Offers
On receipt of the application, consideration will be given to all school preferences and where
potentially a place can be offered at more than one school preference, the single offer will
be for the school ranked highest.
The offer of a place in a Wokingham borough school must normally be taken up within the
declared half-term. Failure to take up the offer of a place during this time will mean that the
offer is withdrawn and the place released. Exceptions can only be made where the parent
provides documentary evidence that the delay is unavoidable, through no fault of their own,
or in the case, of Crown service, service families or looked-after children.
In accordance with the School Admissions Code, admission will be deferred to the start of a
term or half-term for the following categories of in-year admission:




those that do not require a house move
those where there is no reasonable need for an immediate move
those allocated from waiting lists

It is envisaged that children normally would be admitted to school during a school term in
the following circumstances only:
a) those applying as a result of a house move i.e. unable to take up a place earlier due
to living at a distance from the school
b) those applying and unable to take up a place earlier due to ill health or other reasons
beyond parents’ control
c) applications under the Fair Access Protocol
The benefit of moving to the admission of children to the start of term or half-term is to
minimise the disruption to their own and other children’s education.
Places will be offered on the basis of the child’s chronological age. Where a child is in
a different year group and not already attending a Wokingham Borough maintained school,
supporting documentation will be required from the child’s current school giving reasons for
this for consideration by an admissions panel. (See page 16 - Children working out of the
normal year group). Places can only be allocated to children working outside their normal
year group with the consensus of the receiving school.
It is recommended that parents refer to the relevant admissions’ authority’s literature to
understand how places are allocated and the process for handling their application prior to
applying for a school place. For places in the Wokingham borough, a Parent’s Guide will be
issued on request and will also be available at: www.wokingham.gov.uk/admissions.
Acceptance of school place
The offer letter will inform parents that they are required to accept or decline the place
offered within 14 days from the date of the letter. Failure to accept the place offered will
result in one further written reminder and failure to respond within the required timescale will
result in the offer being withdrawn.
Any offer of a school place will be made to start during the current half-term or during the
next half-term. Failure to start within this timescale will result in the offer of a school place
being withdrawn.

219

5

The letter of offer will specifically request parents to advise the School Admissions Team if
the place is not being accepted for any reason. If the child is living in the Wokingham
borough and the parent is not accepting the offered place they should advise what
alternative arrangement has been made for the child.
Availability of school places
Parents may express a preference for up to four schools within the scheme and
consideration will be given to each preference. It should be noted that where parents apply
in-year, this means that places are being sought for year groups that have been allocated
during the general transfer rounds:




primary to secondary (moving from year 6 in a primary school to year 7 in a
secondary school);
infant to junior (moving from year 2 of an infant school to year 3 of a junior school)
and
Starting school into Foundation 2 (F2) Reception.

Each of these transfer groups have their own admissions schemes, with deadlines for the
receipt of applications and a date on which offers of places will be made. Details of these
transfer groups are available at: www.wokingham.gov.uk/admissions.
Wokingham Borough schools are popular so it is likely that a preferred school may
be full. It is recommended that parents express more than one preference in order to
maximise the extent to which preferences can be met.
Places cannot be held open for those applicants moving to a school’s designated area and
there is no guarantee that a place will be available at preferred schools.
It is advisable to contact the School Admissions Team prior to any house move to determine
where there are school places and to verify the new home address’ designated area, if this
is important to you. It should be noted that the information given is only current on the date
you contact us and is subject to change as applications are received on a daily basis or
places allocated from waiting lists. Designated areas may change through the annual
consultation and determination of admission arrangements.
As the local authority must, on request, provide information to a parent about the places still
available in all schools within its area; all schools within the Wokingham borough are
required to advise the School Admissions Team when places become available and the
numbers on roll on a monthly basis.
Confirmation of school designated areas for each address in the Wokingham borough is
given at: www.wokingham.gov.uk by visiting the ‘find my nearest’ section from the front
page, keying in your address and scrolling down to the ‘education and youth’ section.
Admission numbers
Each school has a published admission number for each year group, which limits the places
that can be offered and all admissions are subject to places being available, this will be
published in the Parent’s Guide to In-year School Admissions.
The limits are set on admission numbers, taking into account the school’s net capacity
and/or suitability of accommodation, and are designed to ensure that children receive an
‘efficient and effective’ education.

220

6

We are unable to allocate over a school’s admissions number as too many children being
admitted to a particular school could lead to overcrowding or pressure on facilities and other
resources. The only exception is made where places are allocated under the Fair Access
Protocol. The Fair Access Protocol includes:





Young people at risk of or at permanent exclusion
Managed transfers between secondary schools
Managed transfers between primary schools
Children at particular risk of missing education known as “vulnerable children”

The Fair Access Protocol is agreed with the majority of schools locally and any changes will
be consulted on with schools within the Borough separately.
Details are available at: www.wokingham.gov.uk/admissions or copies of the protocols may
be obtained on request to the School Admissions Team.
At Key Stage 1 (F2, Year 1 and Year 2), legal limits have been imposed on the size of infant
class sizes, for these children the maximum class size is 30 to one qualified teacher. The
Fair Access Protocol cannot apply in this instance except for the operation of waiting lists.
Oversubscription criteria (categories for admission) for community and voluntary
controlled Primary Schools
Children with statements of special educational needs or an Education, Health & Care Plan
that name a school in the statement or plan are required to be admitted to the school that is
named. The governing body does not have the right to refuse admission.
Reference should be made to own admission school admission policies to understand the
basis on which an application would be considered – these will be available on the school
websites or at www.wokingham.gov.uk/admissions.
The following oversubscription criteria in order of priority will be applied when a community
or voluntary controlled school receives more preferences than places available. All
preferences will be treated on an equal basis.
A

‘Looked after children and children who were looked after, but ceased to be so
because they were adopted or became the subject of a child arrangements order or
special guardianship order’ (previously looked after children) (see note 1).

B

Families who have exceptional medical or social needs as the grounds for their
child’s admission to a particular school (see note 2)

C

For junior school applications to transfer to year 3; children who are attending the
infant school with close links with the junior school by the deadline for applications
Junior school
Emmbrook Junior School
Gorse Ride Junior School
Oaklands Junior School
Polehampton CE Junior School
Robert Piggott CE Junior School
St Pauls CE Junior School
Shinfield St Mary’s CE Aided Junior
School*

221

Linked infant school
Emmbrook Infant School
Gorse Ride Infant School
Oaklands Infant School
Polehampton CE Infant School
Robert Piggott CE Infant School
Walter Infant School
Shinfield Infant School

7

Westende Junior School
Willow Bank Junior School

Wescott Infant School
Willow Bank Infant School

*Voluntary aided junior school included for completeness - the school’s governing
body’s admissions policy will apply.
D

Children whose permanent home address is inside the schools’ designated area
and who has a sibling at the school at the time of application; who is expected to be
attending the school when the child will enter the school. (See notes 3, 4 and 5)

E

Children whose permanent home address is inside the schools’ designated area.
(See note 3)

F

Children whose permanent home address is outside the schools’ designated area
and who has a sibling at the school at the time of application; who is expected to be
attending the school when the child will enter the school. (See notes 4 and 5)

G

Other children
Note 1
A “looked after child” is a child who is (a) in the care of a local authority, or (b) being
provided with accommodation by a local authority in the exercise of their social
services function (see definition in section 22(1) of the Children Act 1989).
A previously looked after child is a child who was looked after by a local authority but
ceased to be so because they were adopted, or became the subject of a child
arrangements order or special guardianship order. This includes children who were
adopted under the Adoption Act 1976 (see section 12 adoption orders) and children
who were adopted under the Adoption and Childrens Act 2002 (see section 46
adoption orders). It also includes children who have been provided with child
arrangement orders (previously known as residence orders) under the provisions of
section 14 of the Children & Families Act 2014 which amends section 8 of the
Children Act 1989 and children with a special guardianship order appointing one or
more individuals to be a child’s special guardian under section 14A of the Children
Act 1989.
Applications received under the Criterion A must be made by the person with
parental responsibility for the child (e.g. the child’s social worker, acting on behalf of
the local authority for a looked after child) and will need to be supported by the
following official documentation, as applicable:



confirmation by the home local authority that the child is looked after or
confirmation by the local authority that last looked after the child
confirming that the child was looked after immediately prior to the issuing
of one of the orders detailed above.

Note 2
When submitting applications under criterion B (exceptional medical or social needs
as grounds for a child’s admittance to a particular school), this must be supported by
written evidence from an independent professional aware of the case relating to the
child, parent/carer or other children living at the same address (e.g. doctor, hospital
consultant or psychologist for medical grounds or registered social or care worker,
housing officer, the police or probation officer for social needs). This evidence
must be specific to the school in question; it must show why that school is the

222

8

most suitable; what facilities will benefit the child, and why no other school can
offer the same support.
Your application cannot be considered if you do not declare that you are applying
under this criterion and you do not provide written independent professional
evidence. All supporting documentation must be received with the application for
consideration prior to the allocation of a place. An admissions panel will consider
the supporting evidence provided and will advise the applicant of its decision; the
panel’s decision is final. Any evidence received later by the school admissions team
may if agreed by panel, affect the applicant’s position on a school’s waiting list.

It should be noted that all schools have the resources to work with special
educational needs and common childhood complaints such as asthma or
allergies.
Note 3
The designated area for The Coombes CE Primary School has been revised to
include a second priority designated area (currently the single designated area for
Farley Hill Primary School). Applicants from the first priority designated area and the
shared area will be allocated places before those living in the second priority
designated area. The tiebreaker will be applied to each area to determine who is
allocated a place should there be more applicants than places in either priority areas
or the shared area.
Note 4
A sibling is a brother or sister (that is, another child of the same parents, whether
living at the same address or not), or a half-brother or half-sister, step-brother or
step-sister, adopted or foster children living at the same address.
Siblings attending a school nursery cannot be considered under this criterion.
It includes children who at the time of application have a sibling for whom the offer of
a place at the preferred school has been accepted, even if the sibling is not yet
attending.
In the case of linked infant and junior schools, the application will be treated as
meeting criteria D or F if the child’s sibling is expected to be at either of the two
schools at the time the child would enter the school. At the initial allocation, when a
parent is applying for a Reception place at an infant school that has both a feeder
and a sibling link to a junior school and that child has a sibling currently attending
Year 2 of the infant school but who will have left by the time the younger child starts,
the Reception applicant will be considered under the sibling criterion as part of the
initial allocation. This is because, due to the feeder link, they will be expected to still
have a sibling at the linked junior school at the time of admission and the parent
would have made an application expressing their preference to do so.
Note 5
Occasionally a parent with more than one child can express a preference for their
designated area school(s) for the older child, but the local authority is unable to meet
this preference. The local authority will then allocate a place at a lower ranked
preferred school or the closest available school with places. In this case, the parent
may then prefer to send younger sibling(s) to the same school as the older child
attends. In such instances, the allocated school may be regarded as if it were the

223

9

designated area school for subsequent siblings and would be treated as meeting
criterion C (sibling resident inside the designated area). Parents must notify the
school admissions team at the time of application that they consider this exception
applies. Where there is an application for the actual designated area school(s),
designated area status would still be applied.
The authority has sought to make the above criteria as objective as possible. However for
category B and any other cases where judgement is needed as to which criteria the
application meets, a panel of at least two officers will consider the application and
supporting evidence. The panel’s decision and reasons will be recorded, for the purposes of
informing the parent and any subsequent appeal.
Tie Breaker
Priority will be given within criterion C (linked infant and junior schools) to children living
within the designated area, then siblings, before applying the tie breaker below. For tie
breaker purposes within criterion C only, designated area and siblings are defined as in
criteria E and F.
Priority will be given within any of the above oversubscription criteria to the applicant whose
permanent home address is nearest to the preferred school in terms of radial (straight line)
distance. Distances will be measured consistently and will be measured as a straight line
between the Local Land and Property Gazetteer (LLPG) address points for the respective
home address and school, using the Easting and Northing for each address point. These
are then used to calculate the distance, to three decimal points, between the two address
points using a ‘direct distance mathematical routine’ within the Capita ONE system used by
the council’s School Admissions Team into which the LLPG address points are
imported. This calculates the distance from the values created through this process using
Pythagoras’ Theorem by measuring the distance in metres between the Easting and
Northing for each end address point then multiplied by 0.000621317 to convert to miles. It
should be noted that this calculation may not be exactly the same as that created by a
Geographical Information System (GIS) product as the GIS product may build in a formula
to allow for the curvature of the earth. This curvature does not begin to affect distance
values until the distance is least 10 miles.
In the unlikely event that two or more children live at the same distance (measured as
stated above) from school (including for example, flats within the same building) and there
are fewer places available, random allocation will be used to decide which child will be
allocated the remaining place(s). This will be by supervised drawing of lots, carried out by
at least two Children’s Services staff members.
Oversubscription criteria (categories for admission) for community Secondary
Schools
Children with statements of special educational needs or an Education, Health and Care
Plan that name a school in the statement or plan are required to be admitted to the school
that is named. The admissions authority does not have the right to refuse admission.
Preference should be made to own admission school admission policies to understand the
basis on which an application would be considered.
The following oversubscription criteria in order of priority will be applied when a community
or voluntary controlled school receives more preferences than places available. All
preferences will be treated on an equal basis.

224

10

A

‘Looked after children and children who were looked after, but ceased to be so
because they were adopted or became the subject of a child arrangements order or
special guardianship order’ (previously looked after children) (see note 1).

B

Families who have exceptional medical or social needs as the grounds for their
admission to a particular school (see note 2)

C

Children whose permanent home address is inside the schools’ designated area
and who has a sibling at the school; who is expected to be attending the school
when the child will enter the school (see notes 3 and 4)

D

Children whose permanent home address is inside the schools’ designated area

E

Children whose permanent home address is outside the schools’ designated area
and who has a sibling at the school; who is expected to be attending the school
when the child will enter the school (see notes 3 and 4)

F

Other children
Note 1
A “looked after child” is a child who is (a) in the care of a local authority, or (b) being
provided with accommodation by a local authority in the exercise of their social
services function (see definition in section 22(1) of the Children Act 1989).
A previously looked after child is a child who was looked after by a local authority but
ceased to be so because they were adopted, or became the subject of a child
arrangements order or special guardianship order. This includes children who were
adopted under the Adoption Act 1976 (see section 12 adoption orders) and children
who were adopted under the Adoption and Childrens Act 2002 (see section 46
adoption orders). It also includes children who have been provided with child
arrangement orders (previously known as residence orders) under the provisions of
section 14 of the Children & Families Act 2014 which amends section 8 of the
Children Act 1989 and children with a special guardianship order appointing one or
more individuals to be a child’s special guardian under section 14A of the Children
Act 1989.
Applications received under the Criterion A must be made by the person with
parental responsibility for the child (e.g. the child’s social worker, acting on behalf of
the local authority for a looked after child) and will need to be supported by the
following official documentation, as applicable:



confirmation by the home local authority that the child is looked after or
confirmation by the local authority that last looked after the child confirming that
the child was looked after immediately prior to the issuing of one of the orders
detailed above.

Note 2
When submitting applications under criterion B (exceptional medical or social needs
as grounds for a child’s admittance to a particular school), this must be supported by
written evidence from an independent professional aware of the case relating to the
child, parent/carer or other children living at the same address (e.g. doctor, hospital
consultant or psychologist for medical grounds or registered social or care worker,
housing officer, the police or probation officer for social needs). This evidence

225

11

must be specific to the school in question; it must show why that school is the
most suitable; what facilities will benefit the child, and why no other school can
offer the same support.
Your application cannot be considered if you do not declare that you are applying
under this criterion and you do not provide written independent professional
evidence. All supporting documentation must be received with the application for
consideration prior to the allocation of a place. An admissions panel will consider
the supporting evidence provided and will advise the applicant of its decision; the
panel’s decision is final. Any evidence received later by the school admissions team
may if agreed by panel, affect the applicant’s position on a school’s waiting list.

It should be noted that all schools have the resources to work with special
educational needs and common childhood complaints such as asthma or
allergies.
Note 3
A sibling is a brother or sister (that is, another child of the same parents, whether
living at the same address or not), or a half-brother or half-sister, step-brother or
step-sister, or adopted or foster children living at the same address.
It includes children who at the time of application have a sibling for whom the offer of
a place at the preferred school has been accepted, even if the sibling is not yet
attending.
Parents may indicate a sibling in year 11 at the school provided it is the intention of
the family that the child is due to continue their studies in the sixth form at the
school.
Note 4
Occasionally a parent with more than one child can express a preference for their
designated area school(s) for the older child, but the local authority is unable to meet
this preference. The local authority will then allocate a place at a lower ranked
preferred school or the closest available school with places. In this case, the parent
may then prefer to send younger sibling(s) to the same school as the older child
attends. In such instances, the allocated school may be regarded as if it were the
designated area school for subsequent siblings and would be treated as meeting
criterion C (sibling resident inside the designated area). Parents must notify the
school admissions team at the time of application that they consider this exception
applies. Where there is an application for the actual designated area school(s),
designated area status would still be applied.
The authority has sought to make the above criteria as objective as possible. However for
category B and any other cases where judgement is needed as to which criterion the
application meets, a criterion the application meets, a panel of at least two officers will
consider the application and supporting evidence. The panel’s decision and reasons will be
recorded, for the purposes of informing the parent and any subsequent appeal.
Tie Breakers
Living in the designated area does not guarantee a school place as there may be more
applications from parents living in the designated area than places available. Where this is
the case, the relevant tiebreaker, as explained above, will be applied to decide which of the
applicants can be offered places, and waiting list order.

226

12

Priority will be given within any of the above oversubscription criteria to the applicant whose
permanent home address is nearest to the preferred school in terms of radial (straight line)
distance. Distances will be measured consistently and will be measured as a straight line
between the Local Land and Property Gazetteer (LLPG) address points for the respective
home address and school, using the Easting and Northing for each address point. These
are then used to calculate the distance, to three decimal points, between the two address
points using a ‘direct distance mathematical routine’ within the Capita ONE system used by
the council’s School Admissions Team into which the LLPG address points are
imported. This calculates the distance from the values created through this process using
Pythagoras’ Theorem by measuring the distance in metres between the Easting and
Northing for each end address point then multiplied by 0.000621317 to convert to miles. It
should be noted that this calculation may not be exactly the same as that created by a
Geographical Information System (GIS) product as the GIS product may build in a formula
to allow for the curvature of the earth. This curvature does not begin to affect distance
values until the distance is least 10 miles.
In the unlikely event that two or more children live at the same distance or additional
distance (measured as stated above) from school (including, for example, flats within the
same building), and there are fewer places available, random allocation will be used to
decide which child will be allocated the remaining place(s). This will be by supervised
drawing of lots, carried out by at least two Children’s Services staff.
Residency requirements
Home address
Applications are processed on the basis of the child’s single permanent home address living
with parent(s) or a carer/legal guardian at the closing date for applications. An address will
not be accepted where the child was resident other than with a parent or carer unless this
was part of a private fostering or formal care arrangement.
Checks will be made to determine whether an address declared on the application form is
that of a second home with the main home being elsewhere. If there are two or more
homes, evidence will be required as to which is the main home showing that the other
property is either let out on a long term rental (6 months plus), that the property is
uninhabitable, or that the address is in the process of being sold and the family live
permanently in the declared property. This evidence is required to prove where an
applicant was living at the time of making the application.
Reference to council tax records will be made to determine a single address for
consideration of a place under criteria C or D. It is for the applicant to satisfy the local
authority that they live at the address stated.
After allocation, if an applicant moves from the property they have used in their application
to another property which is within or nearer to the designated area of the preferred school;
the address of the property they originally owned and declared on application will be the
address used for determining their designated area, unless this house has been sold or
rented out for 12 months prior to the closing date for applications.
Applicants will be asked to declare that the address used is expected to be their place of
residence beyond the date of the pupil starting school. Applicants are required to advise of
any change of circumstance at any time prior to the child starting school. If you do not
declare such arrangements, or a different address is used on the application where the child
does not usually live; it will be considered that a false declaration has been made and it may
be decided to decline to offer a place at a particular school, or to withdraw the offer of a

227

13

place. In deciding whether a place was allocated on the basis of a misleading or fraudulent
application, an admissions panel will consider any supporting evidence giving reasons why
the move was necessary prior to the child starting school.
It is important to declare if there is to be a change of address prior to the child starting
school. If the applicant already own a property which is in the process of being sold, we are
able to accept the address of the new property only on submission of the appropriate
evidence in support e.g. exchange of contracts letter on both the new property and, where
possible, disposal of their current property. The deadline for submission of evidence to
support a move is January 15, 2017. If the move takes place later or evidence is submitted
later, the local authority will only be able to consider this information after the initial
allocation of places has taken place and treat the new address for waiting list purposes.
A temporary address cannot be used to obtain a school place. Temporary addresses will
only be considered where evidence is provided of a genuine reason for the move e.g.
flooding or subsidence.
The local authority reserves its right to carry out further investigation and require additional
evidence and to reject applications or withdraw offers of places, if it believes it has the
grounds to do so. In such cases, the applicant will have recourse to putting their application
through the independent appeals process.
Split living arrangements
Where a family claims to be resident at more than one address, justification and evidence of
the family’s circumstances will be required e.g. formal residence order, child arrangements
order or legal separation documentation. The application must be completed by the parent,
at an address which is owned, leased or rented, where the child lives for the majority of the
school week. This is based on the number of school nights a child spends at the home
(Sunday night 1800hrs to Friday 0900hrs).
Where there is an equal split or there is any doubt about residence, the School Admissions
Team will assess and make a judgment about which address to use for the purpose of the
allocation of a school place where necessary requesting further information e.g.








any legal documentation confirming residence
the pattern of the residence
the period of time over which the current arrangement has been in place
confirmation from any previous school or early years setting of the contact details
and home address supplied to it by the parents
the address where child benefit (if applicable) is paid
where the child is registered with the GP
any other evidence the parents may supply to verify the position

It is recommended that consensus is reached by both parents and child on the school
preferences to be expressed and it should be noted that only one offer letter will be sent to
the main applicant unless otherwise requested and agreed by both parents.
The information provided to determine the home address to be used will be considered by
an admissions panel of at least two officers and their decision is final.
Applicants from abroad
An application for a school place can be made from applicants applying for a school place
for their child from abroad, provided that they can provide evidence of their right of abode.

228

14

The address used will be the address where the child is living at the closing date for
applications unless evidence is provided that the family is returning to a property that they
own in the borough. Third party written evidence confirming the details and timing of the
relocation will be required. Adjustments will be made to any waiting lists, if the family
returns later, prior to the start of school. Further advice on the documentation required can
be obtained from the School Admissions Team.
Service Families
Families of UK service personnel who are not yet living in the area will be able to make an
application if it is accompanied by an assignment order declaring a relocation date and
intended address. In the absence of a new home postal address, the authority will use the
former Hazebrouck Barracks (co-ordinates: Easting 476869 and Northing 166249) as the
postal address to determine distance to a preferred school. A letter from the Commanding
Officer or garrison headquarters will be required confirming the living arrangements for
families who are being housed at the army quarters at Arborfield but are assigned to
another base.
Returning Crown Servants
Families of crown servants returning from overseas to live in the Wokingham borough may
apply for a place in advance of their move provided the application is accompanied by an
official letter confirming the posting to the UK and the expected relocation date.
Where a parent is unable to provide confirmation of a relocation address, an indication of
the area may be provided, narrowed down as far as possible, to which the family intend to
return. Preferences will be considered but applications will be considered under criterion G
(other children) until the parent is able to provide confirmation of the new address such as
proof of exchange of contracts or a signed rental agreement. If a place cannot be offered at
a preferred school; no alternative school will be offered until confirmation of the relocation
address within the borough is received but the right of appeal will be advised.
It is the responsibility of parents to keep the school admissions team informed of any
changes to their planned address during the application process.
Waiting lists
Waiting lists will be maintained by the local authority for all schools where necessary for
children not offered a school place at their preferred school until the end of year 2 (infant
schools), year 6 (primary schools) and until September 30 of year 10 to fill places that may
become available during the school year. No account is taken of the length of time spent on
a waiting list.
Positions on waiting lists may go up or down due to pupil withdrawals or new or revised
applications received; therefore waiting lists will be reviewed and revised:

229

15







Each time a child is added to, or removed from, the waiting list
When a child’s changed circumstances will affect their priority
When parents respond to periodic requests to see if they wish to remain on the
waiting list
At the end of a school year; should there be a change in the determined
oversubscription criteria
Children who are the subject of a direction by the local authority to admit or who are
allocated to a school in accordance with a Fair Access Protocol will take precedence
over those on a waiting list.

Parents will be asked to inform Children’s Services if they wish to remain on waiting lists
and will receive requests annually to notify if they wish their child’s name to remain on the
waiting list for the next academic year. Where no response is received by the deadline, the
child’s name will be removed from the waiting list. At all other times, it is the responsibility of
parents to ensure that the school admissions team is informed in writing if they want their
child’s name to be removed from the waiting list or if their circumstances have changed from
the original application.
Waiting list information will be available in accordance with the published timeline.
Schools are required to update the School Admissions Team where they have received
confirmation in writing that a place at their school is no longer required in order that a place
may be filled from the waiting list.
Any places offered from waiting lists will be made by the School Admissions Team,
including offers made on behalf of the governing bodies of own admission authority schools
participating in the co-ordinated scheme.
Schools within the scheme are not permitted to offer places to parents, or indicate that
places are available when a parent visits the school, as schools will not be aware of
applications received and in the process of being allocated.
The child’s name will automatically be placed on a waiting list for preferred school(s) that
cannot be offered, parents must notify the school admissions team if they do not want their
child’s name to remain on the list.
Appeals
A parent, whose application is rejected, because the school is full in the required year
group, has the right of appeal to an independent appeal panel. Information regarding
appeals can be viewed at: www.wokingham.gov.uk/admissions or by contacting the
council’s Democratic Services team by telephoning: (0118) 974 6059.
Applications will be rejected if the admissions authority considers that admitting another
child into an infant class (Key Stage 1) would result in a breach of the infant class
legislation. Parents have the right of appeal against a decision to refuse a place at their
preferred school on this basis. Parents should be aware that this situation could well apply
in a number of primary (or infant) schools, particularly where they have an admission
number of 30, 45 or 60 and are oversubscribed.
An Appeals Panel, where the admissions authority considers that to admit the child would
force it to breach the infant class size, can only allow an appeal if it is satisfied that either:
a) the child would have been offered a place if the admission arrangements had been
properly implemented or if the arrangements had not been contrary to mandatory
provisions in the School Admissions Code and/or

230

16

b) the decision to refuse admission was not one which a reasonable admissions
authority would have made in the circumstances of the case.
In the event of an unsuccessful appeal against non-admission to a school, the local
authority will not consider any further admission, nor is there any automatic right to a further
appeal for admission, within the same academic year (September 1 to August 31) unless
there is an exceptional situation resulting in a significant change of circumstances relevant
to the application.
Appeals are normally heard for the year group applied for, to start in that year group; if a
parent wishes to appeal for the next year group (applicable after the May half-term prior to a
September start), a parent will be asked to submit a new application form for that year
group. The later application will supersede the previous application. Children’s Services
can then ensure that there are no new circumstances to take into consideration prior to the
issuing of a letter refusing the school place.
Multiple births or children with birth dates in the same academic year
Where the application of oversubscription criteria results in splitting twins or other siblings
from a multiple birth in the same school year from the same family; places will be offered
even if this will result in the school going above admission number.
Where the application of oversubscription criteria results in children with dates of birth in the
same school year in the same family, places will be offered even if this will result in the
school going above the admission number with one exception; where to do so will result in
the school breaching infant class size legislation at Key Stage 1 (e.g. class size must not
break 30 children to 1 qualified teacher). In this instance, the places will be allocated by the
drawing of lots carried out by at least two Children’s Services staff members. In such
instances, parents will be offered the place and will need to decide whether they wish their
children to be split or consider placement together at an alternative school after allocation.
Children working out of the normal year group
Whilst places will normally be offered on the basis of the child’s chronological age, requests
from parents for school places outside a normal age group will be considered carefully,
whether for gifted and talented pupils or for those who have experienced problems, e.g.
having missed education due to ill health.
Each case will be considered on its own merits and circumstances but will not be agreed by
Children’s Services without a consensus that to do so would be in the pupil’s interests.
Such a consensus would be reached between the parents, schools concerned (both current
and preferred) and any relevant professionals asked for their opinion on the case by
Children’s Services.
Admission numbers
Admission numbers for each year group will be published in the composite prospectus
published by 12 September 2017.
Designated areas
Only one change to the designated area of Nine Mile Ride Primary School will be proposed
for 2017/2018. No changes to designated areas were proposed for other community or
voluntary controlled schools and therefore the designated areas determined in 2016/2017
will apply for 2017/2018.

231

17

This page is intentionally left blank

APPENDIX D

PROPOSED SIXTH
FORM ADMISSIONS
POLICY
FOR COMMUNITY
SECONDARY SCHOOLS

2017/2018

Proposed - part of the admission
arrangements for entry to community
schools in 2017/2018

233

1

APPENDIX D
GUIDANCE ON SIXTH FORM ADMISSION POLICY AT COMMUNITY
SECONDARY SCHOOLS IN THE WOKINGHAM BOROUGH

1.

Entitlement to sixth form education

Every young person has a legal duty to participate in education or training up to their
18th birthday. This may include sixth form education.
The majority of secondary schools in the Wokingham borough have sixth forms.
Pupils in individual schools are entitled to be considered for entry into their school
sixth form provided they meet the entry criteria for individual courses and that there
are sufficient spaces to meet their requirements.
The following admission numbers for external candidates only were determined in
March 2015 for Wokingham Borough community secondary schools and will apply to
external admissions in 2017/2018. Places will be offered first to year 11 students
within the school and then to external candidates provided an appropriate course is
available for a suitably qualified student.
School
The Bulmershe
The Emmbrook
St Crispin’s

2.

Admission number
20
20
30

Inclusion

Wokingham Borough Council has an inclusive education policy and children will not
be discriminated against as laid down by the Human Rights Act 1998, Equality Act
2010 and School Standards & Framework Act 1998 as amended.
This model policy should ensure equity and fair access ensuring that all applicants
are able to understand the process and how oversubscription criteria will be applied.

3.

Background

The responsibility for determining the admissions arrangements for sixth forms in
community secondary schools is the responsibility of the local authority.
Administration of sixth form admissions is delegated by the local authority to
secondary schools, based on the adoption of this model policy.
This policy does not apply to The Forest, The Holt, Maiden Erlegh orThe Piggott
Schools or Waingels College as their admission arrangements are determined by
each school’s Academy Trust Board.

4.

Applying for entry into sixth forms

External applications should be made on the school’s application form and forwarded
to the school’s Head of Sixth Form by the required deadline. The application form to
be used must be submitted to the local authority by 1 October each year to ensure
that it meets the requirements of the School Admissions Code. The form must allow

234

2

APPENDIX D
for applications from both parents and prospective students themselves. The form
must allow applicants to give reasons for applying.
Internal students do not have to apply formally for a place in the sixth form, although
they or their parents are entitled to apply for entry to the sixth form at another school.
Interviews with student or their families must not be held to determine a place;
although meetings may be arranged to provide advice on options and entry
requirements for particular courses.
Entry to courses in the sixth form will not be dependent on attendance, behaviour
record, or perceptions of attitude or motivation.
To ensure transparency; schools will publicise what courses are available; the entry
requirements for each; any maximum places or minimum numbers to run a particular
course, and provide statistics about the number of internal and external candidates
accepted and refused on each course, plus the number of applications received for
each course in the previous year. The course entry requirements for external
candidates must be the same as those applied to internal pupils transferring to the
sixth form.
Schools will provide this statistical information to the local authority in September
each year in order that a report may be prepared for the Schools Admissions Forum.

5.

Consultation

The policy and guidance will be reviewed on an annual basis and included in any
future consultation on admissions arrangements for community schools.
Once the admission arrangements are determined by the Council’s Executive, all
community secondary schools are required to adopt the agreed model policy.

6.

Start dates

All students are required to start on, or the first school day after, 1 September 2017.

7.

Use of personal data

All personal information is covered by the Data Protection Act 1998 and will be held
by the school and used for the purposes of admissions. The information will be kept
secure and strictly confidential and will not be used for any other purpose.
The school and local authority reserves the right to verify the information given on the
application form. Any offer of a place will be on the basis that the information
supplied is accurate and up to date.
Please note the information will not be disclosed to any other organisation without
parental consent other than other local authorities or government agencies, e.g.
Learning Skills Council. If you require further information about how this data will be
used, please contact the school.

235

3

APPENDIX D
Any place offered may be withdrawn if information provided is later proved to be false
or misleading.

8.

Decisions and appeals

Whenever a decision is made not to offer a place in the sixth form, whether the
candidate is internal or external, an explanation of the decision must be provided in
writing, together with advice on their right to appeal and how to do so. Please note
that both the parent and the individual student have separate and joint rights of
appeal. Such appeals will be heard at the same time. It is the school’s responsibility
to present its case at appeal and to ensure that any paperwork is provided in time to
the clerk to the appeal panel.

236

4

APPENDIX D
Glossary
Published Admission The number of places to that the admission authority must offer
Number
in each relevant age group for a school for which it is admission
authority. The published admission number must relate only to
those being admitted to the school for the first time and should
be based on an estimate of the minimum number of external
candidates likely to be admitted, although it would be
acceptable to exceed this if demand for available courses can
be met.
Oversubscription
Where a school has a higher number of applicants than the
schools’ published admission number each year
Designated Area
A geographical area, from which students may be given priority
for admission to a setting
Application Deadline Date by which applications must be received for initial
consideration for a place
Late Application
Application received between the application deadline and the
date agreed for communication of offer of places
In-year Application
Application received after the date agreed for communication of
offer of places
Parent
A parent is defined in law (Education Act 1996) as including
any person who has parental responsibility (as defined in the
Children Act 1989) for a child or young person. Having care of
a child or young person means that a person with whom the
child lives and who looks after the child, irrespective of what
their relationship is with the child, is considered to be a parent
in education law.
Applicant
In this document, can mean either a parent or a child, as both
have rights to apply and to appeal under these admissions
arrangements.
Home Address
Where the student spends the majority of the school week
(Sunday 1800hrs to Friday 0900hrs) including nights.
Looked
after
or A “looked after child” is a child who is (a) in the care of a local
previous looked after authority, or (b) being provided with accommodation by a local
children
authority in the exercise of their social services function (see
definition in section 22(1) of the Children Act 1989).
A previously looked after child is a child who was looked after
by a local authority but ceased to be so because they were
adopted, or became the subject of a child arrangements order
or special guardianship order. This includes children who were
adopted under the Adoption Act 1976 (see section 12 adoption
orders) and children who were adopted under the Adoption and
Childrens Act 2002 (see section 46 adoption orders). It also
includes children who have been provided with child
arrangement orders (previously known as residence orders)
under the provisions of section 14 of the Children & Families
Act 2014 which amends section 8 of the Children Act 1989 and
children with a special guardianship order appointing one or
more individuals to be a child’s special guardian under section
14A of the Children Act 1989.

237

5

APPENDIX D
SIXTH FORM ADMISSION POLICY AT
WOKINGHAM BOROUGH COMMUNITY SECONDARY SCHOOLS

General
The majority of secondary schools in the Wokingham Borough have sixth forms and
students in their schools are entitled to be considered for entry into their school sixth
form provided they meet the entry criteria for individual courses and that there are
sufficient spaces to meet their requirements.
The responsibility for determining the admissions policy for sixth forms in community
secondary schools is the responsibility of the local authority.
Administration of sixth form admissions at community schools is delegated by the
local authority to secondary schools.
The Forest, The Holt, Maiden Erlegh and The Piggott Schools and Waingels College
admissions policies are determined by the schools’ governing body or Academy
Trust Board.
Interviews with student or their families must not be held to determine a place;
although meetings may be arranged to provide advice on options and entry
requirements for particular courses.
Entry to courses in the sixth form will not be dependent on attendance, behaviour
record, or perceptions of attitude or motivation. Course entry criteria for external
applicants will be the same as that applied to internal students.
Under the Education & Skills Act 2008, where an application is rejected on the
grounds that the student does not meet the course entry criteria, the school may offer
an alternative course of study. The student also has a legal duty to remain in
learning and/or training until their 18th birthday.
Admission Number
The following admission numbers for external candidates only are determined for
Wokingham Borough community secondary schools. Places will be offered first to
year 11 students within the school and then to external candidates provided an
appropriate course is available for a suitably qualified student.
School
The Bulmershe
The Emmbrook
St Crispin’s

Admission number
20
20
30

Applications
Both parents and prospective students themselves have separate rights to apply for
place at a school sixth form. They must apply by the deadline given in the school
prospectus and the application form to the nominated person on the application form.
(The term ‘applicant’ is used in the rest of this policy, to mean either parents or
prospective students).

238

6

APPENDIX D
Places allocated will be offered in accordance with the published admissions criteria.
Applicants should ensure that they read the admissions policy and complete the
standard application form for admission to the sixth form.
Offers of places to external students are subject to the school confirming date of birth
or right of abode by examination of the birth certificate and/or student’s passport, as
appropriate. Students must have the legal right of residence in the United Kingdom
at the start of their study programme. Failure to provide evidence, or providing
evidence which shows the information provided at application to be incorrect, may
lead to the offer being withdrawn.
Applications will be considered by a committee of the Governing Body, or this may be
delegated to the Headteacher or Head of Sixth Form plus at least one other member
of staff nominated by the Governing Body.
Applicants will be asked to declare that the address used will be expected to
be their place of residence beyond the date of the student starting at the
school. The offer of a place may be withdrawn if false or misleading
information is given.
Allocation of places (oversubscription criteria)
In the case of oversubscription for a place on a particular course, places will be
offered first to students within the school and then to external applicants, using,
where applicable, the same course entry minimum qualification requirements.
Young people with a statement of special educational needs or an Education, Health
and Care Plan that name a school in the statement or plan are required to be
admitted to the school that is named and who meet the academic requirements for
the course. The admissions authority does not have the right to refuse admission.
The following oversubscription criteria will be used to allocate the available places
(see note one) on those courses that receive more applications meeting the course
entry qualifications than can be accommodated, in descending order of priority:
A

Priority will be given to ‘looked after children and children who were looked
after, but ceased to be so because they were adopted or became subject to a
child arrangements order or special guardianship order’ (previously looked
after children) (see note 2)

B

External students who meet the academic requirements for the level of course
applied for, as published in the school prospectus.

Note 1

External admission numbers for the sixth form for each community school is
shown on page 6. All pupils attending the school at the end of Year 11 will be
offered places in the Sixth Form provided that they meet the minimum
requirements for the relevant course. Applications from those not attending the
school will also be considered. All those offered places will be offered places on
the courses they wish to follow subject to their meeting the specified academic
requirements for those courses and there being places available. When students
are offered a place at the school but a course they wish to pursue is full, they will
be offered an alternative course.

239

7

APPENDIX D

Note 2
A “looked after child” is a child who is (a) in the care of a local authority, or (b) being
provided with accommodation by a local authority in the exercise of their social
services function (see definition in section 22(1) of the Children Act 1989).
A previously looked after child is a child who was looked after by a local authority but
ceased to be so because they were adopted, or became the subject of a child
arrangements order or special guardianship order. This includes children who were
adopted under the Adoption Act 1976 (see section 12 adoption orders) and children
who were adopted under the Adoption and Childrens Act 2002 (see section 46
adoption orders). It also includes children who have been provided with child
arrangement orders (previously known as residence orders) under the provisions of
section 14 of the Children & Families Act 2014 which amends section 8 of the
Children Act 1989 and children with a special guardianship order appointing one or
more individuals to be a child’s special guardian under section 14A of the Children
Act 1989.
Applications received under the Criterion A must be made by the person with
parental responsibility for the child (e.g. the child’s social worker, acting on behalf of
the local authority for a looked after child) and will need to be supported by the
following official documentation, as applicable:



confirmation by the home local authority that the child is looked after or
confirmation by the local authority that last looked after the child
confirming that the child was looked after immediately prior to the issuing
of one of the orders detailed above.

Tie Breaker
Priority will be given within any of the above oversubscription criteria to the applicant
whose permanent home address is nearest to the preferred school in terms of radial
(straight line) distance. Distances will be measured consistently and will be
measured as a straight line between the Local Land and Property Gazetteer (LLPG)
address points for the respective home address and school, using the Easting and
Northing for each address point. These are then used to calculate the distance
between the two address points, to three decimal points, using a ‘direct distance
mathematical routine’ within the Capita ONE system used by the council’s School
Admissions Team into which the LLPG address points are imported. This calculates
the distance from the values created through this process using Pythagoras’
Theorem by measuring the distance in metres between the Easting and Northing for
each end address point then multiplied by 0.000621317 to convert to miles. It should
be noted that this calculation may not be exactly the same as that created by a
Geographical Information System (GIS) product as the GIS product may build in a
formula to allow for the curvature of the earth. This curvature does not begin to affect
distance values until the distance is least 10 miles.
Where the school is oversubscribed, further information will be required to verify the
home address e.g. council tax or utility bill. Applicants may also be required to
provide other supporting evidence such as benefit payment arrangements or medical
card.
When families move to the designated area, documentary evidence of the move
must be provided e.g. rental agreement or exchange of contracts.

240

8

APPENDIX D

Where a family claims to be resident at more than one address, applicants will be
required to provide justification and evidence of a family’s circumstances (e.g. legal
separation). If a student spends part of the week with parents at different addresses,
the home address will be where they usually spend the majority of the school week
(Sunday 1800hrs to Friday 0900hrs), including adjacent nights) with a parent.
Waiting Lists
Waiting lists will not be held for sixth form admissions.
Late Applications
If an application is received after the deadline and before the date applicants are
notified of places, this will be considered ‘late’. Late applications will be considered
after the allocation of places and notified after the main allocation date, unless
exceptional circumstances apply, e.g. hospitalisation of a parent or a family has just
moved into the area. In such instances, evidence will be required.
Applications received after the normal admissions round
Applications received after the notification date will be considered as an ‘in-year’
application. Places will only be offered if places on requested courses are available
and the student meets academic requirements of the course.
Multiple births or children with birth dates in the same academic year
Allocation of places is based on individual students meeting the requirements of their
chosen course. No guarantee of a place is given to other siblings applying to the
school from the same family.
Accepting or declining the offer of a place
Places are offered on the understanding that there is a commitment to meet the
academic requirements of the course.
Applicants are required to accept or decline the allocated place using the form sent
with the allocation letter.
The form must be returned to the school within two weeks from the date of the offer
letter. If a form is not received, there will be one further written warning and failure to
respond may result in the place being withdrawn.
Applicants are requested to advise the school at any stage, if you are not
accepting the place for any reason.
Appeals
Where it is decided that an internal or external student is not offered a place because
they do not meet the requirements of a particular course, the school will offer an
alternative course of study.
Applications may be rejected because the applicant does not meet minimum entry
standards published for entry to the sixth form, or – in the case of external applicants
– because the sixth form is full. In all cases, the school will provide a letter of

241

9

APPENDIX D
explanation to the applicant of the decision to reject their application together with an
explanation of how to appeal.
The student and their parent; may appeal separately or jointly appeal against nonadmission to an independent panel. This will be explained in the school’s decision
letter. Appeals should be made to:
Clerk to the Appeals Panel
Wokingham Borough Council
Democratic Services
Shute End
Wokingham
RG40 1WQ
Tel No: 0118 974 6053
Information on appeals is also available at:
http://www.wokingham.gov.uk/schools/schoolappeals/

242

10

Agenda Item 101.
TITLE

Proposed Community Asset Transfer - Lease of
East Park Farm Drive Leisure Facility to Charvil
Parish Council

FOR CONSIDERATION BY

The Executive on 18 February 2016

WARD

Charvil

DIRECTOR

Graham Ebers, Director of Finance and Resources

LEAD MEMBER

Philip Mirfin, Executive Member for Regeneration and
Communities

OUTCOME / BENEFITS TO THE COMMUNITY
A Community Asset Transfer Lease of East Park Farm Drive leisure facility to Charvil
Parish Council (CPC) will enable the Borough Council (WBC) to maintain ownership of
the land and protect and preserve the public open space whilst at the same time
empowering local people through Charvil Parish Council to deliver the management of
local facilities. This in turn will bring social value and ownership by delivering locally
inspired facilities for local residents and at the same time present an opportunity for the
facility to become self-sustainable and income generating.
RECOMMENDATION
That the Executive approves the transfer of East Park Farm Drive sports and leisure
facilities under a Lease for 30 years to Charvil Parish Council (CPC) as highlighted
within the red boundary in Appendix 1 and on the terms set out in Appendix 2.
SUMMARY OF REPORT
Charvil Parish Council has expressed an interest in taking responsibility for the future
management of East Park Farm Drive leisure facility and park, by way of a long lease on
a shared income basis in lieu of a standard rent.
No other alternative uses have been proposed by the Borough Council and as such the
option is the only considered, against current use.
The proposed agreement sees the phased transfer of the current WBC budget for the
park to CPC over the next 4 years, with a reduction of 20% each year. This would
reduce the ongoing costs for WBC by over £4,000 per annum until the park was selfsufficient.
The supporting business case provided by CPC requires a 30 year term in order to
support the ability to obtain a children’s nursery provider or such other community
service provider, which would then contribute towards the generation of investment and
income. All existing and future profit obtained by CPC would also be shared with WBC
and it is anticipated that this would lead to an income of £3-4,000 per annum.
The agreement would retain a break clause to be operable by WBC with not less than 2
years written notice in the event that the land, or any part thereof, is identified for
redevelopment purposes in accordance with the Local Plan and any subsequent
revisions to this plan. Thereby retaining such control with the Borough Council.

243

Background
East Park Farm Drive leisure facility comprises a park with sports pavilion, tennis court,
play area, sports fields and car park as shown in Appendix 1. The car park is shared
with Charvil Piggott School who also have exclusive use of one tennis court. In addition,
the park adjoins a residential area with some residents creating unauthorised access
directly onto the Council’s land which puts pressure on limited resources to resolve.
The current cost to the Council of funding this park is approximately £23,000 per annum
excluding fees for resources to manage unauthorised access issues.
Charvil Parish Council has expressed an interest in taking responsibility for the future
management of this park by way of a long lease on a shared income basis in lieu of a
standard rent.
In support of this proposal CPC provided a detailed business case setting out proposals
to maximise the use of the facilities and generate an increasing income to a level that
will make the park financially self-sufficient and sustainable with a potential for profit in
the future. A longer lease is required to support the required investment to attract a
children’s nursery provider to share the facilities and thus support the sustainability of
the business case.
Subject to contract and formal approval, negotiations between the Borough Council and
CPC have resulted in a proposal for a 30 year lease with a break clause operable by
WBC on a minimum of 2 years notice in the event that the land or any part thereof is
identified for an alternative use within adopted planning policy documents. Thereby
retaining such control with the Borough Council. Please see appendix 2 .
The proposal also provides for a transfer of existing WBC budget on a phased basis and
a 50% profit share of the income, details of which are set out with other proposed terms
in Appendix 2.
The current budget and proposed income details are set out more specifically in
Appendix 3. In summary it is proposed that the current WBC budget for this park be
transferred to CPC, less 20%, and reducing by 20% each year. In addition, the budget
for maintenance as detailed in the condition survey will also transfer along with the
responsibility for the work identified in the report. A condition survey will be completed
prior to the grant of the lease. Whilst the lease is being granted on a full repairing and
insuring basis it has been proposed that the budget allocation for dealing with
maintenance issues identified to be addressed in the first five years and which the
Borough would otherwise have to meet, will also be transferred.
CPC will also deal with the current and any future unauthorised encroachments and / or
accesses once taking a lease, in consultation with WBC Officers and in accordance with
policies and procedures.
Central Government requires local authorities to reduce the number of assets in its
control and to empower communities to deliver services at a local level. These goals
can be addressed by transferring assets from Borough Council control to local Town
and Parish Council control, but in accordance with Borough requirements through the
terms of the lease. This has the advantage of local level powers to attract funding and
support and savings for WBC with a potential for increased revenue for both parties.

244

Other uses were requested from across the Council using the standard consultation
process, but no other options were forthcoming. As a result this would appear to be the
best possible option for the Council.
Analysis of Issues
The Borough Council will lose direct control; however, there does not appear to be any
short to medium-term requirements for this asset.
The costs associated with ongoing management of the asset will reduce due to the
agreement in place with this liability transferring to CPC.
There could be income generated by CPC due to the key goals of the associated
Business Plan, and with a profit share agreement, this would enable WBC to further
benefit financially from the agreement.
Transferring the asset in this way reduces the need for WBC staff resources to provide
day to day management and officer support as well as reducing officer resources to deal
with rent reviews and because lease renewals will only be negotiated every 30 years.
At a local level, CPC is able to provide a service to meet the current needs of its
community and to attract other users to maximise the use of the asset, whilst at the
same time attracting support from volunteers to contribute towards the management and
maintenance of the asset in a more cost effective way. The community and users of the
facilities will be able to have any issues addressed at a local level.

Business Case
The cost associated with the maintenance of the asset will reduce due to the transfer of
this community facility under the proposed agreement. This will immediately reduce the
liability associated with the asset as a going concern by 20% and then by a further 20%
for the subsequent 3 years until the cost to the Borough Council ceases.
In addition, the business case provided by CPC is ambitious and aims to increase
income streams. Due to the proposed profit share within the agreement, any further
income received would provide an additional income stream for the Borough Council.
Therefore, no matter if the income is realised in future years, or not, the Borough
Council will be better off through the reduction in the ongoing costs.
FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS OF THE RECOMMENDATION
The Council faces severe financial challenges over the coming years as a result
of the austerity measures implemented by the Government and subsequent
reductions to public sector funding. It is estimated that Wokingham Borough
Council will be required to make budget reductions in excess of £20m over the
next three years and all Executive decisions should be made in this context.
How much
will it Cost/
(Save)

Current Financial Year
Saving (Year 1 – 2016/17)

(£1.406)

245

Is there sufficient funding –
if not quantify the Shortfall

No shortfall - income
generation will outweigh
expenditure

Revenue or
Capital?

Revenue

Next Financial Year saving
(Year 2 – 2017/18)
Following Financial Year
Saving (Year 3 2018/19)

(£6,124)

(£11,006)

No shortfall - income
generation will outweigh
expenditure
No shortfall - income
generation will outweigh
expenditure

Revenue

Revenue

Other financial information relevant to the Recommendation/Decision
CPC are in agreement with the proposed heads of terms and would like the lease to
commence 1 April 2016
The results of the condition survey have identified works required to this asset and
these will be considered in terms of the Council’s overall repairing obligations for its
entire portfolio.
The centralised maintenance budget for 2016/17 will identify the Council’s intended
expenditure on this asset and the maintenance budget allocation for East Park Farm
assets will be transferred to CPC. Any works in future years will be funded by CPC as
outlined within the agreement.
In accordance with works identified within the condition survey a further £2,072.98 will
be transferred meet the obligations. This transfer of assets will reduce the long term
financial burden on the Council in respect of management and maintenance and
encourage external income and improve the quality of facilities to local residents and
users.

Cross-Council Implications
The transfer of this asset to CPC by way of a long lease will enhance cross Council
working and deliver bespoke local sporting and recreational facilities managed and
developed at a local level. It is supported by Community Services.

Impact on Workforce
Staff time will be reduced on dealing with day to day management of this asset,
although some time will still be dedicated to monitor the income generated and lease
compliance.
Impact on ICT
None
Impact on Customer
The customer and users of community assets will be able to deal with use related
matters at a local level through the Town or Parish Councils.

List of Background Papers
None

246

Contact Chris Gillett

Service Strategic Assets

Telephone No 01189 746688

Email chris.gillett@wokingham.gov.uk

Date

Version No. 2

9 February 2016

247

Appendix 1 - Site Plan East Park Farm

248

Appendix 2 - Heads of Terms for East Park Farm Lease to Charvil Parish Council
1.

Property

Land, buildings and structures forming East Park Farm, Charvil.

2.

Term

Up to 30 years with effect from 1/4/2016

3.

Break Clause

Operable by Charvil Parish Council (CPC) after the 2nd and 5th years of the term. Thereafter, tenant only break by giving
one year’s notice with one exception as detailed below.
Break clause to be operable by WBC with 6 months’ notice following an independent audit and it is found to be that the
standard of service has reduced and/or if the business plan objective has failed to be delivered.
Break clause operable by WBC on a minimum of 2 years notice in the event that the land or any part thereof is identified
for an alternative use within adopted planning policy documents.

249

4.

Use

All existing contracts to continue unless detrimental to the business plan objectives, specifically in relation to the School’s
use of assets under this agreement, and any additional social or commercial use to be subject to WBC consent as landlord
which will not unreasonably be withheld.

5.

Rent and
Income

Rent to be 50% of the net profit made by the CPC. Net profit to be income less all expenditure including an allowance of
1% of gross income for management fees.

6.

Hire Charges &
Concessions

Room hire fees to be set by CPC. Existing concessions and contracts to be honoured, WBC to continue use on the current
terms (subject to inflation) for the first two years of the lease and WBC to be granted 10% discounted booking rates for use
of facilities for the duration of the lease.

7.

Phased Budget
& Financial
Support

WBC to offer a contribution as shown in the financial table below/attached. 80% of the average WBC budget based on
expenditure incurred over the previous 3 year period. (Budget income and expenditure to be disclosed to CPC prior to
transfer). This will reduce by 20% each year to enable the project to become established. All operational running costs
including responsibilities for maintenance will be met by the lessee as will any short fall from the transferred budget. An
agreed schedule of items will form part of this agreement, e.g., car park maintenance.

8.

Insurance,
Repair &
Maintenance
and Condition
Surveys

Premises will be let to CPC on full repairing and insuring leases. Responsibility for insurance will remain with WBC and the
cost of the premium recharged to the CPC, subject to CPC agreement that best value has been achieved. Prior to letting,
a Condition Survey will be carried out by WBC and a phased budget transferred to CPC specifically for undertaking the
works identified in the Survey (this in addition to the phased budget in paragraph 7). CPC will be bound to complete the
identified works within specified times. A copy of the Condition Survey is to be attached to the lease.

9.

Rates and Taxes

Responsibility of CPC and subject to any concessions that WBC is able to provide.

10. Cleaning

All aspects of cleaning to be CPC responsibility, including litter / waste bins/waste management.

11. Improvement
and Investment

CPC to provide detail of initial improvements and investment committed to generating increased use of the facilities and
increased income. Improvements and investment to be delivered within 2 years of the date of the lease following
agreement by WBC and CPC.
WBC not to unreasonably withhold tenants request to improve or alter premises.

250

12. New signage

Signage to direct all enquiries to new providers to be put in place within 3 months of the lease completion.

13. Public Notice
and
Communication

CPC to take responsibility to inform the local community of the changes to management arrangements and proposed
changes to the use of the assets (which will be compliant with planning consents and lease user clauses). CPC is also
required to carry out periodic reviews (a minimum of every five years) to ensure activities remain in line with the
community’s needs and aspirations. WBC to provide community engagement and consultation support as required.

14. Business Plan

CPC will be required to demonstrate affordability within 5 years, unsupported by WBC. To be reviewed by WBC Officers
annually to ensure continued service delivery and performance. Annual accounts will be monitored by WBC Finance
Officer.

15. WBC Service
Contracts

CPC will be given the opportunity to benefit from WBC contracts through a framework agreement for maintenance of parks
and open spaces, waste etc. and the Condition Survey contracts. There is a possibility that CPC may need to buy into
existing contracts until those contracts are reviewed.

16. Community
Service

CPC to support the Community Service Arrangements by participation in providing work for the Community Pay Back
Scheme and/or Blue Sky (or future similar service provider) or similar schemes by employing these services where
possible, provided that value for money is achieved in accordance with WBC guidance and approvals.

Appendix 3 -

Current Budget and Proposed Income

Year

251

16/17
17/18
18/19
19/20
20/21
TOTAL

Anticipated
Budget to
budget and
transfer
expenditure
from WBC
(based on
to CPC (20%
current
reduction
budget)
per annum)
£23,105
£18,484
£23,507
£14,104
£23,917
£9,567
£24,336
£4,867
£24,762
£0
£119,627
£47,022

Income
projections
(based on
current
income)
£6,430
£6,559
£6,690
£6,824
£6,960
£33,463

Anticipated WBC Benefit
Income
from Budget
(50% share)
Reduction
£3,215
£3,280
£3,345
£3,412
£3,480
£16,732

£4,621
£9,403
£14,350
£19,469
£24,762
£72,605

WBC Profit
Difference

-£3,215
-£3,280
-£3,345
-£3,412
-£3,480
-£16,732

Total Benefit
to WBC

£1,406
£6,123
£11,005
£16,057
£21,282
£55,873

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 102.
TITLE

Acquisition of Property (28 Mylne Square)

FOR CONSIDERATION BY

The Executive on 18 February 2016

WARD

Norreys

DIRECTOR

Stuart Rowbotham, Director of Health and Wellbeing

LEAD MEMBER

John Kaiser, Executive Member for Planning and
Highways

OUTCOME / BENEFITS TO THE COMMUNITY
To provide additional affordable rented housing for the borough.
To ensure value for money of the retained Right to Buy receipts
RECOMMENDATION
Executive is recommended to agree the retrospective acquisition of 28 Mylne Square as
set out in this report; funded from retained Right to Buy receipts and the Housing
Revenue Account.
SUMMARY OF REPORT
Wokingham Borough Council entered into a contract with the Department of
Communities and Local Government in2012. The agreement allowed Wokingham
Borough Council to retain a proportion of Right to Buy receipts. The contract states that
Wokingham Borough Council has to spend the retained receipt within 3 years. If not
spent in in line with the contract the council has to repay the receipt plus interest at a
rate of 4% above the base rate. A copy of the contract can be found at Appendix A.

253

Background
Wokingham Borough Council was offered 28 Mylne Square under pre-emption rights in
November 2015, it was originally purchased under Right to Buy on 20th Sept 2007 for
£197,000.
The Strategic Assets Manager was requested by the Head of Housing to progress the
purchase of the property on behalf of the Housing Revenue Account.
Analysis of Issues
The government’s Right to Buy scheme seeks to extend home ownership but in
recognition that Right to Buy can reduce the availability of affordable rented options the
government offered Local Authorities the option, subject to certain restrictions, to retain
a proportion of the Right to Buy receipts to re-invest in affordable homes. One of the key
conditions is that retained receipts must be used for the purposes of providing
affordable rented homes within 3 years. Failure to use the retained receipts requires the
council to return the receipts to HM Treasury plus a 4% above base rate charge.
28 Mylne Square, previously part of the council’s housing stock became available for
purchase. In terms of value for money, ex-council properties represent good value
against the general housing market. It is in the interests of the Housing Revenue
Account therefore to progress this acquisition now. Following discussion with lead
members and Senior Officers it was agreed to undertake this action now prior to
Executive consideration in order to secure the purchase.

The funding of scheme is broken down below:

Estimated expenditure for 28 Mylne Square
Funded by
30% Right to buy (one for one re-investment
reserve)
Attributable debt on reserve (HRA Ring-fenced)
Total

£
332,000

99,600
232,400
332,000

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS OF THE RECOMMENDATION
The Council faces severe financial challenges over the coming years as a result
of the austerity measures implemented by the Government and subsequent
reductions to public sector funding. It is estimated that Wokingham Borough
Council will be required to make budget reductions in excess of £20m over the
next three years and all Executive decisions should be made in this context.
How much will it
Cost/ (Save)
Current Financial
Year (Year 1)
Next Financial Year

£322K

Is there sufficient
funding – if not
quantify the Shortfall
Yes

0

-

254

Revenue or
Capital?
Capital

(Year 2)
Following Financial
Year (Year 3)

0

-

Other financial information relevant to the Recommendation/Decision
Budget is available in year.
Cross-Council Implications
None
List of Background Papers
None
Contact Simon Price
Telephone No 01189743755
Date 9 February 2016

Service Tenant Services
Email simon.price@wokingham.gov.uk
Version No. 1

255

This page is intentionally left blank

Agreement – Section 11(6) of the Local Government Act 2003
This agreement is made pursuant to section 11(6) of the Local Government
Act 2003.

Parties
The Secretary of State for Communities and Local Government (“the
Secretary of State”) and
…………. ……………………. (“the Authority”).
This agreement comprises 10 pages
General
1. In this agreement :
“the due date”, “quarter” and “the relevant quarter” have the same
meaning as in the Regulations;
“receipts” means the receipts to which Schedule 1 to the Regulations
applies;
“retained amount” means the amount calculated in Part 1;
“the Regulations” mean the Local Authority (Capital Finance and
Accounting) (England) Regulations 2003;
“social housing” means low cost rental accommodation as defined by
section 68(1)(a) of the Housing and Regeneration Act 2008;
“the sub-liability” means the sub-liability calculated under Schedule 1 to
the Regulations;
the terms ”A”, “E”, “F”,“G”, “J” and “K” used in this agreement have the
same meaning as in Schedule 1 to the Regulations.
2. This agreement applies to receipts received on or after 1st April 2012 (“the
commencement date”).

257

1

3. The Authority is not required to pay to the Secretary of State such portion
of the sub-liability calculated in accordance with Part 1 of this agreement
provided the Authority complies with the conditions set out in this
agreement.

4. The Authority must use the retained amounts for the provision of social
housing. Any amounts not used for this purpose must be paid to the
Secretary of State and interest will be payable calculated in accordance
with paragraph vi of Part 1.

5. The Authority must provide the information set out in Parts 1 and 4 of this
agreement to the Secretary of State at the times and in any format the
Secretary of State may request.

6. This agreement may be terminated by the Secretary of State by giving
notice of one quarter.

7. This agreement may be amended by agreement.

Part 1 - Calculation of the portion of the sub-liability that the Authority
may retain.
i.

Where in any quarter –

A is more than (3.39847729 x G) + E + F + J
the Authority may retain an amount (“the retained amount”) up to–

K less (2.398347729 x G).

ii.

The Authority must inform the Secretary of State of the following by the
due date of the relevant quarter(a) the value of K less (2.398347729 x G);
(b) the retained amount; and

258

2

(c) any amount not retained by the Authority.

iii.

Where the Authority has informed the Secretary of State (under
paragraph ii(c)) that an amount will not be retained, the Authority must
pay that amount to the Secretary of State by the due date of the
relevant quarter.

iv.

Where the Authority has informed the Secretary of State that an
amount will not be retained and fails to pay that amount on the due
date of the relevant quarter, interest is payable and incurred from the
due date until the Authority pays that amount to the Secretary of State.

v.

Where the Authority does not inform the Secretary of State of the
amount it will not retain by the due date of the relevant quarter, it will be
assumed that the retained amount for that quarter is the full amount the
Authority may retain and where an amount is not retained and is paid
to the Secretary of State, interest will be payable and incurred from the
due date until the date the Authority pays that amount to the Secretary
of State.

vi.

The Authority may pay any part of the retained amount to the Secretary
of State and where it does so, interest is payable and incurred from the
due date of the relevant quarter in which the retained amount was
retained by the Authority until the date it is paid to the Secretary of
State.

Part 2– Return of retained amounts
i.

This Part applies where 13 quarters have expired since the
commencement date.

ii.

In this Part :
“the reckonable quarter” means the quarter 12 quarters prior to
the relevant quarter;

259

3

“quarter 1” means the quarter in which the commencement date
falls;
A is the total of the retained amounts for all quarters from
quarter 1 to the reckonable quarter;
“the total amount spent on the provision of social housing” is the
amount spent on the provision of social housing from quarter 1
to the last day of the relevant quarter;
R is the total of the returnable amounts calculated under
paragraph iv of this Part and amounts paid to the Secretary of
State under paragraph vi of Part 1 for all the quarters from
quarter 1 to the reckonable quarter.

iii.

The total retained amount is calculated as follows –
A – R.

iv.

Where on the last day of the relevant quarter, the total retained
amount exceeds 30% of the total amount spent on the provision of
social housing, the Authority must pay to the Secretary of State the
portion of the total retained amount in excess of 30% of the total
amount spent on the provision of social housing (“the returnable
amount”).

v.

Where the Authority must pay a returnable amount to the Secretary
of State under paragraph iv of this Part, interest is payable,
calculated and incurred from the due date of the reckonable quarter
until the date the returnable amount is paid to the Secretary of
State.

Part 3 - Calculation of interest

Where interest is payable under this agreement, it will be calculated at
a rate of 4% above the base rate on a day to day basis compounded
with three-monthly rests and “base rate” has the same meaning as in
the Regulations.

260

4

Part 4 - Provision of information

On the due date of each relevant quarter the Authority must provide to
the Secretary of State the details of the number of starts on site since
the commencement date.
“Start on site” means the earlier of commencement of the following by
the Authority or other body to which the Authority has paid all or part of
the retained amount for the purpose of providing social housing:

(a)

excavation for strip or trench foundations or for pad footings;

(b)

digging out and preparation of ground for raft foundations;

(c)

vibrofloatation, piling, boring for piles or pile driving; or

(d)

drainage work specific to the buildings forming part of the
scheme.

Part 5 – The amount spent on the provision of social housing

i.

The amount spent on the provision of social housing shall not
include any expenditure which has been used or which the authority
intends to use to(a)

reduce a capital receipt under regulation 15(1)(c) of the

Regulations (capital allowance); or
(b)

buy back a relevant interest defined in paragraph 3(1)(b)

of the Schedule to the Regulations and claim buy back
allowance in respect of that expenditure under paragraph 3 of
the Schedule to the Regulations.

261

5

ii.

The amount spent on the provision of social housing shall not
include any expenditure on dwellings which are social housing at
the time of the expenditure.

iii.

The amount spent on the provision of social housing is the amount
spent by the Authority or by a body to which the Authority has paid
some or all of the retained amounts (such body must not be a body
in which the Authority holds a controlling interest) on the
development costs associated with the provision of social housing
for the benefit of the Authority’s area.

iv.

Where the Authority has paid all or some of the retained amounts to
a body for the purpose of contributing towards the cost of providing
social housing, the Authority must ensure that only retained
amounts provided by the Authority have been used by such body
for the provision of social housing for the benefit of the Authority.

v.

Social housing is provided for the benefit of the Authority where it is
situated in the area of the Authority or the Authority has nomination
rights in respect of the social housing.

vi.

The amount spent on social housing includes the following:

(a)

the development costs associated with the acquisition of
dwellings to be used as social housing;

(b)

the development costs associated with the acquisition of land
for the construction of dwellings to be used as social
housing;

(c)

the development costs of the construction of dwellings to be
used as social housing.

vii.

In this Part “development costs” means the costs set out in Part 6.

262

6

Part 6 – Development costs
Development costs means the costs relating to the development of
social housing in respect to the heads of expenditure set out below.
Heads of expenditure
1

Acquisition

1.1

Purchase price of land/site.

1.2

Stamp Duty Land Tax on the purchase price of land/site.

2

Works

2.1

Main works contract costs (excluding any costs defined as on
costs).

2.2

Major site development works (where applicable). These
include piling, soil stabilisation, road/sewer construction,
major demolition.

2.3

statutory agreements, associated bonds and party wall
agreements (including all fees and charges directly
attributable to such works) where applicable.

2.4

Additional
costs
associated
with
complying
with
archaeological works and party wall agreement awards
(including all fees, charges and claims attributable to such
works) where applicable.

2.5

Irrecoverable VAT on the above (where applicable).

3

On costs

3.1

Legal fees and disbursements.

3.2

Net gains/losses via interest charges on development period
loans.

3.3

Building society or other valuation and administration fees.

3.4

Fees for building control and planning permission.

3.5

Fees and charges associated with compliance with European
Community directives, and any requirements relating to
energy rating of dwellings, Eco-Homes certification and
Housing Quality Indicators.

263

7

3.6

In-house or external consultants’ fees, disbursements and
expenses (where the development contract is a design and
build contract) (see note 1 below).

3.7

Insurance premiums including building warranty and
defects/liability insurance (except contract insurance included
in works costs).

3.8

Contract performance bond premiums.

3.9

Borrowing administration charges (including associated legal
and valuation fees).

3.10

An appropriate proportion of the development and
administration costs of the Authority or the body in receipt of
funding from the Authority.

3.11

Irrecoverable VAT on the above.

Note 1
Where the development contract is a design and build contract, the
on-costs are deemed to include the builder’s design fee element of
the contract sum. The amount included by the builder for design fees
should be deducted from the works cost element referred to above,
as should other non-works costs that may be submitted by the
builder such as fees for building and planning permission, building
warranty, defects liability insurance, contract performance bond and
energy rating of dwellings.
Note 2
Some items will not qualify as development costs unless the
Authority can clearly demonstrate that such costs are properly
chargeable to the social housing, i.e. for the sole use of the residents
or to comply with any statutory obligations that may have been
imposed.
Examples of these are as follows:


works to any roads which do not exclusively serve the social
housing;

264

8



landscaping to areas of land which lie outside the boundaries of
the land on which the social housing is situated;



district heating systems;



trunk sewers and sewage disposal works;



special refuse treatment buildings;



public conveniences;



community halls, club rooms, recreation rooms.

Note 3
Subject to the above, where any cost incurred or to be incurred by the
Authority or a body in receipt of funding from the Authority is common
both to the development of the social housing and to any other
activity, asset or property of the Authority or a body in receipt of
funding from the Authority, only such part of that cost as is attributable
to the development of the social housing may be treated as a cost in
respect of which the retained amount may be paid.

Signed on behalf of the Authority by ………………………………………………
(insert name and position in capitals)

……………………………………………………………….. (add signature and
date)

265

9

Signed on behalf of the Secretary of State by Graham Duncan – Deputy
Director – Affordable Housing Regulation and Investment

…………………………………………………………………………(add signature
and date)

266

10

Agenda Item 103.
TITLE

Acquisition of Property (20 Billing Avenue)

FOR CONSIDERATION BY

The Executive on 18 February 2016

WARD

Finchampstead

DIRECTOR

Stuart Rowbotham, Director of Health and Wellbeing

LEAD MEMBER

John Kaiser, Executive Member for Planning and
Highways

OUTCOME / BENEFITS TO THE COMMUNITY
To provide additional affordable rented housing for the borough.
To ensure value for money of the retained Right to Buy receipts
RECOMMENDATION
Executive is recommended to agree the retrospective acquisition of 20 Billing Avenue as
set out in this report; to be funded from retained Right to Buy receipts and the Housing
Revenue Account.
SUMMARY OF REPORT
Wokingham Borough Council entered into a contract with the Department of
Communities and Local Government in2012. The agreement allowed Wokingham
Borough Council to retain a proportion of Right to Buy receipts. The contract states that
Wokingham Borough Council has to spend the retained receipt within 3 years. If not
spent in in line with the contract the council has to repay the receipt plus interest at a
rate of 4% above the base rate. A copy of the contract can be found at Appendix A.

267

Background
20 Billing Avenue was originally purchased under Right to Buy on 12th May 1986 for
£13,600.
The Strategic Assets Manager was requested by the Head of Housing to progress the
purchase of the property on behalf of the Housing Revenue Account.
Analysis of Issues
The government’s Right to Buy scheme seeks to extend home ownership but in
recognition that Right to Buy can reduce the availability of affordable rented options the
government offered Local Authorities the option, subject to certain restrictions, to retain
a proportion of the Right to Buy receipts to re-invest in affordable homes. One of the key
conditions is that retained receipts must be used for the purposes of providing
affordable rented homes within 3 years. Failure to use the retained receipts requires the
council to return the receipts to HM Treasury plus a 4% above base rate charge.
20 Billing Avenue, previously part of the council’s housing stock became available for
purchase. In terms of value for money, ex-council properties represent good value
against the general housing market. It is in the interests of the Housing Revenue
Account therefore to progress this acquisition now. Following discussion with lead
members and Senior Officers it was agreed to undertake this action now prior to
Executive consideration in order to secure the purchase.
The funding of scheme is broken down below:
Estimated expenditure for 20 Billing Avenue
Funded by
30% Right to buy (one for one re-investment
reserve)
Attributable debt on reserve (HRA Ring-fenced)
Total

£
232,000

69,600
162,400
232,000

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS OF THE RECOMMENDATION
The Council faces severe financial challenges over the coming years as a result
of the austerity measures implemented by the Government and subsequent
reductions to public sector funding. It is estimated that Wokingham Borough
Council will be required to make budget reductions in excess of £20m over the
next three years and all Executive decisions should be made in this context.
How much will it
Cost/ (Save)
Current Financial
Year (Year 1)
Next Financial Year
(Year 2)

£232K

Is there sufficient
funding – if not
quantify the Shortfall
Yes

0

-

268

Revenue or
Capital?
Capital

Following Financial
Year (Year 3)

0

-

Other financial information relevant to the Recommendation/Decision
Budget is available in year.
Cross-Council Implications
None
List of Background Papers
None
Contact Simon Price
Telephone No 01189743755
Date 9 February 2016

Service Tenant Services
Email simon.price@wokingham.gov.uk
Version No. 1

269

This page is intentionally left blank

Agreement – Section 11(6) of the Local Government Act 2003
This agreement is made pursuant to section 11(6) of the Local Government
Act 2003.

Parties
The Secretary of State for Communities and Local Government (“the
Secretary of State”) and
…………. ……………………. (“the Authority”).
This agreement comprises 10 pages
General
1. In this agreement :
“the due date”, “quarter” and “the relevant quarter” have the same
meaning as in the Regulations;
“receipts” means the receipts to which Schedule 1 to the Regulations
applies;
“retained amount” means the amount calculated in Part 1;
“the Regulations” mean the Local Authority (Capital Finance and
Accounting) (England) Regulations 2003;
“social housing” means low cost rental accommodation as defined by
section 68(1)(a) of the Housing and Regeneration Act 2008;
“the sub-liability” means the sub-liability calculated under Schedule 1 to
the Regulations;
the terms ”A”, “E”, “F”,“G”, “J” and “K” used in this agreement have the
same meaning as in Schedule 1 to the Regulations.
2. This agreement applies to receipts received on or after 1st April 2012 (“the
commencement date”).

271

1

3. The Authority is not required to pay to the Secretary of State such portion
of the sub-liability calculated in accordance with Part 1 of this agreement
provided the Authority complies with the conditions set out in this
agreement.

4. The Authority must use the retained amounts for the provision of social
housing. Any amounts not used for this purpose must be paid to the
Secretary of State and interest will be payable calculated in accordance
with paragraph vi of Part 1.

5. The Authority must provide the information set out in Parts 1 and 4 of this
agreement to the Secretary of State at the times and in any format the
Secretary of State may request.

6. This agreement may be terminated by the Secretary of State by giving
notice of one quarter.

7. This agreement may be amended by agreement.

Part 1 - Calculation of the portion of the sub-liability that the Authority
may retain.
i.

Where in any quarter –

A is more than (3.39847729 x G) + E + F + J
the Authority may retain an amount (“the retained amount”) up to–

K less (2.398347729 x G).

ii.

The Authority must inform the Secretary of State of the following by the
due date of the relevant quarter(a) the value of K less (2.398347729 x G);
(b) the retained amount; and

272

2

(c) any amount not retained by the Authority.

iii.

Where the Authority has informed the Secretary of State (under
paragraph ii(c)) that an amount will not be retained, the Authority must
pay that amount to the Secretary of State by the due date of the
relevant quarter.

iv.

Where the Authority has informed the Secretary of State that an
amount will not be retained and fails to pay that amount on the due
date of the relevant quarter, interest is payable and incurred from the
due date until the Authority pays that amount to the Secretary of State.

v.

Where the Authority does not inform the Secretary of State of the
amount it will not retain by the due date of the relevant quarter, it will be
assumed that the retained amount for that quarter is the full amount the
Authority may retain and where an amount is not retained and is paid
to the Secretary of State, interest will be payable and incurred from the
due date until the date the Authority pays that amount to the Secretary
of State.

vi.

The Authority may pay any part of the retained amount to the Secretary
of State and where it does so, interest is payable and incurred from the
due date of the relevant quarter in which the retained amount was
retained by the Authority until the date it is paid to the Secretary of
State.

Part 2– Return of retained amounts
i.

This Part applies where 13 quarters have expired since the
commencement date.

ii.

In this Part :
“the reckonable quarter” means the quarter 12 quarters prior to
the relevant quarter;

273

3

“quarter 1” means the quarter in which the commencement date
falls;
A is the total of the retained amounts for all quarters from
quarter 1 to the reckonable quarter;
“the total amount spent on the provision of social housing” is the
amount spent on the provision of social housing from quarter 1
to the last day of the relevant quarter;
R is the total of the returnable amounts calculated under
paragraph iv of this Part and amounts paid to the Secretary of
State under paragraph vi of Part 1 for all the quarters from
quarter 1 to the reckonable quarter.

iii.

The total retained amount is calculated as follows –
A – R.

iv.

Where on the last day of the relevant quarter, the total retained
amount exceeds 30% of the total amount spent on the provision of
social housing, the Authority must pay to the Secretary of State the
portion of the total retained amount in excess of 30% of the total
amount spent on the provision of social housing (“the returnable
amount”).

v.

Where the Authority must pay a returnable amount to the Secretary
of State under paragraph iv of this Part, interest is payable,
calculated and incurred from the due date of the reckonable quarter
until the date the returnable amount is paid to the Secretary of
State.

Part 3 - Calculation of interest

Where interest is payable under this agreement, it will be calculated at
a rate of 4% above the base rate on a day to day basis compounded
with three-monthly rests and “base rate” has the same meaning as in
the Regulations.

274

4

Part 4 - Provision of information

On the due date of each relevant quarter the Authority must provide to
the Secretary of State the details of the number of starts on site since
the commencement date.
“Start on site” means the earlier of commencement of the following by
the Authority or other body to which the Authority has paid all or part of
the retained amount for the purpose of providing social housing:

(a)

excavation for strip or trench foundations or for pad footings;

(b)

digging out and preparation of ground for raft foundations;

(c)

vibrofloatation, piling, boring for piles or pile driving; or

(d)

drainage work specific to the buildings forming part of the
scheme.

Part 5 – The amount spent on the provision of social housing

i.

The amount spent on the provision of social housing shall not
include any expenditure which has been used or which the authority
intends to use to(a)

reduce a capital receipt under regulation 15(1)(c) of the

Regulations (capital allowance); or
(b)

buy back a relevant interest defined in paragraph 3(1)(b)

of the Schedule to the Regulations and claim buy back
allowance in respect of that expenditure under paragraph 3 of
the Schedule to the Regulations.

275

5

ii.

The amount spent on the provision of social housing shall not
include any expenditure on dwellings which are social housing at
the time of the expenditure.

iii.

The amount spent on the provision of social housing is the amount
spent by the Authority or by a body to which the Authority has paid
some or all of the retained amounts (such body must not be a body
in which the Authority holds a controlling interest) on the
development costs associated with the provision of social housing
for the benefit of the Authority’s area.

iv.

Where the Authority has paid all or some of the retained amounts to
a body for the purpose of contributing towards the cost of providing
social housing, the Authority must ensure that only retained
amounts provided by the Authority have been used by such body
for the provision of social housing for the benefit of the Authority.

v.

Social housing is provided for the benefit of the Authority where it is
situated in the area of the Authority or the Authority has nomination
rights in respect of the social housing.

vi.

The amount spent on social housing includes the following:

(a)

the development costs associated with the acquisition of
dwellings to be used as social housing;

(b)

the development costs associated with the acquisition of land
for the construction of dwellings to be used as social
housing;

(c)

the development costs of the construction of dwellings to be
used as social housing.

vii.

In this Part “development costs” means the costs set out in Part 6.

276

6

Part 6 – Development costs
Development costs means the costs relating to the development of
social housing in respect to the heads of expenditure set out below.
Heads of expenditure
1

Acquisition

1.1

Purchase price of land/site.

1.2

Stamp Duty Land Tax on the purchase price of land/site.

2

Works

2.1

Main works contract costs (excluding any costs defined as on
costs).

2.2

Major site development works (where applicable). These
include piling, soil stabilisation, road/sewer construction,
major demolition.

2.3

statutory agreements, associated bonds and party wall
agreements (including all fees and charges directly
attributable to such works) where applicable.

2.4

Additional
costs
associated
with
complying
with
archaeological works and party wall agreement awards
(including all fees, charges and claims attributable to such
works) where applicable.

2.5

Irrecoverable VAT on the above (where applicable).

3

On costs

3.1

Legal fees and disbursements.

3.2

Net gains/losses via interest charges on development period
loans.

3.3

Building society or other valuation and administration fees.

3.4

Fees for building control and planning permission.

3.5

Fees and charges associated with compliance with European
Community directives, and any requirements relating to
energy rating of dwellings, Eco-Homes certification and
Housing Quality Indicators.

277

7

3.6

In-house or external consultants’ fees, disbursements and
expenses (where the development contract is a design and
build contract) (see note 1 below).

3.7

Insurance premiums including building warranty and
defects/liability insurance (except contract insurance included
in works costs).

3.8

Contract performance bond premiums.

3.9

Borrowing administration charges (including associated legal
and valuation fees).

3.10

An appropriate proportion of the development and
administration costs of the Authority or the body in receipt of
funding from the Authority.

3.11

Irrecoverable VAT on the above.

Note 1
Where the development contract is a design and build contract, the
on-costs are deemed to include the builder’s design fee element of
the contract sum. The amount included by the builder for design fees
should be deducted from the works cost element referred to above,
as should other non-works costs that may be submitted by the
builder such as fees for building and planning permission, building
warranty, defects liability insurance, contract performance bond and
energy rating of dwellings.
Note 2
Some items will not qualify as development costs unless the
Authority can clearly demonstrate that such costs are properly
chargeable to the social housing, i.e. for the sole use of the residents
or to comply with any statutory obligations that may have been
imposed.
Examples of these are as follows:


works to any roads which do not exclusively serve the social
housing;

278

8



landscaping to areas of land which lie outside the boundaries of
the land on which the social housing is situated;



district heating systems;



trunk sewers and sewage disposal works;



special refuse treatment buildings;



public conveniences;



community halls, club rooms, recreation rooms.

Note 3
Subject to the above, where any cost incurred or to be incurred by the
Authority or a body in receipt of funding from the Authority is common
both to the development of the social housing and to any other
activity, asset or property of the Authority or a body in receipt of
funding from the Authority, only such part of that cost as is attributable
to the development of the social housing may be treated as a cost in
respect of which the retained amount may be paid.

Signed on behalf of the Authority by ………………………………………………
(insert name and position in capitals)

……………………………………………………………….. (add signature and
date)

279

9

Signed on behalf of the Secretary of State by Graham Duncan – Deputy
Director – Affordable Housing Regulation and Investment

…………………………………………………………………………(add signature
and date)

280

10

Agenda Item 104.
TITLE

Council Owned Companies Business

FOR CONSIDERATION BY

The Executive on 18 February 2016

WARD

None specific

DIRECTOR

Graham Ebers, Director of Finance and Resources

LEAD MEMBER

Keith Baker, Leader of The Council

OUTCOME / BENEFITS TO THE COMMUNITY
Transparency in respect of Council Owned Companies
RECOMMENDATION
The Executive is asked to:
1)
note the budget monitoring position for the month ending 31 December 2015;
2)

note the operational update for the period to 31 January 2016;

3)

approve Wokingham Housing Remit Document;

4)

approve Optalis Remit Document;

5)

approve Wokingham Housing Business Plan (as previously presented to the
Executive at the January 2016 meeting);

6)

approve the Optalis Business Plan (as set out in the Part 2 document).

SUMMARY OF REPORT
Strategy and Objectives of the Council’s Subsidiary Companies
There has been no change to the Strategy and Objectives of the Council’s Subsidiary
Companies since the last report to Executive in January 2016.
Operational Update
An operational update is provided from each of the companies as at 31 January 2016 in
paragraph 2 below.
Financial Report
A budget monitoring report is provided for each of the companies for December 2015,
which confirms that overall the group has incurred a deficit as forecast. This again reflects
the high level of WHL capital works being undertaken which has previously been
reported, and which will be followed in later years by income flows from the investments.
This together with the management costs of WBC (Holdings) Ltd offset the profit earned
by Optalis Ltd. The position for each of the companies is explained in paragraph 3 below.

281

WHL & Optalis Remit Documents and Business Plans
Background
As part of the Governance Framework, Council owned companies are required to
produce a Business Plan in response to the Council’s Remit Document. The Remit
Documents for WHL and Optalis are shown in Appendices 1 & 2, the WHL Business Plan
is in Appendix 3 (this has already been presented to the Executive at the January
meeting) and the Optalis Business Plan is in Part 2.

REPORT
1. Directorship Report
There have been no changes to the directorships of the group companies since the last
report to Executive.

2. Operational Update to 31 January 2016
2.1 WBC (Holdings) Ltd
WBC (Holdings) Ltd does not undertake any operations as it is a holding company.
2.2 Optalis Ltd









CQC compliance:
o The action plan required for Suffolk Lodge has been delivered and a reinspection has taken place confirming full compliance.
o Outstanding registered manager applications have been submitted and are
awaiting evaluation by CQC.
o Deregistration of the learning disability registered care homes (Pinta, Orchard
House, and Santa Maria) has taken place with the registration of a new
category of ‘Independent Living Services’.
o The outcome of the inspection of Beeches Manor during December was an
overall outcome of ‘Good’ with all five sub-domains also judged ‘Good’.
o Due to the departure in early January of the managers of Alexandra Place and
Beeches Manor, the structure of Extra Care services is being reviewed, and in
the short terms this represents a compliance risk. However the inspector
receives regular updates and has provided advice to inform SMT’s
deliberations on the structure.
No Care Governance Ratings are currently in place.
Sickness absence overall for December was an average rate of 11.7 days per year
and an underlying short term rate of 9.7; this represents a decrease in the overall rate,
but a significant increase in the underlying rate. Analysis is taking place and early
indications suggest an improving trend for January.
Performance on the LTS Home Care block contract has improved with consistent
delivery over 300 hours per week in recent months which is significant in view of
historical under performance. Crucially, due to this stronger performance the team has
now invited referrals for private home care.
Recruitment to the Head of Service in Brokerage & Professional Support has been

282





successful and the post is currently under offer.
Following the successful contract win of Nicholson House Extra Care scheme in
Abingdon, the TUPE consultation and due diligence process has commenced. The
service is set to transfer on 15 February 2016.
Recruitment to the Data Analyst post is now complete and the candidate joined the
team in mid-January. The role supports all aspects of compliance and quality related
performance reporting.
We are pleased to report successful recruitment to the role of Customer Engagement
Champion. The candidate will take up the post on 1 April 2016.

Business Development:
Oxfordshire County Council
 Optalis has been awarded a contract to provide Extra Care Housing at Nicholson
House in Abingdon. The transfer of the service is expected to take place on 15
February 2016. In addition to this Optalis expects to be able to generate further spot
contracts for domiciliary care.
 A further tender has been won for the extra-care framework agreement, which enables
Optalis to bid for new schemes in future. Formal notification has been received and we
are currently in the stand-still period.
Wokingham
 Optalis has been notified that it will be engaged by WBC commissioners as the
provider of choice for a new extra care scheme in Woodley (Bulmershe) set to open in
October 2016 (subject to due diligence and value for money). The value of this contract
is not yet known.
West Berkshire
 Optalis will be reapplying to join the home care framework for the authority.
Harrow
 We are pursuing an extra care opportunity being tendered by Harrow local authority.
The scheme is a new build with 47 flats with care currently being provided by another
provider.
Bury
 The LATC consultancy work with Bury MBC concludes on 1 February – a year’s
successful engagement. The intention is to write up a case study for use in
marketing/brand awareness activity.
Nottinghamshire
 A LATC consultancy contract has been won with Nottinghamshire CC, in partnership
with Stepping Out consultants (partners in the Bury contract). The work focuses on
reviewing and developing the authority’s Outline Business Case and Options
Appraisal in consideration of the development of a LATC. The initial contract is for four
days (10 days in total, six to be delivered by Stepping Out) for Phase 1, to be
delivered by the MD.

283

2.3 Wokingham Housing Ltd (WHL)
2.3.1 WHL Completed schemes:
There are no landlord operational matters to report on the management of either Hillside
or Vauxhall Drive.
2.3.2 WHL Schemes in Progress and/or Development:
Phoenix Avenue: Hill Partnership have completed the additional demolition clearance
work and have commenced the construction phase in mid-January 2016. Completion is
expected in March 2017, with initial handovers starting in February 2017.
The clearance of additional demolition materials will impact on the delivery of the project
pushing completion back by between 4-6 weeks.
Fosters Extra Care Home: We have had to extend the period for returns of tenders at the
request of the bidders as a result of the more detailed tender pack we provided them with.
This is unlikely to have a major effect on start on site timescales with the expected start
on site being April 2016.
Pipe-line sites: As part of the Small Contractor Framework process we are tendering our
first three sites with planning permission – Grovelands, Barrett Crescent and Anson Walk
– as part of the Framework arrangements.
Loddon Homes: We have received further feedback from the Homes and Communities
Agency (HCA) in response to our further submission of information before Christmas. The
HCA remain unconvinced by Loddon Homes independence from the Council and we are
working with the HCA and our external advisors on how best to address these concerns
in a variety of ways to progress the registration of Loddon Homes as a Registered
Provider.

3.

Financial Report
Budget Monitoring for 2015-16 financial year (To 31 December 2015)

3.1 WBC Group Consolidated, (i.e. comprising WBC (Holdings) Ltd, Wokingham
Housing Group, and Optalis Group).
The figures shown below represent the overall expenditure and income of the Council’s
subsidiary companies. Budget figures are being reviewed by WHL and therefore an
overall comparison of spend against budget is not possible for the Group at present:
At the operational level, the net deficit was £37k.

3.2 WBC (Holdings) Ltd
A loss of £146k is reported compared to a budgeted loss of £248k. This is largely due to a
saving on interest as anticipated works on Eustace Crescent were rephased, and the

284

budget is currently being reviewed.

3.3 Optalis












The post-tax result for December is a profit of £13.2k - favourable to budget by £11.6k
(budget £1.6k profit). The main reason for the variance is the year to date reversal of
corporation tax provision of £8.2k.
The profit for the month excluding the corporation tax adjustment was £4.9k.
The key favourable variances to budget relate to new business from Independent
Living Services (Orchard and Shipman) plus backdated Suffolk Lodge Dementia unit
income, and cost savings from the deferral of appointments to the Chairperson,
external NED, and Managing Director roles respectively.
These were mitigated by unfavourable variances in agency spend, and lack of private
homecare growth.
The December result assumes a drawdown of £8k against the budgeted underwriting
of £100k made by WBC against the impact of implementing the National Pay
Agreement in January 2015 (YTD £40k).
The YTD pre-tax result is a profit of £46.0k - favourable to budget by £10.8k (budget
£35.2k).
The full year pre-tax result is forecast at £60k (which is after a return of £250k to the
Commissioner as budgeted).
Net assets at 31 December are £232k (budget £182k).
Cash at 31 December was £407k (budget £815k).
The YTD December results are summarised below:

Total Company
Dec YTD

Actual

Budget

Turnover
Costs
Operating Profit

(£000)
8,801
(8,689)
112

(£000)
8,265
(8,154)
111

Budget
Variance
(£000)
536
(535)
1

Depreciation

(66)

(68)

2

Profit before tax

46

35

3

Corporation tax

0

(8)

8

Net profit

46

35

11

285

3.4 Wokingham Housing (Including Wokingham Housing Ltd & Loddon Homes Ltd)

Total Sub Group
DECEMBER

Dec
Actual

Dec
Budget

Budget
Variance

Prior Mth
Actual

Variance

(£000)

(£000)

(£000)

(£000)

(£000)

Income
Costs

7
(32)

15
(62)

(8)
30

9
(106)

(34)
(28)

Operating Loss

(25)

(47)

22

(97)

(63)

Non Trading costs
Depreciation

(2)

(2)

0

(2)

0

Loss before Tax

(27)

(49)

22

(99)

(63)

Taxation

-

-

-

-

-

Net Loss

(27)

(49)

22

(99)

(63)

Wokingham Housing Limited (Consolidated)
P09: December Year To Date
Profit and Loss Account for
the period to 31st December
2015

Actual

Budget

Variance

£

£

£

Income

68,636

113,199

(44,563)

Operating Expenditure

(479,633)

(542,601)

62,968

Operating Loss

(410,998)

(429,402)

18,404

Income for December 2015 is £7k (Year to date £69k). Against budget this represents a
shortfall in month of £8k (YTD behind by £45k). This is due to timing of income and this
billing is now expected later in the year. Operating expenditure is underspent in the
month by £30k due to an expectation of expenditure spent both earlier in the year and in
terms of administrative support for the Housing Association registration. YTD expenditure
is also underspent by £63k principally in conjunction with the shortfall in income but also
in connection with lower payroll costs and lower repairs costs but offset by higher
professional fees.
The Net Loss position of £27k in the month and Net Loss of £411k YTD are £22k and
£18k ahead of budget.

286

Balance Sheet
Capital Expenditure of £594k in the year includes the initial contractor payments for the
build of Phoenix Avenue of £400k.
Net assets total £605k at 31st December 2015. In total there are 1,900,000 issued and
fully paid Ordinary £1 shares held by WBC (Holdings) Ltd. The share capital remains at
£1.9m.

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS OF THE RECOMMENDATION
The Council faces severe financial challenges over the coming years as a result
of the austerity measures implemented by the Government and subsequent
reductions to public sector funding. It is estimated that Wokingham Borough
Council will be required to make budget reductions in excess of £20m over the
next three years and all Executive decisions should be made in this context.
How much will it
Cost/ (Save)
Current Financial
Year (Year 1)
Next Financial Year
(Year 2)
Following Financial
Year (Year 3)

See other financial
implications below
See other financial
implications below
See other financial
implications below

Is there sufficient
funding – if not
quantify the Shortfall
Yes

Revenue or
Capital?

Yes

Revenue

Yes

Revenue

Revenue

Other financial information relevant to the Recommendation/Decision
The Council will benefit from reduced costs in commissioning services, the interest and
management charges to WBC (Holdings) Ltd and future profits paid out as dividend.
These will be factored into the Medium Term Financial Plan under the appropriate
service.
Cross-Council Implications
No Cross-Council Implications
Reasons for considering the report in Part 2
The Optalis Business Plan contains commercially sensitive information
List of Background Papers
None
Contact Emma Lyons
Telephone No 07769957900

Service Resources
Email
Emma.Lyons@wokingham.gov.uk
Version No. 3

Date 09 February 2016

287

This page is intentionally left blank

WBC (Holdings) Limited

Remit document in relation to Wokingham
Housing Limited Group

March 2016

289

1

Table of contents

1

Context

Page 3

1.1

Introduction

Page 3

1.2

The purpose of the Remit document

Page 3

2.

The Company’s Strategy

Page 3

2.1

Overall Objectives & Aims

Page 3

2.2

Performance in 2014-15

Page 4

2.3

Objectives & Aims for 2015-16

Page 5

3.

Governance

Page 6

3.1

Relationships between the Company and the Council

Page 6

3.2

WBC Holdings Limited

Page 6

3.3

Reporting performance to the Council

Page 6

3.4

Key Performance Indicators

Page 6

4.

Directors Authority

Page 7

290

2

1 Context
1.1 Introduction
The Wokingham Housing group of companies includes Wokingham Housing Limited
and Loddon Homes Limited. These companies (collectively “the Company”) are
private limited liability companies wholly owned by Wokingham Borough Council (“the
Council”) through its shareholding in WBC (Holdings) Limited.
The Councils intention in setting up the Company is to contribute towards four
objectives which are aligned with the Councils overall corporate agenda:




Contribute to the discharge of housing duties and legislation
Provide value for money
Generate profits and pay dividends or alternatively savings for the Council

The Council’s intention is therefore that the Company becomes a commercial, viable
and sustainable company which has demonstrable value in terms of its resource and
expertise.

1.2 The purpose of the Remit document
The Remit document is produced by the Council to supplement the 3 year and
annual business plan for the Company, and sets out the Company’s strategic
objectives. It also sets out the procedures by which the Council monitors the strategic
performance of the Company in its capacity as the sole shareholder in the Company.
The Remit document is set by the Board of WBC Holdings Limited (on behalf of the
Council) after consultation with the Councils commissioners and officers, and the
Company. The Company will implement the objectives of the Remit document
through its own annual business plan. The Company and the Board of WBC Holdings
Limited shall monitor the performance of the delivery of the business plan against the
expectations within this Remit.

2 The Company’s Strategy
2.1 Overall Objectives and Aims
The Council’s long term high level objectives for the Company include:

Housing Development
 Delivery of the following agreed schemes, to time and on budget
o Phoenix Crescent – 68 units of mixed tenure affordable housing dwellings
as agreed by the Council
o Foster Extra Care – 34 one bed affordable extra care units or a mix of
extra care and short term reablement flats as agreed with the Council

291

3

o
o
o
o

Barrett Crescent – 2 x 2 bedroomed flats on a mix of affordable rent and
shared ownership as agreed with the Council
Grovelands – 6 x 2 bedroomed houses on tenure or disposal as agreed
by the Council
Anson Walk – 2 x 1 bedoom flats and 2 x 2 bedroomed flats, all at
affordable rents as agreed with the Council
Norton Rd – 3 x 2 bedroomed houses and 6 x 2 bedroomed flats on
tenure or disposal as agreed by the Council

o

Development Opportunities
 Working collaboratively with the Council, to bring forward other development
options with regard to the Council’s land holdings or other options, always having
regard to the Council’s planning policies
Developer of Choice
To work collaboratively with the Council with regard to the development of affordable
housing outside of the Strategic Development Locations and to ensure that s106
commuted sums earmarked for housing are used to develop housing in the borough
in a timely fashionWorkforce Commitment
 To employ a workforce of valued, high performing, motivated, committed and
customer-focused staff. To ensure that the workforce feels empowered to deliver
services that are appropriate, customer centric and right first time. To be the
Employer of Choice for the local housing sector.
New Business
 Delivery of new business growth and income from outside of the Council to
enable an ongoing financial return to continue to be delivered to the Council. To
seek opportunities for growth where growth can be achieved within the
framework provided or seek investment or resources from the Council.
Housing Policy
 To actively contribute to the Council’s implementation of and compliance with
national policy, directives, statutory guidance and instruments and statute as it
affects the council’s housing responsibilities. In particular to work as a strategic
partner in the pursuit of the provision of the full range of affordable housing
options.

2.2 Performance in 2014-15
Delivery
 The Company brought forward its programme for delivery of the two agreed
schemes Phoenix Avenue and Fosters Extra Care in accordance with the project
plan excepting some minor delay in procurement that will not adversely affect
delivery target date.
 There have been no other significant issues in this reporting period.

292

4

Governance
 Significant changes in senior management personnel were successfully managed
during the year, ensuring the stability of the company.
 Governance protocols have been significantly strengthened in the course of the
year, ensuring effective oversight of the company by the board of directors and
successful collaboration with Wokingham Borough Council stakeholders.
Project Service Delivery
 Wokingham Housing Ltd has worked constructively with the council to deliver key
projects.
Financial Return to the Council
 The Company, by nature, cannot deliver a return to the Council until build out
and tenanting of its major schemes and as such returns will not be provided until
the 2017/18 financial period

3 Governance
3.1 Relationships between The Company and The Council
The Council has a number of relationships with the Company which serve distinct
functions, namely:
 Shareholder – The Council owns 100% of the shares in the Company and
appoints directors to the Board. This relationship is addressed through the
Articles of Association which is the constitution of the Company supplemented by
a Group Operating Protocol Document and this Remit Document. This
shareholder monitoring role is discharged by the corporate shareholder as
advised by the Board of WBC (Holdings) Limited.
 Commissioner of Services – The Council will commission the Company to deliver
housing development on behalf of the Council and will monitor the performance of
the Company (through the Services Agreement).
 Support services – The Council provides some back and middle office support
functions to the Company in relation to accommodation etc. set out in a support
Services Agreement and recouped on a fully recharged basis. By negotiation,
Wokingham Housing Ltd may choose to vary the support services provided by the
Council.

3.2 WBC Holdings Limited
The Board of WBC Holdings Limited will consist of elected members of the Council. The
WBC Holdings Board will meet every calendar month as a minimum with invited
attendees from the board of the Company and interested stakeholders.

3.3 Reporting Performance to The Council

293

5

The Company will report to the Board of WBC Holdings Limited its actual and
projected operational and financial performance against the objectives agreed
between the Council and the Company in accordance with the Annual Business Plan.
The agreed performance reporting will include:






Report on key operational issues and events
Risks, issues and mitigation
Financial performance of the Company on a monthly basis
Forward-looking projections of financial performance
Additional issues or support required from the Council

3.4 Key Performance Indicators
The Council’s key performance indicators for the Company are: Delivery of the currently agreed affordable housing schemes to time and budget
Bringing forward coherent plans for further development at scale to deliver c100
affordable homes per annum
Development of the commercial arm of the organisation to provide income to the
Council through dividend

The Council requires the Company to set out in its three year business plan how the
Company will deliver the expected performance over the period of the business case.

4 Directors Authority
The Directors shall only exercise their powers of management of the Company
strictly in accordance with the Articles of Association and the Group Operating
Protocol and shall immediately put in effect the directions and requirements of the
Council as notified to the Directors by the Council (as being a resolution of the
shareholder).

294

6

WBC (Holdings) Limited

Remit document in relation to Optalis
Group

March 2015

295

1

Table of contents

1

Context

Page 3

1.1

Introduction

Page 3

1.2

The purpose of the Remit document

Page 3

2.

The Company’s Strategy

Page 3

2.1

Overall Objectives & Aims

Page 3

2.2

Performance in 2014-15

Page 4

2.3

Objectives & Aims for 2015-16

Page 5

3.

Governance

Page 6

3.1

Relationships between the Company and the Council

Page 6

3.2

WBC Holdings Limited

Page 6

3.3

Reporting performance to the Council

Page 6

3.4

Key Performance Indicators

Page 6

4.

Directors Authority

Page 7

296

2

1 Context
1.1 Introduction
The Optalis group of companies includes Optalis Limited, Optalis Holdings Limited
and Optalis (Wokingham) Limited. These companies (collectively “the Company”) are
private limited liability companies wholly owned by Wokingham Borough Council (“the
Council”) through its shareholding in WBC (Holdings) Limited.
The Councils intention in setting up the Company is to contribute towards four
objectives which are aligned with the Councils overall corporate agenda:





Contribute to the discharge of social services duties and legislation
Provide value for money
Seek business with other statutory bodies and private fee payers
Generate profits and pay dividends or alternatively savings for the Council

The Council’s intention is therefore that the Company becomes a commercial, viable
and sustainable company which has demonstrable value in terms of its resource and
expertise.

1.2 The purpose of the Remit document
The Remit document is produced by the Council to supplement the 3 year and
annual business plan for the Company, and sets out the Company’s strategic
objectives. It also sets out the procedures by which the Council monitors the strategic
performance of the Company in its capacity as the sole shareholder in the Company.
The Remit document is set by the Board of WBC Holdings Limited (on behalf of the
Council) after consultation with the Councils commissioners and officers, and the
Company. The Company will implement the objectives of the Remit document
through its own annual business plan. The Company and the Board of WBC Holdings
Limited shall monitor the performance of the delivery of the business plan against the
expectations within this Remit.

2 The Company’s Strategy
2.1 Overall Objectives and Aims
The Councils long term high level objectives for the Company include:
Service Delivery
 Identifying improvements and delivery of the agreed services under the contract
with the Council to the satisfaction of the Commissioner taking account of
volume, quality and compliance.
Project Service Delivery

297

3



Supporting the Council in the delivery of other relevant social care projects aimed
at generating efficiencies or achieving innovation through strategic and
operational partnership working. This may include taking opportunities of
partnership working with the Council’s housing company during the design and
operational phases of any scheme.

Provider of Last Resort
 Supporting the Council to perform its statutory duty as its ‘Provider of Last Resort’
to ensure that the most vulnerable within the Borough receive protection and
Continuity of Care in accordance with the Care Act 2014.
Provider of Choice
 To continue to develop excellent and cost efficient services to ensure that the
Council’s own company provides a combination of best value for money and high
quality services and qualifies as the Council’s Provider of Choice.
Local Care Market
 To become the leader in social care by way of value for money, innovation and
sustainability in the local social care market. To set the benchmark for service
quality for other local providers.
Customer Satisfaction
 Achieving ‘excellent’ satisfaction from all customers irrespective of the level and
scope of services provided.
Workforce Commitment
 To employ a workforce of valued, high performing, motivated, committed and
customer-focused staff. To ensure that the workforce feels empowered to deliver
services that are appropriate, customer centric and right first time. To be the
Employer of Choice for the local adult social care sector.
New Business
 Delivery of new business growth and income from outside of the Council to
enable an ongoing financial return to continue to be delivered to the Council. To
seek opportunities for growth where growth can be achieved within the
framework provided or seek investment or resources from the Council.
Social Care Policy
 To actively contribute to the Council’s implementation of and compliance with
national policy, directives, statutory guidance and instruments and statute as it
affects the council’s adult social care responsibilities. In particular to work as a
strategic partner in the pursuit of health and social care integration.

2.2 Performance in 2014-15
Service Delivery

298

4





The service issues arising primarily in domiciliary care last year have been
successfully eradicated. Chronic recruitment issues in the industry locally have
hampered the ability to return to providing the full block hours although this has
improved markedly in the course of the year; by agreement this will be reflected
in the proposed new service contract.
There have been no other significant service or safeguarding issues in this
reporting period.

Governance
 Significant changes in senior management personnel were successfully managed
during the year, ensuring the stability of the company.
 Governance protocols have been significantly strengthened in the course of the
year, ensuring effective oversight of the company by the board of directors and
successful collaboration with Wokingham Borough Council stakeholders.
Project Service Delivery
 Optalis has worked constructively with the council to deliver key projects
including scheme reviews, health integration, and savings and efficiencies.
Provider of Last Resort
 Optalis took on a specialist Learning Disability service in year from a provider that
had given notice to the council to terminate its contract.
Provider of Choice
 There have not been any Provider of Choice service awards in this reporting
period
New Business
Optalis has achieved new business growth ahead of budget in 2015-16 in areas
including:
 Ace@Optalis, providing training and access to employment to young people with
disabilities – contract with Reading College.
 Occupational Therapy equipment assessment & recovery – contract with NRS
Equipment Services.
 LATC consultancy – contract with Bury Council.
 Extra Care Housing – contracts with Oxfordshire County Council and Bracknell
Forest Borough Council.
 Learning disability supported living – contract with Wokingham Borough Council.
 Growth in Out&About learning disability outreach services – contracts with private
payers.
Financial Return to the Council
 Optalis delivered a net return to the Commissioner of £250,000 and retained a
profit of £50,000 in the Company.

2.3 Objectives and Aims for 2016-17
Service Delivery

299

5

2016-17 follows a year of consolidation, with a permanent appointment made to the
Managing Director role and a focus on recruitment and retention of frontline staff and
embedding service quality. This year’s service priorities will be: 






Working with the Council to redefine the service offer at Beeches Manor as a
specialist dementia extra care housing scheme
Continue to work with the Council and Wokingham Housing Ltd to develop a
bespoke Extra Care Housing scheme on the site of the old Fosters Care Home in
Woodley
Reconfiguring domiciliary care services
o Redefining the core hours of service for the Long Term Support function
o Working within the health and social care partnership to develop social
care reablement (START) as part of a single integrated service.
Working with the Council and its health partners to develop integrated health and
social care for long term support through the Neighbourhood Cluster approach

Project Service Delivery
 Within reason and with reference to available resources, to work with the Council
to assist on prescribed joint projects to deliver efficiencies to the Council outside
of the Company.
New Business
 Focus on the private homecare market where that market demand is available.
 Continue to seek proportionate incremental growth through winning contracts to
provide the full range of social care services to other Local Authorities and/or
Joint Commissioners.
 Continuing to work with Wokingham Borough Council with respect to innovation
and potential new commissions, specifically in the areas of health integration,
extra care housing and assistive technology.
Financial Return to the Council
 Deliver an efficiency to the Commissioner of £308,000 and retain a profit of
£50,000 in the Company.
Service Contract with the Council
 The current contract with the Council will expire in June 2016. The Company has
worked with the lead commissioner to put forward a revised contract. The
overarching aim in the new contract will be to provide excellence of service to the
users within the Borough, to provide stability and assurance to all stakeholders
and staff and to continue to drive service efficiencies to assist with the Council’s
funding challenge over the period of the Government’s Spending Review.
 The service contract will be operated on an ‘open book’ basis to ensure
transparency to both parties as to service costs.
 Profit - where the Company is able to provide services at ‘market rates’ to the
commissioner (defined as the usual or median price the commissioner would
need to pay for the services, taking into account any reasonable discount to be

300

6



expected for the ‘block’ nature of the contract), the Company may make whatever
profit it can from those rates, subject to:
o Ensuring service quality
o Fulfilment of the required service quantum under the block arrangements
o Payments for services at above market rate are at service cost and
dedicated solely to the operation of the service
The Council will separately contract with Optalis with regard to the function of
‘Provider of Last Resort’ in line with the Council’s required ‘Market Failure’ policy,
and for the general provision of consultancy with regard to the provision of social
care services

3 Governance
3.1 Relationships between The Company and The Council
The Council has a number of relationships with the Company which serve distinct
functions, namely:
 Shareholder – The Council owns 100% of the shares in the Company and
appoints directors to the Board. This relationship is addressed through the
Articles of Association which is the constitution of the Company supplemented by
a Group Operating Protocol Document and this Remit Document. This
shareholder monitoring role is discharged by the corporate shareholder as
advised by the Board of WBC (Holdings) Limited.
 Commissioner of Services – The Council will commission the Company to deliver
social care services on behalf of the Council and will monitor the performance of
the Company (through the Services Agreement).
 Support services – The Council provides some back and middle office support
functions to the Company in relation to accommodation etc. set out in a support
Services Agreement and recouped on a fully recharged basis. By negotiation,
Optalis may choose to vary the support services provided by the Council.

3.2 WBC Holdings Limited
The Board of WBC Holdings Limited will consist of elected members of the Council. The
WBC Holdings Board will meet every calendar month as a minimum with invited
attendees from the board of the Company and interested stakeholders.

3.3 Reporting Performance to The Council
The Company will report to the Board of WBC Holdings Limited its actual and
projected operational and financial performance against the objectives agreed
between the Council and the Company in accordance with the Annual Business Plan.
The agreed performance reporting will include:
 Report on key operational issues and events
 Risks, issues and mitigation

301

7

 Financial performance of the Company on a monthly basis
 Forward-looking projections of financial performance
 Additional issues or support required from the Council

3.4 Key Performance Indicators
The Council’s key performance indicators for the Company are: - Delivery of the
service contract with the Council to the satisfaction of the Commissioner and in
accordance with key performance and outcomes measures set.


The ability to deliver an agreed financial return to the satisfaction of the
Council and in accordance with the Annual Business Plan agreed by WBC
(Holdings) Limited. The Company’s performance to date with regard to
returns to the Council in the form of contract savings are set out below: 13/14

14/15

15/16

£151k

£120k

£250k

The Council requires the Company to set out in its three year business plan how the
Company will deliver the expected financial return of £308k as a contract efficiency in
the financial year 2016/17 along with expected incremental turnover growth of
between 25% – 50% over the period of the business case, excluding any joint
ventures or other partnering arrangements with other public bodies.

4 Directors Authority
The Directors shall only exercise their powers of management of the Company
strictly in accordance with the Articles of Association and the Group Operating
Protocol and shall immediately put in effect the directions and requirements of the
Council as notified to the Directors by the Council (as being a resolution of the
shareholder).

302

8

FINAL v9

WOKINGHAM HOUSING LIMITED
BUSINESS PLAN 2015
Section

CONTENTS

PAGE

1.

Chairman’s Forward

2

2.

Executive Summary

3

3.

Background

4

4.

Company Structure

4

5.

Wokingham Housing Ltd - Objectives and Corporate Values

5

6.

Environment and Market Outlook

7

7.

Development Strategy

10

8.

Current Progress

13

9.

Resourcing

14

10.

Business Plan Forecasts

17

11.

Capital Expenditure

23

12.

Returns

24

13.

Risks

24

14.

Conclusions

25

1

303

FINAL v9
1. CHAIRMAN’S FORWARD
1.1. Wokingham Housing Limited (WHL) and its subsidiary Loddon Homes Limited, has made
major strides forward over the past year, both in practical and policy terms. There have
been substantial changes in personnel, headed by the retirement of Robin Fielder and the
filling of his post by Bill Flood. We owe a major debt of gratitude to Robin for his fortitude,
tact and diplomacy. Without his understanding of this complex housing development world
the company would not have achieved so much.
1.2. This business plan is the Board’s interpretation of the future for WHL and its subsidiaries.
What is proposed is seen as both prudent and opportunistic by the company and is
encouraging for the future. Starting with Loddon Homes, the application for Registered
Provider status has been submitted. This is a complex matter and the application for a “Forprofit” social housing company, owned by a Council, is a first for the Homes and
Communities Agency (HCA). First responses are encouraging, but the new regulatory
requirements provides a higher test for new organisations to meet, not helped by the new
housing policy context of reduced affordable housing rents and the new Housing and
Planning Bill.
1.3. The primary function of the companies is to make full use of the available commuted sums
from developers, as well as investment opportunities from Wokingham Borough Council
(WBC). The Board of WHL sees the company as having the dominant development role, not
just in affordable and social housing, but in investment opportunities of all types, on behalf
of the Council. In due course commercial schemes will be considered, as will co-operative
ventures with other organisations.
1.4. Loddon Homes has started the separation process from WHL, to comply with the
registration requirements of the HCA. The Board is headed by Gary Cowan, and there are
three “independent” board members appointed including an experienced WBC tenant.
Loddon Homes is seen as the management company of first choice, with WHL taking the
development role as schemes are moved forward. The difference between company roles is
clarified in the business plan, but is also subject to change as the rules and regulations
change. Having the ability to consider all the options in a fast changing world, particularly in
property development, is seen a one of the most important advantages WHL can have. This
plan sets our parameters both for the comfort of our shareholder, as well as leaving the
door open to explore those opportunities that will become available as the year progresses.
David Chopping
(Wokingham Housing Limited Chairman)

Gary Cowan
(Loddon Homes Limited Chairman)

2

304

FINAL v9
2. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY
2.1. This document sets out Wokingham Housing Limited’s (WHL) Business Plan for the
immediately foreseeable future, with an emphasis on the next five years. It provides the
companies vision and broad strategic objectives, as well as the financial forecasts that sit
behind the Business Plan.
2.2. Broadly the Business Plan sets out:







The context and background to WHL and its subsidiary Loddon Homes Limited;
The progress WHL has made in building organisational capacity and delivering early
schemes;
The plan for pipeline schemes and scaling of the companies;
The consolidated profit and loss financial projections for WHL and Loddon Homes for
the next five years based on future development activity;
The capital development programme; and
Longer term objectives of WHL’s growth strategy.

2.3. The Business Plan demonstrates that through its current pipeline programme, WHL will
become profitable by year three (2017/18) and generate profits of £210k, building to £360k
per annum thereafter.
2.4. The plan also shows that continued development at realistic levels based on modest activity
levels, generates growing profits of just under £0.5m by the end of year five, investing
around £47m over the five year period and then an estimated £7.6m per annum thereafter.
This business plan is approved on the basis of looking to achieve development at this level
going forward.
2.5. As part of the business planning exercise, a more ambition level of development has been
modelled. This demonstrates that as much as £0.9m profit could be generated by the end
of year five, but would require nearly twice as much capital investment of around £15.5m
per annum. The major factors would be both funding and developable land for WHL to be
able to achieve a more ambitious development programme. What the Business Plan really
shows is the ability to be able to easily flex the plan to deliver a larger programme of homes
should circumstances require it, and that this would generate increasing profits.
2.6. Key to the business plan is certainty of funding from the Council through Commuted Sums
provided from developer’s contributions to fund an affordable housing programme that is
developed by WHL and then purchased and owned by Loddon Homes.

3

305

FINAL v9
3. BACKGROUND
3.1. Wokingham Borough Council (WBC) undertook an extensive analysis of the policy, legal and
financial implications of establishing a local housing company. The research done informed
the decision of the Executive to establish WHL in May 2011. WBC also identified £1.9m of
WBC resources to invest in WHL via share capital to fund its initial developments.
3.2. Since 2011, in developing the Council’s approach to using limited companies to deliver
some products and services, the Council decided to set up Loddon Homes Limited (LHL)
incorporated on 16th January 2014 with later an agreement for it to become a registered
affordable housing provider. Initially WHL was set up to provide social and affordable
housing for WBC using developer contributions provided in lieu of developers building
affordable housing on their developments. Subsequently, WHL transferred some of its
original responsibilities to LHL who now provide the Council with homes for those in
housing need, that it has legal duties to support, and people on the Council’s housing
register.
3.3. WHL has applied for LHL to be registered with the Homes and Communities Agency (HCA)
as a For-Profit Registered Provider (FPRP) to enable it to access additional potential grant
funding to support its development programme to provide affordable housing.
4. COMPANY STRUCTURE
4.1. WHL is a wholly-owned subsidiary of Wokingham Borough Council (Holdings) Limited
(Holdco). WHL and LHL sit within a wider Group of companies the Council owns to deliver
products and services in a commercial way, while maintaining high standards of integrity
and social purpose. WHL is effectively the Council’s housing development company. LHL is a
subsidiary of WHL and is a housing management company. The table below sets out the
Council’s Group of companies and where WHL and LHL fit within the Council Group of
Companies.

4

306

FINAL v9
4.2. The establishment of a trading subsidiary in 2014 in the form of Loddon Homes was
designed to allow WHL to respond to market opportunities and, if required, facilitate the
‘ring-fencing’ and protection of affordable housing assets developed by the Council from
any commercial risk. By using Loddon Homes as a regulated body of the Homes and
Communities Agency (HCA) to develop affordable housing, the Council is creating a strict
separation of public and private investment and supported a robust risk management
approach.
4.3. The WHL business model is based on a small team and, as far as possible, utilises WBCs
resources through an umbrella Service Level Agreement (SLA) to facilitate those services
not directly supported by WHL and LHL.
4.4. Both WHL and LHL will be contracting out, primarily with WBC, services that are required to
support day to day elements of their businesses. For WHL these will be support services
such as legal, human resources and strategic assets. Other specialist services like Architects,
Employers Agents and Clerk of Works will be from external providers. For LHL services will
be to develop new homes (primarily through WHL) and the management and maintenance
of the affordable housing taken in to its ownership. Using WBC is expected to provide
significant economies of scale to WHL as it builds up its business and LHL as it builds up a
stock of affordable homes, while also allowing WBC to gain savings from outsourcing its
own departmental cost base.
5. VISION, OBJECTIVES AND CULTURE1
VISION









The absolute requirement to build a commercially sustainable business which
by March 2018, will offer its shareholder a worthwhile financial return on funds
invested as assets mature
WHL, as a Council owned private housing company, will be at the leading edge
of Council Housing Companies with a sustainable business model
WHL will make a positive contribution to the policy and commercial objectives
of WBC - it will produce an on-going annual profit for Wokingham Borough
Council by March 2018 to be able to invest in housing or other council services
Through its provision of specialist affordable housing, WHL will show a saving in
the cost of such provision to Council departments
It will be known for developing quality homes and services which meet the
needs of its customers
WHL will establish a reputation that stands for quality, commerciality, integrity
and good value for money, which opens door for it to grow its business
In its chosen markets, WHL will be viewed as a partner of choice by
stakeholders and partners

1

These relates just to WHL. Loddon Homes’ Vision, Mission, Goals, Targets, Values And Behaviours are
contained within its Strategic Plan 2015

5

307

FINAL v9
MISSION









GOALS








TARGETS







VALUES AND
BEHAVIOURS




WHLs primary business is as a housing development company that provides
services to build property for LHL, Tenant Services or other partners who
contract with it
To provide a range of high quality affordable and market housing for the people
of Wokingham Borough and beyond;
To provide or procure quality landlord services to the tenants and residents of
any rented housing;
To carry out any other activities specifically or generally designed to promote
the economic, environmental or social well-being of Wokingham Borough;
To complement other trading services and council operations (including Optalis
and Tenant Services)
As a housing developer, WHL will build property for sale and property to
privately rent to provide a return on investment for the Council
WHL will manage assets in such a way as to maximise values and provide
saleable assets for the Council to realise if required
Secure Commuted Sums funding from WBC for joint use by WHL and LHL, over
and above the initial £34.5m commitment to over £100m, with a view to
building the companies affordable housing asset base - to enable WHL and LHL
to borrow against their asset base to fund additional affordable housing
developments and create an income stream to provide either additional
affordable homes or a return to the Council
Profit making – providing an income for re-investment in housing or a dividend
to Holdco
For WHL to be a core part of the Council’s approach to delivering housing
products and services and part of the Council’s ‘business as usual’
arrangements
Delivering an affordable housing programme for WHL and LHL, enabling them
to build up their asset base to self-fund future affordable housing development
for Wokingham Borough residents
An owner and manager of a portfolio of around 100 Private Rented Sector (PRS)
properties on a strong ‘ethical’ basis
A WHL staff-team and Board that meets the evolving needs of the business
Deliver the initial 130+ homes for LHL by end of 2017
After year three - develop an ongoing pipeline of future affordable and market
homes of between 75-100 homes per annum, investing in the region of £1013m per annum
To secure investment funding of £20m for the development of:
o homes both for outright sale and shared ownership which provide
a developers margin of between 10-20%; and
o homes to rent privately, providing both an asset worth more than
the Total Scheme Costs and an on-going yield on investment of
between 7-8%
Provide Holdco with an annual profit of between £600 to 750k by year 7
Repay initial working capital loans and interest between years 5-6
WHL is an organisation people want to do business with, whether directly or
through one of its subsidiaries
The staff and Board of WHL adopt a “can do” approach whilst analysing risks
6

308

FINAL v9












and declining bad business
WHL takes calculated risks consistent with the Company’s values to achieve
goals
WHL customers - be they commissioners, partners, tenants or purchasers - are
treated with the utmost respect and integrity and provided with ethical, high
quality services and products
WHL is trusted by WBC, stakeholders and partners and is offered significant
opportunities of partnership working and investment
WHL is an intelligent organisation - mistakes are acknowledged and learnt from
and good work recognised
WHL looks to the future and is able to see links and opportunities that achieve
the Company’s and/or Council’s objectives
WHL will adopt innovative solutions to maximise opportunities for the
Company
High performance standards are expected and the staff-team are given the
resources and training to achieve WHLs goals and targets in delivering the
Company’s objectives
WHL champions Holdco and the Councils objectives, putting the company and
shareholder’s needs first and upholding goals and decisions, even when it is
difficult to do so
WHL will work cross‐functionally with WBC departments, and develop long‐
term partnerships, to enable the Company to meet its goals
WHL will support others to work together to develop solutions to Council wide
problems and issues

6. WHL’S ENVIRONMENT AND MARKET OUTLOOK
6.1. Housing is a key factor in stimulating the national economy. Our region has seen steady
increases in values and Wokingham has promoted a significant volume of new house
building in its Strategic Development Locations (SDLs). Housing costs in Wokingham are
amongst the highest outside central London.
6.2. New housing starts are now increasing in the improved economic market, putting pressure
on getting the best value for money on tender returns. This was seen in the tendering of the
Fosters Extra Care project through the HCAs contractors framework, where too few bidders
has led to WHL tendering through the Official Journal European Union (OJEU). As the
housing market has improved building material prices have started to increase and a
shortage of skilled labour and site managers is a feature of the market we are operating in.
Therefore, as before, care is still needed in selecting firms to do business with.
6.3. To support our careful selection of partners and manage risks, WHL has developed an
Employers Agent Framework of initially five firms to tender the management of WHLs
projects and is in the process of setting up a Developers Framework for contractors,
through which to tender our smaller sites. On larger sites we will continue to tender these
on an OJEU basis.

7

309

FINAL v9
6.4. Savills produce regular outlooks of the UK housing market – their July and September 2015
outlooks noted:
6.4.1.“Despite a continued benign interest rate environment, transactions in the mainstream
market appear to have plateaued at around 1.2m per annum. With the mortgage
regulations restricting the amount of debt prospective buyers are able to obtain and
restricting their ability to trade up the market, this is still well short of pre-crunch
norms.
6.4.2.Though mortgage availability has a less significant direct impact in the prime markets,
it will impact on some buyers in their 30s and 40s. While restricting the amount they
can borrow, this may act as a catalyst for them to move into the commuter zone as
they look to stretch their debt and equity further in less expensive markets.”
6.5. Savills outlook on the demand for land notes:
6.5.1.“Development land values across the UK on average have increased more strongly in
Q2 compared to the first quarter of the year. UK urban land values increased… with
annual growth at 10.7%... UK greenfield land values… annual growth to 4.0%.”
6.5.2.“In the South East, the highest value development land market outside London, the
continued demand for development land has resulted in above average increases in
both greenfield and urban development land values in the region (2.6% and 3.3%
respectively for Q2 2015).”
6.5.3.“Our survey of Savills agents shows that positive sentiment has returned to the
development land market in the last quarter, linked to the continuation and
strengthening of pro-housebuilding policies (by Government) that have followed the
election result… Despite improvement in sentiment, pressures on profit margins,
labour and build costs have dampened (some of the) development land price growth.”
6.5.4.“We expect demand for development land to be maintained as housebuilders continue
at their current rate of building or expand their output. This is likely to push up
development land prices where demand is highest and there is restricted supply of
new sites such as parts of the South East.”
6.6. Savills research, ‘Residential Property Focus – Issue 3 2015 - Five year forecasts - what is
next for UK house prices and transactions?’, the research adds to Savills previous work and
shows that:
6.6.1.Although house price inflation has slowed with the introduction of Mortgage Market
Review (MMR) – see table 1 below - the forecasts are that housing prices in the South
East will outstrip the national average of 17%, and even London, over the next five
years at just under 22% (see table 2).

8

310

FINAL v9
Table 1 – Savills’ 3 month cycle house price movements – Sept 2005 – Sept 2015

Table 2 – Savills’ House Price Forecast and key drivers to 2020

9

311

FINAL v9

6.7. Also in Savills ‘Residential Property Focus’, they forecast for private rents that the
traditional rental demographic will continue to grow (see table 3 below). Savills comment:
6.7.1.“Rental affordability is already very stretched for many households and so the
prospects for rental growth are largely limited to underlying wage growth.
6.7.2.The traditional rental demographic of sharers and young professionals looks set to
continue growing as the cost of buying limits the number able to make the move into
homeownership. These groups are likely to benefit most from the forecast wage
recovery and this will drive the majority of rental growth in coming years.
6.7.3.However, in some high demand/ low supply rental markets, we may see more people
living in larger household groups and this could contribute to higher rental growth,
albeit for properties that have the flexibility to allow for this.”

Table 3 - Mainstream rental growth forecasts

6.8. In Robert Grundy’s (Savills) November 2015 Spending Review Briefing, he comments:
6.8.1.“The chancellor plans to spend £7 billion building 400,000 affordable homes – mainly
for home ownership – by 2020 and housing associations must step up to the plate and
help deliver this target. There is plenty of incentive to do so. Analysis by the Office of
Budget Responsibility (OBR) suggests housing associations should expect to receive
around 90% of the available funding for shared ownership. In total, the OBR expects
housing associations in England will receive around £1.7 billion a year in capital grants
from the government by 2020/21 - £1.5 billion of which will be for shared ownership.
6.8.2.The impact of the Government’s plan for 200,000 starter homes by 2020 is less clear
and will depend on the interpretation of new planning regulations by local authorities.
However, the emphasis on homeownership products should assist the viability of
schemes as such products generally have a higher value than affordable rented units.
On the other hand homes for sale have a slower absorption rate than rental products.
6.8.3.The focus on homeownership will not help the poorest households who will rely on a
dwindling pool of social rented housing that will further be depleted by the extended
right to buy – despite its introduction being slowed.

10

312

FINAL v9
6.8.4.Social landlords have been handed the opportunity to show they matter to a
government determined to build more homes available to buy. Housing associations
should not let this chance slip.”
6.9. As a result of the market outlook in the last 6 months and the Governments major policy
announcements in housing, WHL’s acquisition of development sites will have to be more
aggressively, but also carefully, pursued than they have to date. WHL will also have to take
full advantage of the opportunities that are presented in the new Housing and Planning Bill
and Government funding to support home ownership, while also supporting LHL to provide
truly affordable social housing using Commuted Sums.
7. DEVELOPMENT STRATEGY
7.1. Social and Affordable Housing
7.1.1.As a small local housing developer, WHLs primary business is helping deliver the
Council’s affordable housing programme, primarily on council-owned sites via Loddon
Homes through the expenditure of Commuted Sums on qualifying schemes. WHL also
provides viability and appraisal advice on schemes that the Council commissions.
7.1.2.WHL will look at and ensure the business case, including any subsidy to provide submarket affordable rented housing, is understood and fully taken account of in the
Council’s commissioning decisions. WHL will advise on where predicted valuations of
completed schemes are likely to be less than the cost of construction. This will ensure
that approval to proceed is given on the basis that there is an over-riding strategic
benefit that outweighs the immediate commercial considerations. In effect WHL will
advise where apparent losses in the cost in the provision of affordable housing are
more than outweighed by social need and cost savings in services no longer needed to
be provided by departments of WBC.
7.2. Shared Ownership
7.2.1.As can be seen in the housing market outlook above, the basis for WHL supporting LHL
to deliver a programme of shared ownership homes has now strengthened. The high
housing costs of owner occupation in Wokingham Borough means that for
economically active people with limited means, shared ownership may be an attractive
route into owner occupation. In the current market it provides LHL with an attractive
early capital injection in first tranche sales, immediately giving it a return to reinvest in
more affordable housing, while also providing a rental income on the unsold equity.
7.2.2.This provides an upside to the Business Plan which has factored in no shared
ownership development in the first five years. When taking into account House Price

11

313

FINAL v9
Inflation (HPI) and combined rental and future staircasing2 income, shared ownership
can provide WHL and/ or LHL with a useful long term income stream and asset base,
with which to support future business.
7.3. Private sales
7.3.1.For WHL, the current state of the housing market makes some limited private sale
opportunities attractive options over the next few years to help cross subsidise
affordable housing or other council services. The niche area will be small sites that are
not of interest to bigger developers and house-builders, although there will be
competition from smaller developers, so careful appraisal and risk assessment of
private opportunities will be critical. A WHL developer margin can deliver strong
returns on investment and, in the first instance, should be sought on some of the
Council’s general needs land assets, as an alternative to just private land sale. We
propose private sales projects are developed through WHL as the For-Profit Registered
Provider status of LHL limits such activity to 5 per cent of commercial activity.
7.4. Private Rented Sector (PRS)
7.4.1.High house-prices locally provide WHL with opportunities around building up a
portfolio of Private Rented Sector (PRS) stock. The flexible nature of PRS for
economically active people, who previously may have been able to become owner
occupiers, is a significant attraction. While the Governments emphasis on shared
ownership may help some of those renting to buy, the evidence is that the PRS sector
will continue to be an important part of the UK housing market.
7.4.2.The benefits of WHL building up a portfolio of PRS stock are:







Developing an asset base for the Council which is worth more than the cost of building
the properties and able to take advantage of HPI in to the long term;
Providing a regular income stream to WHL which produces a gross yield of between 78% on investment;
Providing the Council with realisable assets should capital expenditure be needed for
another housing project or to support a Council service;
Giving tenants a trusted private landlord in the form of WHL who is wholly-owned by the
Council and therefore has high standards of integrity in managing and maintaining
tenants homes – effectively an ‘ethical PRS’ provider; and
Market rental rates are not restricted by the rules governing rental levels for affordable
housing.

2

Staircasing is the term used to describe the process by which shared owners buy additional portions of their
home until they have purchase 100%.

12

314

FINAL v9
8. WHL’s CURRENT PROGRESS
8.1. The Company has achieved a number of key milestones to date. These include:
8.1.1.WHL’s delivered the Hillside Park scheme of nine new one bed apartments with a
carers apartment for people with learning disabilities and two bungalows for elderly
people, including winning grant funding from the Homes and Communities Agency
(HCA) of £350k with WBC for Hillside Park;
8.1.2.The leasing and management of an existing development at Beverley House, Vauxhall
Drive for residents with severe learning disabilities;
8.1.3.Achieved a successful planning application for Phoenix Avenue (formally Eustace
Crescent) and tendered and successfully awarded the contract to Hill Partnership to
develop 68 houses and apartments for completion by March 2017;
8.1.4.Achieved a successful planning application for Fosters Extra Care scheme and are
tendering the contract to develop the 34 apartment scheme on the site of the former
care home, due for completion by July 2017 and, in partnership with WBC, winning
grant funding from the HCA of £1.452m for the Fosters Extra Care project;
8.1.5.Achieved successful planning applications on several small sites in council-ownership
to deliver affordable and intermediate housing for local people;
8.1.6.Identifying a development pipe-line of 131 homes – of which 114 now have planning
permission to develop affordable and intermediate housing;
8.1.7.The setting up and delivery of an Employers Agents Framework to support the delivery
of new build housing developments and tendering of a Developers Framework to
deliver the pipeline of WHL smaller sites;
8.1.8.The submission in early September 2015 of the Loddon Homes application for
registration as a For-Profit Registered Provider to the HCA with 25 associated
appendices (34 documents in total). These included the 5 year and 30 year financial
business plan, Intra-Group Agreement, Board and Committee Terms of Reference,
Facilities Agreement, Risk Register, Articles of Association and Service Level
Agreements.
8.1.9.The recruitment of a new Managing Director and the building up of a small permanent
staff team (five staff) to deliver WHLs business plan;
8.1.10. Further developing the relationship and trust of WBC through the Holding Company,
with new agreements in place including the Group Operating Protocol (GOP), IntraGroup Agreement (IGA) and Facilities Agreement, as well as regular reporting to
Holdco;
13

315

FINAL v9

8.1.11. Strengthening the Boards of WHL and Loddon Homes with new members on both
Boards, following a Board skills audit undertaken as part of the Loddon Homes
registration work;
8.1.12. Strengthening the WHL and LHL Board house-keeping arrangements including
adoptions of policies to govern the companies, including Whistleblowing, Anti-Bribery,
Expenses and Gifts and Hospitality; and
8.1.13. Strengthening the relationship with other Council services and companies such as
Tenant Services, Strategic Housing, Planning, Strategic Assets and Optalis to better coordinate and support the goals of WHL and the Council.
9. RESOURCING
9.1. Background
9.1.1.The Council has since 2011 funded WHL with £1.9m of share capital. This has been
used to finance the construction of Hillside Park, which now sits within Loddon Homes
after transfer from WHL in April 2014. Further working capital funding for WHL and
capital expenditure funding has subsequently been received to progress WHLs
affordable housing schemes (primarily the capital planning costs at Phoenix Avenue
and Fosters). This amounts to around £613k as at March 2015. Through its housing
development activities WHL expects to be profitable by year 3 of its business plan
(2017-18) and to then be able to start to pay back with interest an estimated total of
£1.5m of start-up, working capital, costs. The payback period will depend on a number
of factors, but is likely to be 3-4 years, with the return on investment being capital plus
targeted 5.5% plus base rate interest costs.
9.2. Future funding
9.2.1.The funding of WHL and LHL has now been clarified within the Facilities Agreement
and in effect confirms that for the initial LHL development programme, commuted
sums providing £18.6m will be provided to deliver the two main schemes of 101
homes once they are commissioned for the occupancy of tenants. The Council’s
Executive agreed in January 2014 a further sum of £18m (now £15.9m as £2.1m has
been included in the £18.6m initial facility) for future Housing Company developments
– a total potential investment in WHL and LHL of £34.5m. The £15.9m has to be signed
off by the Executive following a recommendation from Holdco, should Holdco accept
the business case of WHL on various projects it wants to develop for LHL. This
therefore provides WHL with the ability to fund the additional 30 homes in the
development pipeline for LHL and some additional unidentified developments added
to the programme.

14

316

FINAL v9
9.3. Commercial model between WHL and LHL
9.3.1.The commercial arrangements between WHL and LHL with regard to property
development has been defined such that both WHL and LHL can identify new
opportunities individually or together, agree preliminary design specifications,
planning and costing which will in turn indicate a transfer price for sale by WHL to LHL.
Once approved WHL will contract to construct this scheme for LHL within agreed time
scales (having previously liaised with the Council as commissioners regarding tenure
type and rent levels).
9.3.2.The transfer price will vary according to the scheme being developed, but typically will
span a % on cost uplift of 5% - 10% for schemes of over 20 units and 10% - 15% for all
other smaller developments. Developments could also be undertaken on a cost-plus
basis on approved schemes. This income should cover WHL’s costs in supporting
development plus a nominal profit element, assuming WHL are successful in
controlling costs to achieve the original budget.
9.3.3.The establishment of a transfer price is not only necessary to demonstrate ‘arm’s
length transactions’, but also to control the cost to LHL where a social valuation is to
be applied which is ideally greater than or equal to the transfer price agreed. A transfer
price that is less than the assessed social valuation is deemed an exceptional situation
and will need to be ratified by Commissioners, WHL and LHLs Boards and Holdco, as a
strategically important exception to the normal business model.
9.4. Commuted sums and Loddon Homes
9.4.1.The use of commuted sum to fund Loddon Homes is important in two ways. Firstly, the
legal advice the Council received around its powers to use commuted sums to fund the
building of affordable housing by its own housing company, was most safely achieved
through a housing association registered with the HCA.
9.4.2.Secondly, commuted sums being given to Loddon Homes to fully fund affordable
development, is critical to Loddon Homes being viable in its early years. The strategy is
to initially fund LHL through the use of commuted sums provided from developers’
contributions for the provision of affordable housing. In total the Council is expecting
£40.5m in commuted sums up until March 2020 and at present around a further £50m
from 2020 onwards. As LHL builds up an asset base of affordable housing it will
generate the capacity to borrow against the value of its stock and generate profits to
plough back in to the provision of affordable housing for local people. LHL has been set
up to provide future borrowing potential and an income stream in the future, which
can be used to develop further affordable housing and an income stream for the
Council.
9.4.3.In broad terms the use of commuted sums to fund LHL is similar to early 19th century
housing philanthropists or 100% grant provision programmes by the Housing
15

317

FINAL v9
Corporation in the 1980s. By building up a successful affordable housing business by
pump priming the initial investments, LHL will provide the Council with a self-financing
business that can continue to deliver affordable housing and services into the long
term without grant. LHL business model is to act highly commercially in managing and
running its affordable housing business to maximise profit and to re-invest in
affordable housing over the long term, while providing a return to the Council.
9.4.4.However, to support the approach in using commuted sums, the capital funding
mechanism of WHL and LHL needs further refinement by the Council. Table 4 shows
the current estimates for commuted sums. At the end of 2016/17 the Council expects
around £13.3m in commuted sums to have been paid from developers. Presently the
Council has approved a total of £7.7m in commuted sums (to support Phoenix and
Fosters projects) to WHL (Loddon Homes). Just over £1m is still to be allocated in
2015/16, but could be allocated to one of the small schemes that has received
planning consent.
Table 4: Affordable Housing Commuted Sums3 – Predicted Income by Year

9.4.5.Hillside Park was funded by share capital, and in the previous business plan it was
suggested that future WBC funding for development would continue to be by way of
issued share capital rather than debt finance. However, Loddon Homes presently has
just a single £1 shared invested in it by WHL, and as set out above the use of
commuted sums makes the most sense in funding LHL. The need to formally agree
sufficient commuted sums to deliver Phoenix and Fosters is now required to clarify the
funding mechanism for growing LHL, which WHL is reliant on, in the early years of its
own business.
9.4.6.The basis on which the Council has proposed funding of £15.9m to its Housing
Companies, also needs to be clarified. If this money is to be for social housing projects
in Loddon Homes, then this will need to be commuted sums (or another mechanism)
where Loddon Homes can grow without the initial burden of debt finance with interest

3

Note - timing of payments are based on prudent estimates and may change depending on housing market
fluctuations over the years

16

318

FINAL v9
charges. Sufficient working capital must also be made available to the Board of WHL to
guarantee adequate cash flow.
9.4.7.In a similar vein, a further complication, is that within the capital programme there are
a number of proposed small WHL sites due to be developed on council owned land as
affordable housing within Loddon Homes. Table 5 needs to be updated with the latest
build cost estimates, but shows the current position of WHL schemes within the capital
programme - £1.85m in total; which again it is argued needs to be supported from
commuted sums for the reasons set out above.
Table 5 - Allocated funding from Capital Programme for WHL Projects
Development

Number of Units

Projected Cost

Phoenix Avenue
Fosters
Barrett Crescent
Grovelands
Norton Road
Elizabeth Road
Middlefields
Emmbrook
Orchard Estate
TOTAL

68
34
2 x 2 bed flats
6 x 2 bed flats
3 x 2 bed houses, 6 x 2 bed flats
3 x 2 bed terrace
2 x 2 bed houses
4 x 2 bed flats
2 x 4 bed houses
130

£12,093,000
£6,470,000
£445,000
£1,200,000
£570,000

£20,778,000

Allocated funding
from Capital
Programme

£293,000
£328,000
£389,000
£264,000
£367,000
£211,000
£1,852,000

9.4.8.Based on the current funding commitments to WHL/ LHL, and potential future
commitments supported by the Executive approved £15.9m of Housing Company
funding, there must be clarity about future funding. Commuted sums (or other funds)
need to be provided to Loddon Homes to be able to grow without the initial burden of
interest bearing debt finance, to at least the value of £18.6m and arguably £34.5m to
Loddon Homes to develop affordable housing.
10. WHL FINANCIAL FORECASTS
10.1.

Base case position - current pipeline programme only

10.1.1. Table 6 below shows the financial forecast for the Wokingham Housing Group – the
consolidated position of WHL and LHL – as a base case for WHLs Business Plan going
forward. It shows that the Group will be profitable from year 3 onwards (2017/18),
generating around £210k. This forecast is based only on the current proposed pipeline
of 130 homes plus the existing schemes at Hillside and Vauxhall Drive. It shows that if
the Wokingham Housing Group decided to develop no further stock beyond the
current pipeline, with operational expenditure reductions, the ongoing profit would be
in the region of £360-370k per annum.

17

319

FINAL v9
Table 6 – Wokingham Housing Group Profit and Loss summary – current pipeline only
WOKINGHAM HOUSING GROUP
Units

2015 / 2016
16

2016 / 2017
109

2017 / 2018
154

2018 / 2019
154

2019 / 2020
154

INCOME
138,724.03

293,497.78

1,481,912.51

1,388,794.33

1,416,318.22

25,478.00
16,800.00
16,800.00
5,760.00
39,000.00

33,003.56
17,840.00
22,910.00
14,364.00
12,000.00

72,317.68
29,152.00
48,760.00
58,079.70
12,000.00

77,008.96
32,709.60
54,180.00
62,511.75
12,000.00

79,591.00
34,345.08
56,889.00
65,637.34
12,000.00

TOTAL DIRECT COSTS

103,838.00

100,117.56

220,309.38

238,410.31

248,462.42

GROSS PROFIT

34,886.03
25.15%

193,380.22
65.89%

1,261,603.13
85.13%

1,150,384.03
82.83%

1,167,855.81
82.46%

Marketing Expenses
Gross Wages
Rent and Rates
Travelling and Entertainment
Printing and Stationery
Telephone and Computer Charges
Professional Fees
Bank Charges and Interest
Depreciation
General Expenses
Management Recharge

21,200.00
307,125.10
9,600.00
9,000.00
600.00
6,300.00
184,760.00
36,588.95
25,540.39
23,680.00
15,900.26

11,200.00
308,899.88
10,080.00
10,500.00
1,200.00
5,320.00
156,602.00
61,294.41
92,960.69
26,260.00
15,956.49

11,200.00
321,497.87
10,584.00
12,000.00
1,200.00
5,320.00
156,272.10
57,414.38
426,742.30
26,659.92
23,253.95

2,600.00
134,430.90
3,000.00
600.00
1,330.00
80,531.96
73,481.66
445,177.23
16,459.92
24,141.72

2,600.00
139,860.28
3,000.00
600.00
1,330.00
81,408.55
90,631.49
445,177.23
16,459.92
25,048.61

TOTAL EXPENDITURE

640,294.70

700,273.47

1,052,144.52

781,753.38

806,116.08

NET PROFIT / (LOSS)

(605,408.67)

(506,893.25)

209,458.61

368,630.65

361,739.73

TOTAL INCOME

DIRECT PROPERTY COSTS
Rent and Rates
Heat, Light & Power
Maintenance
Tenant Services
Property Sale

OVERHEADS EXPENDITURE

10.1.2. Note that within the profit and loss summaries, a significant amount for
depreciation is included. This is because although from a financial reporting standpoint
rental property is generally viewed as Investment Property based on being leased at
market rates; under affordable social housing rental agreements, the treatment is
different. Within affordable social housing the return offered is not deemed at a level
that offers enough reward to constitute investment income and is therefore ranked as
housing stock rather than investment property. The Housing Association sector regards
the carrying value of such properties as intrinsically linked to the affordable rental level
applicable, thereby further determining that such housing stock is property, plant and
equipment rather than investment properties for accounting treatment purposes.
Therefore the accounting treatment requires that items of property, plant and
equipment are depreciated over the useful life of that asset, hence why Loddon Homes
has to carry property assets on this basis. This is supported by the Housing SORP 2014:
Statement of Recommended Practice for social housing providers4.

4

The Housing SORP 2014 is issued by the National Housing Federation. The provisions of SORP are applicable
for accounting periods commencing on or after 1 January 2015. The ‘Accounting Direction for private
registered providers of social housing from April 2015’, from the HCA includes reference to the SORP as part of
the expectations around the preparation and presentation of Private Registered Provider’s accounts.

18

320

FINAL v9
10.2.

Future Development Plan Forecasts - Level one aspiration programme

10.2.1. Beyond year three, WHL has looked at the likely shape of its future development
programme. Taking the base case as our starting point, we are forecasting that WHL’s
likely returns based on a conservative level of development activity, similar to the
current pipeline, would generate increasing profitability as rental incomes increase,
but all other company running costs rise by inflationary factors only.
10.2.2. Table 7 below shows the forecasted returns for a conservative programme based
on:





No large sites (forecast based on current activity and pipeline of just small site (7
units) and projects);
Average capital expenditure of around £1m per project;
3 small projects launched every 6 months in years three and four; and
By year five, 3 small projects being launched every 4 months.

10.2.3. On this basis WHLs would generate nearly £500k of profit by the end of year five for
the development of a programme of an additional 126 units.
Table 7 – Wokingham Housing Group Profit and Loss summary – level one aspiration
WOKINGHAM HOUSING GROUP
Units

2015 / 2016
16

2016 / 2017
109

2017 / 2018
196

2018 / 2019
238

2019 / 2020
280

INCOME
TOTAL INCOME

138,724.03

293,497.78

1,648,390.01

1,949,657.40

2,364,378.09

25,478.00
16,800.00
16,800.00
5,760.00
39,000.00

33,003.56
17,840.00
22,910.00
14,364.00
12,000.00

82,467.68
34,489.50
61,010.00
64,379.70
12,000.00

111,923.56
51,129.31
96,514.25
86,073.75
12,000.00

139,849.82
66,238.27
129,520.37
105,831.34
12,000.00

103,838.00

100,117.56

254,346.88

357,640.87

453,439.80

193,380.22

1,394,043.13

1,592,016.53

1,910,938.29

DIRECT PROPERTY COSTS
Rent and Rates
Heat, Light & Power
Maintenance
Tenant Services
Property Sale
TOTAL DIRECT COSTS
GROSS PROFIT

34,886.03
25.15%

65.89%

84.57%

81.66%

80.82%

OVERHEADS EXPENDITURE
Marketing Expenses
Gross Wages
Rent and Rates
Travelling and Entertainment
Printing and Stationery
Telephone and Computer Charges
Professional Fees
Bank Charges and Interest
Depreciation
General Expenses
Management Recharge

21,200.00
307,125.10
9,600.00
9,000.00
600.00
6,300.00
184,760.00
36,588.95
25,540.39
23,680.00
15,900.26

11,200.00
308,899.88
10,080.00
10,500.00
1,200.00
5,320.00
156,602.00
61,294.41
92,960.69
26,260.00
15,956.49

11,200.00
321,497.87
10,584.00
12,000.00
1,200.00
5,320.00
156,272.10
57,414.38
474,658.96
26,659.92
23,253.95

11,200.00
335,470.19
11,113.20
12,000.00
1,200.00
5,320.00
159,075.71
73,481.66
608,093.89
26,659.92
24,141.72

11,200.00
349,780.19
11,668.86
12,000.00
1,200.00
5,320.00
162,019.49
90,631.49
723,093.89
26,659.92
25,048.61

TOTAL EXPENDITURE

640,294.70

700,273.47

1,100,061.19

1,267,756.28

1,418,622.45

NET PROFIT / (LOSS)

(605,408.67)

(506,893.25)

293,981.94

324,260.25

492,315.83

19

321

FINAL v9
10.2.4. The modelling of level one aspirational development shows the BP improves returns
from a static circa £360k per annum position to a growing £492k position –an increase
of nearly 27%.
10.2.5. Following discussions around draft business plans with Holdco, it has been agreed
that WHL’s future development pipeline will aim to deliver the proposed level one
aspirational programme.
10.3.
Future Potential Development Programme Forecasts - Level two aspiration
programme
10.3.1. As part of the development of the Business Plan, WHL was also asked to model a
more ambitious programme, building on the low level aspirational development
programme by overlaying a medium to high level of development aspiration. This
shows that profitability within Wokingham Housing Group increases further. Table 8
below shows the forecasted returns for a programme adding in both small level one
aspiration sites and larger schemes similar to Phoenix and Fosters, based on:





2 medium sites (25 units) and starting 1 large site (50 units) in year three;
3 small projects launched every 6 months in years three and four;
1 large scheme (50 units) started every six months in years four and five; and
3 small projects launched every 4 months in year five.

Table 8 – Wokingham Housing Group Profit and Loss summary – level two aspiration
WOKINGHAM HOUSING GROUP
Units

2015 / 2016
16

2016 / 2017
109

2017 / 2018
221

2018 / 2019
338

2019 / 2020
430

INCOME
138,724.03

293,497.78

1,668,208.76

2,346,032.40

3,423,888.46

25,478.00
16,800.00
16,800.00
5,760.00
39,000.00

33,003.56
17,840.00
22,910.00
14,364.00
12,000.00

83,676.02
35,124.92
62,468.33
65,129.70
12,000.00

136,090.22
63,837.65
125,680.92
101,073.75
12,000.00

205,752.32
100,893.90
209,057.87
146,736.34
12,000.00

TOTAL DIRECT COSTS

103,838.00

100,117.56

258,398.97

438,682.54

674,440.43

GROSS PROFIT

34,886.03
25.15%

193,380.22
65.89%

1,409,809.79
84.51%

1,907,349.86
81.30%

2,749,448.04
80.30%

Marketing Expenses
Gross Wages
Rent and Rates
Travelling and Entertainment
Printing and Stationery
Telephone and Computer Charges
Professional Fees
Bank Charges and Interest
Depreciation
General Expenses
Management Recharge

21,200.00
307,125.10
9,600.00
9,000.00
600.00
6,300.00
184,760.00
36,588.95
25,540.39
23,680.00
15,900.26

11,200.00
308,899.88
10,080.00
10,500.00
1,200.00
5,320.00
156,602.00
61,294.41
92,960.69
26,260.00
15,956.49

11,200.00
321,497.87
10,584.00
12,000.00
1,200.00
5,320.00
156,272.10
57,414.38
480,770.07
26,659.92
23,253.95

11,200.00
395,408.39
11,113.20
12,350.00
1,200.00
5,775.00
159,075.71
73,481.66
730,316.12
26,659.92
24,141.72

11,200.00
460,633.95
11,668.86
12,600.00
1,200.00
6,100.00
162,019.49
90,631.49
1,053,093.89
26,659.92
25,048.61

TOTAL EXPENDITURE

640,294.70

700,273.47

1,106,172.30

1,450,721.71

1,860,856.21

NET PROFIT / (LOSS)

(605,408.67)

(506,893.25)

303,637.49

456,628.16

888,591.82

TOTAL INCOME

DIRECT PROPERTY COSTS
Rent and Rates
Heat, Light & Power
Maintenance
Tenant Services
Property Sale

OVERHEADS EXPENDITURE

20

322

FINAL v9
10.3.2. On this basis WHLs would generate nearly £100k of additional profit in year three
(£304k), more than £130k additional profit in year 4 (£457k) and profit by the end of
year five of £890k (nearly £400k more/ around a 45% increase). This would be for
developing an additional programme beyond the level one aspirational programme of
150 more units by the end of year five.
10.3.3. While this is a more ambitious programme than the agreed level one proposed
programme, it is not unrealistic. In the modelling we have taken account of the
additional staffing needs to be able to deliver a larger development programme, with
one additional development officer in year four and another development officer in
year five, so any increase in overhead is covered.
10.3.4. Should a more ambitious programme be needed, we believe this would be
achievable, and certainly something between the two is highly feasible, realising
something between £600-750k annual profits by year five.
10.4.

Future Development Plan Forecasts – Other factors

10.4.1. In undertaking WHL’s Business Planning we have also considered the impact of Right
to Buy (RTB) on Loddon Homes and modelled what impact this might have on profits.
RTB, as currently understood, would only kick in after tenants had lived in a Loddon
general needs home for at least three years (so late in year five of our Business Plan).
We modelled the sale of just two units at the end of year five of the Business Plan,
using current WBC RTB rates. The impact of this creates some additional income for
WHL as shown in table 9 below, providing an additional profit of around £145k.
Table 9 – Wokingham Housing Group Profit and Loss summary – impact of HA Right to Buy
WOKINGHAM HOUSING GROUP
Units

2015 / 2016
16

2016 / 2017
109

2017 / 2018
221

2018 / 2019
338

2019 / 2020
430

INCOME
TOTAL INCOME

138,724.03

293,497.78

1,668,208.76

2,346,032.40

3,927,595.38

TOTAL EXPENDITURE

640,294.70

700,273.47

1,106,172.30

1,450,721.71

1,860,856.21

NET PROFIT / (LOSS)

(605,408.67)

(506,893.25)

303,637.49

456,628.16

1,032,145.27

10.4.2. While there is continued uncertainty around the impact of the future RTB
arrangements for Registered Providers, our view is that the impact will be broadly
positive for the Wokingham Housing Group in terms of profit, although this will need
to be re-invested to replace lost units.
10.4.3. Within WHL we are beginning to include Shared Ownership as one of the tenures of
affordable housing that will make up the asset base within Loddon Homes. However,
any modelling is dependent on the percentage earmarked for sale, the level of unsold
equity that generates rental income and forecasting of future sales of unsold equity.
This needs to be carefully modelled as affordable rent can sometimes be more
21

323

FINAL v9
financially viable and we propose to do this as part of the 2016/17 WHL Business Plan
update.
10.4.4. Private Rented Sector (PRS) assets are another model to be incorporated in to the
WHL Business Plan. However, WHL is currently focussing on the delivery of the
affordable housing programme for Loddon Homes, and so detailed modelling on the
impact of PRS asset within WHL, will be undertaken as part of the 2016/17 WHL
Business Plan update. Our PRS modelling will need to demonstrate that PRS projects
are viable and provide an asset worth more than the total project costs and an ongoing income stream for the Council at an acceptable gross yield for the investment
made. The PRS model would potentially need a third legal entity to cover PRS to be set
up, but is seen by WHL as an important future source of revenue generation for WHL
to meet one of its two primary objectives.
10.5.

Financial Assumptions for the Business Plan

10.5.1. The financial model supporting the WHL Business Plan is based upon a detailed
assessment of both known previous financial transaction extrapolation for existing
business and an assessment of the income and costs pertaining to the planned growth
of both WHL and LHL in the next 5 years. Adjustment has been made for known
external influences and moderate inflationary adjustment for relevant costs.
10.5.2. Income is based upon the contractual terms for existing business adjusted for known
influences to year on year chargeable amounts. New income streams are based on the
delivery of existing new business and housing according to the rental rates applicable
to that period. The direct costs supporting this income are based upon estimates of the
costs per property (inflation adjusted) in servicing those properties once
commissioned.
10.5.3. All other overheads have been based on a monthly analysis of costs already
encountered and commensurate with supporting the business as is being planned in
that period. This cost profile is also inflation adjusted each year based on assumptions
consistent with the financial plan submitted to the HCA to seek Registered Provider
status for LHL. Assumptions on increasing support activity have also been made on a
monthly assessment of the start date for such costs and estimate of any step increases
necessary over the plan period.
10.5.4. To reflect a true and accurate view of this plan, in financial terms, transactions
(whether income or cost based) have been eliminated in the presentation of the
financial forecast. Transactions between both Holdco and between WBC and WHL/ LHL
are included to reflect both funding costs and the cost of support functions outsourced
from WBC to WHL/ LHL.

22

324

FINAL v9
11. CAPITAL EXPENDITURE
11.1.
Table 10 shows the capital spend profile over the next 5 years showing the base
case, level one and level two aspirational development programmes. Level one is deemed
to be well within the capacity of the current WHL team, with an additional housing
development officer only required to achieve the level two aspirational development
programme.
Table 10 – Capital expenditure and funding over the next 5 years
WOKINGHAM HOUSING GROUP
Base Units

2015 / 2016
16

2016 / 2017
16

2017 / 2018
16

2018 / 2019
16

2019 / 2020
16

138

138

Wokingham Housing Group Capital Investment Summary
Current base case pipeline only (Table 6 Equivalent)
Units Added to base
CAPITAL EXPENDITURE

5,417,439.63

93
16,328,904.53

138
448,727.84

93
17,968,904.53

180
6,448,727.84

222
6,000,000.00

264
7,590,000.00

93
17,968,904.53

205
14,248,727.84

322
17,640,000.00

414
15,590,000.00

600,000.00
(700,000.00)
(100,000.00)

600,000.00
600,000.00

250,000.00
(700,000.00)
(450,000.00)

(200,000.00)

(300,000.00)

(200,000.00)

(300,000.00)

34,886.03
614,754.31

193,380.22
607,312.78
(413,932.57)

1,261,603.13
625,402.23
636,200.90

1,150,384.03
659,662.39
490,721.64

1,167,855.81
695,528.56
472,327.25

-

-

Approved proposed programme (Table 7 Equivalent)
Units Added to base
CAPITAL EXPENDITURE

5,417,439.63

Potential level two aspiration (Table 8 Equivalent)
Units Added to base
CAPITAL EXPENDITURE

5,417,439.63

Wokingham Housing Group Working Capital Investment Summary
Other Funding (Base Case)
Operational Drawdown
Repayment
Grant Conhtribution
TOTAL

11.2.
This forecasts shows that once the initial development programme is delivered,
including the two major projects of Phoenix and Fosters; the agreed proposed pipeline of
three new small projects every six months in 2018/19, building to three new small projects
every four months from 2019/20, can be handled by WHL at an estimated annual capital
cost of initially £6m and thereafter £7.6m. The more ambitious programme requires greater
capital input from Commuted Sums and/ or borrowings at a total of £14.2m, £17.6m and
£15.6m and would utilise more than the currently predicted Commuted Sums income
profile.
11.3.
Over the medium to long term a clear policy and approach has to be confirmed that
the funding needs for future approved schemes for WHL and LHL will be made available
from Commuted Sums or other non-interest bearing loans for affordable housing
23

325

FINAL v9
development and on a commercial basis for non-affordable housing activity, as new
opportunities are identified.
12. RETURNS
12.1.
As stated in the previous business plan, WHL’s shareholder, Holdco seek a
commercial as well as social return for its investment for the Council in setting up the
Company. The WHL Board have considered the balance between adequately financing the
running of the company and offering a satisfactory return to the shareholder. The Board
have adopted the following strategy;





13. RISKS

15% gross profit target
10% profit before tax
50% dividend paid to shareholder
2% tax paid5
3% earnings

13.1.
WHL’s Risk Register shows the risks that might affect WHL to develop its business.
The risk register identifies a number of risks, with the key risk being Government's recent
announcement on planning changes for affordable Section 106 housing, which might
significantly reduce Commuted Sums in the future.
13.2.
The next key risk is Loddon Homes being unable to register as a For-Profit Registered
Provider and therefore WHL not having its initial main client around which to build its
business.
13.3.
For both the top two risks the ongoing monitoring of the political environment to
assess the potential impact of policy changes, combined with active mitigation of the risks
through building up alternative income streams such as PRS and private sale development
through alternative funding sources, would reduce the impact of these risks. Under such
circumstances we would also be looking at a revision of rent levels, as well as changing our
development emphasis on alternative tenure models.
13.4.
The risks and their impacts on WHL’s business plan are set out in summary below.
All have actions which monitor and minimise the chances of these risks occurring within the
risk register.



Government's announcement on planning changes for affordable Section 106 housing
significantly reduces Commuted Sums
LHL fails to be able to register and is wound up - WHLs core initial business dries up

5

Amendments to WBC’s structure for managing its shareholding in all trading companies may mitigate tax
liability - independent tax and legal advice has been taken on structure and taxation matters.

24

326

FINAL v9














Rent controls limit income growth in future years - Less profit created by LHL to invest
in new homes/ fewer properties for WHL to build
LHL management and maintenance costs higher than expected - Less profit created by
WHL or LHL to invest in new homes and fewer properties for WHL to build
WHL is not seen as positive partner by key stakeholders especially WBC - LHL cannot
proceed without the support of WBC
Development ambitions and process not sufficiently clear and robust leading to poor
financial planning and cash flow estimates, and lax cost control - WHL fails to deliver
projects reasonably to time and to budget and does not achieve objectives or profit
expectations
Skills and experience of the WHL Board fails to match the requirements of WHL
strategic plan - Risk of failure to control and manage the business effectively
Funding is not secured to fund LHLs development programme/ WBC will not fund for
sale or PRS developments and operating cash flow of WHL - Project delays or project
failures
Interest rates higher than expected for borrowing - Difficulty in servicing debt and
reduced profitability to invest
WBC using all dividends/ profit to support non-housing development products and
services - No profit to re-invest in WHL building its business or for LHL to build
additional affordable housing through WHL
Insufficient staff resources available/ weak staff skill set - Project delays or project
failures
Build cost greater than planned - Higher financing requirements and costs - fewer
properties built

14. CONCLUSIONS
14.1.
This Business Plan shows that WHL can achieve its two primary objectives of
delivering affordable homes for the Wokingham Borough as well as a reasonable income on
investment to support the Council’s future affordable housing ambitions and wider service
cross subsidy.
14.2.
There are questions still to determine around commitment to the use of Commuted
Sums for affordable housing development to provide an asset base against which Loddon
Homes can borrow and deliver additional affordable housing and an ongoing selfsupporting profit. Some clear policy statements around the use of Commuted Sums and the
support for WHL to achieve its primary objectives would provide certainty for the business
moving forward and confidence from partners in working with WHL.
14.3.
In summary, the environment for WHL to operate within in the current housing
market is very strong. In context, WHL is effectively a small local development company
with significant advantages in having (a) council-owned land opportunities to develop, with
financial support from the Council to undertake affordable housing development at zero
interest costs, as well as (b) an opportunity for Council financial support to develop more
25

327

FINAL v9
commercial opportunities on commercial terms and conditions delivering a good return on
investment. This is an enviable position to be in, and the opportunities to support the
Council’s twin aims of delivering affordable housing and creating an income stream should
be grasped by supporting and growing WHL, and its subsidiary LHL, with both hands.

26

328

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted

329

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 105.
TITLE

Optalis Contract

FOR CONSIDERATION BY

The Executive on 18 February 2016

WARD

None Specific

DIRECTOR

Stuart Rowbotham, Director of Health and Wellbeing

LEAD MEMBER

Julian McGhee-Sumner, Executive Member for
Health and Wellbeing

OUTCOME / BENEFITS TO THE COMMUNITY
People who use Social Care services experience increased choice and control when
purchasing with personal budgets. Without Optalis (a Council owned company) that
choice would be reduced and limited. Optalis offer people with personal budgets
dependability, a well-managed and qualified social care workforce and genuine choice.
The Council, and people who use the Council’s services also have an established
provider of last resort, a contingency that would otherwise not be available in the event
of market failure.
RECOMMENDATION
That the Council issue a new contract to Optalis from 1 July 2016 for a period of up to
five years.
SUMMARY OF REPORT
This report sets out a recommendation to issue a second contract to Optalis, to provide
services on behalf of Wokingham Borough Council.
The report identifies the benefits of contracting with Optalis for the services listed in the
new contract.

357

Background
Wokingham Borough Council undertook a radical decision in how it operated and how it
supported residents within Wokingham during 2011. The Council created its own Adult
Social Care Local Authority Trading Company, originally called Connect Community
Care, which latterly changed to Optalis.
This transformation from a Council managed and operated service and conversion to
Optalis was a response to an uncertain financial period, that has not changed, and
changing political and Social Policy landscape.
The creation of Optalis enabled the Council’s Adult Social Care function to reduce its
directly employed workforce, focus its commissioning function and give people who use
Adult Social Care services greater choice and control.
The benefits of transferring the Council’s Adult Social Care services to Optalis have
included:


It has facilitated the transformation of Adult Social Care into a commissioning –
led, commissioning responsive organisation



A clear contractual link between a commissioning-led Council and service
delivery



It has promoted choice and competition in the local market, including enabling
the Council to respond proactively to the requirements of the Care Act 2014.



The Council having a provider of last resort on which it can rely



A business delivering services with the Council, that is flexible and acts as a
genuine partner



Stability and growth in the delivery of care services, with the added advantage of
income generation in favour of the Council’s Holding Company



Enabling people to use their personal budgets to purchase services from Optalis



Have adopted commercial disciplines that has increased productivity and
developed a culture of continuous improvement.

Analysis of Issues
The provider market within Wokingham is not currently mature enough or able to offer
the Council the range of services required. Optalis have proven they are able to meet
the Council’s requirements, whilst significantly reducing the cost base of the services
transferred from the Council to it.
Optalis hold a unique position within the market, being able to provide a range of
services should the Council’s other contracted services’ experience market failure.
Optalis in such an emergency situation have the resources and capacity to respond and
meet the Council’s needs as they arise.

358

Optalis has been able to recruit, retain and train a skilled workforce that other
contracted providers within the Social Care market have been less able to do. This
offers a level of stability, flexibility and confidence that the Council would not otherwise
have.
FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS OF THE RECOMMENDATION
The Council faces severe financial challenges over the coming years as a result
of the austerity measures implemented by the Government and subsequent
reductions to public sector funding. It is estimated that Wokingham Borough
Council will be required to make budget reductions in excess of £20m over the
next three years and all Executive decisions should be made in this context.

Current Financial
Year (Year 1)
Next Financial Year
(Year 2)
Following Financial
Year (Year 3)

How much will it
Cost/ (Save)

Is there sufficient
funding – if not
quantify the Shortfall

Revenue or
Capital?

(£250k)

Yes

Revenue

(£308k)

Yes

Revenue

tba

Yes

Revenue

Other financial information relevant to the Recommendation/Decision
The Council has realised efficiencies to date contracting with Optalis since 2011 of
£466,000.
If the Council does not renew this contract the Council’s projected saving risks
jeopardising efficiencies identified in the 2016 – 2017 Corporate Savings Plan.
Please see Part 2 sheet for additional financial information.
Cross-Council Implications
Optalis has developed a strong partnership arrangement with the Council’s Housing
Company, Wokingham Housing Ltd for the delivery of supported housing and extra care
housing to vulnerable adults.
Optalis provide vital social work and social care services to the Council’s adult social
care function.
Reasons for considering the report in Part 2
Commercially sensitive information
List of Background Papers
Optalis Contract
Contact Peter White
Telephone No 07717348573
Date 12 January 2016

Service Strategic Commissioning
Email Peter.white@wokingham.gov.uk
Version No. 1

359

This page is intentionally left blank

Dated

2015

WOKINGHAM BOROUGH COUNCIL
AND
OPTALIS LIMITED

AGREEMENT
Relating to the
Provision of Adult Social Care

361

CONTENTS
Recitals
A.

Operative Provision

A1

Definitions

A2

Interpretations

A3

Entirety of Contract

B.

General Provision

B1

Contract Period

B2

Contract Variation

B3

Notices

B4

Severance

B5

Waiver

B6

Assignment, Sub-contracting and Change of Control

B7

Agency

B8

Parties' Obligations

B9

Force Majeure

B10

Conflicts of Interest

B11

Fraud

B12

Partnership Working

C.

Provision of Services

C1

Authorised Officer

C2

Contract Manager

C3

The Service

C4

Standards of the Service

C5

Quality Assurance

362

C6

Provider's Staff

C7

Accessing the Service

C8

Safeguarding of Vulnerable Adults
and Children

C9

Right of Access and Inspection

C10

Not used

C11

Contract Monitoring
and Performance
Framework

C12

Failure to Perform

C13

Complaints

C14

Whistleblowing

C15

Business Sust ainability , Business Continuity, Disaster Recovery and
Pandemic Flu Provisions

D.

Contract Price and Payment Arrangements

D1

Contract Price, Payment Arrangements and Financial Monitoring

D2

Value Added Tax

D3

Recovery of Sums Due

D4

Not used

D5

Review of Contract Price – Staffing Related Costs

E.

Statutory Obligations and Regulations

E1

Prevention of Bribery & Corruption

E2

Equalities and Diversity

E3

The Contracts (Right of Third Parties) Act

E4

Health and Safety

E5

Human Rights

E6

Transfer of Undertakings (Protection of Employment) Regulation

363

E7

Mental Capacity Act and Deprivation of Liberty Safeguards

F.

Information

F1

Data Protection Act

F2

Confidentiality

F3

Audit

F4

Publicity

F5

Logo

F6

Records

F7

Freedom of Information

G.

Liability and Insurance

G1

Liability

G2

Insurance

G3

Warranties and Representations

G4

Premises

H.

Dispute, Disruption and Termination

H1

Termination

H2

Termination on Default

H3

Not used

H4

Provider's Financial Distress

H5

Consequences of Termination

H6

Suspension

H7

Handover

H8

Disruption

H9

Dispute

364

H10

Not used

H11

Law and Jurisdiction

H12

Change of Law

I.

Contract Specific Conditions

I.1

Outcomes

I.2

Self Directed Support

SCHEDULES
1

Authorised Officer and Contract Manager

2

Service Specifications
2.1a Brokerage and Professional Support Core Service Specification
2.1b Brokerage and Professional Support Independent Broker Service
Specification
2.1c Brokerage and Professional Support Care Act Social Workers Service
Specification
2.2

Emergency Provider Service Specification

2.3 Employment Service Specification
2.4

Extra Care Service Alexandra Place Specification

2.5 Extra Care Service Beeches Manor Specification
2.6

Extra Care Service Cockayne Court Specification

2.7 Learning Disability Day Services Specification
2.8 Learning Disability Supported Living (Block and Spot) Service Specification
2.9 Learning Disability Supported Living Services (Spot)
2.10 Long-Term Support (LTS)
2.11 Physical Disability Day Service Specification
2.12 START Service Specification
2.13

Suffolk Lodge

365

3

Contract Monitoring and Performance Framework

4

Contract Variation Notice Template

366

THIS CONTRACT is made on the

2015

BETWEEN
(1)
and
(2)

WOKINGHAM BOROUGH COUNCIL of Civic Offices Shute
End Wokingham Berkshire RG40 1BN hereinafter referred to as "the Council"
OPTALIS LTD (Company number 07630156) whose registered office is at
Trinity Court Molly Millars Lane Wokingham Berkshire RG41 2PY hereinafter
referred to as "the Provider"

PART A – OPERATIVE PROVISION
A1

DEFINITIONS

The terms and expressions used in these Terms and Conditions shall have the
meanings set out below:
"Approval" and "Approved”

means the written consent of the Authorised Officer

"Authorisation"

means an authorisation given by the Council after
completion of the statutory assessment process,
giving lawful authority to deprive a person of their
liberty in the Care Home

"Authorised Officer”

means the person(s) for the time being appointed by
the Council and specified in Schedule 1 as being
authorised to administer the Contract on behalf of
the Council or such person as may be nominated by
the Authorised Officer to act on its behalf

"Authority"

means the Council

“Business Day”

means between Monday to Friday inclusive, but does
not include any days which are bank holidays or
public holidays

"Care and Support Plan”

means the plan, drawn up following the assessment
of a Customer, which sets out how their care and
support needs will be met and the outcomes to be
achieved

"Care Home"

means an establishment providing accommodation,
together with nursing or personal care, as defined in
the Care Standards Act 2000 and the Health and
Social Care Act 2008

367

"Carer"

means any relative, friend, representative or lay
advocate of a Customer

“Change of Control”

means a change of control within the meaning of
section 416 of the Income and Corporation Taxes Act
1988 of the Provider or any Material Subcontractor or
any holding company or subsidiary (as defined in
the Companies Acts 1985 to 2006) of either of the
foregoing

"Code of Practice”

means the guidance and information about how the
Mental Capacity Act 2005 works in practice and is to
support the legal framework provided by the Act

“Commencement Date

Means 1st July 2016

"Commercially Sensitive
Information”

means the subset of Confidential Information listed
in Schedules [ ] and [ ] inclusive comprised of
information:
(a)

which is provided by the Council to the Provider
in confidence for the period set out in those
Schedules; and/or
(b) that constitutes a trade secret
"Conditions"

means this Contract's terms and conditions and/or
any modification duly agreed in accordance with this
Contract

“Confidential Information”

means any information which has been designated
as confidential by either Party in writing or that
ought to be considered as confidential (however it is
conveyed or on whatever media it is stored)
including information which relates to the business,
affairs,
properties, assets,
trading practices,
Services, Developments, trade secrets, Intellectual
Property Rights, know-how, personnel, customers
and suppliers of either Party, all personal data and
sensitive personal data within the meaning of the
Data Protection Act 1998 and Schedules [
] and
[ ] inclusive

“Contract”

means the agreement between the Provider and the
Council consisting of these Conditions and any
attached Schedules (whether or not referred to in
the Conditions)

368

"Contract Manager"

means the person for the time being appointed by
the Provider and specified in Schedule 1 as being
authorised to administer the Contract on behalf of
the Provider or such person as may be nominated by
the Contract Manager to act on its behalf

“Contract Monitoring”

means the monitoring and review of the Provider’s
performance across all aspects of the Contract
including against the requirements of the Service
Schedules, performance measures and financial
requirements

"Contract Period"

means the period of duration of the Contract in
accordance with Clause B1.1

"Contract Price" and "Price”

means the price exclusive of any applicable tax,
payable to the Provider by the Council under this
Contract, as set out in the Schedules for each
individual service inclusive for the full and proper
performance by the Provider of its obligations this
Contract

"Contract Standard"

means those standards set out in this Contract and
the individual service specifications comprising
Schedule 2

"Council"

means Wokingham Borough Council or its successor
body as applicable

"Council Managed Account"

means a Personal Budget that is held and managed
by the Council

"Customer"

means a person to whom the Provider shall provide
the Services

"Default"

means any failure, or breach, either on the Council's
or the Provider's part, to carry out their respective
obligations under this Contract

"Deprivation of Liberty (DoL)
Safeguards"

means the framework of safeguards under the
Mental Capacity Act 2005 for people who need to be
deprived of their liberty in a Care Home or other
residential setting in their best interest for care and
who lack the capacity to consent to the
arrangement made for their care

"Direct Payment"

means the payments made by the Council in
accordance with the relevant legislation and
government guidance to people with eligible social
care needs who have chosen to arrange and pay for
their own ca.re and support services instead of
receiving these services directly from, or having
them arranged by, the Council

369

"Dispute Resolution Procedure"

means the procedure set out in clause H6

“Expiry Date”

means the 30th June 2021 unless the contract is
terminated pursuant to Clause B1.3

"Eligible Social Care Needs"

means those needs which meet social care
eligibility criteria under the
National Eligibility
Criteria Framework introduced in April 2015 pursuant
to the Care Act 2014

"Financial Distress Notice"

means a Notice served on the Provider by the
Council in the circumstances set out in clause H3.5

Force Majeure"

means and includes the occurrence after the
Commencement Date of:
(a) war, civil war, riot, civil unrest, civil emergency,
terrorist attack or threat of terrorist attack,
industrial action by non-employees of the
Provider on a national scale or industrial action
by employees of the Council
(b) nuclear, chemical or biological contamination; or
(c) an act of God.

"General Change in Law"

means a change in Law which comes into effect after
the Commencement Date, where the change is of a
general legislative nature (including taxation or
duties of any sort affecting the Provider) or which
would affect or relate to a comparable supply of
Services of the same or a similar nature to the
supply of the Services

"Good Industry Practice"

means the exercise of that degree of skill, diligence,
prudence and foresight which would reasonably and
ordinarily be expected from a skilled and experienced
operator engaged in the same type of undertaking
and/or activity as the Provider under the same or
similar circumstances.

"Intellectual Property Rights"

means patents, inventions, trademarks, service
marks, logos, design rights (whether registrable or
otherwise), applications for any of the foregoing,
copyright, database rights, domain names, trade or
business names, moral rights and other similar rights
or obligations whether registrable or not in any
country (including but not limited to the United
Kingdom) and the right to sue for passing off

"Individual Service Fund"

means a payment in advance to a provider for
services to be provided in accordance with the three
way agreement between the Council, a provider and

370

a Customer
"Law"

means but is not limited to any applicable Act of
Parliament,
statutory
legislation,
subordinate
legislation within the meaning of section 21(1) of
the Interpretation Act 1978, exercise of the Royal
Prerogative enforceable community right within the
meaning of section 2 of the European Communities
Act 1972, by-law, regulatory policy, guidance or
industry code, judgment of a relevant court of law,
or directives or requirements of any Regulatory
Body of which the Provider is bound to comply. Any
reference to "Legislation"
shall
be construed
accordingly

"Managing Authority”

means the person or body with management
responsibility for the Care Home in which a person is,
or may become, deprived of their liberty

"Material Default”

means the following issues are considered (without
limitation) to be a Material Default:
failure to have in place the insurance cover required
under clause G2.
non-compliance with the
requirements of clause E2.

equal

opportunity

Evidence of abuse and/or mistreatment
of a
Customer by the Provider or the Provider's Staff or
agents or by any sub-contractor or such subcontractor's staff or agents or where the Provider or
any sub-contractor is negligent in permitting such
abuse or mistreatment
breach of the requirements of clause B11 (Fraud) or
clause E1 (Prevention of Bribery and Corruption).
the conviction of the Provider of an offence under
the provisions of the Care Standards Act 2000
persistent use by the Provider or a sub-contractor of
unqualified or untrained Staff except where the
Council has given written consent to such use
"Material Subcontractor"

means any subcontractor of the Provider within the
Optalis Group of Companies or other sub-contractor
with the prior written consent of the Council

"Notice"

means any formal communication between the
Parties as required by the Contract

"Outcomes"

means the impacts or end results of the Service on a
person's life

371

"Party" and "Parties”

means a party to this Contract and "Parties" shall be
construed accordingly

"Personal Budget"

means the amount of money allocated to a Customer
by the Council to fund care and support services to
meet their eligible social care needs

"Provider"

means the person, firm or company with whom the
Council enters into this Contract and references
herein to operating companies of the Provider shall
be deemed to be references to the Provider

"Public Sector Reorganisation"

means any transfer of powers, functions, funding
and/or areas between bodies constituted by statute
or statutory instrument and any associated transfer
of staff, property, rights and/or obligations

"Qualifying Change in Law"

means:
(a)
a General, Change in Law
(b)
a Specific Change in Law which was not
foreseeable at the date of this Contract

"Records”

Means the Contract and all documents, data or other
information relating to, produced, or received as part
of or in connection with the service as part of or in
connection with the Service and stored on whatever
medium

"Regulatory Bodies"

Means those government departments and
regulatory, statutory and other entities, committees
and bodies which, whether under statute, rules,
regulations, codes of practice or otherwise, are
entitled to regulate, investigate, or influence the
matters dealt with in this Contract or any other
affairs of the Providers and "Regulatory Body" shall
be construed accordingly

"Replacement Provider”

means any third party appointed by the Council from
time to time to provide any services which are
substantially similar to any of the Services, or
received in substitution for any of the Services,
following the expiry, termination or partial
termination of this Contract whether those services
are provided by the Council internally and/or by any
third party

"Schedule”

means a schedule attached to this Contract.

372

"Self Directed Support"

means the process by which a person with eligible
social care needs is allocated a specific amount of
money and can control how that money is spent to
get the support they need in the way that they want

"Services"

means the services to be provided as specified in the
Schedules

"Service Specification Schedule"

means the documents comprising Schedule
containing details of the services to be provided

"Significant Decision"

means a decision that needs to be made concerning
serious medical treatment and change of
accommodation and there are no friends or family
who it would be appropriate to consult on the
decision

“Specific Change in Law”

means a change in Law which comes into effect after
the Commencement Date that relates specifically to
the business of the Provider and which would not
affect a comparable supply of services of the same
or a similar nature to the supply of the Services

"Staff'

means all persons employed by the Provider to
perform the Contract together with the Provider's
consultants, gents and sub-contractors used in the
performance of the Contract

"TUPE"

means the Transfer of Undertakings (Protection of
Employment) Regulations 2006 as may be amended
from time to time

"Value Added Tax”

means Value Added Tax or any similar tax replacing
it or performing a similar fiscal function

"Variation”

means a change to this Contract or to the Services
which may include a new service/schedule,
decommissioning a service/schedule and/or price
changes made in accordance with clause B2
(Contract Variation)

"WBC"

means the Council

"Whistleblowing”

means raising concerns about misconduct within an
organisation or within an independent structure
associated with it

"Wokingham Borough Council"

means the Council

373

2

A2

INTERPRETATIONS

A2.1

Except as otherwise expressly provided, the documents comprising this Contract are
to be mutually explanatory of one another. Should the Provider become aware
of any ambiguities or discrepancies in or between any of the documents
comprising the Contract, the Provider shall immediately inform the Authorised
Officer giving full details. Any such notified ambiguities or discrepancies or any
ambiguities or discrepancies otherwise coming to the notice of the Authorised
Officer shall be resolved by the Authorised Officer who shall issue to the
Provider any appropriate instructions in writing.

A2.2

Any references to any Act of Parliament shall be deemed to include any
amendment, replacement or re-enactment thereof for the time being in force,
and to include any EU Directives, by-laws, licences, statutory instruments, rules,
regulations, orders, notices, directions, guidance, consents or permissions
made thereunder, and any condition attaching thereto.

A2.3

Any undertaking hereunder not to do any act or thing shall be deemed to
include an undertaking not to permit or allow the doing of that act or thing
where that permission or allowance is within the reasonable control of the
Provider.

A2.4

The headings in the Contract are for ease of reference only and shall not be
taken into account in the construction or interpretation of any provision to
which they refer.

A2.5

The expression ‘person’ used in the Contract shall include (without
limitation) any individual partnership, local authority or incorporated or
unincorporated body.

A2.6

In the Contract the masculine includes the feminine and the neuter and
vice versa; the singular includes the plural and vice versa.

A2.7

Any reference to government departments and the like, is deemed to include
its or their successors.

A2.8

References to Clauses or Schedules shall be to Clauses and Schedules of these
Conditions of Contract.

A2.9

Any numbering without corresponding provisions or reference to "Not used"
or similar occurrences in this Contract shall be disregarded as remnants of a
standard template.

A3

ENTIRETY OF CONTRACT
This Contract represents the entire understanding between the parties and
supersedes all representations, understandings and agreements, whether oral or
written, made by the Council or the Provider.

374

PART B - GENERAL PROVISION
B1

CONTRACT PERIOD

B.1.1 The Contract shall commence on the Commencement Date and shall
continue for a period of five years (subject to the provisions for early
termination) ("the Contract Period")
B1.2

Either party may give twelve months written notice to the other to terminate
the contract. Such notice not to expire before the end of the 4th (fourth) year.

B2

CONTRACT VARIATION

B2.1

The Provider will be entitled to make only such changes to the Services as
provided in the Individual Schedules

B2.2

If either party wishes to vary this Contract then it shall serve on the other a
Variation Notice using the Contract Variation Notice Template as detailed in
Schedule 4. This Notice shall set out the nature of the variation sought and the
reasons for it.

B2.3

If either party receives a Variation Notice then within 20 Business Days of receipt
it shall notify the other whether or not it agrees to the variation and if not, the
reasons.

B2.4

In the event of a Variation the Price may also be varied. Such Variation in the
Price shall be calculated by the Council and agreed in writing with the
Provider and shall be such amount as properly and fairly reflects the nature and
extent of the Variation in all the circumstances.

B2.5

The Provider shall provide such information as may be reasonably required to
enable such varied price to be calculated.

B2.6

If the Variation cannot be agreed between the Parties the matter shall be
determined in accordance with the provisions of clause H9.

B3

NOTICES

B3.1

Any Notice required by this Contract to be given by either party to the other
shall be in writing and shall be served personally, by fax, by e-mail or by sending
it by registered post or recorded delivery.

B3.2

Any Notice required by this Contract must be issued by the Contract
Manager or Authorised Officer or any person nominated to act on their behalf as
set out in Schedule 1, and must be address to the other party as per the named
individual(s) in Schedule 1.

B3.3

Any Notice served personally or sent by email will be deemed to have been
served on the day of delivery/sending, any Notice sent by post will be deemed
to have been served 48 hours after was posted, any Notice sent by fax will
be deemed to have been served 24 hours after it was despatched, save
where the deemed date of service falls on a day other than a Business Day or
it is not received between the hours of 9am to 5pm on a Business day, in which

375

case the date of service will be the following Business Day.
B3.4

The Provider shall inform the Council of any significant or substantial
occurrence that adversely affects the Provider's performance of this contract,
its customers or the Council and the Council's ability to meet its statutory
obligations. If in any doubt the Provider shall inform the Council of the
occurrence.

B4

SEVERANCE
If any provision of this Contract is declared by any judicial or other
competent authority to be void, voidable, illegal or otherwise unenforceable
the remaining provisions of this Contract shall continue in full force and
effect and the parties shall amend that provision in such reasonable manner as
achieves the intention of the parties without illegality provided that either
party may seek the consent of the other to the termination of this Contract on
such terms as may in all the circumstances be reasonable if the effect of the
foregoing provision would be to defeat the original intention of the parties.
Where such amendment or termination is required by reason of lack of vires on
the part of a party, the costs of or resulting from such amendment or
termination shall be borne by that party.

B5

WAIVER

B5.1

The failure of either Party to insist upon strict performance of any provision
of this Contract or the failure of either Party to exercise any right or remedy
shall not constitute a waiver of that right o r remedy and shall not cause a
diminution of the obligations established by this Contract.

B5.2

No waiver shall be effective unless it is expressly stated to be a waiver and
communicated to the other Party in writing in accordance with the provisions
of clause B5.1

B5.3

A waiver of any right or remedy arising from a breach of this Contract shall
not constitute a waiver of any right or remedy arising from any other or
subsequent breach of this Contract.

B6

ASSIGNMENT, SUB-CONTRACTING AND CHANGE OF CONTROL

B6.1 The Provider shall not without the prior written consent of the Council which
shall not be unreasonably withheld or delayed, assign all or any benefit, right
or interest under this Contract or sub-contract the supply of the Services. Any
request to make such a change by the Provider must take the form of a
Contract Variation Notice.
B6.2

The Provider shall remain responsible and liable for the acts and omissions
of any sub-contractor or agents as though they were its own.

B6.3

The Council shall be entitled to:
B6.3.1 (with the prior written consent of the Provider, such consent not to
be unreasonably withheld or delayed) assign, novate or dispose of its
rights and obligation under this Contract either in whole or part to any

376

contracting authority (as defined in The Public Contracts Regulations
2015); or
B6.3.2 transfer, assign or novate its rights and obligations where required
by Law.
B6.4

In the event of a Public Sector Reorganisation, the Provider shall enter into
all such assignments and/or novations as the Council shall specify as
necessary. The Council shall produce all necessary documentation for this
purpose and shall reimburse the Provider with its properly and reasonably
incurred costs associated with such assignments and/or novations.

B7

AGENCY
Apart from the provision of Brokerage Services as detailed in Schedule 2.1
neither the Provider nor its Staff shall in any circumstances hold itself or
themselves out as being the employee or agent of the Council or enter into
any Contract or bind the Council to any undertaking unless otherwise agreed
in writing by the Council. Any request to make such a change by the Provider
must take the form of a Contract Variation Notice.

B8

PARTIES' OBLIGATIONS

B8.1 Save as otherwise expressly provided, the obligations of the Council under
the Contract are obligations of the Council in its capacity as a contracting
counter party and nothing in the Contract shall operate as an obligation upon,
or in any other way fetter or constrain the Council in any of its other
capacities, nor shall the exercise by the Council of its duties and powers in any
other capacity lead to any liability under the Contract (howsoever arising) on the
part of the Council to the Provider.
B8.2 The Provider shall deliver the Service for the Contract Period to the Contract
Standard and in consideration thereof the Council shall pay to the Provider
the Contract Price, all in accordance with the terms and conditions of the
Contract.
B9

FORCE MAJEURE

B9.1

Neither the Provider nor the Council shall be liable for breach of its obligations
under the Contract to the extent that such breach is caused by Force Majeure.
For the avoidance of doubt any industrial action occurring within the Provider's
organisation, the inability of the Provider to recruit staff, or failure by any
sub-contractor to provide services shall not be Force Majeure.

B9.2

The Provider shall as soon as reasonably practicable notify the Council in
writing of such Force Majeure events as they occur and shall use its
reasonable endeavours to secure the continued provision of all or such part
of the service as shall have been affected by the event of Force Majeure.

B9.3 Either Party may terminate the Contract in its entirety or in part by written
notice to take effect immediately if the event of Force Majeure persists for
more than 28 calendar days and the Parties have not agreed in writing that
the Contract will continue, whether or not subject to alternative

377

arrangements in respect of the event of Force Majeure.
B10

CONFLICTS OF INTEREST

B10.1 Apart from the provisions set out in Schedule 2.1 for which there are
agreed safeguarding principles in accordance with the Brokerage Principles
concerning brokerage services, the Provider shall take appropriate steps to
ensure that neither the Provider nor any employee, agent, supplier or subcontractor is placed in a position where there is or may be an actual
conflict, or a potential conflict, between the pecuniary or personal interests
of the Provider or such person and the duties owed to the Council under the
provision of the Contract. The Provider will disclose to the Council f u l l
particulars of any such conflict of interest which may arise. The Provider will
ensure that its brokerage staff work at all times in the best interest of the
customers they are working with.
B10.2 The provision of this Condition shall apply during the continuance of this
Contract and for a period of 24 months after its termination.
B11

FRAUD

B11.1 The Provider shall safeguard the Council's funding of the Contract against
fraud generally and, in particular, fraud on the part of the Staff, or the
Provider's directors and suppliers.
B11.2 The Provider shall notify the Council immediately if it has reason to suspect
that any fraud has occurred or is occurring or likely to occur.
B11.3 The Council reserves the right to take whatever action it deems necessary in
the event of either notification of, or a suspected fraud.
B12

PARTNERSHIP WORKING

B12.1 The Provider and the Council will act collaboratively with a spirit of
cooperation and openness in their dealings including contributing to projects,
policy development, customer engagement and consultation with regard to
the Council's adult social care and wellbeing duties and responsibilities.
B12.2 The Parties will work collaboratively and co-operatively with each other to
assist in the management of the Council's adult social care services within
allocated budgets
B12.3

The Provider and the Council will actively seek to work closely together in
formal or other arrangements with other agencies organisations and
stakeholders working with the Council, or otherwise contributing to, involved
in or affected by, the provision of adult social services in the Borough.

B12.4

The Provider will demonstrate a collaborative and co-operative working
ethos with its Customers and their representatives

PART C - PROVISION OF SERVICES

378

C1

AUTHORISED OFFICER

C1.1

The Council shall appoint an Authorised Officer(s) to act on behalf of the
Council for all purposes connected with the Contract. Details of the person
are set out in Schedule 1.

C1.2

The Council shall forthwith give notice in writing to the Provider of any
change in the identity, address and telephone numbers of the person
appointed as Authorised Officer. The Council shall give maximum possible
notice to the Provider before changing its Authorised Officer.

C2

CONTRACT MANAGER

C2.1

The Provider shall appoint a Contract Manager to act on behalf of the
Provider for all purposes connected with the Contract. Details of the person
are set out in Schedule 1.

C1.2

The Provider shall forthwith give notice in writing to the Council of any
change in the identity, address and telephone numbers of the person
appointed as Contract Manager. The Provider shall give maximum possible
notice to the Council before changing its Contract Manager.

C3

THE SERVICE

C3.1

The Provider shall provide the Services during the Contract Period in
accordance with the Contract.

C3.2

The Provider shall use all reasonable endeavours to provide the Services in
accordance with the Council's Values and to promote the Councils' priorities
wheresoever possible.

C3.3

The Council will delegate to the Provider authority to act as an agent as
defined in the Schedule 2.1 concerning brokerage services

C3.3

In providing the Services, the Provider shall comply with and take into
account all applicable laws, enactments, orders, regulations and other
similar instruments, the requirements of any court with relevant
jurisdiction and any local, national or supranational agency, inspectorate,
minister, ministry, official or public or statutory person of the government
of the United Kingdom or of the European Union.

C3.4

The Provider shall be registered and shall remain registered throughout
the Contract Period with any relevant Regulatory Bodies and the Council
will use its reasonable endeavours to provide such information and
declarations as may be necessary to facilitate the Provider's registration
with the relevant Regulatory Body.

C3.5

The Provider will ensure that the Services are appropriately promoted and
publicised which will include having information available on the Services in
appropriate formats and locations, including how the Services can be
accessed.

C4

STANDARDS OF THE SERVICE

379

C4.1

The Provider shall comply with all relevant current and future statutory
provision. In addition, the Provider shall comply with any local requirements
that are laid down in this Contract or that are issued to the Provider as part of
the outcome of the variation procedure pursuant to Clause B2 (Contract
Variation).

C4.2

The Provider will establish itself as a champion of professional standards in
all of its operations and activities, which includes keeping up to date with
recognised best practice.

C4.3

Where Services are registerable with the Care Quality Commission (CQC) or
its successors in title the Provider must ensure these Services meet all the
requirements of the CQC.
C4.3.1

The Provider shall notify the Council of any changes to the
Registered Manager at any registerable services.

C4.4

Notwithstanding the provisions within Clauses C4.1 to C4.3, the Provider must
ensure that each Customer has a keyworker, a support/care plan and any
necessary risk management plans. The plans must be drawn up in
partnership with the Customer wherever reasonably possible and must be
regularly reviewed and updated, especially following any incident which has
or may have an impact on a Customer’s well-being.

C5

QUALITY ASSURANCE
The Provider shall throughout the Contract Period demonstrate and maintain
a properly documented system of outcomes focussed quality assurance
which will be agreed with the Council as appropriate for the services under
consideration. Appropriate service outcomes and quality standards relevant
to each service are set out in the individual service specifications
comprising Schedule 2 and the Contract Monitoring and Performance
Framework detailed in Schedule 3.

C6

PROVIDER'S STAFF

C6.1

The Provider shall employ sufficiently trained, suitably qualified and
experienced Staff to ensure that the Service throughout the Contract Period
is provided in all respects to the Contract Standard.

C6.2

Not used

C6.3

The Provider's Staff employed in and about the provision of the Services
shall at all times exercise due care and diligence in the execution of their
duties and the Provider shall ensure that such persons are properly and
sufficiently instructed and supervised with regard to the provision of the
Services. Including but not limited to working with Customers in an
empowering, non-discriminatory and creative way, following best practice
and statutory requirements to ensure that the outcomes for individuals are
maximised at every opportunity.

380

C6.4

The Provider shall meet all legal requirements required concerning the
employment and recruitment of staff and volunteers and ensure that it
follow best practice in this area including:
C6.4.4 obtain a full employment history and satisfactory references for all
applicants;
C6.4.5 confirm the applicant's legal right to work in the UK in those services
delivered on behalf of Wokingham Borough Council;
C6.4.6 not allow any member of Staff to commence employment prior to
the receipt of a satisfactory check unless formally approved by the
Contract Manager.

C6.5

If a member of staff’s conduct, as someone employed by the Provider (which
includes agency staff and volunteers), is being reviewed as a result of a
safeguarding or disciplinary investigation and they choose to terminate their
employment with the Provider before the investigation is concluded, the
Provider must ensure that its investigation continues and is concluded. The
outcome should be based on the balance of probability with the Provider
taking any necessary follow-up action in line with statutory requirements and
best practice. This should include making a referral to the Disclosure and
Barring Service if appropriate.

C6.6

The Provider shall bear the cost of or costs arising from any Notice,
instruction or decision of the Council under this clause.

C7

ACCESSING THE SERVICE

C7.1

The Provider will, in consultation with the Council, ensure that all Services
have a clear policy setting out who is eligible to access the Service and the
circumstances in which an application to the Service would not be accepted
and where an existing Service would be withdrawn. These must be notified to
key referral agencies, stakeholders and prospective customers and are to be
subject to regular review.

C7.2

The Council shall nominate Customers to the Provider pursuant to the policies
referred to in Clause 7.1 and as set out in the Service Specifications above.
The Provider shall provide the relevant services to all of those nominated
by the Council and it shall use its b e s t endeavours to meet the needs of the
Customers referred to the Provider and must inform the Council where it is
unable to accept an application to a Service or is unable to continue to provide
an existing Service to a Customer, stating its reasons.

C8

SAFEGUARDING OF VULNERABLE ADULTS AND CHILDREN
Safeguarding Children

C8.1

‘Working Together to Safeguard Children’ and ‘Section 11 of the
Children Act 2004’ places a statutory duty on all Providers ‘who provide
services for, or work with children’ or young people, to
‘safeguard and promote the welfare of children’.

381

C8.2

The Provider shall at all times comply with the requirements of Section
11 of the Children Act 2004 and the Child Protection Procedures relevant to
the Local Safeguarding Children Board (LSCB) in which the child is placed (e.g.
Berkshire Child Protection Procedures). The Provider will at all times have
arrangements (“the Provider’s Arrangements”) in force for safeguarding and
promoting the welfare of children which are compliant with the local LSCB
Child Protection Procedures and the Provider’s duties in ‘Working Together to
Safeguard Children’ and will ensure that any additional internal procedures or
inter-agency protocols are consistent with these procedures.
Safeguarding Adults

C8.3

The Provider shall at all times comply with the requirements of the
Berkshire Safeguarding Adults Policy and Procedures, including any updates
and/or replacement documents, and also comply with the requirements of any
Regulatory Body to which the Provider is subject, including Deprivation of
Liberty regulations and any change in such requirements. The Provider will at
all times have arrangements (“the Provider’s Arrangements”) in force for
safeguarding and promoting the welfare of vulnerable adults which are
compliant with the local Safeguarding Adults Procedures and will ensure that
additional internal procedures or inter-agency protocols are consistent with
these procedures.
Safeguarding requirements applying to both Adults and Children

C8.4

Providers shall ensure that:
C8.4.1
C8.4.2

C8.4.3

C8.4.4

C8.4.5

C8.4.6

All staff and volunteers (including temporary staff) ‘are made
aware of the Provider’s Arrangements’;
They publish written policies that explicitly state ‘clear
priorities for safeguarding and promoting the welfare of
children’ and vulnerable adults in ‘strategic policy documents’
and that they ensure the effective dissemination, and
implementation, of these policies to staff and volunteers;
They provide ‘a clear line of accountability within the
organisation for work on safeguarding’ and promoting welfare
and demonstrate ‘a clear commitment by the Provider to the
importance of safeguarding and promoting welfare’;
Their staff and volunteers are subject to Safer Workforce
processes and checks, including, ‘recruitment and human
resources management procedures that take account of the
need to safeguard and promote welfare, including
arrangements for appropriate checks on new staff and
volunteers’, this includes conducting appropriate checks with
the Disclosure and Barring Service (DBS);
They adhere to local LSCB ‘Procedures for dealing with
allegations of abuse against members of staff and volunteers’,
including arrangements for notifying the Local Authority
Designated Officer (LADO), for Services in relation to Children
and Young People;
They ensure that all staff and volunteers undertake
appropriate training, and to ensure that this is kept up-to-date
by refresher training at regular intervals;

382

C8.4.7

They respect the confidentiality of individuals and adhere to
Wokingham Borough Council’s LSCB Information Sharing and
Assessment Protocol, which summarises local ‘arrangements
to work effectively with other organisations to safeguard and
promote welfare, including arrangements for sharing
information’, (subject to any relevant provisions of the Data
Protection Act);

C8.4.8

They disseminate and implement ‘appropriate whistle-blowing
procedures, and a culture that enables issues about
safeguarding and promoting the welfare of children and
vulnerable adults to be addressed’;
C8.4.9 They maintain accurate and up-to-date records of decision
making and actions taken;
C8.4.10 They are at all times sensitive to needs arising from race,
culture, religion, sexual orientation or linguistic background;
C8.4.11 They furnish the Client or their agents on their reasonable
request, with copies of their records relating to any of the
above.
C8.5

The Provider should refer to the LSCB’s website for Safeguarding
resources (‘Safeguarding Toolkit’) to assist them in fulfilling these
responsibilities.

C8.6

Compliance with these minimum standards will primarily be monitored
in review

C8.7

The Local Safeguarding Children Board will monitor Provider
compliance with Safeguarding requirements in its Section 11 Audit
(Section 11 of the Children Act 2004). Failure to comply with any part
of this Clause will be deemed a Material Default of the Contract.

C8.8

The Provider must make available a copy of any of their internal safeguarding
policies and procedures to the Council on request.

C8.9

Upon the Council’s reasonable request, a copy of the Provider’s records
relating to the protection of vulnerable adults and children from abuse made
in relation to the Service(s) and its response must be supplied.

C9

RIGHTS OF ACCESS AND INSPECTION

C9.1

The Provider shall allow officers and members of the Council to have
reasonable access to the Provider's premises, records and Staff to enable the
Council to meet its statutory duties and in the event that the Council has
any concerns regarding the compliance with the Contract and any relevant
statutory provisions.

C9.2

Any information made available to the Council under this Clause shall be
treated as Confidential Information except to the extent such information is
discloseable by law

C10

NOT USED

383

C11

CONTRACT MONITORING AND PERFORMANCE FRAMEWORK

C11.1

Contract monitoring will be undertaken by the Council in accordance with
Schedule 3. The Provider shall afford all reasonable resources and facilities
to allow the Council to carry out its contract reviews and provide all
reasonable information required. This will include access to Customer's
files.

C11.2

Following any Contract Monitoring and in line with clause B2 Contract
Variation the Council shall be entitled in its absolute discretion to make a
change to any Service by amending the Schedules and to increase or
decrease the Service accordingly. Where such a change results in a reduction
of funding, the Council will endeavour to give 6 (six) months written Notice of
such change except where there is clear evidence of no burden of cost on the
Provider, in which case the change will have immediate effect.

C12

FAILURE TO PERFORM

C12.1

If the Provider fails to supply any of the Services in accordance with the
provisions of the Contract and such failure is capable of remedy, then the
Council shall acting reasonably instruct the Provider to remedy the failure
and the Provider shall at its own cost and expense remedy such failure
within such period of time as the Council may direct.

C12.2

In the event that:
C12.2.1

the Provider fails to comply with Clause C12.1 above and the
failure is materially adverse to the: interests of the Council or
prevents the Council from discharging a statutory duty; or

C12.2.2

the Provider persistently fails to comply with clause C12.1 above;

the Council may terminate the Contract with immediate effect by Notice in
writing UNLESS such failure is caused by compliance on the part of the
Provider with any request or impositions of the Council operating outside of
this Contract or as the Council acting in its other capacities.
C12.3

In the event that the Council is of the reasonable opinion that there has been
a Material Default of the Contract by the Provider, then the Council may,
without prejudice to its rights under clause H2 (Termination on Default), do
any of the following:
C12.3.1

C12.3.2

proportionately reduce a block payment where new referrals
cannot be taken by the Service, as a result of the Default, until
the Council is satisfied the Default has been rectified and the
Provider will once more be able to supply the Service(s) in
accordance with the Contract;
without terminating the Contract, itself supply or procure the
supply of all or part of the Services until such time as the
Provider shall have demonstrated to the reasonable satisfaction
of the Council that the Provider will once more be able to supply

384

all or such part of the Services in accordance with the Contract;
C12.3.3

without terminating the whole of the Contract, terminate the
Contract in respect of part of the Services only (whereupon a
corresponding reduction in the Contract Price shall be made)
and thereafter itself supply or procure a third party to supply
such part of the Services; and/or

C12.3.4

terminate, in accordance with clause H2 (Termination on
Default), the whole of the Contract.

C12.4

The Council may charge the Provider for any costs reasonably incurred and
any reasonable administration costs in respect of the supply of any part of the
Services by the Council or a third party to the extent that such costs exceed
the payment which would otherwise have been payable to the Provider for
such part of the Services and provided that the Council uses its reasonable
endeavours to mitigate any additional expenditure in obtaining replacement
Services.

C13

COMPLAINTS
The Provider shall ensure that it has complaints procedures in place which are
approved by the Council, reflect best practice and meet the requirements of
any Regulatory Body to which the Provider is subject. The complaints
procedure which relates to Schedules 2.1a to 2.1d shall be integrated with the
Council's Procedure for Dealing with Complaints.

C14

WHISTLEBLOWING
The Provider must have a whistle blowing policy in place which complies with
the requirements of any Regulatory Body to which the Provider is subject, and
be inline with best practice. The provider must supply the Council with a copy
of the procedure on request.

C15

BUSINESS
SUSTAINABILITY,
BUSINESS
CONTINUITY
DISASTER RECOVERY AND PANDEMIC FLU PROVISIONS

AND

The Provider shall use its best endeavours to assist the Council in meeting its
statutory obligations and to support the Council in the emergency provision of
services to its community in the case of a disaster.
PART D - CONTRACT PRICE AND PAYMENT ARRANGEMENTS
D1

CONTRACT PRICE, PAYMENTS ARRANGEMENTS AND FINANCIAL
MONITORING

D1.1

In return for the Provider carrying out its obligation under this Contract the
Council shall pay the Provider the Contract Price as set out in the Schedules in
Section 2. For the avoidance of doubt there will be no automatic annual
uplift. The Council’s decision, when considering any request for an uplift, will
take into account satisfactory contract performance, funding available and

385

clear evidence must be provided by the Provider to demonstrate the need for
any increase.
D1.1.1

D1.2

The Prices set out in the Service Specifications in Schedule 2
include 15% overheads which represent directly attributable
overheads for the Services. For the avoidance of doubt, a
separate agreement between the Council and the Provider is in
existence for all other overheads in relation to the Provider’s work
for the private sector including the development of such work.

Payment of the Contract Price will be made in line with the following:
D1.2.1

D1.2.2

Services commissioned on a block basis (as detailed in Section 2
(Service Schedules)) will be paid monthly in advance, following
receipt of an accurate invoice which includes a quoted purchase
order number, sent to: WBC Finance – Accounts Payable,
Wokingham Borough Council, Civic Offices, Shute End,
Wokingham, RG40 1BN.
Spot payments will be made monthly in arrears upon receipt of
accurate invoices with a quoted purchase order number. Invoices
for spot payments should also include individual customer service
delivery details and the customers’ reference number from the
Council’s social care recording system.
Invoices should be
submitted to: Community Care Services (Finance), Wokingham
Borough Council, Civic Offices, Shute End, Wokingham, RG40
1WJ.

D1.3

Payment of the Contract Price is made on the assumption that the Services
detailed in Schedule 2 will be delivered in accordance with this Agreement.
Where this is not the case, payment or part of the payment may be withheld
or reclaimed as appropriate.

D1.4

For periods of absence for spot purchased arrangements, the following will
apply:
D1.4.1
D1.4.2
D1.4.3

If a Customer is absent from the Service concerned during the
term of this Agreement, the Provider shall inform the Council
within one working day.
The Council shall continue to pay the agreed price to the Provider
for the first 2 weeks of absence.
At the end of the 2 weeks the situation will be reviewed and the
Council will determine whether any payment will continue.

D1.5

For the avoidance of doubt, the Contract Price is the total price paid for the
Services.

D1.6

The payment received by the Provider from the Council must be spent in
accordance with Clauses D1.6.1 and D1.6.2 below:
D1.6.1

Payment made in respect of Brokerage and Professional Support
Services (Schedules 2.1a to 2.1d) is ringfenced and must only be
spent in accordance with those Schedules.

386

D1.6.2

D1.7

Payment made in respect of the other Services (Schedules [ ] to
[ ]) will be made pursuant to the relevant Schedules however the
total amounts paid across these Services may be pooled and
allocated by the Provider at its own discretion to best meet the
requirements listed in those Schedules and for no other purpose
whatsoever. For the avoidance of doubt, if the Provider is given
payment for a Service and the full amount is not spent then it can
be used on another Service which requires additional funding
subject to it being spent as per the Service Schedule. Any
movement of funds in line with this Clause must be fully recorded.

Financial monitoring will be undertaken by the Council in accordance with
Schedule 3 where the Provider will provide to the Council accurate evidence of
monies spent on each Service. Any monies not spent by the Provider pursuant to
Clause D1.6 will be identified and a discussion will take place between the
Council and the Provider as to whether the underspend is to be re-invested in
Services or returned to the Council.
D1.7.1

Where the Provider is unable to meet the capacity requirements of
a block funded service, the Council reserves the right to request
that the underspend in relation to this must be returned to the
Council.

D1.8

The Provider may request that any underspend due to the Council is used to
enhance or vary an existing Service or provide a new Service. Such request
should be made to the Council in writing using a Contract Variation Notice and
any decision made by the Council acting reasonably will be final.

D1.9

As a partner of the Council, the Provider is expected, each year, to work towards
creating financial efficiencies within Services without detriment to quality.

D2

VALUE ADDED TAX

D2.1

Value Added Tax (VAT), where applicable, shall be shown separately on all
invoices as a strictly net extra charge.

D2.2

The Council and the Provider agree to pay to the other any VAT properly
chargeable.

D3

RECOVERY OF SUMS DUE

D3.1

Wherever under the Contract any sum of money is recoverable from or
payable by the Provider (including any sum which the Provider is liable to pay
to the Council in respect of any Default of this Contract), the Council may
deduct that sum from any sum then clue to the Provider under this Contract
or under any other agreement or contract with the Council. Where Council
withholds any disputed monies which subsequently turn out to be rightfully
due to the Provider, the Council may pay interest due to the Contractor at the
rate for the time being specified pursuant to section 17 of the Judgments Act
1838.

D3.2

Any overpayment by the Council to the Provider shall be recoverable by the
Council and vice versa.

387

D3.3

The Provider shall make any payments due to the Council without any
deduction whether by way of set-off, counterclaim, discount, abatement or
otherwise unless the Provider has obtained the prior Approval of the Council
to such deduction.

D4

NOT USED

D5

REVIEW OF CONTRACT PRICE – STAFFING RELATED COSTS

D5.1

If during the Contract Period there is a revaluation of the Local
Government Pension Scheme, as a result of which the Provider is required,
recommended or advised to pay an increased percentage as its employer's
contribution to that scheme, in respect of staff transferred by Wokingham
Borough Council only (“the Transferred Employees”), the Parties will seek
through bona fide negotiations with all due diligence to ascertain the effect
thereof on the solvency level of the Provider taking into account the following
factors:

D5.2

D5.1.1

the normal solvency position of an undertaking of the size and
activity of the Provider ("the Required Solvency");

D5.1.2

the Provider's total trading position over the remainder of the
Contract Period;

D5.1.3

the proportion of the Provider's total trading position formed
by the Services; and

D5.1.4

the adjustments required to achieve and maintain the
Required Solvency.

If, following an increased employers contribution per Clause D5.1, to
maintain the Required Solvency of the Provider, the Contract Price must be
increased and/or the Services must be reduced, the parties will seek to agree
through bona fide negotiations with all due diligence an action plan to effect an
appropriate increase and/or reduction taking into account the following factors:
D5.2.1

the Council's estimates of the needs of actual and potential
Customers over the remainder of the Contract Period and
thereafter; and

D5.2.2

any potential liabilities of the Provider's directors, officers
and/or employees arising from the continued provision of the
Services and/or the direction and operation of the Provider
and its solvency in the absence of any such increase and/or
reduction

but the Council shall not be required to bear more of any required
adjustments to the Provider's income or costs than is in accordance with
the proportion of the Provider's total trading position expected to be
formed by the Services over the remainder of the Contract Period.
D5.3

If such a revaluation requires the Provider to pay a reduced percentage as its

388

employer's contribution to the Scheme in respect of the Transferred Employees,
the parties will seek through bona fide negotiations with all due diligence to
implement such changes to the pricing structure of the Contract as shall effect
savings to the Council over the remainder of the Contract Period equivalent to
such proportion of the savings to the Provider over that period caused by such
reduction as the Services form to the Provider's total trading position over that
period.
D5.4

The provisions of Clauses D5.1 and D5.2 shall apply mutatis mutandis in
respect of each and every subsidiary of the Provider engaged in the delivery of
the Services (a "Relevant Subsidiary"), as if each Relevant Subsidiary were the
Provider.

D5.5

If, at any time in the Contract Period the Provider considers that the factors
taken into account pursuant to Clauses D5.1 or D5.2 have been wrongly
estimated or calculated, and that there has not been an appropriate increase in
the Contract Price, or reduction of Services pursuant to Clause D5.2 following a
revaluation as referred to in Clause D5.1, the Provider shall notify the Council,
and the provisions of Clauses D5.1 and D5.2 shall be triggered as if there had
been a further revaluation as referred to in Clause D5.1.

D5.6

Where a decision is made by the Council to decommission a Service the
Provider shall with the support of the Council be expected to minimise
redundancies wherever possible. Where a redundancy is unavoidable the
Council will meet the cost of redundancy of any affected Employee.

PART E - STATUTORY OBLIGATIONS AND REGULATIONS
E1

PREVENTION OF BRIBERY & CORRUPTION

E1.1

The Provider, whether acting by any person engaged by the Provider or acting
on its behalf (whether with or without the knowledge of the Provider), shall :
E1.1.1

not offer or give, or agree to give, to any person any gift or
consideration of any kind as inducement or reward for doing
or forbearing to do or for having done or forborne to do any
action in relation to this Contract or any other contract with
the Council or any other public body and comply with all
applicable laws, statutes, regulations and codes relating to
anti-bribery and anti-corruption including but not limited to
the Bribery Act 2010
and under Section 117, Local
Government Act 1972; (Relevant Requirements”);

E1.1.2

not engage in any activity, practice or conduct which would
constitute an offence under sections 1, 2 or 6 of the Bribery
Act 2010 if such activity, practice or conduct had been carried
out in the UK;

E1.1.3

comply with the Council’s Anti-bribery and Anti- corruption
Policies in force from time to time and if none then to comply
with the relevant industry body latest guidance applicable
from time to time (“Relevant Policies”).

389

E1.1.4

maintain in place throughout the term of this Contract its own
policies and procedures, including but not limited to adequate
procedures under the Bribery Act 2010, to ensure compliance
with the Relevant Requirements, the Relevant Policies and
clause E1.1.1 and will enforce them where appropriate;

E1.1.5

promptly report to the Customer any request or demand for
any undue financial or other advantage of any kind received
by the Provider in connection with the performance of this
Customer;

E1.1.6

immediately notify the Customer (in writing) if a foreign
public official becomes an officer or employee of the Provider
or acquires a direct or indirect interest in the Provider (and
the Provider warrants that it has no foreign public officials as
officers, employees or direct or indirect owners at the date of
this agreement);

E1.1.7

within 12 months of the date of this agreement, and annually
thereafter, certify to the Council in writing signed by an officer
of the Provider, compliance with this clause E1 by the Provider
and all persons associated with it. The Provider shall provide
such supporting evidence of compliance as the Council may
reasonably request.

E1.2

The Provider shall ensure that any person associated with the Provider who is
performing services or providing goods in connection with this Contract does so
only on the basis of a written contract which imposes on and secures from
such person terms equivalent to those imposed on the Provider in this clause E1
(Relevant Terms). The Provider shall be responsible for the observance and
performance by such persons of the Relevant Terms, and shall be directly liable
to the Customer for any Default by such persons of any of the Relevant Terms.

E1.3

For the purpose of this clause E 1, the meaning of adequate procedures and
foreign public official and whether a person is associated with another person
shall be determined in accordance with section 7(2) of the Bribery Act 2010 (and
any guidance issued under section 9 of that Act), sections 6(5) and 6(6) of that
Act and section 8 of that Act respectively. For the purposes of this clause E1 a
person associated with the Provider includes but is not limited to any
subcontractor of the Provider.

E1.4

The Provider warrants that it has not paid commission or agreed to pay
commission to the Council or any other public body or any person employed by
or on behalf of the Council or any other public body in connection with the
Contract.

E1.5

If the Provider, it’s Staff or anyone acting on the Provider's behalf (whether or
not with the knowledge of the Provider), engages in conduct prohibited by
clauses E1.1 or E1.2, the Council may:
E1.5.1

terminate the Contract and recover from the Provider the
amount of any loss suffered by the Council resulting from the
termination, including the cost reasonably incurred by the

390

Council of making other arrangements for the supply of the
Services and any additional expenditure incurred by the Council
throughout the remainder of the Contract Period; or
E1.5.2
E1.6

recover in full from the Provider any other loss sustained by the
Council in consequence of any Default of those clauses.

In exercising its rights or remedies under this clause, the Council shall:
E1.6.1

act in a reasonable and proportionate manner having regard to
such matters as the gravity of, and the identity of the person
performing the prohibited act;

E1.6.2

give all due consideration, where appropriate, to action other
than termination of the Contract

E2

EQUALITIES AND DIVERSITY

E2.1

In the performance of the Services, the Provider and any sub-contractor shall not
unlawfully discriminate within the meaning and scope of any law, enactment,
order, or regulation relating to discrimination (whether in race, gender, religion,
belief, disability, sexual orientation, age, human rights or otherwise) in
employment.

E2.2

The Provider shall take all reasonable steps to secure the observance of clause
E2.1 by its Staff employed in the execution of this Contract:
E2.2.1 The Provider shall have an Equalities policy that is in line with all current
legislative requirements and is in line with best industry practice and
consistent with the Council's values
E2.2.2 The Provider shall provide such information as the Council may
reasonably require for the purpose of assessing the Provider's continued
compliance with this clause E2.
E2.3

E3

The Provider shall have a Diversity Policy that complies with all legal
requirements and promotes an inclusive society, opposing all forms of
intolerance and prejudicial discrimination, whether intentional,
institutional or unintentional. The Provider and its staff shall comply with
the Diversity Policy

THE CONTRACTS (RIGHTS OF THIRD PARTIES) ACT
No person who is not a Party to the Contract shall have any right to enforce any
of its provisions which, expressly or by implication, confer a benefit on him,
without the prior written agreement of both Parties. This clause does not affect
any right or remedy of any person which exists or is available apart from the
Contracts (Rights of Third Parties) Act 1999.

E4

HEALTH AND SAFETY

E4.1

In relation to the Provider's Staff, the Provider shall at all times comply with the
requirements of the Health and Safety at Work Act 1974 and any other acts,

391

order, regulations and codes practice pertaining to the health and safety of
employees and others who may be affected by the Provider's acts or omissions in
providing the Services under this Contract and shall require that any subcontractors likewise comply.
E4.2

The Provider shall ensure that its health and safety policy statement (as required
by the Health and Safety at Work Act 1974) is made available to the Council on
request.

E4.3

The Provider shall take full responsibility for the adequacy and safety of all
operations and methods adopted in the performance of the Service and the acts
of its Staff. The Provider shall notify the Council in writing if any method or
practice set out in the Specification shall be or shall become an unsafe method of
practice.

E4.4

The Provider shall undertake regular audits to ensure compliance with statutory
duties in relation to health and safety and must have a robust policy in place for
dealing with any incidents, a copy of which should be provided to the Council
upon reasonable request.

E4.5

The Council reserves the right to suspend the provision of the Services in whole
or in part (to the extent reasonable) without paying compensation if and
whenever the Provider is, in the reasonable opinion of the Council, in
contravention of the Health and Safety at Work Act 1974 and provision within
this clause E4.

E5

HUMAN RIGHTS

E5.1 The Provider shall comply with the Human Rights Act 1998 (HRA) as if it were a
'Public Authority' within the meaning of the legislation.
E5.2

The Provider shall indemnify the Council against any liability, loss, claim or
proceedings arising out of any violation of the HRA by the Provider in the course
of the provision of the Service under this Contract.

E6

TRANSFER OF
REGULATIONS

E6.1

Subject to Data Protection (Clause F1) and Confidentiality (Clause F2) the
Provider must provide the Council with such information as it may reasonably
require and upon reasonable request to enable it to comply with its obligations
under TUPE when either this Agreement comes to an end or it ceases to apply to
a particular Service

E6.2

The Provider must ensure that it complies with the provisions of the
TUPE. The Provider hereby indemnifies the Council and any future employer of
staff (accepting a transfer of the Provider's staff as a result of TUPE) from and
against all losses, costs, demands, expenses and damages arising as a result of
the Provider's non-compliance with the provisions of this Clause.

E6.3

All salaries and other emoluments including holiday pay, taxation and National
Insurance contributions and contributions to retirement benefit schemes relating
to the Staff shall be borne by the Provider up to and including any transfer date

UNDERTAKINGS

(PROTECTION

392

OF

EMPLOYMENT)

E7

MENTAL CAPACITY ACT AND DEPRIVATION OF LIBERTY SAFEGUARDS

E7.1

In relation to the Mental Capacity Act 2005 (MCA):

E7.2

E7.1.1

The Provider, including its Staff shall comply with the provisions
set out in the MCA when delivering Services

E7.1.2

All staff shall receive appropriate training on the Mental Capacity
Act which should be updated annually or in line with legislative
and practice changes.

E7.1.3

The Provider shall notify the Council immediately where a
Customer may lack the capacity and a Significant Decision is to
be made.

In relation to the Deprivation of Liberty Safeguards
E7.2.1 The Provider shall have regard to the MCA Code of Practice
Including the supplementary Deprivation of Liberty (DoL)
Safeguards in its role as a Managing Authority.
E7.2.2 The Provider shall have a clear written policy approved by the
Council on its approach to the DoL which includes but is not
limited to the following
E7.2.2.1 a clear procedure for the recording of information
E7.2.2.2 the process for applying for an Authorisation to the
Council
E7.2.2.3 the process once a DoL Authorisation request has been
made

E7.3
E7.3.1 The Provider shall appoint a lead contact to act on behalf of the
Provider for all purposes connected with the MCA and Dol. The
Provider shall notify the Councils of the lead contact details prior
to the Commencement Date.
E7.3.2

The Provider shall forthwith give Notice in writing to the Council
of any change in the identity, address, e-mail and telephone
numbers of the person appointed as lead contact. The Provider
shall give maximum possible notice to the Council before
changing its lead contact

PART F -INFORMATION
F1

DATA PROTECTION ACT

F1.1

Each party, including their employees, shall comply with the requirements of the
Data Protection Act 1998 (the "DPA") in relation to the provision of the Services

393

and shall not knowingly or negligently by any act or omission, place the other
party in breach, or potential breach of the DPA.
F1.2

The Provider shall in accordance with the DPA be notified and shall advise the
Authorised Officer of its notification reference on the Public Register of Data
Controllers.

F1.3

The Provider shall ensure that it has in place appropriate technical and
organisational measures to ensure the security of the personal data (and to
guard against unauthorised or unlawful processing of the personal data and
against accidental loss or destruction of, or damage to, the personal data), as
required under the Seventh Data Protection Principle in Schedule 1 to the DPA;
and
F1.3.1

provide the Council with such information as the Council may
reasonably require to satisfy itself that the Provider is complying
with its obligations under the DPA;

F1.3.2

immediately notify the Council of any breach of the security
measures required to be put in place pursuant to this Clause F1;
and

F1.3.3

ensure that it does nothing knowingly or negligently which places
the Council in breach of the Council's obligations under the DPA.

F1.4

Each Party agrees to indemnify the other Party against all costs that it incurs as a
result of the other Party's failure to comply with this clause F1.

F1.5

Each Party shall ensure that personal data is not transferred to a country or
territory outside the European Economic Area without the prior written consent
of the other Party.

F1.6

On termination of this Contract the Provider shall return all personal data or
destroy or dispose of it in a secure manner and in accordance with any specific
instructions issued by the Council.

F1.7

The provision of this Condition shall apply during the continuance of the Contract
and indefinitely after its expiry or termination.

F2

CONFIDENTIALITY

F2.1

Each Party: F2.1.1

shall treat all Confidential Information belonging to the other
Party as confidential and safeguard it accordingly; and

2.1.2

shall not disclose any Confidential Information belonging to the
other Party to any other person without the prior written consent
of the other Party, except to such persons and to such extent as
may be necessary for the performance of the Contract or except
where disclosure is otherwise expressly permitted by the
provisions of the Contract.

394

F2.2

Each Party shall take all necessary precautions to ensure that all Confidential
Information obtained from the other under or in connection with the Contract:
F2.2.1

is given only to such of staff of the Council and professional
advisors or consultants engaged to advise it in connection with
the Contract as is strictly necessary for the performance of the
Contract and only to the extent necessary for the performance of
the Contract;

F2.2.2

is treated as confidential and not disclosed (without prior
Approval) or used by any staff of the Council or such professional
advisors or consultants otherwise than for the purposes of the
Contract.

F2.3

Each Party shall refrain from using any Confidential Information it receives from
the other otherwise than for the purposes of the Contract.

F2.4

The provisions of clauses F2.1 to F2.3 shall not apply to any Confidential
Information received by one Party from the other:
F2.4.1 which is or becomes public knowledge (otherwise than by Default of this
Clause);
F2.4.2 which was in the possession of the receiving Party, without restriction as
to its disclosure, before receiving it from the disclosing Party;
F2.4.3 which is received from a third party who lawfully acquired it and who is
under no obligation restricting its disclosure;
F2.4.4 which is independently developed without access to the Confidential
Information; or
F2.4.5 which must be disclosed pursuant to a statutory, legal or parliamentary
obligation placed upon the Party making the disclosure, including any
requirements for disclosure under the Freedom of Information Act 2000
or the Environmental Information Regulations 2004 pursuant to clause 46

F2.5

Nothing in this clause shall prevent the Council disclosing any Confidential
Information:
F2.5.1 for the purpose of the examination and certification of the Council's
accounts; or
F2.5.2 any examination pursuant to Section 6 (1) of the National Audit Act 1983
of the economy, efficiency and effectiveness with which the Council has
used its resources; or
F2.5.3 to any government department or any other Contracting Authority. All
government departments or Contracting Authorities receiving such
Confidential Information shall be entitled to further disclose the
Confidential Information to other government departments or other
Contracting Authorities on the basis that the information is confidential
and is not to be disclosed to a third party which is not part of any

395

government department or any Contracting Authority; or
F2.5.4 to any person engaged in providing any services to the Council for any
purpose relating to or ancillary to this Contract provided that in disclosing
information the Council discloses only the information which is necessary
for the purpose concerned and requires that the information is treated in
confidence and that a confidentiality undertaking is given where
appropriate.
F2.6

Nothing in this clause shall prevent either Party from using any techniques, ideas
or know-how gained during the performance of the Contract in the course of its
normal business, to the extent that this does not result in a disclosure of
Confidential Information or an infringement of Intellectual Property Rights.

F2.7

If a party fails to comply with this Clause F2, the other party may terminate the
Contract by Notice with immediate effect.

F3

AUDIT
The Provider shall keep, maintain and archive full and accurate records in
relation to the Contract, which includes those in relation to business, customers
and finance, in line with the requirements of the Council’s Record Retention
Schedule. The Provider shall on request afford the Council or the Council's
representatives such access to those records and its premises as may be
required by the Council in connection with the Contract.

F4

PUBLICITY

F4.1

Except with the Approval of the Council, such Approval not to be
unreasonably withheld or delayed the Provider shall not make any press
announcement or publicise this Contract or any part thereof in any way. The
Provider may refer to this Contract in its general marketing and in submission
and presentations for contracts.

F4.2

The Provider shall take reasonable steps to ensure the observance of the
provision of clause F4.1 by all its Staff.

F4.3

The provision of this clause shall apply during the continuance of this Contract
and indefinitely after its expiry or termination.

F5

LOGO

F5.1

Subject to F5.2, neither Party shall use the crest, logo or arms belonging
to the counter party either on its own or in combination with their crest, logo or
arms nor cause nor permit it to be used without express permission.

F5.2

The Provider shall (a) maintain an appropriate logo and branding scheme
for itself as a provider of the Services which shall not use the colour scheme or
any other distinguishing feature of the Council's arms, logo and/or branding
scheme and (b) use the latter arms, logo and/or branding scheme in its
stationery, signage and other means of communication with the public in such
manner as the Council shall from time to time reasonably stipulate.

396

F5.3

The Council's participation with the Provider must be identified on the Provider's
official business stationery in relation to the work carried out as per Schedules
2.1a to 2.1d only.

F6

RECORDS

F6.1

The Provider shall maintain current and accurate Records of all work
carried out in the provision of the Services and shall ensure that these Records
shall be available for inspection by an authorised representative of the Council at
all reasonable times.

F6.2

The Provider shall maintain security safeguards against the destruction or loss or
unauthorised use or alteration of Records irrespective of the storage media which
are under the Provider's control as part of the Services. Such safeguards shall
include an obligation on the Provider to ensure that access to Records is only
obtained by such Council Staff as may be specifically designated by the
Authorised Officer.

F6.3

If any Records are:
F6.3.1 accidentally or wilfully destroyed, otherwise than by the Council or on the
authorisation of the Council, or;
F6.3.2 altered without authorisation
in the event that the Provider does not put in hand a method for
reinstatement or replacement of such Records within seven days of
receipt of a Notice from the Council then without prejudice to the
Council's other rights at law, the Provider shall reimburse the Council it’s
reasonable costs in restoring such Records.

F6.4

F7

Immediately upon expiry or termination of this Contract for any reason
whatsoever the Provider shall at the sole option of the Council either return to
the Council all Records in an agreed form, timescale and location or destroy all
copies thereof.
FREEDOM OF INFORMATION

F7.1

The Parties acknowledge that they are subject to the
requirements of the Freedom of Information Act 2000 (FOIA) and the
Environmental Information Regulations 2004 and must assist and cooperate with
the other (at their own expense) to enable compliance with these information
disclosure requirements.

F7.2

The Provider must procure that any sub-contractors:
F7.2.1 transfer any request for information to them as soon as practicable
after receipt and in any event within Five Business Days of receiving a
request for information;
F7.2.2 provide the other with a copy of all information in its possession or power
in the form that they require within Five Business Days (or such other
period as the Party concerned may specify) of the Party requesting that

397

Information; and
F7.2.3 provide all necessary assistance as reasonably requested by the
other to enable the Party to respond to a request for information within
the time for compliance set out in section 10 of the FOIA or regulation 5
of the Environmental Information Regulations·.
F7.3

The Party will be responsible for determining at its absolute discretion whether
any information:
F7.3.1 is exempt from disclosure in accordance with the provisions of
the FOIA or the Environmental Information Regulations;

F7.4

The Parties acknowledge that they may, acting in accordance with the Ministry of
Justice Code of Practice on the discharge of public authorities' functions under
Part 1 of FOIA (issued under section 45 of the FOIA, November 2004), be
obliged under the FOIA or the Environmental Information Regulations to disclose
Information following consultation with each other and having taken their views
into account (which the Parties will use all reasonable endeavours to do before
responding, but without prejudice to its statutory obligations).

F7.5

The Parties must ensure that all information produced in the course of the
Agreement or relating to the Agreement is retained for disclosure and must
permit the other to inspect such records as requested from time to time.

F7.6

The Parties acknowledge that any lists or Schedules provided by them outlining
Confidential Information are of indicative value only and that the Parties may
nevertheless be obliged to disclose Confidential Information in accordance with
clause F7.4.
The Parties acknowledge that the other is subject to the
requirements under the Freedom of Information Act 2000 (the "Act") and the
Environment Information Regulations 2004 (the "Regulations") and shall
cooperate with each other (at their own expense) to enable them to comply with
these information disclosure requirements.

F7.7

The Parties shall to the extent practicable seek the views of the other where
information is requested under FOIA which is reasonably likely to affect the
commercial interest of the Provider and shall take into account the
representations of the Provider in deciding on release or withholding of the
information but this clause shall not fetter the discretion of the Council in its
obligation to have regard to the public interest.

PART G - LIABILITY AND INSURANCE
G1

LIABILITY

G1.1

Neither Party excludes or limits liability to the other Party for death or personal
injury caused by its negligence or for any breach of any obligations.

G1.2

Subject to clauses G1.3, G1.4 and G1.5 the Provider shall indemnify and keep
indemnified the Council fully against all claims, proceedings, actions, damages,
legal costs, expenses, loss or damage and any other liabilities whatsoever arising
out of, in respect of or in connection with this Contract including but not limited
to any death or personal injury, loss or damage to property, or any other loss

398

which is caused directly by any act or omission of the Provider. For the
avoidance of doubt, the Provider shall not be liable for such claims etc. in respect
of risks which are required under any lease to be insured by the Council or a
superior landholder.
G1.3

This Clause G1 shall not apply if the Provider is able to demonstrate that such
death or personal injury, or loss or damage was not caused or contributed to by
its negligence or Default or by any circumstances within its control.

G1.4

Subject to clause G1.1 and G1.2, the Provider shall not be liable to the Council in
contract, tort, negligence, breach of statutory duty or otherwise for any loss,
damage, costs or expenses of any nature whatsoever incurred or suffered by the
Council of an indirect or consequential nature including without limitation any
economic loss or other loss of turnover, profits, business, goodwill, anticipated
savings, corruption of data or information.

G1.5

The Provider's total liability in contract, tort (including negligence or breach of
statutory duty) misrepresentation, restriction or otherwise arising out of the
performance of contemplated performance of this Contract shall be limited up to
the financial value specified in any of the provisions in Clause G2 (Insurance)
corresponding to whichever insurance policy covers the subject claim and where
more than one insurance policy is invoked then the greater value shall apply and
in any other event an uninsured claim shall be limited to the Contract Price .

G2

INSURANCE

G2.1

Subject to the provisions of Clause G2.7 the Provider shall effect and maintain
with a reputable insurance company a policy or policies of insurance providing an
adequate level of cover in respect of all potential liabilities pursuant to this
Contract which may be incurred by the Provider or the Council arising out of the
Provider's performance of the Contract, including but not limited to the following
without prejudice to the foregoing:
G2.1.1

public liability Insurance cover for an amount of not less
that £20 (twenty) million or such other sum as may be
reasonably requested by the Council from time to time in
respect of any one claim or series of claims arising from
any one cause in a single calendar year;.

G2.1.2

professional indemnity insurance cover for an amount of
not less that £5 (five) million or such other sum as may be
reasonably required by the Council from time to time in
respect of all claims in the aggregate made in any one
period of insurance;. Such insurance shall be maintained
for a minimum of [12 (twelve)] years following the
expiration or earlier termination of this Contract.

G2.1.3

employer's liability insurance cover for an amount of not
less that £10 (ten) million or such other sum as may be
reasonably required by the Council from time to time for
claims arising from any one claim or series of claims
arising from any one cause in a single calendar year

399

G2.1.4

medical malpractice insurance cover for an amount of not
less that £2 (two) million or such other sum as may be
reasonably required by the Council from time to time in
respect of claims in the aggregate made in any one period
of insurance; Such insurance shall be maintained for a
minimum of 12 (twelve) years following the expiration or
earlier termination of this Contract; and such of the above
policies shall include cover in respect of any financial loss
arising from any advice given or omitted to be given by
the Provider .

G2.2

The Provider shall supply to the Council forthwith and upon each renewal date of
any relevant policy referred to in clause G2.1 a certificate from its insurers or
brokers demonstrating that appropriate cover is in place.

G2.3

The Provider shall hold adequate insurance for all vehicles used by the Provider
and ensure that any Staff using their motor vehicles to carry Customers and/or
Carers have valid business insurance on their motor vehicles and shall produce a
copy of each certificate to the Authorised Officer if requested to do o provided
that if the Council requests this information more often than once a year the
Council shall meet the Provider's reasonable cost of production.

G2.4

If the Provider fails to take out and maintain the insurances required by this
Contract or the Parties agree that the Council shall effect any of the insurances
required by the terms of this Contract whether or not in joint names then the
Council may itself insure against any risk and to a level which in its
reasonable opinion is required by the terms of this Contract and a sum or sums
equivalent to the amount paid or payable by the Council in respect of premiums
therefore may be deducted by the Council from any monies due or to become
due to the Provider under this Contract or such amount may be recoverable by
the Council from the Provider as a debt.

G3

WARRANTIES AND REPRESENTATIONS

G3.1

The Provider warrants and represents that:
G3.1.1 the Provider has the full capacity and authority and all necessary
consents (including, but not limited to, where its procedures so
require, in circumstances where the Parent company is not the
Council the consent of its parent company) to enter into and
perform this Contract and that this Contract is executed by a duly
authorised representative of the Provider;
G3.1.2 the Provider shall discharge its obligation hereunder with all due
skill, care and diligence including but not limited to Good
Industry Practice and (without limiting the generality of this
Condition) in accordance with its own established internal
procedures;
G3.1.3 the Provider is not in default in the payment of any due and
payable taxes or in the filing, registration or recording of any
document or under any legal or statutory obligation or
requirement which default might have a material adverse effect

400

to its business, assets or financial condition or its ability to
observe or perform its obligations under this Contract
G4

MAINTENANCE AND DILAPIDATIONS OF PREMISES

G4.1

In this clause, the term "Premises" means such premises as the Provider
occupies at the date hereof and the term "Leases" means the documentation or
arrangements under which the Provider occupies the Premises at any time.

G4.2

The Council and the Provider shall forthwith negotiate in good
faith the transfer of money (in addition to the Price) sufficient to enable the
Provider to carry out its obligations under the Leases in respect of (a) the
repair and decoration and maintenance of the Premises (including firstly both
the repair and where reasonably required (where repair is not economic) the
renewal of utilities and plant serving the Premises and secondly the cost
(where reasonably and properly required) of complying with any statutory
obligations imposed on the Tenant pursuant to the Leases the latter being
limited only to the use at the date hereof) and (b) the Provider's expected
obligations in respect of liabilities arising from any claim for dilapidations,
including reinstatement (if required) of any alterations undertaken by the
Provider with the prior approval of the Council (or other landlord) under the
terms of the Leases.

G4.3

Until such negotiations are concluded by written agreement the Council shall
reimburse the Provider on demand with the proper and reasonable costs
expended by the Provider pursuant to the provisions set out in G4.2 except to
the extent that such costs are incurred in consequence of failure by the
Provider to use the Premises in a reasonable and tenant-like manner and
limited only to the use at the date hereof.

G4.4

If the Parties have not reached agreement under G4.3 within three months of
whichever is the later of either the Commencement Date or the date of
expenditure pursuant to clause G4.2 (or within such longer period as may be
agreed by the Parties) and written notification from the Provider to the
Council (as the case may be) either Party may require reference of the matter to
dispute resolution under Clause H9 (dispute).

G4.5

For the avoidance of doubt, the Provider shall undertake and fulfil its
obligations under each Lease and the Council shall meet its obligations set out in
G.4.2 from the Commencement Date or (if later) the date of legal
formalisation/continuation of the Lease.

G4.6

If the Council is in default in relation to its obligation hereunder to pay the
Provider a sum or sums properly due as the Contract Price (the total amount
so unpaid at any one time being "the Default Amount"), the Provider shall
be entitled to make such withholding(s) from payment of sums due under the
Leases ("the Rents") as shall not exceed in total at any time the Default
Amount as reasonably anticipated by the Provider over the period to which
the Rents relate (the total amount so withheld at any one time being "the
Withholding") but shall forthwith pay to the Council any amount by which the
Withholding at any time exceeds the Default Amount.

401

G4.7

If the Council permits the continued occupancy of real property on a tenancy
at will or licence to the Provider (or provides property by any informal
arrangement with the provider) property ("the Original Property") for the
purposes of the delivery of the Services but subsequently terminates that
tenancy or licences (or arrangements) other than by reason of:(a)

material default of the Provider under the terms of the tenancy
or licence (or arrangement);

(b)

termination of this Contract; or

(c)

written notification by the lessor of the Original Property of an
intention, whether or not conditional, to commence proceedings
requiring the cessation of the continued occupancy and/or
seeking forfeiture of the relevant lease ("Threat of
Enforcement")

the Council will make available to the Provider on or before the date of
termination of the tenancy or licence or arrangement ("the Transfer
Date") substitute real property ("the Substitute Property") which shall
be no less suitable than the Original Property for use for the delivery of
the Services in the same way as the Original Property was used and
shall be offered on terms which:
(i)

are no more onerous in sum than those on which the Original
Property was held (notwithstanding changes required by the
physical nature of the Substitute Property or the legal nature of
the Council's interest therein);

(ii)

permit access to the Substitute Property for not less than the five
working days preceding the Transfer Date for all purposes
reasonably connected with the relocation of the Provider to the
Substitute Property; and

(iii)

do not require payment in respect of any period prior to the
Transfer Date and for the avoidance of doubt the Council shall
bear the proper and reasonable costs incurred by the Provider
in relocating such parts of the Services as were carried out in
the Original Property to the relevant Substitute Property (with
such sums being paid to the Provider within 10 working days of
invoice to the Council from the Provider).

PART H- DISPUTE, DISRUPTION AND TERMINATION
H1

TERMINATION

H1.1

The Contract consists of a number of separable activities and the Parties
acknowledge that, if termination of the contract is permitted in consequence of
Default by the Provider in respect of any particular activity, the Council may in
its absolute discretion terminate the Contract in relation only to a specified
activity or group of activities.

402

H1.2

Not used

H1.3

Subject to the provisions of clause 89 (Force Majeure) the Council may terminate
the Contract by Notice in writing with immediate effect if (other than by the act
or omission of the Council):

H1.4

H1.3.1

the Provider ceases or threatens to cease to carry on the
whole or a substantial part of its business or disposes of
the whole or a substantial part of its assets that in the
reasonable opinion of the Council would adversely affect
the delivery of the Services;

H1.3.2

the Provider fails to obtain or retain any consent, licence
or permission (or such consent, licence or permission is
varied, restricted or suspended) and the Council
reasonably considers that the effect thereof will or may
be to have a material adverse effect on the provision of
the Services; or

H1.3.3

Not Used

H1.3.4

the Provider is a company, if the company passes a
resolution for winding up or dissolution (otherwise than
for the purposes of and followed by an amalgamation or
reconstruction) or an application is made for, or any
meeting of its directors or members resolves to make an
application for an administration order in relation to it or
any party gives or files notice of intention to appoint an
administrator of it or such an administrator is appointed,
or the court makes a winding-up order, or the company
makes a composition or arrangement with its creditors, or
an administrative receiver, receiver, manager or
supervisor is appointed by a creditor or by the court, or
possession is taken of any of its property under the terms
of a fixed or floating charge;

H1.3.5

or where the Provider is unable to pay its debts within the
meaning of section 123 of the Insolvency Act 1986 in
respect of any premises which are essential to the
delivery of the Services, any landlord is granted an
order for the forfeiture of the lease; or

H1.3.6

any person holding a mortgage or other charge over any
premises which are essential to the delivery of the
Services is granted an order for possession of the
premises or any similar order; or

H1.3.7

or any similar event occurs under the law of any other
jurisdiction within the United Kingdom

The Provider shall notify the Council immediately if any of the events listed in
Clause H1.3 occur

403

H2

TERMINATION ON DEFAULT

H2.1

The Council may terminate the contract, or terminate the provision of any part
of the Contract, by written Notice to the Provider with immediate effect if the
Provider commits a Material Default and if:

H2.2

H2.1.1

the Provider has not remedied the Default to the
satisfaction of the Council within the timeframe specified
by the Council in a written Notice specifying the Default
and requesting it to be remedied (which timeframe shall
be determined by the Council acting reasonably)

H2.1.2

the Default is not capable of remedy; or

H2.1.3

the Default relates to a fundamental part of the Contract.

Without prejudice to any other right or remedy, the Council may terminate this
Agreement
H2.2.1

by giving Forty Business Days’ notice to the Provider
where the Provider has committed a Default on Six
occasions in any consecutive Three month period whether
or not such Defaults are remedied in accordance with this
Contract; or

H2.2.2

the Contract may be terminated in accordance with a
failure to meet Quality and Performance clauses in the
Service Specifications (Schedule 2) and Contract
Monitoring Schedule 3.

H2.3

The Provider shall have equivalent rights to those set out in 2.1 and 2.2 above
against the Council, references to the Council therein being deemed to be
references to the Provider and vice versa.

H2.4

The Provider acknowledges that any act or omission by any employee or
temporary staff member of the Provider which:
H2.4.1

results in the death of or actual bodily harm to any
Customer

H2.4.2

constitutes abuse of a Customer (and for this purpose
abuse occurs when, whether as part of a pattern or as a
single incident, physical violence and/or the threat thereof
and/or emotional coercion is used to gain or maintain
power or control in a relationship); or

H2.4.3

would, if the perpetrator were a first time adult offender
who has pleaded not guilty, require sentencing in the
Crown Court (but for the avoidance of doubt the standard
of proof for the purposes of this clause H2.4.3 shall be that
of the balance of probabilities and not that of the criminal
conviction of any person)

404

shall constitute a Material Default of the Contract by the Provider and will permit
the Council to terminate the Contract with immediate effect.
H3

NOT USED

H4 - PROVIDER'S FINANCIAL DISTRESS
H4.1

The Council may at its sole option and discretion serve a Financial Distress Notice
if upon considering the financial statements and other evidence related to the
Provider the Council reasonably considers that the Provider is no longer a going
concern or that there is a significant risk that the Provider will cease to be a
going concern within six months, then the Council may serve a Financial Distress
Notice on the Provider and the process set out in Section H.4 shall commence.

H4.2

The Notice shall be sent to the Provider's last known email address ad the
Council shall make reasonable endeavours to contact the Provider by telephone
to advise it that the Notice has been served. A copy shall be sent immediately by
first class post

H.4.3 The Notice shall:
H4.3.1 state that it is a Financial Distress Notice
H4.3.2 set out the reasons why the Council believes
that the Provider is no longer a going concern, or
is at significant risk of ceasing to be a going
concern within the next six months
H4.3.3 state that the Contract shall terminate one
month from the date of the Notice, or at such
later date as the Council may specify.
H4.4

If the Provider does not accept that the Council is correct in its assessment
that the Provider is no longer a going concern, or is at significant risk of
ceasing to be a going concern within the next six months it may serve on
the Council, within ten days of receipt of the Financial Distress Notice, an
appeal (the "Appeal Notice").

H4.5

The Appeal Notice shall set out the grounds for appeal and the Provider may
enclose with the Notice concise and pertinent information and evidence in
support of the appeal.

H4.6

The Council shall consider the Appeal Notice and shall at the Provider's
request meet the Provider and/or its financial advisers within five working days
of the date of the Notice and shall notify the Provider within ten days of
receipt of the Notice whether it accepts the appeal.

H4.7

If the Council rejects the Provider's appeal then, at the Provider's request, the
matter shall be submitted to an independent expert for binding determination
under Clause H9

H5

CONSEQUENCES OF TERMINATION

405

H5.1

If the Council terminates this Contract or terminates the provision of any part
of this Contract under clause H2 or clause C12, the Council shall:
H5.1.1

be entitled to employ and pay a Replacement Provider to
provide and complete the provision of the Services or any
part thereof; and

H5.1.2

be entitled to recover from the Provider the costs incurred
of making those other arrangements including any
additional expenditure incurred by the Council; and

H5.1.3

be entitled to deduct from any sum or sums which would
have been due from the Council to the Provider under this
Contract or the recovery of any sum or sums as a debt

H5.2

Where this Contract is terminated, no further payments shall be payable by the
Council to the Provider until the Council has established the final cost of making
alternative arrangements.

H5.3

Termination of this Contract for any reason (including expiry) shall not affect any
rights or liabilities that have accrued prior to the date of termination.

H6

SUSPENSION

H6.1

This Clause shall apply if:
H6.1.1

the Council reasonably considers that a Default by the
Provider of any obligation under this Contract:
H6.1.1.1 may create an immediate and serious threat to
the health or safety of any person; or
H6.1.1.2 may result in a material interruption in the
provision of one or more of the Services; or
H6.1.1.3 The performance monitoring and/or remedial
action requirements of Schedules 2 and 3 so
specify; or
H6.1.1.4 the Council would be entitled to terminate this
Contract pursuant to clause H1.3, H1.4 or H2.

H6.2

Where this clause applies, the Council may partially or totally
suspend the affected Service or part of it and the Provider's right to receive
payment for it PROVIDED THAT if the Provider demonstrates to the reasonable
satisfaction of the Council that it is able to resume the performance of the
relevant Service to the required standard at a specific time agreed by the
Council (such agreement not to be unreasonably delayed or withheld) the
Council shall lift the suspension if resumption occurs at the agreed time.

H6.3

The Council may recover from the Provider its costs resulting from
suspension or partial suspension under this clause H6 (Suspension).

406

H6.4
H7

The Provider shall have equivalent rights to those set out in 6.1 to 6.3
above against the Council, mutatis mutandis.
HANDOVER

H7.1 The Provider shall not charge the Council or any Replacement Provider for any
expenditure incurred howsoever in carrying out the handover arrangements as
set out in this clause H7.
H7.2 At the end of the Contract Period (and howsoever arising) the Provider shall
forthwith deliver to the Council upon request all the Council's Property
(including but not limited to materials, documents, information) relating to the
Contract.
H7.3 The Provider shall use all reasonable endeavours to transfer all data in
accordance with industry standard format (or any format reasonably specified by
the Council or a Replacement Provider) relating to the Services including without
limitation requests for Services to be undertaken which have not been completed.
H7.4 At any time upon reasonable notice from the Authorised Officer or (where the
request is occasioned by the termination of the Contract) forthwith and in any
event upon the day which shall be not less than fifteen (15) months before the
end of the Contract Period or within four (4) weeks of early termination of the
Contract the Provider shall supply to the Council full, complete and accurate
information as to the identity and terms and conditions of employment of all
employees then currently engaged in the provision of the Service
(whether or not employed by the Provider) and any other employee liability
information as specified in the Regulations and shall warrant the accuracy of such
information and shall forthwith notify the Council of any change in such
information.
H7.5 The Provider shall permit the Council to use the information provided
pursuant to Clause H7.4 for informing any tenderer for the Service or any part
thereof and shall enable and assist the Council and such other persons as the
Council may reasonably determine to communicate with and meet the Staff and
their trade unions or other employee representatives o r staff associations
as when and where the Council may reasonably determine.
H7.6 The Provider shall comply with any reasonable request made by the Council for
information concerning the numbers, identity, functions and terms and
conditions of employment of Staff employed by the Provider in connection with
the performance of the Service, if such request is made by the Council for the
purpose of considering the application of, or complying with the requirements of
the Directive and/or the Regulations upon the termination of the Contract or
any part thereof. The Provider shall supply the requested information to the
Council with a reasonable time following the request and shall use its best
endeavours to ensure that such information is accurate. The Council shall treat
such information as confidential to itself and its advisors, save as required by
law, and save that it shall be at liberty to disclose the same (on the like terms
as to confidentiality) to any person invited to tender for the provision of the
Service in succession to the Provider.

407

H7.7 At the end of the Contract Period (howsoever arising) and for a period of 6
months after the Contract Period the Provider shall co-operate with the Council
and any new provider appointed by the Council to continue or take over the
performance of the Contract in order to ensure an effective handover of all work
then in progress. The council will pay the provider reasonable costs for this work except
where the provider has not complied with Clause H7.1 – H7.6.
H7.8 The provisions of this Clause H7 shall survive the expiry of the Contract
H8

DISRUPTION

H8.1

The Provider shall give the maximum possible advance warning of prospective
industrial action by the Provider's Staff or other industrial d i s p u t e s l i k e l y
to affect the performance of this Contract adversely.

H8.2

In the event that:
H8.2.1

industrial action is taken by any Staff of the Provider such
as that the provision of the Services are, in the reasonable
opinion of the Council, materially disrupted; or

H8.2.2

action is taken by the Provider so as to prevent its Staff
f r o m p r o v i d i n g the Services the Council reserves the
right to make alternative arrangements for the provision of
the Services and to charge the Provider for any difference in
resultant cost or terminate this Contract by Notice in writing
to the Provider.

H8.3

In the event that industrial action is taken by Staff of the Council the Provider
shall make every attempt to ensure that its Staff continue to provide the
Services and the Council shall meet the Provider's reasonable and proper
additional costs incurred in so maintaining the Service in these circumstances.

H9

DISPUTE

H9.1

If there is a dispute between either party concerning the interpretation or
operation of this Contract or in respect of a Variation Notice then either party
may notify the other that it wishes the dispute to be referred to a meeting of
the Authorised Officer and the Contract Manager to resolve, negotiating on the
basis of good faith.

H9.2

If after 20 Business Days (or such longer period as both of the Parties may
agree) of the date of the Notice referred to in clause H9.1 the dispute has not
been resolved then either party may notify the other that it wishes the dispute
to be referred to a meeting of the Chief Executive of the Council (or a person
appointed by him to act on his behalf), with reference to the Leader of the
Council, and a senior officer of the Provider, to resolve, negotiating on the basis
of good faith however the ultimate decision will be taken by the Council and will be final
and binding on both parties. For the avoidance of doubt the appointed senior offer
should not be a person whose appointment could lead to a conflict of interest

H10

NOT USED

408

H11

LAW AND JURISDICTION
Subject to clauses H9 the parties irrevocably agree that the courts of England
shall have exclusive jurisdiction to settle any dispute which may arise out of or in
connection with this Contract and the legal relationship established by this
Contract.

H12

CHANGE OF LAW

H12.1 The Provider shall take all steps reasonably necessary to ensure that the
Services are performed in accordance with the terms of this Contract following
any change in Law
H12.2 General Change in Law:
The Provider shall comply with any General Change in Law at the
Provider's sole risk and cost.
H12.3 Qualifying Change in Law:
If a Qualifying Change in Law occurs or is shortly to occur, then either
Party may write to the other to express an opinion on its likely effects,
giving details of its opinion of:
H12.3.1

any necessary change in the Services and the Contract Price;

H12.3.2

whether any changes are required to the terms of this
Contract to deal with the Qualifying Change in Law;

H12.3.3

whether relief from compliance with the obligations is
required, including the obligation of the Provider to achieve
the Commencement Date, milestones or to meet any service
level requirements at any time.

H12.4 As soon as practicable after any notification in accordance with Clause H12.3 the
Parties shall discuss and agree the matters referred to in that clause and any
ways in which the Provider can mitigate the effect of the Change in Law,
including:
H12.4.1

providing evidence that the Provider has minimised any
increase in costs or maximised any reduction in costs,
including in respect of the costs of its sub-contractors

H12.4.2

demonstrating that a foreseeable Qualifying Change in Law
had been taken into account by the Provider before it
occurred;

H12.4.3

giving evidence as to how the Qualifying Change in Law has
affected the cost of providing the Services; and

409

H12.4.4

demonstrating that any expenditure that has been avoided
has been taken into account in amending the Contract Price

H12.5 Any increase in the Price or relief from the Provider's obligations agreed by the
Parties pursuant to this Clause H12 shall be implemented in accordance with
Clause B2.
PART I - CONTRACT SPECIFIC CONDITIONS
11

OUTCOMES
The Provider shall comply with the arrangements for delivering and monitoring
outcomes as defined and set out in the individual service specifications in
Schedule 2 and the Contract Monitoring and Performance Framework Schedule
3.

12

SELF-DIRECTED SUPPORT
12.1

This Contract sets out the amount of monies to be paid to the Provider
to cover those Services set out in Schedule 2. With respect to SelfDirected Support and those services funded on a block basis, the
following will apply:12.1.1

Where a current Customer applies for and receives a Personal
Budget under Self Directed Support and chooses after
notification of the unit cost of the service that they are
purchasing to use the Block Contract services to spend their
Personal Budget, there will be no additional payment to the
Provider other than existing payments through the block
contract;

12.1.2

Where an individual is not a current Customer and applies for
and receives a Personal Budget under Self-Directed Support
(and chooses after notification of the unit cost of the service
that they are purchasing) to use the Provider Block Contract
service, there will be no additional payment to the Provider in
so far as there is spare capacity under the Block Contract and
that the customer is supported through existing capacity and
the arrangement has been made by the Brokerage Team or
other service or agency;

12.1.3

Where the relevant part of the Personal Budget is taken as a
Direct Payment and the block capacity has not been reached,
the Provider shall reimburse the Council with the relevant
amount. Where a Direct Payment is used and the block
capacity has been reached, the Provider can retain the Direct
Payment.

12.2

Where a new or existing Customer takes up a Personal Budget as an
Individual Service Fund, a separate contract for the service will be
drawn up by the Council.

12.3

These arrangements will not apply to Service Schedule X (START),

410

which are outside the Self Directed Support arrangements.

EXECUTION
IN WITNESS of which this Contract has been duly executed by the parties.
On behalf of the Provider:
Executed by Optalis Limited:
acting by its Director
in the presence of
:
Witness

Signature
Name
Address

The Common Seal of Wokingham Borough Council
was hereunto affixed in the presence of:

Solicitor / Barrister

411

412

413

This page is intentionally left blank

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted

415

This page is intentionally left blank

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted

417

This page is intentionally left blank

